

Department of Philosophy

Ethical Principles for Hospital Design

Thesis resubmitted in accordance with the requirements of the University of Liverpool for the degree of Doctor in Philosophy:

By: Seyed Rouhollah Hashemi Nezhad Ashrafi

December 2017

Acknowledgements

Five years studying in the University of Liverpool, was a great opportunity for me during which I not only pursued my project, but also learnt many things both in Philosophical terms and personal experience. This thesis could not be finished without the support of amazing people who accompanied me during this journey. Thanking them is the least effort to express my gratitude towards them.

I would like first to thank and express a deep respect to my thoughtful supervisor Prof. Simon Hailwood, for his continuous support, guidance, and immense knowledge. His advice helped me in studying and researching all these years. I cannot imagine that I could have been advised and guided better in my PhD research.

I also have to thank my secondary supervisor Dr Christina Malathouni, for her comments on my work which gave me a proper insight in my research, particularly in its architectural aspects. I also have been supported by all academic staff of the Department of Philosophy as well as my student colleagues. I am thankful for their motivation and encouragement in pursuing my study during these five years.

And last, but not least, I would like to thank my family: my wife and my son for being with me all these difficult years of living abroad far from our family; to her parents for their support; and to our sisters and brothers for all the motivation, and encouragement they have given me.

Dedication

I would like to dedicate this thesis to my wife, thanking her for her support, patience and encouragement during my study.

Ethical Principles for Hospital Design

Seyed Rouhollah Hashemi Nezhad Ashrafi

Abstract:

The subject of this thesis is 'Ethical Principles for Hospital Design'. The mission of this research is to identify the ethical principles for hospital design in the form of a structured framework for ethical discourse about the medical environment. I think this thesis addresses a gap in the current literature, in which, there is not really an already existing structured framework for ethical discourse about the hospital environment. The ethical principles for hospital design can guide designers to identify their ethical duties toward users of the hospital environment (e.g. patients, staff, and visitors). For this sake, I will be engaging with literature that is critical of using the concept of dignity in biomedical contexts, as well as, Nussbaum's capability understanding of dignity. In the introductory chapter, I will explain my reasons for working on this subject and briefly introduce the content of each chapter. In the second chapter, I will discuss the concept of human dignity from the viewpoint of Kant. I will then consider the standpoint of Nussbaum in relation to the meaning and the theory of human dignity. In the third chapter, I will link the idea of human dignity to the notion of human entitlements in the hospital environment. In this regard, I will explain and develop the implications of human dignity in Nussbaum's thought and, accordingly, I will suggest a list of the entitlements of people in hospitals. Such a list of entitlements is the first part of the ethical method in hospital design which I call the *dignity approach*. The second part is addressed in the fourth chapter, in which I will suggest and elaborate upon three ethical principles; namely, design for vulnerability, design for healing, and design for reverence. These will form my proposed basic ethical principles of hospital design grounded in respect for human dignity and entitlements. Suggesting the dignity approach, I will, also, be critiquing and seeking to supplement in a certain way the influential Evidence-Based Design approach in hospital design. The last chapter will supply a conclusion of the arguments of this thesis and indicate some directions for future research.

Table of Contents

Acknowled	gements	3	
Dedication4			
Abstract:		6	
Table of Co	ontents	7	
Chapter 1.		11	
	action		
	Professional Experience		
1.2. Wł	nat Am I Looking for?	14	
1.3. Bro	eakdown of Chapters	15	
Chapter 2.		19	
2. The Hu	ıman Dignity in Capabilities Approach	20	
2.1. Dig	gnity and Entitlements in the Hospital Environment	20	
2.2. Th	e Capabilities Approach	25	
2.3. Ka	ntian Dignity	28	
2.3.1.	The Meaning of Kantian Dignity	30	
2.3.2.	The Implications (Elements) of Kantian Dignity	36	
2.3.3.	The Theory of Kantian Dignity	40	
2.4. Ma	cklin's Objection	47	
2.4.1.	General Objections Against Dignity	47	
2.4.2.	A Summary of Responses	58	
2.4.3.	Dignity as a Secular Concept	59	
2.5. Th	e Meaning of Nussbaum's Dignity	61	
2.5.1.	Killmister's Aspirational Dignity	62	
2.5.2.	Modifying Comportment Dignity	68	
2.5.3.	The Spirit of Aristocratic Dignity	71	
2.5.4.	Self-Determined Meritorious Dignity	74	
2.5.5.	Dignity as Decency	74	
2.5.6.	Moralising Dignity as Decency	76	
2.5.7.	The Meaning of Dignity for Nussbaum	79	
2.6. Nu	ssbaum's Theory of Dignity	81	
2.6.1.	No to the Rationality-Only Position	81	
2.6.2.	Sources of Dignity in Nussbaum's View	86	
2.6.3.	Claassen's Objections	88	
2.7. Su	mmary	95	
Chapter 398			
3. Entitlements in the Hospital Environment			
3.1. Nussbaum's Implications of Dignity			

3.1.1.	A Review of the Arguments	
3.1.2.	Respect: Supporting Capabilities	102
3.1.3.	Human Entitlements	103
3.1.4.	Responsibilities	117
3.1.5.	Equality	
3.2. Wh	y the Capabilities Approach?	128
3.2.1.	The Value of Flourishing and the Vulnerability of Humans	128
3.2.2.	Dignity as Decency	
3.2.3.	A Non-Metaphysical Sense of Dignity	130
3.2.4.	The Problem of Marginal Cases	131
3.2.5.	Capabilities, rather than Functioning	132
3.2.6.	Institutional-Oriented Theory	132
3.2.7.	The List of Entitlements; A Practical Approach	132
3.2.8.	The List of Entitlements; Open-Ended	133
3.2.9.	The List of Entitlements; Generality	133
3.2.10.	The List of Entitlements: No Trade-Off	
3.3. Eth	ical Hospitals in NHS Documents	135
3.3.1.	Dignity in the NHS Documents	136
3.3.2.	The Health Building Notes (HBNs)	140
3.4. Scie	ntific Findings	144
3.5. The	Specified List of Entitlements	149
Chanter 4		156
Chapter in		
•	ical Principles	
4. The Eth		157
4. The Eth 4.1. Life	ical Principles	157 157
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B	ical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop	ical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop	ical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin	ical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing nciple 1: Design for Vulnerability	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2.	ical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing nciple 1: Design for Vulnerability Vulnerable People	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2.	ical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing ciple 1: Design for Vulnerability Vulnerable People Vulnerability in Hospitals	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin	aical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing o Worsening, Start Enhancing Vulnerability for Vulnerability Vulnerable People Vulnerability in Hospitals nciple 2: Design for Healing	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2.	ical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing ciple 1: Design for Vulnerability Vulnerable People Vulnerability in Hospitals ciple 2: Design for Healing The Healing Environment	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2.	tical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing o Worsening, Start Enhancing ociple 1: Design for Vulnerability Vulnerable People Vulnerability in Hospitals nciple 2: Design for Healing The Healing Environment Healing by Design	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin	tical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing o Worsening, Start Enhancing rciple 1: Design for Vulnerability Vulnerable People Vulnerability in Hospitals rciple 2: Design for Healing The Healing Environment Healing by Design	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin 4.6.1. 4.6.2.	tical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals Worsening, Start Enhancing o Worsening, Start Enhancing ciple 1: Design for Vulnerability Vulnerable People Vulnerability in Hospitals rciple 2: Design for Healing The Healing Environment Healing by Design ciple 3: Design for Reverence Beyond Medical Care	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin 4.6.1. 4.6.2.	Aical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals o Worsening, Start Enhancing o Worsening, Start Enhancing nciple 1: Design for Vulnerability Vulnerable People Vulnerability in Hospitals inciple 2: Design for Healing The Healing Environment Healing by Design nciple 3: Design for Reverence Beyond Medical Care A Humane Environment	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin 4.6.1. 4.6.2. 4.7. Elal	Aical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin 4.6.1. 4.6.2. 4.7. Elal 4.7.1. 4.7.2.	Aical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin 4.6.1. 4.6.2. 4.7. Elal 4.7.1. 4.7.2.	Aical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin 4.6.1. 4.6.2. 4.7. Elal 4.7.1. 4.7.2. 4.8. Evic	hical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals	
4. The Eth 4.1. Life 4.2. A B 4.3. Stop 4.4. Prin 4.4.1. 4.4.2. 4.5. Prin 4.5.1. 4.5.2. 4.6. Prin 4.6.1. 4.6.2. 4.7. Elal 4.7.1. 4.7.2. 4.8. Evic 4.8.1. 4.8.2.	Aical Principles Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals rief History of Hospitals o Worsening, Start Enhancing	

5. Co	onclusion	215
5.1.	Summary	215
5.2.	The Need for Further Studies	219
5.3.	The Last Word	220
Bibliog	graphy	223

Chapter 1

1. Introduction

1.1. My Professional Experience

The reason that I decided to work on this research goes back to my personal experience when I was working in an Iranian medical university as a civil engineer¹. My colleagues and I were responsible for supervising the construction projects of the university (e.g. building hospitals, clinics, etc.), as well as the technical maintenance of its pre-existing hospitals. Whilst working there, I observed many non-medical needs of patients and their families which could not be met. This neglect was not because the medical teams were neglecting their patients' rights, but because the hospital environment did not allow them to respond appropriately to the legitimate demands of their patients.

For instance, I observed an older patient wearing a surgical gown which did not properly cover him. That person had to be carried to the operating theatre on a trolley through a public corridor. I felt the man was deeply embarrassed about his situation when other people could see him in the corridor. The medical team could do nothing for that patient because there was no other way to carry the patient to the operating theatre. Hence, I thought perhaps hospital designers could protect that patient from public view by, for example, providing a private corridor for these occasions. Likewise, my colleague told me that he observed a trauma patient who was screaming when his trolley moved over a ramp in a hospital. Going over the bumps caused his fractured body to be shaken forcefully and this exacerbated his suffering. This problem could be solved simply by making the surface of that ramp smooth and without bumps, for example. Similarly, there were many instances of inappropriate design which caused patients difficulties by increasing their pain, stress, anxiety, depression, and so on.

The people who use the hospital environment are not only patients, of course. The environmental condition of a hospital also affects the relatives of patients. One of the common problems patients' families had to face in the hospitals I saw was being separated from their

¹ In Iran, public hospitals are managed by public medical universities. In other words, public hospitals are University hospitals.

hospitalised family-member. The environment of these hospitals usually did not have any provision to accommodate relatives who wished to visit with the patient, and hence, medical staff could not let them in. Therefore, they were kept separated outside the wards, and this caused an increase in stress for these relatives.

What I learnt from these cases of unsuitably designed hospitals was the fact that considering the ethical requirements of patients in hospitals should be incorporated into the process of design. When a patient comes to hospital in a vulnerable condition she cannot protect herself as she could do in her normal life. In this situation, the staff of the hospital cannot provide for all the ethical requirements of patients if the environment of the hospital is not facilitated for such a service. Thus, if the ethical needs of patients in hospital matter, as they surely do, then those who can make it possible should contribute to providing for patients' moral demands, too. Thus, in this way, we can see that the designers of hospitals have ethical responsibilities to the people who use those environments.

This means that the ethical needs of patients should be considered in hospital planning. Disappointingly, when I considered the process of planning and constructing healthcare environments, I noticed that designers mostly focused on what was necessary for the treatment process: hospitals are usually seen as merely a place of treatment, and the non-medical requirements of people were not sufficiently weighted. I do not mean that the designers rejected any demand if it was related to ethical requirements, or that such demands were insignificant for them. On the contrary, if they noticed the importance of any ethical requirement in their projects then they attempted to address it with the means of design and the environment. The problem I saw was that there was no systematic structure either highlighting such ethical requirements or leading the designers to a way in which they could discover such requirements. They were not even told that considering ethical requirements was their ethical responsibility.

The question that puzzled me was the following: how we can help designers to identify these sorts of non-medical issues in their planning process? An ethical approach was needed to underscore this duty for designers, an approach which could address all of the relevant moral conditions comprehensively. I decided to examine the idea of 'human dignity' in my work in order to see if this concept could guide designers to find the ethical elements involved in their planning of hospitals. To do this, I asked one of my colleagues, who was an architect, to visit the cardiac department of one of the hospitals of the University I was working for (as a case study) and try to list the elements of design she thought tended to work against the dignity of patients. My colleague asked me to explain more to understand what I was looking for. I gave some examples of undignified situations that I had seen in hospitals and explained how the

design of the hospital might protect patients from such unpleasant conditions. I asked her to visit the department and examine it carefully and attempt to find such subtleties in the environment of that department.

Unfortunately, I left my job before I could review her findings. However, what was interesting and essential for me was the point that my colleague, as an architect and not as a philosopher, transparently understood what I asked for. She even started to give me some further examples of the situations where the hospital environment can work against the dignity of people. She told me that her father was ill in that period of time, and since her father was important to her and she respected him, she was concerned about the unethical conditions her father may experience in hospital. Although I could not discuss her findings, the mere understanding of my ideas about the ethical environment by a hospital designer indicated a vital point for me: an appropriate ethical approach can draw the attention of hospital designers to focus on and identify their ethical responsibilities towards the people who use the hospital environment created by them. The goal of this thesis is to define such an ethical approach for hospital design.

1.2. What Am I Looking for?

I found the concept of dignity instrumental in giving an idea to designers about the ethical requirements of people in hospitals. However, designers may perceive different issues if they were asked to consider human dignity in their planning: as I mentioned above, I needed to give some examples to my colleague so as to clarify what I meant by respecting dignity in the hospital environment. As I will show in the next chapter², I found the same problem in the literature and relevant documents. The concept of dignity plays a central role in such sources when they try to depict their non-clinical expectations of the hospital environment. However, it seems they need to accompany the notion of dignity with some other ethical conceptions (e.g. privacy, confidentiality, etc.) in order to clarify what aspect of dignity were intended.

This means that if we want to render an ethical method of hospital design in which notions such as patients' dignity and rights are objects of concern, we need to make those notions clear for designers. In other words, ethical expectations such as patients' dignity and rights should be interpreted in the hospital context with designers' language. In fact, we should explain what designers should do in their planning in order to respect the dignity of people. This concern should be unified with a clear understanding about people's requirements in hospitals: it is

² See section 2.1.

necessary to determine what the main ethical requirements of people are, and how these requirements can be joined with what the designers can do. This does not mean that the environment-related entitlements of people in hospitals have not yet been considered. However, they are not discussed comprehensively or in a systematic manner. They are scattered and addressed arbitrarily.

An ethical approach to design should also be able to determine the entitlements of people in a systematic way; a way in which designers can ensure that they are considering, at the very least, the main entitlements in their planning. Thus, what should be expected from an ethical method for hospital design is that it incorporate all of these concerns: it should provide designers with a sensible understanding of the notions of patients' dignity and patients' rights; it should determine what designers have to do in order to respect the dignity and rights of patients in healthcare environments, and it should provide a systematic way for designers to ensure that they are aware of, at least, the main ethical requirements of people in hospitals.

Unfortunately, there are no substantial available arguments or suggestions addressing the environmental design-related ethical requirements of people in hospital. Many different ways might be suggested for such an ethical method of design. My strategy, however, is to establish such an ethical method of design on the basis of a philosophical theory which can provide all the means necessary to deal with the aforementioned concerns. Again, a different theory might be offered for this purpose, but I found the Capabilities Approach of Martha Nussbaum (Nussbaum 2006, 2008) satisfactorily responsive to these concerns. Having this strategy, I will attempt to develop the intellectual foundations of such an ethical approach to hospital design in this thesis (I will not have enough space to address all of the relevant issues concerning the ethical approach of design in this thesis. Therefore, I will focus mostly on the theoretical aspects of such an approach).

I will elaborate upon the theory of the Capabilities Approach by concentrating on the notions of human dignity and entitlements, so as to have an appropriate basis for an ethical method of hospital design. Hence, this research will focus on theoretical aspects and has a philosophical spirit. However, it should be noted that the users of the suggested ethical approach will be designers. Therefore, I will try to render my ethical approach to design in a way that is sufficiently sensible and instrumental for designers, as they are not usually trained for ethical arguments. The ethical approach of hospital design – which I call the *dignity approach* – is supposed to incorporate the ethical demands into the process of design.

1.3. Breakdown of Chapters

In the next chapter, I will briefly investigate some medical documents and literature in order to show that the main ethical expectations of the hospital environment are described by the two notions of patients' rights and patients' dignity. Human dignity is also the basis of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. Therefore, I focus on her account of this notion and then consider how this concept is linked to the conception of human entitlements. However, since Nussbaum's thoughts on different aspects of human dignity and entitlements are scattered in her writings, I will consider her thoughts on the basis of a discussion of the Kantian account of dignity (Kant 2012, And 1996). This is because Kant's account of dignity is one of the most influential accounts of dignity, which deeply affected the arguments of the modern era. Moreover, this can help me to explain Nussbaum's notion of dignity by showing which aspects of Kant's account are improved upon or changed in her theory.

I will divide the arguments concerning human dignity into three main areas – namely, the meaning, the implications, and the theory of human dignity. I will explain that the *meaning* of dignity for Kant is 'value' along with certain characteristics such as being unconditional, incomparable, inherent, and inalienable. As the main *implications* of Kant's dignity, I will discuss 'respect', 'duty/responsibilities', 'rights/entitlements', and 'human equality'. The most controversial aspect of Kantian dignity is his *theory* about dignity, according to which only those who have the capacity of rational agency are dignity-bearers. After explaining the features of human dignity in Kant's view, I will address some objections to the use of human dignity as a central concept in biomedical ethics and in so doing consider the relevant arguments of scholars including Ruth Macklin and Doris Schroeder.

Subsequently, I will start to elaborate upon Nussbaum's account of human dignity by considering the ways in which it differs from Kant's. I will explain how, for Nussbaum, the notion of dignity has two meanings: the first is similar to the Kantian notion of the inalienable worth of human beings. The second meaning, however, does not have the characteristic of being inalienable, and concerns the notion of 'a decent life'. I will label this meaning 'dignity as decency'. The final part of chapter two concerns Nussbaum's theory of human dignity. In contrast to Kantian dignity, I will show that, for Nussbaum, human beings are valuable not only for their rationality, but also for a range of capabilities arising from their sociability and embodiment all of which are valuable. In general, in the second chapter I will address the theoretical aspects of Nussbaum's notion of dignity.

Chapter three focuses more on the implications or practical aspects of dignity, trying to show how Nussbaum's notion of dignity can be connected to the notion of human entitlements - and how such entitlements can be brought into the context of the hospital environment. I will develop Nussbaum's arguments in the light of my discussion of the implications of Kantian dignity. One of the main features of Nussbaum's notion of dignity is her suggested list of basic capabilities. This list is instrumental in identifying the entitlements of people in hospital. After explaining the implications of Nussbaum's account of dignity, I will begin to define the ethical method of hospital design which I will call the *dignity approach*. This approach has two parts. The first part is to determine the ethical entitlements of people in hospitals. In this regard, I will suggest a compatible list of capabilities identifying the entitlements of people in hospitals by modifying Nussbaum's list. This specification is inspired by ideas from both NHS documents and empirical findings in which the effect of the hospital environment on people is investigated.

The second part of the dignity approach is developed in chapter four. In this chapter, I will attempt to find the appropriate ethical principles which can comprehensively show the pathways by which people might be deprived of their basic entitlements. In this regard, the two main ethical missions and associated ethical principles of hospital designers will be introduced and explained: to stop worsening and to start enhancing the capabilities of human beings. The ethical principle of *design for vulnerability* represents the former mission (i.e. stop worsening). This principle suggests protecting people from a worsening situation when in hospital, i.e. to protect them from potential harms. Two other ethical principles, *design for healing* and *design for reverence*, will be offered which invite designers to consider their second mission (start enhancing the capabilities of people in hospitals).

The principle of design for healing focuses on the harms people may suffer that are related to the reasons they go to hospitals. The principle of design for reverence, however, addresses the environmental harms which are imposed on them by being in the hospital environment. I will also endeavour to explain why I think the dignity approach can fill the gap in the literature on the ethics of hospital design, by analysing the Evidence-Based Design as a recent method of hospital design. The last chapter offers a conclusion to the thesis where I will review the foregoing arguments. Finally, I will suggest some areas for further studies in order to improve the findings of this research.

Chapter 2

2. The Human Dignity in Capabilities Approach

2.1. Dignity and Entitlements in the Hospital Environment

Nowadays, there are extensive studies on the rights of patients and ethical conditions in hospitals. Patients' rights profoundly affect medical documents and guidelines. These rights reflect prevailing concerns about the moral status of patients as human beings. Human dignity plays a substantial role in describing such moral status. The World Health Organization (WHO) conceives patients' rights as based on human dignity and equality:

Formalized in 1948, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights recognizes "the inherent dignity" and the "equal and unalienable rights of all members of the human family". And it is on the basis of this concept of the person, and the fundamental dignity and equality of all human beings, that the notion of patient rights was developed. In other words, what is owed to the patient as a human being, by physicians and by the state, took shape in large part thanks to this understanding of the basic rights of the person (WHO 2015).

Patients' rights, however, are not limited to clinical aspects of healthcare service such as access to emergency healthcare service or the right to autonomy and to make decisions. Patients' rights also include the ethical needs of patients such as respect for their integrity, privacy, confidentiality, and so on. For example, the NHS in Scotland has listed the following rights for patients: "Access: [patients'] rights when using health services; Confidentiality: the right for [...] personal health information to be kept secure and confidential; Communication and participation: the right to be informed, and involved in decisions, about health care and services; Respect: the right to be treated with dignity and respect; Safety: the right to safe and effective care; Comments and complaints: the right to have a say about your care and have any concerns dealt with, and what you can do if you feel your rights have not been respected" (NHS Scotland, 2012).

As can be seen, some patients' rights are not a part of the process of care, such as rights to respect, to make comments, and to complain. Therefore, when we talk about the rights of patients, this encompasses different types of rights which include the ethical rights of patients. If patients have rights based on their ethical needs, then states and healthcare providers have

corresponding responsibilities to address such ethical rights. This means that anybody who has a role in the process of care (directly or indirectly) has moral duties towards patients.

Moreover, if human dignity is the foundation of patients' rights, then consequently the ethical needs of hospital patients should be based on patients' dignity (Lin, Watson et al. 2013)³. General population surveys among 41 countries show that, after communication, dignity in care is believed to be the second most important aspect of non–clinical quality of care (Valentine, Darby et al. 2008). However, dignity and the ethical needs of patients in hospitals can be addressed in various ways and by different means, and these include the physical environment of hospitals.

Undoubtedly, to respond to patients' rights it is essential to facilitate the ways patients can reach their entitlements. The hospital environment, in this regard, can be considered one of the vital tools which can assist (or discourage) medical staff in their handling of their ethical responsibilities towards patients. Thus, the physical environment of hospitals is one of the major mediums which influences the dignity of patients, which indicates that at least some patients' rights should be addressed through the physical environment of hospitals (Henderson, Van Eps et al. 2009). It implies that besides all of the technical difficulties in hospital design, it is also expected that hospitals provide a humane environment (Smith 1984: 1599).

References to dignity and rights in hospital design are not uncommon, although they are also not always clear. There is ample research that talks about the importance of respecting dignity through the environment of the hospital. However, the meanings attached to the concept of dignity vary. For instance, the leadership of the Colorado Mental Health Institute — Pueblo (CMHIP) in the State of Colorado expected the environment of their new hospital to be able to communicate "to patients a sense of dignity, autonomy, and privacy". However, in their explanations of this expectation, it becomes apparent that they mostly applied the notion of dignity in terms of respecting patients' privacy (Dvoskin, Radomski et al. 2002).

Another example is a literature review in which the researchers strove to find out the benefits of single–bed rooms in hospitals. They defined some outcome measures to assess the function of single–bed rooms which included the privacy and dignity of patients, noise levels and quality of sleep, patient satisfaction with care, hospital infection rates, patient safety, complications and length of stay (Glind, Roode et al. 2007: 155). Here dignity is attached to privacy as a single criterion while other parameters such as patient satisfaction are mentioned

³ In this and the next chapter I will elaborate the concept of dignity and this claim.

in different measures. The use of these other measures can be seen to suggest that respecting patients' dignity is a separate criterion that does not include their satisfaction, safety and the like.

To evaluate the level of respect afforded to patients' dignity in maternity wards in Malawi, as another example, researchers asked both mothers and midwives in three healthcare centres about their practice of privacy, confidentiality, communication and cleanness in the ward (Chigwenembe 2011). In this case, therefore, those four parameters are presented as components of dignity. More interestingly, some researchers claim that the size and design of the infrastructure of hospitals affects the dignity of patients (Chigwenembe 2011: 9). Dignity in hospitals is even described as something which is about 'small things'. These small things can include having working, well–maintained toilet door–locks (Logan 2012)⁴.

For some patients, dignity is a concept which is used to convey a sense of having the ability to meet their personal routine without the need of help from others. Some patients do not want to ask for help so that they can maintain their dignity (Tadd, Hillman et al. 2012: 34). In this regard, they may expect that the design of hospitals could offer environments that better support their disability and reduce the need to ask for help. These are a few examples which illustrate that although the concepts of dignity and rights are frequently used in the context of the hospital environment and its design, the meanings which they are intended to convey can differ.

The role of hospital environments in terms of patients' dignity and rights is also reflected in some medical guidelines. For example, NHS Wales has published the *Achieving Excellence Design Evaluation Toolkit (AEDET)*, in order to evaluate the design of healthcare buildings by a series of "clear and non–technical statements". This toolkit addresses three main areas: impact, quality and functionality of hospital design, each of which has several criteria to assess the condition of the hospital. In section C (Staff and patient environment) of the section concerning impact, the NHS proposes this criterion:

The building respects the dignity of patients and allows for appropriate levels of privacy and dignity (NHS Wales, 2013).

The NHS, in this statement, not only expects buildings to respect the dignity of patients directly, but also assumes that structures can provide conditions for appropriate levels of dignity in hospitals. This means that physical environments can respect the dignity of patients which itself is the basis of their ethical rights. As another example, the Department of Health

⁴ See also Eileen Shepherd (2012).

in the UK has published the *Essence of Care*, which echoes the views of people and carers on health and social care needs and preferences (Department of Health 2010b: 6). It has several benchmarks involving Benchmarks for Respect and Dignity. Looking at the indicators of the dignity benchmarks, it becomes evident that some of them are directly related to the physical environment of hospitals, such as creating private and quiet areas for patients (Department of Health 2010a: 18).

Providing private areas is not only necessary for the personal interests of patients, but it is also essential for medical outcomes. In emergency departments, for instance, since spaces are typically separated only by curtains, patients may have less privacy. Consequently, they might hesitate to report all of their medical problems to practitioners which could result in misdiagnosis and medical errors (Lin, Lee et al. 2013: 1, Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 14). The fact that some elements of dignity benchmarks for hospitals should be provided by hospital designers signifies that even if medical teams want to serve their patients in an ethical way, they may face difficulties if the hospital design does not facilitate an appropriate physical environment.

The above examples illustrate that the general theme of ethical requirements expecting dignity and rights to be respected in hospital design is not something unfamiliar. Therefore, talking about dignity in hospital design as a strategy is not equivalent to talking about a completely new issue in this field. However, the concept of dignity itself, and the ways patients' rights should be understood in the context of the hospital environment, are not sufficiently transparent as to enable designers to understand their obligations in the ethical planning of hospitals. As was seen, perceptions of dignity vary. Sometimes the concept of dignity has been equated with some other patients' right such as privacy, confidentiality and so on. Therefore, we need to elaborate the definition of dignity, its varying aspects, and its relation to patients' expectations from the hospital environment.

Despite the ambiguous definition and characteristics of dignity, the above examples have illustrated that the environment of hospitals *can* profoundly affect the conditions of patient dignity. Since, on the one hand, dignity is the basis of patients' rights, and on the other hand, the environment of hospitals can contribute to respecting the dignity of people in hospitals, then hospital designers have an ethical duty to consider the dignity of people in hospital. In other words, designers not only have to provide a suitable environment which facilitates the process of treatment in hospitals, but they also have an ethical duty to offer an environment

that has the ability to address the ethical needs of patients⁵.

The question is now: how should the issue of patients' dignity and rights in the context of hospital environments be understood by designers? It should be noted that designers are not usually trained to appraise ethical arguments. Therefore, it is hard for them to figure out what it is that such notions entail in their discipline. These notions need to be brought into their field of study and work in a more sensible and practical way. They should be interpreted with clearer principles so that designers can be guided in the right direction concerning design. In this light, and in order to help designers identify their ethical duties, many different solutions might be suggested. For example, we can set particular standards for hospitals in which the ethical needs of patients are considered.

This is an instrumental strategy; however, in addition to such standards, hospital designers need to have an ethical perspective so as to be led to concentrate on the ethical risks which threaten patients' rights in the hospital environment. This is because each hospital has unique characteristics and considerations which may not completely fit with the common standard of hospitals in general. In such cases, a moral designer, who is equipped with a proper ethical perspective, can identify the specific ethical responsibilities of his project.

However, if we over-emphasise standards and try to define a standard for every single issue in design, designers would be restricted in their job. Designers, as artists, need a certain amount of freedom otherwise they can lose the sense of creativity in their planning. Excessively detailed standards may limit their ability to provide for other relevant considerations – such as medical requirements, technical issues, aesthetic aspects of design, and so on. Instead of such excessively detailed standards, it would be better if we could give them some guidance by which they are able to identify their ethical obligations on their own. This guidance should make clear the ethical requirements relevant to the hospital environment whilst also allowing designers enough flexibility to provide the best environmental elements of design that are compatible with both the ethical requirements and other considerations.

Scholars and professionals may have different solutions for this requirement (i.e. identifying the ethical duties of hospital designers). For instance, it might be suggested that ethical arguments are pursued in order to figure out how designers should meet their responsibilities. However, any proposal of this kind needs to be well-established and explained in order that the relevant professionals can use those ideas in their work. My suggestion is to determine the

⁵ In the next chapter, it will be clear that the hospital environment should respect the dignity of everybody (i.e. patients, relatives, visitors, and staff), and that it is not an exclusive right for patients.

ethical responsibilities of hospital designers by defining some key principles which are based on a philosophical theory. Through such a strategy we will find and establish an intellectual structure by which a hospital designer can find a general perspective about her ethical duties. Such an ethical viewpoint, as explained above, can help a hospital designer to focus on the main areas in which she can protect patients from losing their entitlements. Therefore, the core mission of this thesis is to find the main ethical principles for hospital designers.

As the notions of human dignity and patients' rights are discussed in various ways, the ethical framework of hospital designers should be able to answer the following questions:

- How should the concept of human dignity be understood in the context of the hospital environment and its design?
- How can the concept of human dignity determine human entitlements in a way which is sensible for hospital providers?
- What human entitlements can be affected by the hospital environment?
- And finally, how can hospital designers remove (or at least alleviate) the obstacles to achieving the main entitlements of people in hospitals?

To establish such an intellectual framework in which designers can find an answer for the above questions we need to ground our arguments in a suitable philosophical theory. Such a theory should be able to construct a link between the concept of human dignity and a practical understanding of human entitlements in hospitals. There are many theories and explanations which discuss human dignity and rights. Again, scholars may select some specific theory by which they can find an answer for the above questions. My hypothesis is that Martha Nussbaum's 'Capabilities Approach' is able to give us the direction we need in order to identify the ethical duties of hospital designers.

2.2. The Capabilities Approach

The Capabilities Approach was first proposed by the economist Amartya Sen (1933–). In philosophy, however, this theory is mostly known in the field of social justice, particularly through the work of the philosopher Martha Nussbaum. While Sen discussed his theory mainly from within an economics perspective, Nussbaum's philosophical attempts in developing her theory have particular advantages for this thesis, which will be mentioned in due course. The prominent benefit of Nussbaum's work is her suggested list of central entitlements (capabilities) which is instrumental in this thesis in determining the entitlement of human beings in hospitals. I will discuss Nussbaum's list of human entitlements in section 3.1.3.2.

The Capabilities Approach is also called the 'human development approach', however, Nussbaum prefers to name it the 'Capabilities Approach' because she considers the capabilities of both human beings and nonhuman animals in her theory (Nussbaum 2013: 17 - 18). The argument in her philosophical approach is that "a society is just to the extent that every citizen has constitutionally guaranteed entitlements to a list of basic capabilities" (Claassen 2014: 241). These entitlements emerged when considering the importance of human flourishing and freely striving activities. In other words, what is valuable in a human life is one's ability to practice one's capabilities. Accordingly, it is a human's right to have a sufficient opportunity to practice those capabilities. In this regard, a dignified human life is a life in which one can practice, at the very least, one's central capabilities⁶.

Nussbaum's core arguments start with the notion of human dignity, and a life worthy of human dignity. She then moves her discussion to the basic entitlements of human beings in a just society. Nussbaum suggests a list of ten basic capabilities whose practise and development constitute the basic entitlements of human beings. In this way, her theory of justice links the two key notions, namely human dignity and human entitlements. This makes the theory considerably applicable in the context of hospital design in which the main ethical concerns are discussed with reference to these two conceptions (i.e. human dignity and human rights).

I have selected this theory as a guiding idea as I think that Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach can satisfactorily connect the two notions of human dignity and rights in a way that can handle the ethical concerns of the hospital environment. Using such an idea can help us to identify the ethical principles required of hospital designers. In chapter four, it will be explained how the Capabilities Approach of Nussbaum can direct us in finding those ethical principles.

Such ethical principles are supposed to be able to show the main areas in which patients' entitlements in hospitals might be undermined. Again, someone else may suggest other theories or ways by which the ethical responsibilities of hospital designers might be addressed, which should be welcomed. However, this is the way that I was able to determine the ethical principles of hospital designers within a theoretical framework, and my claim is that the suggested principles can guarantee an ethical environment in hospitals.

However, the Capabilities Approach has broad aspects and it is discussed in various fields such as social justice, global justice, healthcare economy, animal rights, and so on. My investigation, nonetheless, indicates that there are no systematic philosophical arguments in the context of the ethical design of hospitals. Since the mission of my thesis is to find ethical

⁶ I will expand her thoughts about the list of capabilities in section 3.1.3.2.

principles for hospital designers, I need to enact a proper strategy when studying the Capabilities Approach in order to achieve the goals of this mission. In this light, and considering that the key notions concerning the ethical environment of hospitals in the literature is centred on the ideas of human dignity and rights, I think it is suitable to concentrate on these two notions in Nussbaum's theory in order to see both how they are connected together and how they can be brought into the context of the hospital environment and its design. In this way, we can provide a transparent understanding of human dignity and patients' entitlements in hospitals which is necessary in order for designers to identify their ethical responsibilities.

Thus, in this research I will focus on the role of the concept of human dignity in Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. As will be mentioned, this is because Nussbaum begins and grounds her Capabilities Approach with the idea of human dignity. However, she does not address the different aspects of the notion of human dignity in one place, so we need to explore her writings to find answers to the important issues related to human dignity. Thus, in order to organise my arguments concerning her dignity, I need an argumentative platform upon which I can develop Nussbaum's ideas about human dignity.

For this purpose, I have decided to advance my arguments within a Kantian framework of human dignity. Kantian dignity is one of the most comprehensive and influential accounts of this notion. Therefore, elaborating the main elements of his account of dignity presents an opportunity to advance novel ideas concerning the main areas of human dignity; namely, the meaning, the implications, and the theory of human dignity. These ideas are either accepted, modified, or objected to by Nussbaum. Accordingly, having ascertained the position of Kant on the above main areas of human dignity, I can explain how Nussbaum deals with those areas. In addition, discussing Kant's notion of dignity can assist us in gaining a better understanding of the different aspects of this notion, as Kant's work on the topic has been well-discussed by many philosophers.

Therefore, I will begin my argument by explaining the Kantian account of dignity. Having this basis, I will consider some objections against the notion of human dignity in general, with a particular focus on the views of Ruth Macklin, and I will offer replies to them. With these arguments, I will have provided a basic picture of the concept of human dignity. I will then concentrate on Nussbaum's account of dignity and attempt to identify which aspects of Nussbaum's dignity are similar to Kant's, and which are not. I will show that the meaning of human dignity for Kant concerns 'value' and 'worthiness'. While Nussbaum does use this meaning of dignity in her work she also utilises dignity in another sense, which I will call 'dignity as decency'.

Nussbaum also tries to develop the Kantian implications of human dignity (i.e. respect for human dignity, human rights and duties, and equality). Having a more practical approach, Nussbaum determines ten basic capabilities of human beings which everybody should be able to practice so as to have a life compatible with human dignity. Subsequently, I will explain how the list of capabilities in Nussbaum's theory affects her arguments about the corresponding responsibilities and human equality. However, in terms of the theory of human dignity, Nussbaum disagrees with Kant: Kant believes that the source of human dignity is human autonomy of will. In contrast, Nussbaum holds that human beings are valuable in virtue of a range of capabilities to flourish through various forms of striving and activity.

With these investigations into the concepts of human dignity and entitlements in Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach, we can reach a suitable understanding concerning the two notions of human dignity and rights. The next step will be to bring these senses of dignity and entitlements into the context of the hospital environment in order to figure out how we can determine ethical principles for designers. Firstly, I shall begin my argument with an exploration of Kant's account of human dignity.

2.3. Kantian Dignity

The concept of dignity has a long history and in pre-modern times usually reflected the valuable status of elites in comparison with the ordinary people. In the current era, this notion has other connotations in common speech. These connotations of dignity have similar meanings to the notions of honour, nobility, and the like⁷. As well as its common uses, dignity has a considerable conception and role in both moral and legal discourses. The moral conception of dignity is the result of the attempts of a number of philosophers who apply this concept as a part of their ethical theories.

Among those scholars who brought the concept of dignity into their ethical theories, Immanuel Kant (1724 - 1804) has an eminent status. This is because his theory has most inspired and influenced later discussions of dignity (Rosen 2012: 19, Kerstein 2014: 222). Kant is, in fact, an artist in moralising the concept of dignity by clearly addressing the main questions of human dignity in an interconnected way. The three main areas of human dignity, in my opinion, can be explained by addressing the following questions:

1. What is the meaning of human dignity in a theory? How should we understand it? (I

⁷ I will explain the different meanings of contemporary dignity in section 2.4.1.2.

will call this area of discussion the meaning of dignity.)

- 2. What does this account of dignity imply? What are the main elements of such human dignity? (I will call this area of discussion the *implications (or elements)* of dignity.)
- 3. For what reason does an individual have dignity? (I will call this area of discussion the *theory* of dignity.)

I do not believe that Kant's arguments are successful in all of those areas and, as I will elaborate, some aspects of his arguments face serious challenges. However, his attempt at connecting and discussing all aspects of human dignity in the form of a unified ethical theory is admirable. I think Kant's ability to link all of the above questions of human dignity within his ethical theory is why he provides a platform for the later discussions about this notion (whether in favour or against his conception of dignity; or, in favour or against different aspects of his theory and arguments). In this light, it is suitable to develop the Kantian account of dignity in this section. This will provide an appropriate basis upon which to elaborate Nussbaum's account through comparing the differences and similarities between these two accounts of dignity.

However, the Kantian account of dignity is complicated and there are many different interpretations of this theory. For example, contrary to many researchers who understand the essence of Kantian dignity as 'value', Sensen (2009) tries to show that dignity for Kant is about 'the elevation' of human beings over other things. It is beyond the scope of this thesis for me to deal with all of those discussions. This is because the arguments concerning Kant's account of human dignity are broad and involve many aspects.

The topic of this thesis is not, however, 'human dignity' per se. What I will try to do in this research is to address the core aspects of this notion which are necessary for developing ethical principles for hospital designers. Since this notion is essential for ethical considerations in the field of hospital design, I will also develop the relevant issues concerning human dignity. Therefore, while I admit that the philosophical issues related to dignity are much broader than what I will mention in these sections, given that I need to return to the main mission of this thesis – i.e. finding the ethical principles for hospital designers. I will leave more detailed discussions of these areas to other scholars.

In this section, I am going to briefly explain the Kantian account of dignity by investigating his view with respect to the three aspects of dignity – namely Kant's ideas about the meaning, the elements (implications), and the theory of human dignity. In this regard, I will mention some examples of the controversies surrounding those Kantian ideas in order to clarify the main issues concerning dignity, but I will refrain from covering further discussions and

objections due to the limitations of this research. (The main objections to Kant's account of dignity are centred on his theory of dignity. Therefore, I will briefly touch upon the main issues related to the meaning and implications of Kantian dignity, and discuss in more depth the objections against the theory of Kantian dignity).

I will say that the *meaning* of dignity for Kantian scholars is similar to the notion of 'value' and 'worthiness' which has characteristics such as inalienability, being incomparable, inherent, and unconditional. Even though value and worthiness are not completely incorrect interpretations of the meaning of Kantian dignity, I will suggest 'valuable status' as a more accurate conception which can better depict the meaning and the elements of Kantian dignity. As I will explain in a forthcoming section⁸, the concept of human dignity has other valid meanings in common conversations that are not necessarily equivalent to Kantian dignity. Having said as much, we can unify all of the non-Kantian meanings of dignity by introducing the concept of dignity as 'decency' as the second conception of dignity, and still maintain a connection to the Kantian meaning that is simultaneously compatible with the arguments of Nussbaum.

Despite arguments against some aspects of the implications of Kantian dignity, as will be illustrated, I think its main elements (i.e. equality, human rights and duties, respect for human dignity) are significantly valuable, and have an essential role to play in the ethical and international legal documents. Nussbaum, also, takes advantage of the Kantian elements of dignity in her account, but with a more practical approach which is instrumental for this thesis, as will be discussed⁹. And finally, the main attacks against Kantian dignity concern his *theory*. It will be elaborated¹⁰ that for Kant only those who have the (potential of) rationality have dignity. This theory is, rightly, objected to by many philosophers such as Nussbaum for excluding a group of beings (e.g. the severely mental ill) who are commonly regarded as dignity-bearers.

2.3.1. The Meaning of Kantian Dignity

What does human dignity mean for Kant? This is the first question that I will investigate. When we are talking about the meaning of dignity we should notice that the discussion is not simply about a term that can be interchangeably used as a synonym of dignity. The meaning

⁸ See section 2.4.1.2.

⁹ See section 3.1.

¹⁰ See section 2.3.3.1.

of dignity, in fact, consists of a set of characteristics which are attached to the synonym word. In addition, the implications of Kantian dignity, in particular, can shape our understanding about the *meaning* of Kantian dignity.

To explain more, many near synonym words can be used in the definition of dignity, but it is important to notice that none of them alone can provide a complete definition, and that they may even convey different senses. Nobility, honour, self–esteem, worthiness, value, status and some other words are instances of synonyms of dignity which can, to some extent, reflect the essence of dignity. However, scrutinising the sense of each of these notions reveals the hidden differences between them. Dan–Cohen for example, elaborates the difference between dignity as honour and as worth.

Honor and worth can be fruitfully contrasted along four dimensions: origin, scope, distribution, and grip. Honor is of social origin: it derives from and reflects one's social position and the norms and attitudes that define it; whereas worth, at least as used by Kant, has metaphysical origins: the alleged radical autonomy of the noumenal self. Consequently, honor is in principle limited in scope, capable of privileging only those who occupy certain positions while excluding others who occupy different ones; whereas worth has a universal scope, applying to every human being as such. Relatedly, the distribution of honor is typically uneven and hierarchical, reflecting and indeed in part constituting social stratification; worth is evenly distributed over humanity as a whole. Finally, the grip that worth has on its possessors (or, conversely, the grip they have on it) is much stronger than the grip of honor. Honor, is contingent, in the sense that it must be earned or granted, and so can be forfeited or withdrawn; whereas worth is categorical, attaching to all its possessors by virtue of being human, no matter what (2012: 4).

Accordingly, the definition of dignity depends on the approach of the philosopher and the way she introduces the notion. Hence, a philosopher who sees dignity in the framework of a moral theory (e.g. Kant) may prefer to select a synonym word which more than others can cohere with and help to comprehensively justify the rest of her theory. For Kant, as will be explained, these words are 'value' and 'worthiness'. But, some other characteristics and implications of Kantian theory will also come to clarify this sense of dignity. (Kant attaches at least four characteristics to 'worthiness' – namely being inherent, inalienable, unconditional, and of incomparable value.)

In the following passages, I will discuss these characteristics which altogether shape the meaning of Kantian dignity. After that I will talk about some essential *implications (elements)*

of Kantian dignity. By considering those implications, however, I will suggest that we define the Kantian meaning of dignity as 'valuable status', which I think is more accurate than merely 'value' and 'worthiness'; even though these two terms are not *wrong* terms in my point of view. In the following sections, I will also explain how the notion of dignity has some other non-Kantian meanings as well.

2.3.1.1. Dignity as Value and Worthiness

Dignity is used 111 times in Kant's published books (Sensen 2009: 310). The German word "Würde" in his writings is usually translated as dignity:

The German word for dignity is *Würde*, a word that is closely related etymologically to *Wert*, the term for "worth" or "value." The adjectival form, *würdig*, means both "valuable" or "deserving"—as in "deserving of reward"— and "dignified." (There is a parallel here with Latin— *Domine*, *non sum dignus* —and English. "Worthy," which has, of course, the same root as *Würde*, has something of the same duality. We talk, for example, about "local worthies" or "dignitaries" as well as of "worthy winners") (Rosen 2012: 19).

Kantian dignity can be better understood if we first consider his overall theory in which dignity is a piece of the puzzle. (We should bear in mind that his theory itself is highly complex and, accordingly, many interpretations are rendered by philosophers. What I would like to mention here are only the headlines of his theory). The rational free will of human beings, which is determined by reason and is not motivated by inclinations, leads rational beings to the actions which have moral worth. The rational nature¹¹ of human beings can, in fact, legislate moral principles under a leading principle, namely the *categorical imperative*, that can be universally binding and involve seeing human beings as ends in themselves. Such a moral law determines the ends of action which are systematically connected together in the *kingdom of ends*.

In this framework, Kant in an oft—remarked upon passage from his *Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals*, describes dignity as an inner worth:

In the kingdom of ends, everything has either a price or a dignity. What has a price can be replaced with something else, as its *equivalent*; whereas what is elevated above

¹¹ Rational nature, for Kant, is "valid only under the contingent conditions of humanity" (Kant 2002: 24).

any price, and hence allows of no equivalent, has a dignity.

What refers to general human inclinations and needs has a *market price*; what, even without presupposing a need, conforms with a certain taste, i.e. a delight in the mere purposeless play of the powers of our mind, has a *fancy price*; but what constitutes the condition under which alone something can be an end in itself does not merely have a relative worth, i.e. a price, but an inner worth, i.e. *dignity*.

Now, morality is the condition under which alone a rational being can be an end in itself; because it is possible only by this to be a legislating member in the kingdom of ends. Thus morality and humanity, in so far as it is capable of morality, is that which alone has dignity (Kant 2012: 46 - 47).

In this famous statement, Kant presents the differences between dignity and price, and dignity is described as a kind of *worth*. Hence, the core of the sense of dignity for Kant is about 'value' and 'worthiness'. As we shall now see, such value has some specific characteristics.

2.3.1.2. Intrinsic and Inalienable Value

As quoted above, for Kant the concept of human dignity is an inner worth. It is important to notice that when something is inner and intrinsic, it means that the existence of that thing only belongs to the existence of its bearer, not to any other external causes. In terms of intrinsic dignity, thus, this means that the dignity of a human being exists so long as that human, as a rational being, exists and, furthermore, that external conditions have no effect on her dignity.

Being an *intrinsic* characteristic of human beings also means that nobody can remove the dignity of a person. Being intrinsic in this sense indicates that dignity is *inalienable* (Kant 1996: 187). This implies that the dignity of someone cannot be removed or changed by other things. Therefore, the social ranking of people, their ethnicity, race, religion, gender and the like cannot be the causes of the gifting or divesting of dignity. Not only can other people not remove or change the dignity of a person, but also the bearer of dignity herself is not (morally) permitted to ignore her own dignity. Everybody in every condition has dignity whether or not they want to possess it.

The inalienability (inviolability) of the Kantian sense of dignity, however, is criticised by some scholars. In the next section, I will explain that one of the objections against human dignity is that while Kant describes it as an inalienable value, the nuance of some (particularly) bioethical references indicates violability of dignity. This also happens in some common-sense

talk of dignity. For example, when a patient in a hospital complains of a lack of privacy, she may claim that her dignity is violated, or harmed. Therefore, the objection is that dignity is not always inalienable as Kant described it.

To reply to this sort of objection, some scholars clarify that the concept of dignity has some non-Kantian senses in which it is not inalienable. They claim, accordingly, that those terms of dignity in bioethical documents which are not compatible with inalienability of the Kantian sense, refer to non-Kantian senses of dignity. After an elaboration of such arguments in the next section, I will state my agreement with the fact that dignity has some non-Kantian senses which are not inalienable.

I will also show that these non-Kantian meanings of dignity can be united together in the moral discourse as a single sense which I call 'dignity as decency'. Consequently, I think we can have two ethical conceptions of human dignity: the prominent one is Kantian dignity which is inalienable and inspires many of the ethical deliberations in bioethical documents, and a secondary ethical notion which is not inalienable and therefore can address those cases in bioethical instruments which convey a violable sense of dignity.

2.3.1.3. Incomparable and Unconditional Value

Being above all prices also indicates that nothing can be substituted for dignity. Therefore, dignity in human beings is above every other human attribute. Dignity does not have any equivalent and cannot be exchanged with any other thing (Kant 1996: 209); thus human dignity is an *incomparable* value that cannot be calculated. The dignity of a person is not more or less than the dignity of someone else – or even a group of individuals. Moreover, this entails that nobody's dignity is privileged over that of anyone else. This is because if someone prefers the dignity of one person over another, then she is comparing their dignities. Consequently, for example, no one should be discriminated against, in terms of dignity and its requirements, on the basis of gender, race, and so on.

Human dignity is also an unconditional (absolute) characteristic in the Kantian account (Dean 2006:35). The unconditional nature of dignity means that dignity is not related to the qualities of the person, in that he or she has dignity whether or not they are a good person. The unconditional dignity of a human being also indicates that despite the events that can happen to a person, his value can never be damaged or reduced.

However, the incomparability of human value is challenged by some scholars. For example,

Kerstein (2014) claims that this characteristic is in some cases incompatible with common moral judgments. For instance, he provides the story of a soldier who sacrifices herself to save others. Having incomparable worth, it would not be acceptable if one sacrifices oneself for those with similarly incomparable value. If one gives one's life in a heroic action, this indicates that one evaluated one's value as less than others. Hence, while common moral judgement supports such heroic and admirable actions, they are not morally valid within a Kantian ethical framework¹².

Kerstein has also questioned the unconditional characteristic of human value. For instance, he depicts a case in which there are two patients – one young and one very old – both of whom need a certain kind of medicine to survive. There is only one dose of this live-saving medicine available. Kerstin states that the common judgement about this case favours giving the medicine to the young person. However, Kerstein explains that such a moral judgment is against the unconditional value of human beings, which implies that the value of human beings is not related to contingencies – such as being old or young, being bad or good, and so on (Kerstain: 2014: 226-227)

However, I am not sure if this objection of Kerstain undermines the unconditionality or incomparability of Kantian dignity. The case looks like one of 'tragic choice' where whatever is chosen involves something very bad (i.e. the death of a person). Thus, one might say that it is the incomparable and unconditional value of both patients that makes the choice a very difficult and tragic one in the first place; and that of course the choice has to be made on some other grounds (e.g. age), rather than on the relative value of patients involved. Therefore, not all acts of comparison between human beings necessarily implies a comparison between their value.

I think that the root of this sort of critique can be traced back to a more general debate between deontological and consequentialist doctrines in ethical discourse: the question of whether we can (or should) calculate the number of human beings (or their pain and happiness) involved in such cases, or not. Each side has its own pros and cons, which have been discussed over much time. Nonetheless, what is of importance for this thesis is to see if these two controversial characteristics of Kantian dignity can affect the ethical concerns in hospital design.

Hospital designers predict and provide for the facilities people will need in hospitals. This

¹² This objection is rejected by some scholars. For example, Thomas Hill (1980). However, as I will discuss below, I do not think that being unconditional or having incomparable value has a considerable effect on ethical issues in hospital design. Therefore, I will not unpack the different sides of these arguments.

means that at the time of designing and constructing a hospital it is not (usually) determined which specific person will use those facilities, nor whether or not the practise of comparison will take place in the hospital at all. The hospital environment is normally provided for future events and for anonymous people. Thus, a comparison between human beings, particularly comparing their value, is not something that occurs in the process of hospital design. Overall, discussions about these two characteristics of Kantian dignity – namely incomparability and unconditional value – do not have a major effect on the ethical design of hospitals.

2.3.2. The Implications (Elements) of Kantian Dignity

As explained above, the sense of dignity for Kant is about value and worthiness. This is an answer to the first question, namely what does dignity mean for Kant? The second question, however, concerns what such dignity implies. The implications of Kantian dignity are no less important than its meaning in understanding his conception of dignity. Moreover, these implications have a vital effect on the contemporary discourse in ethics and law and so should be considered as well. Among the implications of Kant's notion of dignity, however, I would like to underscore some central elements – namely duty and rights, respect, and equality.

2.3.2.1. Duty and Rights

Dignity for Kant conveys two central implications; *duty* and *rights*. Everybody deserves to be respected in virtue of their dignity, and at the same time has an obligation to respect the dignity of all other human beings (see especially, Kant 1996: 209). Thus, dignity has two sides: on the one hand, everyone has a legitimate claim (i.e. right) to be respected as a dignity possessor, and on the other hand, everybody has a duty to respect dignity possessors (including oneself). This implication plays a central role in my thesis, because what is crucial is to find the ways in which hospital designers can respect the ethical rights of people in hospitals. The Capabilities Approach of Nussbaum, likewise, focuses on a set of basic human entitlements without which one cannot live with dignity. Correspondingly, I will argue that designers have a duty to provide for such entitlements, and that we should seek to identify all of the moral duties of designers through which they can provide for the entitlements of human beings.

It is also worth mentioning that although human dignity brings rights as well as duties to its bearer, in some official documents the focus is not always balanced between these two sides. While liberal ethics (i.e. rights–side of dignity) emphasises the entitlements of human beings,

conservative ethics (i.e. duty–side of dignity) regulates their conduct. It is essential to take into consideration this kind of duality in the concept of dignity (i.e. duty and rights) in order to avoid misunderstanding the function of dignity in those documents. I will explain this further below¹³. All in all, Kantian dignity is about an intrinsic human worth that implies duty and rights.

2.3.2.2. Respect for Human Dignity

As mentioned above, people have a certain duty towards human beings as the bearers of dignity. Kant uses the concept of 'respect' for human dignity in order to describe such duty (Kant 1996: 209). This respect not only addresses the duty of people towards each other; human beings also have to respect themselves (Kant 1996: 187). The dignity of human beings is respected when persons are treated as *ends in themselves* and not merely as *means*.

For rational beings all stand under the *law* that every one of them ought to treat itself and all others *never merely as means* but always *at the same time as end in itself* (Kant 2002: 51).

If we consider 'respect' as the presentation of our duty towards the dignity of other human beings, then to provide for the rights of dignity-bearers would mean to respect their dignity. Hence, I would interpret the ethical principles determined in biomedical documents as various instances or emergences of respect for human dignity. Respect for human dignity in one case may emerge as respecting the right to freely choose a course of treatment in hospital and to have one's consent sought; and in another case, may appear as the right of privacy, and so forth. Depending on different situations, respect for human dignity commands a relevant moral duty toward others.

In the light of these explanations, I would like to return to the point that I previously mentioned, that is, why in some cases in the international documents there are some notions which indicate the violability of human dignity. As I will explain in the next section, various concepts of dignity can have some notions of its violability which explain these cases. However, I think we can still interpret some of these notions using Kant's notion of inalienable dignity. The concept of protecting human dignity, which is widely reflected in the international instruments, is an example.

¹³ See section 3.1.3.4.

For instance, in 1997 the Council of Europe published its Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine. In the first article of this convention we read:

Parties to this Convention shall *protect* the dignity and identity of all human beings and guarantee everyone, without discrimination, respect for their integrity and other rights and fundamental freedoms with regard to the application of biology and medicine (Council of Europe, 1999, emphasis in original).

The concept of protection usually conveys a warning about the possibility of being affected by external causes, and the necessity of deterring such an effect. However, according to the Kantian account, human dignity is inalienable and it cannot be changed or affected by external causes. To explain these cases from within the Kantian framework, we can interpret these cases as referring to the failure to respect human dignity. Such failure to respect the dignity of others may occur through degrading, humiliating, discriminating, insulting and many other offensive actions. In Nussbaum's account of dignity, as will be explained¹⁴, the failure to respect human dignity also includes not properly providing for basic entitlements.

2.3.2.3. Equal Human Beings

The last element of Kant's account of dignity that I would like to mention here is *equality*. As we have seen, for Kant, morality has dignity. Humanity, insofar as it is capable of morality, deserves to be attributed dignity. Therefore, from the Kantian perspective, what is worthy is not merely being a human as a mere creature, but the human capacity to legislate the moral law (i.e. being rational in that sense). Thus, in this view human dignity conveys the sense of *equality*, because all moral legislators (i.e. adult rational humans) have the same capacity.

Thus, morality is the worthy condition of all human beings which endows them a value above all other prices. This implication also plays an important role in the legal and ethical discourse. Equal dignity is also an important element in Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach, even though it needs to be modified in some respects. In section 3.1.5., I will discuss the role of equality in Nussbaum's conception of dignity.

The aforementioned elements (implications) of Kantian dignity have had a considerable impact on many of the later discussions of dignity. Some scholars may defend some other senses or theories of dignity, but they more or less utilise the implications of Kantian dignity in their theories. These *implications* are also essential in understanding the *meaning* of dignity.

¹⁴ See section 3.1.2.

Without considering the above implications, we cannot grasp the essence of Kantian dignity. In my opinion, when the notion of dignity as an inalienable value of human beings is taken together with the conceptions of duty and rights, it gives a deeper understanding of dignity as an ethical and legal term.

In this regard, I think the implications of Kantian dignity lead us to think about a more *accurate* meaning of Kantian dignity. I think it is better to describe it as 'valuable status', even though defining it as value or worthiness is not wrong. In defining dignity as valuable status we put the emphasis on status whilst characterising it with the term 'valuable'. Dignity as valuable status, in my opinion, is more compatible with the duty–rights feature of dignity than defining it as value or worthiness.

To explain further: consider the following. If, for instance, one wants to replace the word 'dignity' with 'value' in the following sentence:

'Since human beings have dignity, they have certain duties,'

The sentence would change to:

'Since human beings have value, they have certain duties.'

The first sentence looks acceptable because it is compatible with the common understanding of dignity. However, I am not sure that I can make the same claim for the latter. This is because, when we describe something as a valuable or worthy thing, it is expected that we protect or respect it. For example, it is expected that we protect an expensive diamond because it is valuable; therefore, we keep it in a safe place (for protection) or we use it in a valuable thing such as a king's crown (out of respect). Similarly, if we attribute value to a person, then she would feel that she deserves to receive respect rather than accept a duty; she feels she has a sort of *right*. In fact, the concept of value rather highlights the rights–side of dignity more than both rights *and* duties.

From this point of view, the implication of duty to others appears *only* when we consider that other people have the same value, and thus, everybody has, at the same time, a duty to respect the rights of others. Therefore, if we describe human dignity as worth, we need such extra explanation to justify duty as an implication of dignity. Hence, even though it cannot be said that defining dignity as worth does not imply duty, value and worthiness *per se* (i.e. without considering the fact that all human beings have the same rights) it cannot so clearly convey the sense of duty.

In contrast, the concept of status implies both rights and duties. The status of a person allows

her to benefit from a certain set of rights, but also brings a set of duties. For example, a police officer, because of her status, can have a right to command drivers and, at the same time, can have a duty to help prevent traffic congestion. Therefore, I think that the concept of valuable status is more suited to describe Kantian dignity rather than mere value alone; both rights and duty can be understood with the same level of importance.

2.3.3. The Theory of Kantian Dignity

One of the main aspects of discussions of dignity concerns the *theory* of human dignity: for what reason does one have dignity? Not all philosophers are successful in addressing this question. Some thinkers do not even have a clear theory for their ideas about human dignity. For example, as I will explain in section 2.5.3., Jeremy Waldron (2012) claims that the contemporary understanding of human dignity is, in fact, a transvalued form of the old sense. The pre-modern conception of dignity has a hierarchical meaning, which has now been enhanced into an egalitarian sense. However, it is not clear why all human beings should have such high-ranked status in his theory (Neuhäuser, Stoecker 2014: 307). In the following, I will elaborate the Kantian theory according to which human beings have dignity in virtue of their rationality. By addressing some objections against his theory, I will show that the Kantian theory is the weakest aspect of his account of human dignity.

2.3.3.1. Human Rational Nature

For Kant, the source of (or reason for) human dignity is being a "rational being with autonomy of the will" (Hill 2014: 217). Rational beings have the capacity to conceive of or to legislate some principles of the will (i.e. 'imperatives'). Such principles can be influenced by external causes and be associated with desire. These sorts of principles are called *hypothetical imperatives* by Kant. For example, 'do not steal things if you do not want to go to prison' is a hypothetical imperative. The goal (or the desire) for not stealing is to avoid going to prison. Therefore, if somebody does not care about going to prison, she does not have a reason to avoid stealing.

However, moral principles, in Kant's view, are absolute and cannot vary for different people or under different conditions. In contrast to hypothetical imperatives is the categorical imperative, which is the fundamental moral law. Regardless of external causes, rational beings are able to legislate categorical imperatives which are moral principles. Kant suggests some tests that maxims¹⁵ have to pass in order to be categorical imperatives. For instance, he describes one of these tests as "act according to maxims that can at the same time have as their object themselves as universal laws of nature" (Kant 2012: 49).

In Kant's view, all human beings are able to recognise and will these moral principles, in virtue of being rational. A rational being, thus, is autonomous as she is capable of legislating such self–imposed moral principles without being causally determined to do so, for instance, by fear of punishment, desire for approval, blind acceptance of tradition and the like (Hill 1991: 29). Kant uses the term of "heteronomy" as the opposite of autonomy to distinguish wills which are influenced from external causes and principles which come from a categorical imperative (see particularly Kant 2012: 52).

For Kant, morality, which is above all price (i.e. has dignity), can only involve autonomous actions. Because of this, Kant says "*autonomy* is thus the ground of the dignity of a human and of every rational nature (Kant 2012: 48, emphasis in original)." All in all, practical rationality of the sort associated with autonomy is the only basic condition for recognising creatures as beings with dignity.

2.3.3.2. Problems for the Kantian Theory of Dignity

Although rationality is one of the distinctive characteristics of human beings, this claim that "humanity, in so far as it is capable of morality, is that which alone has dignity" is objectionable. It seems that, for Kant, only rational moral agents have ethical status. According to a strict interpretation of the Kantian view, we should exclude not only animals but also some groups of human beings from the list of dignity-bearers, such as infants, children, and people with severe mental illness. Regan depicts our duties towards non(-active)-rational beings under such a strict interpretation as follows:

All that can be said about our moral dealings with such humans is that our duties involving them are indirect duties to rational beings. Thus, I do no moral wrong *to a child* if I torture her for hours on end. The moral grounds for objecting to what I do must be looked for elsewhere – namely, in the affects doing this will have on my character, causing me, so Kant's view supposes, to become "hard" in my dealings with human moral agents (Regan 2004: 182, emphasis in original).

¹⁵ Maxims are proposed motivating rules for action, such as "always pay your debts".

Although Kant does not address these cases explicitly, since the focus of Kantian dignity is on humanity, it is highly likely that Kant would attribute moral status to, at least, infants and children "by virtue of their *potential* for moral agency" (Warren 2000:102, emphasis in original). Warren states that we can understand this point if we bear in mind that, for Kant, the humanity of bad persons is still valuable (ibid.). Yet, even we accept the above interpretation of Kantian dignity there are still some groups of people who are exempted from being dignity-bearers, such as people with severe mental illness. These groups of people have lost their rational agency, and there is little chance to retrieve their rationality. Since there is no hope that they can become rational agents again they do not have the potential of rationality which, from the Kantian perspective, means that they do not have dignity. The problem is that the reason for (or source of) human dignity suggested by Kant (i.e. a rational nature) cannot cover human beings in marginal cases.

Philosophers (mainly) take two kinds of approach to address this failure of the Kantian theory of dignity: some try to keep faith in believing rationality to be the *sole* source of dignity, and then, endeavour to modify it in such a way as to maximise the inclusion of groups of human beings as dignity-bearers (for example, by referring to the potential for rationality, as Warren suggests above). It seems to me, however, that they ultimately fail to render a comprehensive formula for *all* human beings. In the second approach some philosophers suggest retreating from the only-rationality-criterion formula and instead recognise some other capabilities as fellow sources of dignity. Some of these theories are, in my opinion, more successful at providing an inclusive account of dignity, even though there are some subtleties which shall be discussed and developed. In the following sections, I will mention some relevant arguments concerning them.

2.3.3.3. Modifying the Kantian Theory of Dignity

In the rationality-modifying approach, John Rawls, as an example, presents a formulation to solve this problem for the Kantian theory of dignity. "Moral persons", in his modified Kantian perspective, are "rational beings with their own ends and capable of a sense of justice" (Rawls 2009: 11). To reach equality in his theory of justice as fairness, he suggests that 'a certain minimum' should be 'generally fulfilled' (Rawls 2009: 445). By incorporating the 'capacity' of minimal requirements into the definition of moral personality, in Rawls' point of view, infants and children would be seen as moral agents (Rawls 2009: 445-446).

Even though this solution may address the dignity of 'infants and children' it gives the impression that we need to admit, subsequently, a kind of dignity for "fertilized or unfertilized

human ova—which also have the potential" (Warren 2000: 105). However, Warren holds that this concern can be replied to by the proponents of the only-rationality-view by reminding us that "persons are conscious beings, entities that have the capacity to have experiences, and not merely the potential to develop that capacity at a later time. Thus, it might be suggested that a person is a conscious being who is either actually or potentially capable of moral agency. This definition of personhood blocks the admission of human ova and presentient foetuses, while admitting infants and young children, and possibly third-trimester foetuses, which may already be sentient" (ibid.).

Nonetheless, again, even if we accept the above interpretation of Kantian dignity, there are still individuals who lack the potential for rationality, and who ultimately do not have moral status even on this modified version of the account. In this regard, Rawls admits that moral personality is the sufficient (and not necessary) condition for beings entitled to equal justice (Rawls 2009: 442). Although Rawls endeavours to cover the mentally impaired in his just society by offering some pragmatic reasons, mentally and physically impaired people deserve to be considered as dignity-bearers in virtue of their being humans (Freeman 2007: 287).

In fact, Rawls' interpretation of Kantian dignity has fallen short of giving an adequate theory of dignity, by which *all* human beings are considered as dignity-bearers. Rawls is not the only person who tries to give a modified account of Kantian dignity. There are also other suggestions concerning the theory of dignity, in which philosophers strive to modify the Kantian account of dignity. I would like to mention Allen Wood's suggestion for modifying the Kantian criterion of human dignity as another example. According to his idea:

[...] in order properly to respect rational nature, we are required to treat some beings who are not persons in the strict sense in certain respects just exactly as if they were persons in the strict sense. Or, to put it another way, we are required to accord, at least for certain purposes, a status equivalent to personhood to some beings that simply are not persons in the strict sense. For instance, we should treat small children as having a right not to be killed, to have their well-being looked after, and their development toward maturity cared for. I propose that we apply the term *persons in the extended sense* to beings that are not persons in the strict sense but that should be granted a moral status (in the relevant respects) exactly like that of beings that are persons in the strict sense (Wood 2008: 96-97, emphasis in original).

In this suggestion human children do not in fact have dignity but, in order to respect rational nature, other humans have to treat them *as if* they have human dignity. However, Wood holds a confusing position with respect to accepting or denying the moral status of children, exactly

like (rational) adults (Dwyer 2010:109). From my perspective, this problem is rooted in the question of theory: what characteristic of 'persons in the extended sense' requires us to respect them as if they are persons? This characteristic cannot be 'being human', as with regards to this characteristic children and adult humans are the same. It cannot be something inherent in these particular non-rational beings, too; it should be sought in their relation to other rational beings.

Kerstein assumes that such a relation is to be found between the child and those who aim to promote that child's flourishing (who would themselves be disrespected if this aim was hindered), such as the child's parents. Having made such an assumption, Kerstain refutes Wood's idea by referring to children for whom nobody has such an aim, and who therefore would be in no need of respect as no rational being would be disrespected by ignoring them (Kerstain 2014 225). However, I think, there is another imaginable alternative: respecting the child for the sake of the dignity of the moral agent as one would disrespect oneself if one disrespects a child. In other words, one may enact a form of respect for one's own dignity by respecting a child; whether or not that child has anybody who is concerned for her.

However, this case once again raises the question that I posed at the beginning of this argument: why should a moral agent respect a being (i.e. a child) who does not have dignity, and why should that agent not do the same to other things (e.g. a piece of stone)? (Remember that, according to Wood, we do not find the valuable characteristic – i.e. rationality – in 'persons in the extended sense' which would demand that they be respected for *their* own value). Consequently, Wood's proposal for modifying the Kantian theory of dignity does not look sufficiently justifiable either. The same problem exists in Hill's justification of Kant's theory of dignity:

[...] the thesis that ordinary competent adult moral agents have dignity by virtue of their rational autonomy does not imply that *only* they have moral value or standing. Moral principles are constraints and guides that ordinary competent agents *would* follow *if* they were fully rational and autonomous. The question is how such principles direct morally competent agents – those with the active capacities and dispositions of rational autonomy – to treat young children whose moral capacities remain latent, demented adults who have lost them, and animals that lack them. Arguably, these moral principles would require us to extend a kind of dignity to human beings who have lost or not yet developed moral capacities and also (despite what Kant says) to regard animals as more than mere means to our ends (Hill 2014: 218, emphasis in original).

In this interpretation of the Kantian theory of dignity, Hill strives to include young children, the severely mental ill, and animals in the list of dignity-bearers by extending a 'kind of dignity' to these groups of beings. However, I believe that Hill's suggestion does not actually address the question of the theory of dignity. This is because if such a group of beings (i.e. young children, etc.) have (a kind of) dignity, it means that they have an incomparable value which is above price, from the Kantian perspective. If they do have such incomparable value, then their value would not be something less than a rational being's.

Accepting these points, however, shows again the void in Kant's answer to the question of the theory of dignity: in virtue of what does one have dignity? The answer to this question for Kant is 'rationality', but we already supposed (in Hill's suggestion) that those groups of beings (i.e. young children, animals, etc.) are not rational agents. In fact, in Hill's suggestion, we attribute (a kind of) dignity to some non-rational beings without finding the source (or reason) for our considering someone as a dignity-bearer.

2.3.3.4. Multi-Capabilities Approach to Dignity

Overall, according to the Kantian theory of dignity, at least, some groups of human beings (e.g. the severely mentally ill) and non-human animals do not possess dignity. This problem is particularly important to me because my thesis is in the context of bioethics where ethical concerns of 'marginal cases' are important. There are plenty of situations in hospitals in which the status of the rational agency of patients might be, more or less, (permanently) questionable. There may be other kinds of human association where the idea of a 'kingdom of ends' (composed entirely of rational agents) is more straightforwardly applicable; but hospitals are not one of them. Consequently, this failure of the Kantian theory of human dignity is not an ignorable matter in my thesis, and I need to find a suitable alternative theory of dignity.

To avoid this Kantian problem of human dignity, some philosophers have taken another approach. They pose the following question: why not consider dignity as existing for human beings as empirical beings with a range of other characteristics (Spiegelberg 1970: 50)? As was mentioned, the source of Kantian dignity (i.e. rationality) has an absolute and abstract feature which can never be impacted on by external causes, while the real lives of human beings are extremely vulnerable and dependant on the natural world:

[...] for Kant, human dignity and our moral capacity, dignity's source, are radically separate from the natural world. Insofar as we exist merely in the realm of nature, we are not ends in ourselves and do not have a dignity; things in that realm simply have

a price (Nussbaum 2006: 131).

Nussbaum has taken a multi-capabilities approach in her theory of human dignity, in order to address the value of impairments and disabilities. As will be elaborated¹⁶, instead of merely relying on rationality she suggests considering the animality of human beings as the source of dignity. (Animality includes a set of capabilities, one of which is rationality). Therefore, in her account of human dignity, not only is there no such problem of marginal cases, she even sees the needy aspect of human beings as something valuable and in need of support. This feature of the Capabilities Approach, alongside some other advantages which will be explained in a forthcoming section, encourages us to follow her theory of human dignity. This is because considering the vulnerability of human beings, and their dependence on the help of others, is exactly the kind of matter that a hospital designer should consider in her planning.

In summary of this section: there has been widespread discussion both in favour and against the Kantian theory of human dignity, each side of which has its own advantages and disadvantages. The attempts in these debates are to find the reason for (or source of) the dignity of individuals. However, Kant's theory fell short of covering those who lack the potential of rationality¹⁷. In general, I think, a theory of dignity is successful if it can, at least, cover *all* human beings. This is the common understanding of human dignity as valuable status and a theory of dignity should be able to address this issue. The main failure of Kant's account of dignity is that it cannot attribute this characteristic to all human beings.

In the future¹⁸, I will explain that the concept of dignity in its common meaning *also* has some senses other than the Kantian meaning of dignity (i.e. dignity as valuable status). However, what is common to all those senses is a hidden conception of 'comparison' in the notion of dignity. Whether we consider dignity as value, worthiness, nobility, honour, or any other synonym terms, dignity indicates that there is something *praiseworthy* in the dignity-bearer which *elevates* the dignity-bearer above the other things which do not possess that praiseworthy thing; this is the sense of 'comparison' which I believe is inherent in all

¹⁶ See section 2.6.2.

¹⁷ Kant's theory about human dignity has another controversial aspect: the dignity of animals. Some philosophers, such as Nussbaum, believe that animals have their own types of dignity. This idea is not apparently compatible with Kantian dignity, even though some scholars such as Tom Regan (2004) adapt a Kantian framework to ground duties to animals with reference to the idea of a 'subject of a life', instead of rational autonomy. Unfortunately, I do not have space in this thesis to go into his theory in any detail or into his discussions of animal dignity. For a useful critical discussion of Regan see Julia Tanner (2009).

¹⁸ See section 2.4.1.2.

conceptions of dignity. It impels us to attribute value and worthiness to the dignity-bearer in *comparison* with the other things. Discovering the reality of that praiseworthy thing in dignity-bearers is the appealing target, which encourages philosophers to render their own accounts of dignity; accounts whose aim is to identify that praiseworthy thing and to show whether or not all those who are known as dignity-bearers have that praiseworthy thing.

As explained above, the praiseworthy thing in the possessor of dignity, for Kant, is rationality. However, his theory is not successful at delivering the other mission of an account of dignity (i.e. to cover all human beings as dignity-bearers). For Nussbaum, however, the praiseworthy thing in dignity-bearers is the animality of human beings which includes rationality as well as sociability. I will explain Nussbaum's account of dignity later in this thesis¹⁹.

2.4. Macklin's Objection

2.4.1. General Objections Against Dignity

Above, I attempted to explain the Kantian account of dignity. This explanation was based on three main areas of human dignity, namely the meaning, the elements, and the theory of human dignity. It was elaborated that the meaning of dignity, for Kant, concerns human value, which is inner, inalienable, unconditional, and incomparable. Dignity also has some important elements such as human rights and duties, respect, and equality. I also mentioned some of the objections against the Kantian theory of dignity in which one possesses dignity if one is (at least potentially) a rational agent. Despite the criticisms against Kantian dignity, the above explanation gives a basic understanding of this notion.

Such an understanding can now assist me in explaining the different aspects of Nussbaum's conception of dignity. However, before I start to elaborate Nussbaum's account of dignity, it is worth discussing some of the general objections against the concept of dignity. I will consider objections in the context of bioethics as this is more relevant to my arguments. There are some considerable lines of thought which hold that the concept of human dignity is 'useless' or even 'dangerous'. Before I develop Nussbaum's view of dignity, I need to address such objections in this section.

¹⁹ See section 2.6.2.

The idea of human dignity in bioethics is still being developed and plays an increasingly crucial role. The emergence of the concept of dignity in some recently suggested ethical principles indicates that the status of dignity is strengthening in current bioethics. For example, in a former set of moral principles, autonomy, beneficence, non-maleficence and justice had ruled supreme (Beauchamp, Childress 1979). In more recent discussions, however, dignity stands as one of the main ethical principles. For instance, dignity is placed alongside autonomy, integrity, and vulnerability in one account (Rendtorff 2002) and with autonomy, justice, beneficence and non-maleficence in another account (EGE 1999: Ethical Aspects), and is suggested as one of the main ethical principles. Some authors such as Haugen even suggest dignity as the core of healthcare ethics (2010: 212).

Nevertheless, the concept of human dignity in bioethics, as with many other ethical notions, has faced challenges. Franz Josef Wetz sees dignity as "fake solutions for deep conflicts" which has "a very dubious role in contemporary bioethical discourse" (quoted in Schroeder 2008: 230). Steven Pinker (2008) in his *The Stupidity of Dignity* believes that dignity can even be dangerous. The serious war against dignity in bioethics, though, was started by Ruth Macklin (Conley 2013: 19). Macklin, who is a professor of biomedical ethics, refuses to accept that "dignity" is a useful principle.

She argues in an influential paper that dignity is an arbitrary concept within the bioethical context. In particular, she states: "[a]ppeals to dignity are either vague restatements of other, more precise, notions or mere slogans that add nothing to an understanding of the topic" (Macklin 2003: 1419). Macklin posits that, notwithstanding some exceptions, international documents do not specify medical fields. Referring to one of those exceptions (i.e. the Council of Europe's convention), she claims:

In this and other documents "dignity" seems to have no meaning beyond what is implied by the principle of medical ethics, respect for persons: the need to obtain voluntary, informed consent; the requirement to protect confidentiality; and the need to avoid discrimination and abusive practices (Macklin 2003: 1419).

Tracing back the historical origins of dignity in bioethics, Macklin tries to show that "dignity seems to be nothing other than respect for autonomy" (Macklin 2003: 1419). Macklin suggests that the numerous references to dignity in religious sources have resulted in the frequent usage of this notion, particularly within medical ethics, and that dignity has crept into the secular literature of this field of study from those sources (Macklin 2003: 1420).

From Macklin's perspective, as an expert of bioethics, dignity should have no room in the context of medical ethics. Macklin is not alone in criticising dignity, even though she is the

most famous proponent of this view. In reviewing the main criticisms of dignity it appears that we can classify them into three kinds (particularly for the discussion in the field of medical ethics): (1) respect for human dignity is actually a re-statement of respect for autonomy (or respect for the person as an autonomous being); (2) human dignity is a vague concept which adds nothing; (3) if human dignity is inviolable (as human rights and bioethical documents hold, and as Kant claimed), why do we, for some inappropriate conditions of patients, talk about the violation of dignity (e.g. lack of privacy)?

Following Macklin's objection, many arguments have been rendered by doctors and nurses in response, some of which refer to the concern that "dismissing dignity risks disregarding the ultimate rationale for respecting each patient as a unique and irreplaceable person" (Andorno 2011: 267). However, the main arguments against the three principal criticisms mentioned above are offered through two strategies. In the first one, advocates of dignity try to reject the belief that respecting dignity is the same as respecting autonomy. Obviously, this sort of reply is appropriate in addressing the first kind of criticism aforementioned.

In the second strategy, however, responders to Macklin do not explicitly deny that respecting dignity, in the general sense, is equal to respecting autonomy. Instead, they identify some other meanings of dignity which on one hand are not inalienable characteristics of human beings, and on the other hand have more concrete functions. This strategy is mostly suitable to deal with the second and the third criticisms. To address the three kinds of criticisms against dignity, therefore, we need to consider both strategies.

In the following passages, I will consider the three kinds of objections. I will illustrate that 'respect for human dignity' *is* something beyond merely 'respecting human autonomy', or 'respecting an autonomous person'; even according to Kant's conception of dignity. I will also, however, admit that the concept of human dignity is, to some extent, vague. I will argue that this vagueness is not because it is a poor conception; rather it is because of its richness. Therefore, the vagueness of human dignity does not make it 'useless'; we should rather see this concept as a general idea, or a doctrine which can lead us to consider some important aspects of human life.

And finally, I will explain that the concept of human dignity does not merely have a Kantian meaning. Those bioethical documents which use a sense of human dignity implying its violability can be seen to be referring to non-Kantian senses of human dignity. However, in the next section, I will challenge the way these non-Kantian meanings of human dignity are described. Subsequently, I will suggest that we consider one of the meanings of human dignity as 'decency'; a sense which has a basis in Kantian dignity, and is utilised by Nussbaum in her

literature.

2.4.1.1. Dignity is not Autonomy

As mentioned before, the Kantian concept of dignity is one of the most influential descriptions of dignity and is reflected in many resources including international human rights documents, many national legal systems, and the like. Considering the fact that dignity for Kant is grounded in autonomy, it is highly likely that the capability for rationality and for choice-making is the core notion of dignity discussed in such ethical and human rights instruments.

The thoughts of more recent philosophers, in which autonomy is counted as an essential part of the description of dignity, underscores the deep connection between these two conceptions²⁰. Perhaps such a profound link in "the tradition of thoughts explain[s] why critics like Macklin have come to regard the ideas of autonomy and dignity as being essentially synonymous with one another" (Neal 2014: 28). But repliers to Macklin have tried to illustrate that even though dignity and autonomy are connected, they are ultimately distinct (Neal 2014: 31).

There are a number of ways of addressing this issue (i.e. that respect for dignity is ultimately distinct from respect for autonomy) that I will briefly mention. The first one tends to be presented by those who are treating patients; and hence they argue according to their personal experience. In this light, they emphasise that dignity cannot simply be equated with autonomy as there are many cases in which one may be treated with respect for one's autonomy, but without sufficient respect for one's dignity. Taylor (2003), for instance, says: "I have seen many times an informed consent filled out by patients treated with little dignity".

However, my focus is on analytical responses to Macklin. Such responses reflect the problem we have already found with the notion of Kantian dignity: the problem of the dignity of non-rational human beings. It is widely accepted that even those who lack sufficient autonomy still have dignity. Therefore, if we equate respect for dignity with respect for autonomy, we may forget the ethical status of 'marginal cases', as discussed in section 2.3.3.2. Therefore, respecting dignity in medical issues involves a wider range of ethical concerns than merely respecting autonomy.

²⁰ See Mary Neal (2014: 28) for some recent examples of describing dignity by referring to the notion of autonomy.

If we depart from the Kantian notion of autonomy²¹, we can also consider another characteristic of dignity which discourages us from equating respecting dignity with respecting autonomy. It has already been discussed that when one respects the dignity of others one, in fact, respects one's own dignity too. In other words, if one violates the dignity of others, one violates one's own dignity: it would be against my dignity if I did not respect the dignity of others.

But, we cannot claim the same for autonomy: one can violate the autonomy of others autonomously. More interestingly, one may deny the autonomy of others in the name of human dignity. As will be explained, dignity has a dual function: dignity sometimes acts in such a way as to empower freedom of choice, but it also sometimes constrains the freedom of agents (i.e. people are, sometimes, prohibited from engaging in actions that go against their dignity)²². Therefore, it would not be accurate to equate respecting dignity with respecting autonomy.

This section's final point against Macklin's position is identified in the below argument from Killmister (2010: 164):

to respect an individual's autonomy requires respect for their self-governance. This is why the connection between autonomy and informed consent is so tight. To respect an individual's dignity, meanwhile, requires respect for their self-worth. Admittedly, as this self-worth can be undermined through failing to uphold principles, there is an overlap with autonomy. Nonetheless, there are numerous ways in which failure to respect self-worth is not synonymous with failure to respect self-governance. For example, when patients recount the experience of overcrowding as a violation of dignity, it is difficult to read this as a violation of self-governance, except in the thinnest possible sense that it goes against her wishes.

In many cases in which a person feels their situation is not 'decent' for her, she would claim

²¹ For Kant (on standard interpretations) one cannot autonomously violate the autonomy of others. For him one is truly autonomous *only* when acting for the sake of moral duty and one ought never to violate the autonomy of another person (it is always morally wrong to treat another only as a mere means). Thus, if one freely permits others to treat one as a mere means, then the violators are not acting autonomously. This can in fact be considered one of the flaws of the Kantian account of dignity and autonomy: The Kantian autonomous agent is a moral agent when she acts for the sake of universal moral laws – categorical imperatives – that can bind the wills of all rational agents whoever/wherever they are. However, as I explained before, I do not adopt the Kantian account of dignity and autonomy in this thesis.

²² For more discussions see section 3.1.3.4.: discussions about dignity as empowerment and constraint.

that remaining in that situation is beneath her dignity. However, remaining in such situations would not affect her respect for her autonomy. In the case of overcrowded wards, for instance, a patient may find her situation beneath her dignity but feel no violation against her autonomy.

It is also noteworthy that, in this kind of criticism, when it is said that respect for dignity is similar to respect for the person, the focus is mostly on the 'autonomy' of the person. Therefore, the main response given to critics, in this regard, is mostly to refuse to equate 'dignity' with 'autonomy'. However, it seems even 'respect for the person' cannot be a proper substitute for 'respect for dignity'. This is because, according to the Kantian perspective, the dignity of human beings is respected when persons are treated as an end and not merely as a means. It might seem strange to talk of 'respecting a person only as a means', but it is something that happens very frequently, such as when people are viewed only as sources of income or as customers. Thus, if someone respects a person merely as a means then she fails to respect her dignity. This means that respect for dignity is not simply respect for individuals.

A hospital designer, for example, who considers patients only as customers and as a source of income, may try to design the hospital in such a way as to ensure that patients are respected (as individuals). Such respectful design is adopted to attract more patients to hospitals and, consequently, raise hospital revenue. However, such a designer does not respect the dignity of patients (in Kant's terms), as she considers them merely as a means, even if in doing so she otherwise provides for their ethical concerns. The Kantian interpretation of respect for human dignity, in contrast, invites designers to see patients at the same time as ends through considering any other elements of design which can support patients, even if this does not increase hospital income. Consequently, contrary to Macklin's claim, respect for human dignity is "over and above respect for persons or for their autonomy".

2.4.1.2. The Vagueness and Inviolability of Dignity

The reasons elaborated above are given to reject equating dignity with autonomy, namely the first kind of criticism (i.e. dignity is a restatement of respecting autonomy or persons as autonomous beings). However, some philosophers have taken another strategy in responding to objections against dignity which is suitable for the second and third kinds of criticism. In this strategy, repliers do not insist on refusing to accept that dignity is equal to autonomy. Instead, they endeavour to demonstrate that the concept of dignity has more than one sense. Accordingly, both sides of the debate are correct in their arguments because they are addressing different issues: while critics are using dignity in the general fashion applied in the international policies of bioethics, the defenders of dignity are "concerned with dignity in the

particular sense of treating individuals in a dignified fashion" (Capron 2003).

Although I believe that those who take this second strategy overlook the arguments that deny an equivalence between dignity and autonomy (even in the general and abstract sense), I agree with them on this point: considering other meanings of dignity can help to elucidate important aspects in the debate about human dignity. Discussing other meanings of dignity can also help me in developing my arguments about Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach, in which I will argue that the central meaning of dignity concerns having a 'decent life' rather than a 'valuable status'. In the following passages I will discuss some of the arguments of this second strategy and, subsequently, I will suggest the definition of dignity as 'decency' in the next section.

One of the main oppositions against the concept of dignity in bioethics concerns its vagueness. The ambiguity of dignity in bioethics even causes the notion to be used in contradictory ways²³. The role of human dignity in the discussions about euthanasia is one of the best examples. On the one hand, The World Federation of Right to Die Societies (2017) with members of organisations from all around the world has appealed to the concept of human dignity to affirm the right to die for competent adults. On the other hand, however, euthanasia and physician-assisted suicide is opposed, surprisingly again, in the name of dignity: "the choice to kill an innocent human life, whether one's own or another's, even for the sake of avoiding terrible suffering, is intrinsically immoral. Euthanasia and suicide are contrary to the intrinsic dignity of human persons" (Lee 2001).

Accordingly, it may be claimed that "if the concept is so vague that it can be used to defend opposing positions, so it should [be purged]" (Schroeder 2008: 232). To reply to this concern, dignity advocates make two points. Firstly, notion of human dignity, particularly in the abstract meaning of 'worthiness and valuable status', is not in this respect very different from other general principles:

As a matter of fact, defining dignity in clear-cut terms would be as difficult as defining 'freedom,' 'justice', 'solidarity', or whatever other key social value (which by the way are never defined by law). It is not because the idea of human dignity is too poor, but because it is too rich that it cannot be encapsulated into a straightforward definition with which everybody agrees (Andorno 268).

This might account for the fact that it is employed as an overarching principle alongside human rights (e.g. privacy, confidentiality) in certain bioethical documents. Therefore, the vagueness of dignity is not typically taking as a reason to reject it. Instead, we need to use such a rich

²³ See for example de Melo-Martín (2011).

concept carefully, and explain the weak aspects of this vagueness rather than denying the whole concept: "dignity is a slippery idea, but it is also a very powerful one and the demand to purge it from ethical discourse amounts to whistling in the wind. It is better to try and eliminate some of its slipperiness than to ignore its supremacy in everyday morality and national and international law" (Beyleveld, Brownsword 2001: 63).

In fact, the concept of dignity should not be seen as a principle which can practically guide ethical concerns in medical ethics. *It rather should be considered as an idea, a doctrine, or a belief*: a belief that all human beings have an inherent worth and value, which is inalienable and equal, that brings rights and entitlements, as well as duties, and should be respected as an end and not merely as a means. All of these ethical values are encapsulated in a single notion: human dignity.

Accordingly, the recognition of and emphasis of the concept of dignity serves to illuminate the overarching doctrine which dominates fundamental discussions about people's rights in hospitals; that all people who are involved in a process of treatment (whether they are patients, doctors, etc.) have such intrinsic value and that this is what makes them entitled to decent conditions and opportunities. In this regard, dignity does not address biomedical issues in a practical way, rather, it guides us to set up our medical services according to this belief concerning the value of human beings and their entitlements.

As the second part of the response to the criticism of dignity as vague, repliers highlight the fact that dignity has different meanings with various functions; and while Macklin's claim mostly refers to the abstract Kantian dignity (i.e. dignity as inherent value), the other senses of dignity have more concrete meanings. The same answer is also given to the problem of the inviolability of dignity: although Kantian dignity is inviolable, this concept has other meanings which are not about an inalienable characteristic of human beings and are therefore subject to violation.

I agree with this position and I believe that what we are finding in some bioethical documents as instances of violability of human dignity, mostly refers to the other non-Kantian meanings of dignity. However, it is also important to classify the senses of human dignity correctly. The way in which some literature addresses this issue has, in my opinion, fallen short of accurately responding to the concerns of dignity opponents.

For instance, Roberto Andorno suggests two different, but complementary, senses of human dignity, after maintaining that Macklin and her critics are talking about different things (2013: 967). The first meaning is dignity as a general principle which has a central place in policy documents. The other sense of dignity, however, refers to the standard of health care and

reflects a concrete and context-specific understanding of the patient as a 'person' (Andorno 2013: 972 - 973):

While dignity as an overarching principle fulfils a foundational and guiding role of the whole normative framework governing biomedical issues, dignity as a standard for patient care embodies a much more concrete and context-specific vision of the patient as a "person". Both approaches, far from being in conflict, are just two different sides of the same coin. They are complementary. The general approach (dignity as a policy principle) is the *objective* component of dignity: it refers to the inherent value that society recognizes in each of us; it is about how *others* see each of us. The concrete approach (dignity as a standard for patient care) relates to the *subjective* component of dignity: it is a consequence of the inherent value that I recognize in myself; it is about how *I see myself*; it results from my awareness of being a 'subject' and not a mere 'object'; it leads me, if I am a patient, to reasonably expect certain attitudes and behaviours from health care professionals (Andorno 2013: 971, emphases in original).

However, this classification of dignity faces several questions and, hence, fails to fully address the relevant concerns. The first question is about the way in which Andorno has distinguished dignity in a general sense from dignity as a standard. The objective side of dignity is familiar: it is close to what has been explained as Kantian dignity, i.e. dignity as inherent value which everybody possesses. The subjective component of dignity, however, is to some extent unclear. On the one hand, being subjective, it is described as a kind of self-awareness of one's own value. Therefore, it depends on how one values oneself and is not related to the recognition of one's value by others.

On the other hand, however, this subjective side of human dignity is also introduced as a standard for patient care. Accordingly, such standards should be self-defined because they are based on the value one finds in oneself - not what others find. But, we should remember that we are talking about the healthcare standards in biomedical documents. Such documents are supposed to be based on a universal understanding of humans' value, rather than a self-defined one. Therefore, the question is how can such a self-defined value be transferred into a universal concept of dignity for use in bioethical documents?

For example, Kant has his own formula for ensuring that what one understands as a motivating rule is a universal categorical imperative: "act according to maxims that can at the same time have as their object themselves as universal laws of nature" (Kant 2012: 49). If the rule can pass this test it would not be a personal rule: it would be a universal moral rule. Accordingly,

it would be justifiable to expect others to undertake their own duty towards such a rule. But, Andorno has not rendered a formula which can justify undertaking duties toward such selfdetermined expectations. In fact, Andorno could not give such a formula, because otherwise such subjective dignity would become objective dignity.

Furthermore, I doubt that Andorno addresses Macklin's criticism at all. Firstly, dignity as a standard is almost as vague as dignity in the general sense. The only difference is that the former notion of dignity is a contextualised form of the latter, but with no more clarity. But the more important point is that Macklin's criticism is exactly about the role of dignity in the context of bioethics (i.e. what Andorno calls dignity as standard), and not only in the general sense. Therefore, contrary to what Andorno has claimed, both Macklin and Andorno are apparently talking about the same issue.

Moreover, Andorno has also insisted that dignity as a standard of health care reflects an understanding of the patient as a 'person' (2013: 973). However, it seems that once again the same problem that Macklin refers to arises: for Andorno, dignity either has a general sense, which as he stated is naturally vague, or functions as a standard, which is seeing a patient as a 'person'. Therefore, for Andorno, dignity either has a vague sense or is equal to respect for the person. But the 'vagueness' of dignity and the equivalency of 'respect for dignity' with 'respect for the person' are exactly the criticisms of Macklin. Thus, Andorno actually has fallen short of showing that Macklin and her critics are talking about different things²⁴.

The upshot is that philosophical conceptions of human dignity should be defined in such a way that they be compatible with the manner in which people commonly utilise the notion. In this regard, I think that Doris Schroeder is more successful in identifying the various senses of dignity than Andorno. Schroeder determines, firstly, two concerns about human dignity in bioethics, namely its violability and its vagueness (such as in supporting two opposite sides in the debates concerning euthanasia). Then, Schroeder draws our attention to four different meanings of dignity and suggests that in any debate on dignity, such distinct senses should be considered (2008: 236). In short, the four concepts of dignity are introduced as follows (ibid: 233-235):

- *Kantian Dignity*: in this sense, as explained before, having dignity means to have an inner worth which should be respected by all, and to not be treated as a means.
- Aristocratic Dignity: this pre-modern sense of dignity was only attributed to highly

²⁴ There are some other problems with Andorno's suggestions which I ignore due to the limitations of space.

ranked people. When Kings, popes, and other nobles acted according to their positions, they behaved in a 'dignified' way. Schroeder defines aristocratic dignity as: "the outwardly displayed quality of a human being who acts in accordance with her superior rank and position".

- *Comportment Dignity:* in this form of dignity, we are mostly talking about what people expect to see from a person in a society. This sense can better be understood when it is considered by its absence: "[...] it is undignified to snooze on a train, it could appear undignified to tell a rude joke at an official dinner with one's mouth full, to giggle at an obituary, to kiss one's partner in a Catholic church (unless he is the groom), to spit onto the street, to undress or relieve oneself in public, and so forth." In short, comportment dignity "is the outwardly displayed quality of a human being who acts in accordance with society's expectations of well-mannered demeanor and bearing".
- Meritorious Dignity: dignity in this sense is applied to those who have a high level of self-worth, and have "reliable character disposition toward courage, justice, wisdom, and temperance, which are four cardinal virtues according to Aristotle". This sense of dignity is not expected to be seen from everybody, as Aristotle emphasised these as the characteristics of 'ideal' human beings. In this regard, dignity is "a virtue, which subsumes the four cardinal virtues and one's sense of self-worth".

What the above different meanings of dignity suggest is that all non-Kantian meanings are not inalienable (inviolable). They can be gained, lost, or violated. Therefore, when we talk about losing or violating dignity, it is about one of the three non-Kantian classes of dignity. Schroeder has also endeavoured to resolve the problem of ambiguity in the meaning of dignity with the same strategy. After referring to some quotes from advocates and opponents of euthanasia, she maintains that while the Christian authors use the Kantian sense of dignity to show that "the purposeful acceleration of death of an intrinsically valuable being is contrary to this being's intrinsic dignity and must therefore be prevented", the Death with Dignity organisations appeal to meritorious or comportment dignity, in order to explain "[w]hat one might have tried all one's life, to fit into society's standards of decent behavior, one might not be able to achieve in death" (ibid: 236).

Despite, the instrumental attempts of Schroeder in describing the different meanings of human dignity, she does not clarify how these meanings of dignity are related together, and if we can find any connection between the inalienable concept of Kantian dignity, and the violable non-Kantian notions of dignity. I will return to this classification of dignity in a forthcoming section, and will suggest a meaning of dignity as 'decency' as representative of the three non-

Kantian senses of dignity, whilst simultaneously being rooted in the Kantian one²⁵.

Before finishing this section on Macklin's objection I would like to mention that the notion of autonomy has different senses, too. At the very least the concept of autonomy to which Kant refers is apparently different from Macklin's. For instance, in referring to a bioethical document, Macklin states:

The first such statute, the California Natural Death Act 1976, began: "In recognition of the dignity and privacy which patients have a right to expect, the Legislature hereby declares that the laws of the State of California shall recognize the right of an adult person to make a written directive instructing his physician to withhold or withdraw life–sustaining procedures in the event of a terminal condition." In this context dignity seems to be nothing other than respect for autonomy (Macklin 2003: 1419).

This sample statement reveals that what Macklin mentioned as autonomy in this article refers to the sense of free–selecting. For her, respect for autonomy means respecting the right of people to choose freely. It should be noted that this sense of autonomy (as choosing freely) is different from what Kant describes as autonomy. For Kant a rational agent is autonomous only when she acts in accordance with principles in the form of categorical imperatives (i.e. moral principles). While Macklin's autonomy seems to put limitations on acting freely by legislating ethical principles for moral agents: the former's autonomy is about freedom, but the latter's is about legislating principles²⁶.

2.4.2. A Summary of Responses

I would like to briefly review the potential responses given to critics against dignity. It was explained that there are some empirical and analytical reasons for thinking that 'respect for dignity' cannot be equated with 'respect for autonomy' in the biomedical context. Nor is it equal to respect for the person, owing to the fact that 'respect for dignity' indicates a *specific kind* of respect for the person (i.e. seeing her as an end). Furthermore, the notion of respect for the person alone cannot convey all of the important implications of human dignity.

²⁵ See section 2.5.

 $^{^{26}}$ In fact, Kant does think that autonomy is freedom – moral freedom, which consists in autonomously willing the moral law – rather than freedom to choose whatever course of action one happens to want.

I also admitted that whilst the concept of dignity in general is vague, this is in fact the story of all key moral notions. In this regard, we first need to bear in mind that dignity should be seen as a basic ethical doctrine or belief, i.e. believing in the valuable status of human beings and the subsequent implications of this. Then, in the light of such a belief, we need to discuss the implications of dignity in specific contexts in order to clarify what dignity specifically implies in each context. There is no doubt that, in some cases, the concept of dignity may indicate different (or even opposite) implications. However, this is not a suitable reason to eliminate the notion entirely given that it can, at the very least, inspire us when we are considering many other issues, e.g. when we are devising global human rights instruments. Also, clarifications of the different meanings of dignity can be helpful in dealing with the 'slippery' aspects of human dignity.

Finally, the explanations about the different senses of dignity given above has shown that while dignity in the Kantian sense is inalienable, in other meanings it is not (i.e. dignity in those senses can be given or purged). Also, I will explain that when we are talking about the violation or loss of dignity we are referring to the condition, behaviour, or opportunity of which one is entitled to enjoy (or benefit from), but of which one is deprived.

2.4.3. Dignity as a Secular Concept

Before finishing this section, I would like to briefly discuss another concern of Macklin's. As quoted earlier, she believes that dignity is a religious concept that 'crept' into secular bioethics. There are two points that I would like to elaborate on with respect to this view. First of all, dignity in its egalitarian sense is a relatively recent concept and we cannot therefore expect to find the same notion in the main religious sources, such as the Jewish and Christian Scriptures. In this regard Sulmasy says the following:

While it is often assumed that the idea of dignity is essentially religious, it is hard to make this case from the Jewish and Christian Scriptures. The Hebrew word translated as 'dignity', *gedula*, occurs rarely in the Hebrew Scriptures and means something more like nobility of character or personal standing in the community. The Greek $\sigma\epsilon\mu\nu\sigma\tau\eta\varsigma$ (*semnotes*) is sometimes rendered in English as 'dignity'. It occurs, however, only three times in the Christian Scriptures and is probably better translated as 'seriousness'. The word best translated today as 'dignity', $\alpha\xi\iota\sigma\pi\rho\epsilon'\pi\epsilon\iota\alpha$ (*aksioprepeia*), is not used in the New Testament at all (2007: 10).

However, it does seem as though the essence of the concept of dignity and its implications has

a strong compatibility with religious thought. Consequently, we can see that this concept has emerged in the more recent stages of Catholic Christianity. For example, the Compendium of the Social Doctrine of the Church says the following:

In fact, the roots of human rights are to be found in the dignity that belongs to each human being. This dignity, inherent in human life and equal in every person, is perceived and understood first of all by reason. The natural foundation of rights appears all the more solid when, in light of the supernatural, it is considered that human dignity, after having been given by God and having been profoundly wounded by sin, was taken on and redeemed by Jesus Christ in his incarnation, death and resurrection (The Catholic Church, 2004: paragraph 153).

However, the various interpretations given to the concept of dignity are not necessarily similar even within the same religion²⁷. All in all, the origin of the modern understanding of dignity should not be regarded as coming from religion. On the contrary, it seems that it is religions which are drawn towards the modern concept of dignity because it allows them to develop their own concerns within the dignity framework. In other words, the implications of the concept of dignity (e.g. equality, duties, etc.) can be seen in the original religious texts and therefore religions have welcomed such a modern concept which facilitates the transition of their thoughts.

Moreover, we cannot forget the claims of those such as Schroeder who believes that dignity was an indicator of a person's social standing in pre-modern societies. This historical sense is far from our modern understanding of dignity. Therefore, if the concept of dignity stemmed from religion then since, for example, Christianity started tens of centuries ago, dignity should have a hierarchical sense rather than an egalitarian one.

However, I admit that the concept of dignity in recent decades has been turned into a powerful tool used to impose religious concerns in the context of bioethics. For example, Pinker strongly criticises the report of *The President Council of Bioethics*, in which it was supposed that the report could explain "what dignity is or how it should guide our policies". In addition to criticising the failure of the report in addressing the issue, Pinker also questioned the contributors of the report. Pinker counted 21 authors of 23 who are related to religious institutions (2008: 28). This is an example to show how dignity can be a useful instrument to

²⁷ See for example, Soulen & Woodhead (2006) on the different interpretations of the concept of dignity in Protestantism.

push religious ideas into bioethics.

Nevertheless, we should not forget that the concept of dignity gives the same power to the opposite side as well. For example, in the case of euthanasia, as explained above, the advocates of physician-assisted suicide appealed to the notion of dignity to enforce their belief in the human right to die peacefully. Thus, dignity is not a concept merely used in service of religious beliefs. The fact is that religious ideas can 'creep' into the secular context of bioethics with or without the concept of human dignity. Human dignity is only one notion that religious adherents can use to convey their beliefs, but it does not mean that they could not do the same if there were no such concept at all. Therefore, even though the notion of dignity is used by religious adherents, it is itself a secular concept.

Nevertheless, the discussions about dignity seem to be endless, and involve different disciplines, beliefs and perspectives. It is difficult to firmly claim that either the opponents or the advocates of dignity are the ultimate winners of this long debate. However, given the explanations above, I am inclined to embrace this concept as a leading notion that can highlight the powerful idea of the valuable status of human beings and all its crucial implications: that all people are equal in such value, that this value endows them with entitlements whilst imposing duties upon them, and that they should always should be treated as an end.

2.5. The Meaning of Nussbaum's Dignity

Thus far, in order to establish a basis for my arguments about Nussbaum's account of human dignity, I have tried to cover the core aspects of the concept of dignity in Kant's perspective. The main areas of this concept included the meaning, the implications, and the theory of human dignity. As Nussbaum has not discussed these important issues related to human dignity in one place, the description of Kantian dignity can help me to introduce Nussbaum's conception of dignity by comparing her viewpoint with that of Kant's.

In this light it is now time to explore Nussbaum's account of human dignity. My explanation of this will be on the basis of the main areas of human dignity which I mentioned in the Kantian section. In this chapter, however, I am going to consider the theoretical aspects of Nussbaum's dignity, namely the 'meaning' and the 'theory' of human dignity. The *implications* of Nussbaum's notion of dignity, considered as the practical aspects of her account, will be investigated in the next chapter, in order that I can begin to present the relevant arguments in the context of the hospital environment.

In this section, I will try to discover the 'meaning' of human dignity in Nussbaum's ideas. This is because Nussbaum has not clearly explained this issue in her writings. I will illustrate that Nussbaum has used the concept of dignity with two distinct, but connected, meanings and that she does not explain (or perhaps notice) the difference between these two conceptions. One of them is similar to the Kantian meaning of dignity, i.e. dignity as the inner value of human beings. The other one, however, concerns a 'decent' quality of human life which befits the valuable status of human beings. I will call it dignity as 'decency'. However, this notion is not detached from common understandings of the notion of dignity. In this regard, and in the following sections, I will show how we can relate the notion of dignity as decency to common-sense notions of dignity.

2.5.1. Killmister's Aspirational Dignity

Despite the problems and deficiencies of Kantian dignity discussed previously²⁸, it seems he was able to establish an analytical structure in which the common-sense notion of dignity was brought within a systematic framework of moral arguments. Considering the literature published after Kant, it is obvious that his intellectual structuring of the concept of dignity had profound effects on later thoughts concerning the issue. In particular, Kant's ideas concerning the implications of dignity (e.g. the inherent value of human beings, equality, rights and duty) are reflected in many international human rights documents, as well as national legal systems.

Perhaps this is the reason that the universal understanding of dignity, which insists on certain entitlements and provisions (i.e. human rights) based on the equal, inalienable, and intrinsic value of human beings, is renowned as being the Kantian sense of dignity (or Kantian dignity). (In this section I will also refer to this meaning of dignity as Kantian dignity, for the sake of brevity. We may even argue that Nussbaum's *meaning* of dignity is on some occasions equivalent to the Kantian sense, even though Nussbaum's *theory* about dignity is more Aristotelian than Kantian. And of course, it does not mean that there is universal agreement on Kant's arguments about dignity.)

However, the concept of dignity has not lost its other more common meanings; those which are not exactly the same as the Kantian one. Losing dignity, harming or damaging dignity, or even enhancing dignity are phrases that are difficult to explain with reference to only Kant's conception of dignity as inalienable. As mentioned in the previous section²⁹, Schroeder

²⁸ See section 2.3.

²⁹ See section 2.4.1.2.

recognises four distinct conceptions of human dignity. I think she successfully identifies different meanings of dignity with both common and theoretical senses. (Of course, I do not claim that dignity has only these four senses. However, I think, these conceptions can cover the main contemporary meanings of dignity). In contrast with Kantian dignity, the other three meanings of dignity have not been given an analytical (philosophical) description but instead convey common understandings of dignity.

However, this does not mean that there is no logical link between them. One of the deficiencies in Schroeder's work is that she could not connect the three non-Kantian conceptions of dignity together (Killmister 2010: 164), nor could she find the root of Kantian dignity in the other common concepts of dignity. In other words, it is not clear what the central elements are in the three non-Kantian notions of dignity that cause people to use this concept (i.e. dignity) for all of those meanings. Likewise, whether or not there is any connection between the common meanings of dignity and the analytical Kantian meaning has not been clarified.

The three non-Kantian senses of dignity seem to be disconnected *social* terms, rather than *moral* senses which are interconnected. If we can suggest a single notion which on one hand can represent the three non-Kantian types of dignity, and on the other hand is interwoven with Kantian dignity, then we may be able to turn those social understandings of non-Kantian dignity into a single moral sense. Such a notion, then, can assist us in resolving the confusion concerning the different meanings of dignity in the context of bioethics and its documents.

In this light, I will argue in this section that the sense of dignity as 'decency' is representative of the three non-Kantian senses (I need to clarify, here, that the term of 'decency' should only be seen as a *label*, and I do not consider any independent content for this term to be given to the notion of dignity). I will elaborate this meaning of dignity and I will explain why considering dignity as decency in Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach can assist us in understanding her thoughts. Before this, I will first critique Suzy Killmister's suggestion of 'aspirational dignity' as an alternative to common meanings of dignity. Then, I will analyse the three non-Kantian types of dignity in order to find the common elements between these conceptions and their relation to the notion of a decent life. After introducing dignity as decency can be considered as a moral sense of dignity.

Killmister (2010) has proposed 'aspirational dignity' as a concept which can stand in the place of the three non-Kantian ones. However, scrutinising her analysis of the non-Kantian meanings of dignity reveals some problems with her suggestion. Killmister, in her *Dignity: Not Such a Useless Concept*, which actually targets Macklin's objection, first re-introduces the definitions of the four meanings of dignity given by Schroeder (Killmister 2010: 160 - 161) (I think it is worth briefly doing the same here):

- Kantian Dignity: as defined previously, is the universalist concept which has inspired various international human rights instruments. It is about the inherent, equal, and inalienable value of human beings which entitle them to certain conditions and opportunities. It is worth noting again that I am going to use the same notion of 'Kantian dignity', which means I am referring to the Kantian *meaning* of dignity, and not to his *theory*.
- Aristocratic Dignity: is the pre-modern conception of dignity in which to be a dignified highly ranked person (i.e. dignitaries) meant to act in accordance with the demands of one's position.
- Comportment Dignity: is to behave in a way consistent with social norms and expectations. This kind of dignity can be better understood in the adverse sense – e.g. there would be a lack of comportment dignity if one "threw food at one's companion in a restaurant."
- Meritorious Dignity: inspired by Aristotle, this kind of dignity presents having virtue, particularly the cardinal ones including self-respect, temperance, justice, courage, and wisdom – e.g. "Nelson Mandela [...] displayed meritorious dignity throughout his imprisonment on Robben Island."

Killmister devalues aristocratic dignity in her classification because "aristocratic dignity has little relevance in the modern world, and even less in medical ethics" (2010: 161). She then collapses the comportment and meritorious dignity into one meaning of dignity; 'aspirational dignity'. For this purpose, Killmister needs to connect these two kinds of dignity (i.e. comportment and meritorious dignity). Hence, she states:

The two concepts of comportment and meritorious dignity can be brought into alliance through seeing comportment dignity less as an upholding of external standards and norms, and more as the upholding of one's own standards and norms. This understanding of comportment dignity is more closely in line with how the term is utilised in the discourse of medical ethics – for example, when advocates of euthanasia argue that one should be entitled to die with dignity, or when patients in overcrowded wards complain that their dignity is being violated. It is not merely an inability to conform to social norms that may be experienced in situations of medical dependency, but also an inability to realise one's values of, perhaps, self-reliance, grace, courage, or even basic personal hygiene. Situations that constrain the individual to act in ways they find abhorrent or demeaning will undermine that individual's ability to live according to their own standards (Killmister 2010: 161).

Accordingly, "aspirational dignity is the quality held by individuals who are living in accordance with their principles" (Killmister 2010: 161). Consequently, she determines two senses of dignity: Kantian and aspirational. Yet, she does not stop at this point and goes on to unite these two by defining dignity as a capacity:

In order to understand dignity as both inalienable and aspirational – a move that must be made if dignity is going to provide guidelines for ethical action towards patients – it is necessary to see it as a capacity. Understood in this way, dignity's inalienability comes from the fact that the potential for principled action grounds at least in part the moral worth of all persons. This keeps it well within the realm of the Kantian concept [...] Dignity's aspirational sense, however, now comes from the fact that the realisation of these principles can indeed be thwarted [...] As the realisation of dignity can be lost or denied, medical practitioners have reason to be attentive to the potential for their actions to undermine the standards and principles of their patients, and in particular the potential for their actions to cause humiliation (Killmister 2010: 162).

In this regard, she defines dignity as "the inherent capacity for upholding one's principles" (Killmister 2010: 162). I admire her attempt to identify a sort of dignity other than Kantian dignity in order to address some of the criticisms directed at the concept of human dignity. Nonetheless, I think her focus on the objections to dignity distracts her from the task of ensuring that all of the implications of dignity in her single definition cohere. Nor is the way she defines aspirational dignity effective in dealing with theoretical challenges.

Firstly, it seems that Killmister has lost the central meaning of comportment dignity (i.e. social norms and expectations) in her attempt at linking this meaning of dignity with the meritorious one. Schroeder's discussions concerning comportment dignity are mostly focused on showing that those who do not follow social norms and expectations lack dignity. However, Killmister strangely interprets this as abiding by one's own standard. Giving some examples, she strives to illustrate that what is socially expected can also be considered as personal expectations.

Presumably, in this way, Killmister wants to bring the notion of comportment dignity to a meaning closer to that of Kantian dignity (nearer to notions such as autonomy, etc.). I do not think that defining a meaning of dignity in this way is problematic in general, but this new sense of dignity would not be an interpretation of *Schroeder's comportment dignity* anymore; it is a new conception of dignity. The problem is that Killmister's departing from Schroeder's comportment dignity is incompatible with her main goal, i.e. the unification of *Schroeder's* four conceptions of *dignity*. Of course, it is not necessary for Killmister to accept whatever

Schroeder states. However, if she wants to define new meanings of human dignity then this would be another project. She needs to show that her suggested meanings of human dignity are still common-sense meanings, in a similar vein to Schroeder. And again, obviously such new notions of dignity would not be Schroeder's notions of dignity.

The reason that I think this way of interpreting comportment dignity cannot convey the same meaning as Schroeder's terms is that one may define one's personal standards beneath or beyond social norms and expectations. We can think of numerous instances in which one's personal standard is not in line with social norms. For example, a patient cannot shout at a nurse for fun, even if it is acceptable in her standards to frighten others in order to relieve her own stress. Thus, what Schroeder defines as comportment dignity is not what Killmister interprets it as. However, one may defend Killmister's position by pointing out that meritorious and comportment dignity are collapsed together, and that by virtue of meritorious dignity one would not shout at a nurse, for instance. Although a virtuous person might avoid being beneath the thresholds of social norms, she still may define a level of standard much beyond the social norms. As we shall now see, this can cause another problem.

It is hard to match the 'duties and rights' implications of the notion of dignity with such selfdefined standards. This is because it is unclear to what extent people have to undertake duties towards the personal standards of others. In other words, it is unclear why other people should accept responsibilities in providing for the standards which are determined by an individual, when they may be beyond the accepted social standards. Killmister answers this question by claiming that "to be denied the ability to uphold one's personal standards is experienced as humiliation, with deep consequences for one's self-respect" (Killmister 2010: 163). Hence, we should comply with the standards of others. However, I do not think that one can 'ethically' oblige others based on one's personal definition of humiliation.

For example, it seems to be acceptable that if one defines a high level of standards for oneself, according to which one does not allow oneself to attend casual (but still polite) parties, in order to avoid feeling humiliated, that one therefore only attends very formal parties. It is not acceptable, though, that one feels others have a duty to not have casual parties. Hence, such a feeling of humiliation cannot imply a right for the dignity-bearer. In short, if one defines a high level of value and standards for oneself we cannot define everyone else's duties and rights accordingly.

The next point is that the way in which Killmister utilises the concept of 'capacity' is ambiguous. Killmister claims that dignity as a capacity can cover both the Kantian and Aspirational senses of dignity. Therefore, dignity as "an inherent capacity for upholding one's principles" should involve the Kantian sense of dignity – i.e. inherent value. However, Killmister has not clarified how the sense of worthiness is included in her notion of dignity as a capacity.

In order to incorporate the sense of 'value' into dignity as a capacity, I can imagine modifying Killmister's dignity in this way: an individual has value in virtue of having the capacity for 'upholding one's principles'. However, this definition of dignity would then be almost identical to Kantian dignity, in which one has value in virtue of one's capacity for rationality (i.e. legislating principles). But now the problem identified in Kantian *theory* will arise in Killmister's account of the *meaning* of dignity – namely, grounding dignity solely in the capacity to legislate principles. In this regard, we can say that not only does Killmister's suggestion of dignity as a capacity add nothing to the Kantian notion of dignity, but it also exacerbates the problem in the discourse of dignity because she has brought a problem with the Kantian theory dignity into the matter of the meaning of dignity.

The main issue with Killmister's suggestion is that the same form of problem faced by Kant arises, i.e. the problem of marginal cases. Killmister has to explain how people with a temporary or permanent disability in legislating their own principles (e.g. children, the severely mental ill, comatose patients) can belong in the group of dignity-bearers. Killmister gives two attempts at replying this criticism (Killmister 2010: 163 - 164), however, neither is satisfactory, in my opinion. In the first attempt, Killmister admits that according to this definition some people may be excluded from the list of dignity-bearers. However, she believes that this does not mean that other principles (she mentions, for example, "susceptibility to pain, or a general ethic of care") cannot play their role in bioethics. However, this reply is in contrast with the sense of dignity in the international human rights documents in which dignity is possessed by *everybody*. This is a problem because she claims that her definition of dignity as a capacity can cover all senses of dignity in bioethics.

Killmister also argues that if we consider the dignity of other parties (e.g. doctors and nurses), we can see that the concept of dignity can still function: medical staff can provide for the ethical needs of their patients for the sake of their own dignity, i.e. in order to respect their own dignity they respect the dignity of their patients. However, this point cannot resolve the problem as it still does not attribute dignity to all patients. Moreover, if we believe that some people do not have valuable status, there is no reason to respect them. In this regard, the dignity of medical staff would lose its function too. Consequently, Killmister's first attempt at a reply could not properly respond to the relevant criticism and the same problem exists with her second attempt as well.

In the second attempt, Killmister tries to incorporate many of the previously excluded people (of her first attempt) by suggesting that dignity should be considered "beyond the timeframe in which we are cognisant of those standards and principles. In other words, I have an ongoing interest in whether I am humiliated, even if I am asleep, comatose – or even dead – and will thus never subjectively experience the shame" (Killmister 2010: 163). Even though in this suggestion she shortens the list of human beings with no dignity (by including children, comatose patients, and the like), there are still some groups of people which are excluded from the list of dignity-bearers (e.g. people who are severely mental ill permanently). Therefore, my criticism remains. All in all, the way Killmister attempts to reconcile the four conceptions of dignity into one notion is unsuccessful.

2.5.2. Modifying Comportment Dignity

Above I critiqued Killmister's attempt at connecting the different meanings of dignity. In the following passages, I would like to elaborate my suggestion for the second sense of dignity which I call dignity as 'decency'. For this purpose, in a similar way to Killmister, I will get an advantage from using Schroeder's work in which she introduces her four conceptions of dignity. I will then amend the definitions of those notions. Subsequently, I will show that the central idea which is common among all three non-Kantian types of dignity is the idea of being (or living) *decently*; and hence I label it dignity as 'decency'.

The next step is to articulate how the concept of dignity as decency can be brought into an ethical discourse, by linking it to the ethical notion of Kantian dignity. And finally, I will illustrate that the concept of dignity used in Nussbaum's literature is very near to the sense of dignity as decency. Before beginning the arguments in this section it is necessary to consider an important issue about dignity. As was explained in the section on Kantian dignity³⁰, dignity implies certain *rights* of dignity-bearers as well as *duties* of moral agents towards dignity-bearers. In this regard, in considering the dignity of one person we have two sides: rights (entitlements) and duties (responsibilities). For example, we can understand the following sentence differently depending on which of the two sides we focus on: 'dignity demands decent behaviour'. From the duty-side, the concern is to see decent behaviour *from* the dignity-bearer.

Given this explanation, I think we need to amend the way comportment dignity is described

³⁰ See section 2.3.2.1.

by Schroeder. She defined comportment dignity as the "outwardly displayed quality of a human being who acts in accordance with society's expectations of well-mannered demeanor and bearing" (2008: 234). This definition and the explanations about comportment dignity given by Schroeder illustrate that she formed the definition of comportment dignity from a duty-viewpoint. Dignity presents the quality of being a dignity-bearer through one's behaviour. I think we need to expand this notion, and include a rights-viewpoint understanding of comportment dignity as well.

From the rights-view of dignity, we should also worry how others behave towards the dignitybearer. For instance, if a patient complains that her doctor treats her with little dignity, the concern is the ignorance of the 'entitlements' of the dignity-bearer (i.e. the patient), and not her 'responsibilities'. Thus, Schroeder's comportment dignity needs to be modified by adding a rights-view to this sense. I would also like to make a change in the concept of 'society's expectations' in a way that is more compatible with the elements of dignity in a moral sense. In comportment dignity, what shows that a dignity is harmed (or violated) is society's expectations and norms: if a person behaves in a way evaluated as indecent according to the society's norms, the act would be judged as being beneath the dignity of the agent. Therefore, society's expectations and norms shows the standards (or levels) which determine what is expected as the *responsibility* of the dignity-bearer towards others. Dignity, in this sense, is about the responsibility one should undertake to behave decently and treat others well.

It was explained that Schroeder's comportment dignity operates under merely the duty-view. However, with the inclusion of the rights-view in this conception of dignity, we will now need to consider the entitlements of the dignity-bearer as well, i.e. the ways in which social expectations might determine how a dignity-bearer should be treated by others. Society's norms and expectations, from this point of view, determine the *entitlements* of the dignity-bearer, rather than her responsibilities. For instance, society does not expect that a comatose patient be left semi-naked in a public corridor in a hospital, because it harms her (comportment) dignity, i.e. it is a violation of her entitlement to being in a private environment. All in all, by expanding comportment dignity by including both the rights and duty viewpoints, we can benefit from the notion of the 'responsibilities and entitlements' of dignity-bearers, instead of the 'norms and expectations' of a society³¹.

It is also worth noting that my claim is not that these examples only involve comportment

³¹ I admit that these 'responsibilities and entitlements', for now, are related to social norms, and not to moral principles. But through the next passages I will attempt to give a moral interpretation of these concepts.

dignity. What I am doing is modifying the notion of comportment dignity in such a way so as to connect it to other meanings of dignity, in order to identify a single meaning of dignity as representative of all the non-Kantian meanings. Therefore, it should not be viewed as a problem if some instances of the modified form of comportment dignity are the same as instances of other meanings of dignity. This is because the instances of all these meanings of dignity are going to be interpreted as instances of dignity as decency. However, whilst undertaking such a modification, unlike Killmister, I am trying to remain faithful to the essence of comportment dignity as defined by Schroeder.

The last amendment I would suggest in terms of comportment dignity is to consider the matter of not only behaviour, but also conditions, opportunities, and facilities. From the rightsviewpoint the dignity of a person does not only imply her entitlement to be treated with dignified conduct by others; it also indicates that the person is entitled to being in an appropriate condition and to have access to a suitable level of facilities and opportunities³². In terms of patients, for instance, it is not only important that they be treated respectfully, but they are also entitled to be cured in a decent environment with sufficient facilities and proper process of treatment and conduct. That is why a patient who is hospitalised in an overcrowded ward may perceive her situation as a violation of her dignity.

Briefly, I believe that the violation of comportment dignity is not merely limited to the 'wellmannered demeanor and bearing' of a moral agent which is settled based on a society's expectations and norms. It needs to be amended in the ways in which I identified:

- I included a rights-view to comportment dignity such that it is not only about how a dignity-bearer is expected to behave, but it is also about the issues surrounding what one is *entitled* to, according to society's expectations and norms.
- I divided social norms and expectations into one's 'responsibilities' (in a duty-view) and 'entitlements' (in a rights-view) concerning what socially decent for a person.
- I added some other aspects of comportment dignity to the single issue of behaviour, which included decent opportunities, and facilities, as well.

I think the notion of a 'decent life' (for which I named the second meaning of dignity as

³² From a duty-view, when we call behaviour "decent" it is obviously about what is expected to be seen from a moral agent. However, when we are talking about decent conditions, opportunities and facilities from a duty-viewpoint, it is about the expected responsibility of the agent in providing for the conditions, opportunities, and facilities to which others are entitled.

'decency'³³) can address all of the aforementioned elements of comportment dignity from both the rights and duty points of view. In answering, 'what is decent for a person?', one may produce a list of ways of behaving that an agent has a responsibility to abide by, on the one hand. On the other hand, one may also list certain entitlements of a dignity-bearer that she can expect from others – namely decent behaviour, opportunities, and facilities for the dignitybearer. Therefore, the view of dignity that I am calling the "decency view" can gather together all of these elements of comportment dignity under its umbrella. As we shall now see, the same line of argument can be applied to the notion of aristocratic dignity as well.

2.5.3. The Spirit of Aristocratic Dignity

In contrast with Schroeder, who overlooked aristocratic dignity, I think we should weigh up this pre-modern concept of dignity. This is because the notion of dignity was not invented in the modern era and therefore our current understanding of dignity should be profoundly linked to its historical origins. To find the central elements of modern dignity we should consider how the concept was understood in the past and then try to discover how it has been developed or modified into its modern meaning(s). In his book *Dignity, Rank, and Rights,* Jeremy Waldron uses just this strategy to find the exact meaning of the concept of dignity:

[...] my own view of dignity is that we should contrive to keep faith somehow with its ancient connection to noble rank or high office (Waldron 2012: 30).

Waldron holds that the historical concept of dignity was about the status of the noble. He points out that the structure of many societies in the past was hierarchical; people were evaluated based on their social status. This sense of dignity (i.e. aristocratic dignity in Schroeder's terms), then, is 'transvalued' into the contemporary understanding of dignity:

[...] I believe that as far as dignity is concerned the connotation of ranking status remained, and that what happened was that it was transvalued rather than superseded (Waldron 2012: 31).

Waldron, then, attempts to show that the hierarchical concept of dignity is transvalued into an egalitarian sense. Therefore, our conception of dignity in the modern era remains related to

³³ Again, I would like to emphasise that the term of 'decency' which I use in this meaning of dignity functions only as a label – i.e. only as short form for the notion of a 'decent life'. Therefore, it does not mean that the second meaning of dignity is the same as the *concept* of decency; it is rather the same as the concept of a 'decent life'.

the rank status of human beings but has now developed to include a sense of equality:

So that is my hypothesis: the modern notion of *human* dignity involves an upwards equalization of rank, so that we now try to accord to every human being something of the dignity, rank, and expectation of respect that was formerly accorded to nobility (Waldron 2012: 33, emphasis in original).

I am inclined to go along with Waldron in that the modern meaning of dignity cannot be completely detached from its historical meaning. His main concern, though, is to show how the hierarchical meaning of dignity can be changed into an egalitarian one:

Every man a duke, every woman a queen, everyone entitled to the sort of deference and consideration, everyone's person and body sacrosanct, in the way that nobles were entitled to deference or in the way that an assault upon the body or the person of a king was regarded as a sacrilege (Waldron 2012: 34).

However, as Schroeder indicates, modern dignity does not have a single meaning; there are two understandings of the concept (i.e. comportment and meritorious dignity), other than the inalienable egalitarian dignity (i.e. Kantian dignity). In this regard, if we combine Waldron's idea (i.e. of dignity as a 'transvalued' notion of aristocratic dignity) and Schroeder's (i.e. we have three contemporary meanings of dignity³⁴), then we should be able to find some connections in the essence of aristocratic, comportment, and meritorious dignity. I believe that the central elements in aristocratic and meritorious dignity are similar to that of comportment dignity; they concern the notion of what is decent for a person in terms of one's responsibilities and entitlements.

To show this in aristocratic dignity let us imagine a ranked society which has two sides: on the one side there are the elites such as the kings, queens, dukes, duchesses, knights, scholars and the like. Only people with a high social status (which may be called elites, dignitaries, hierarchies, etc.) are dignity-bearers. On the other side, there are 'the ordinary people', those considered to be of lower social status such as labourers, butchers, carpenters, farmers and the like. In contrast to the elites, these people do not have dignity.

In such societies, we can see that both the duty and rights viewpoints concerning social expectations and norms (i.e. responsibilities and entitlements) function in a similar way to their roles with respect to comportment dignity: low ranked people (i.e. those who were not

³⁴ Among her four suggested concepts of dignity Schroeder believes that the aristocratic sense is an entirely pre-modern notion, and that only the other three are currently being used.

dignity-bearers) had *responsibilities* to behave or act in a decent way, and provide decent opportunities and facilities for the nobles (who had rights as dignity-bearers). For example, they were expected to sacrifice themselves in order to save the lives of dignitaries in wars; bow down in front of the king; they had to provide for the luxurious lives of the elite even if it reduced them to impoverishment, and undertake many other responsibilities. Of course, these duties varied between different cultures and traditions, but the common point was that ordinary people were expected to undertake their responsibilities for the sake of what was seen as decent for the dignity-bearers.

From the rights-view then, corresponding to the responsibilities of ordinary people, the elite expected to benefit from certain *entitlements*. For instance, if it was expected that ordinary people were to sacrifice themselves to save the life of the king. Responding to the entitlements of dignitaries, i.e. respecting them, could be seen as behaving in a decent way (e.g. kneeling in front of them), acting in a decent way (e.g. defending the king when at war), or providing for decent opportunities (e.g. education), and decent facilities (e.g. a palace). The elites were even entitled to a decent condition when they were in the hands of their enemies:

In ages past, chivalry might require that noble warriors, such as knights, be treated with dignity when they fell into the hands of hostile powers; but this was hardly expected in the treatment of the common soldier; they were abused and probably slaughtered (Waldron 2012: 35).

If we consider the pre-modern meaning of dignity, we can provide the same kind of analysis as was offered for comportment dignity; that is, we can interpret societal expectations and norms as 'responsibilities' towards what is decent for dignity-bearers. This meant that, parallel to the responsibilities of the ordinary people, the elites had to behave and act in a decent way which was suitable for their high social status. Dignitaries had to behave in a way that befitted their status, which meant that even simple regular activities such as walking, eating and the like had to follow a distinctive style. The famous novel by Mark Twain (1871 – 1910), the Prince and the Pauper, is an example of the expected differences in behaviour between two classes of people of different status. For instance, the author uses the concept of dignity to show the Prince's expected behaviour and conduct in this sentence:

The boy stood unconfused in the midst of all those surprised and questioning eyes, and answered with princely dignity – "I am Edward, King of England" (Twain 2001: 215).

All in all, aristocratic dignity is similar to comportment dignity in that the essence of both of these two senses of dignity can be described as what is 'decent' for dignity-bearers which is

reflected in their responsibilities and entitlements. This point is noteworthy in that these responsibilities and entitlements were defined within a social framework, rather than a moral one. Perhaps, this is the reason why Waldron believes that law is the natural habitat of dignity (Waldron 2012: 13), and if this is the case then it is the moral sphere which has more to learn from the law than vice versa (Waldron 2012: 14).

2.5.4. Self-Determined Meritorious Dignity

In terms of meritorious dignity, I do not intend to offer an analysis of this concept. This is because I think meritorious dignity is a kind of self-determined sense of dignity, in which one considers one's own status as highly valuable and behaves and conducts oneself accordingly. However, this does not mean that this understanding of dignity does not fit into the concept of a decent life and its relation to responsibilities and entitlements. The display of this kind of dignity mostly emerges from a duty-view, as the dignity-bearer feels a responsibility to decently present her self-worth and virtues.

Although meritorious dignity usually makes the most sense from a duty-view, it can also be fit into a rights-view as well. For example, a dignity-bearer may consider herself to have a very high level status and accordingly expect a high level of responsibility from others. She may feel humiliated by the behaviour of others even though others do not normally consider such actions as a kind of degrading behaviour. In fact, what is decent for her involves a higher level of behaviour, actions, opportunities, and facilities than others. Of course, as discussed before, it is not clear to what extent others have an *ethical* duty to provide for such self-determined expectations, unless we draw a threshold of entitlements as the minimum level required for a decent life for everyone (the approach taken by Nussbaum). Nevertheless, the point that I want to consider here is that the central elements of meritorious dignity, in these respects, are in line with those of aristocratic dignity – i.e. dignity is about a decent life which can be explained through a responsibility-entitlement discourse.

2.5.5. Dignity as Decency

To summarise the above analysis of the four meanings of dignity: all non-Kantian meanings of dignity are fundamentally alike, in that we can interpret them as a description of what is 'decent for human beings' by referring to a set of responsibilities and entitlements. From a rights-view, a decent life implies a list of entitlements. From a duty-view, in the same way, the decent life implies what is to be expected from a dignity-bearer with regards to her responsibility to enact decent and dignified conduct. Therefore, we can say that the concept of dignity in its common meanings (i.e. non-Kantian senses of dignity) is about the decent life (from now on, I will call it decency): an answer to the question of *what is decent for an individual*? Taking everything into account, I suggest a sense of dignity as '*decency*' as the additional meaning to dignity as valuable status. This meaning of dignity can not only address the concerns of Schroeder and Killmister, but is also free from the problems and deficiencies revealed in their analysis.

One of the attempts of Schroeder was to show that dignity has some meanings other than the inalienable concept of Kantian dignity, in which those senses are violable. Therefore, when we talk about violation, losing, or damaging dignity we are talking about those other meanings of dignity. Dignity as decency, in contrast with the Kantian sense of dignity³⁵, is not an inalienable characteristic of human beings either; in the sense that people may not be in a situation that is decent for them. For example, when it said that a doctor violates the dignity of a patient, or an overcrowded environment of a hospital damages the dignity of the patients within it, this refers to an indecent condition or action towards the the patient. Thus, dignity as decency can address the concern of Schroeder and her followers that dignity has a violable meaning.

Moreover, the central feature of dignity as decency is its relation to the concepts of 'responsibilities' and 'entitlements' which therefore avoids Killmister's failure. As explained before, one of the problems of 'aspirational dignity' in Killmister's sense is its relation to the autonomy and the ability of one in determining standards for oneself. Killmister cannot give a clear definition of dignity for the people who lack rationality and, hence, she states that dignity has no content for such people. In contrast, in my suggestion of dignity as decency there is no such deficiency; dignity as decency is applicable to *all* human beings. As this sense of dignity is linked to the responsibilities and entitlements of human beings, instead of autonomy, we still can apply dignity for non-autonomous human beings as well.

Therefore, I believe that the concept of dignity as decency can be considered as the secondary sense of dignity, with which we do not face the problems confronting Schroeder and Killmister. However, this concept of dignity is still about a society's expectations and norms, rather than being a moral notion. Making a bridge between dignity as decency and Kantian dignity can help us to develop a moral understanding of dignity as decency; a concept that I

³⁵ Kant does use the term 'decency'. However, I am using it in a different way, although the notion of minimum standards will play an essential role in my position.

think is central in Nussbaum's notion of dignity. In the following passages, I will argue for just such a connection between these two meanings of dignity.

2.5.6. Moralising Dignity as Decency

As mentioned before, Waldron thinks that the current concept of dignity is a transvalued form of pre-modern dignity. Also it is said that the analysis of the non-Kantian meanings of dignity indicates that dignity was more related to social norms and expectations, rather than explicitly moral principles. Indeed, Kant was an artist in bringing a pre-modern unequal and social sense of dignity into an egalitarian moral framework with valuable definitions and implications. In particular, 'duty and rights' are two principal elements of Kantian dignity which impact many human rights documents; a meaning of dignity that signifies everybody has equal, inalienable, and inherent worth; a worth which demands respect and endows entitlements.

But, entitlements (rights) and responsibilities (duties), are essential elements in the concept of dignity as decency, as well. This similarity suggests the possibility of turning dignity as decency into a moral concept in which decency represents specific implications of Kantian dignity, namely duty and rights. As was mentioned before, dignity as decency has to do with asking what is decent for human beings, in the form entitlements and responsibilities. If the meaning of what is decent for a human being is interpreted as those entitlements and responsibilities which can be understood through the notion of dignity as value (i.e. those which are known as human rights), then we will have a moral sense of dignity as decency.

In other words, dignity as decency tells us that there are a set of responsibilities and entitlements, properly responding to which brings a decent condition and life for dignitybearers. If these responsibilities and entitlements are those we understand from Kantian dignity, then we are defining the decent condition within the Kantian moral sense of dignity. In fact, the moralised meaning of dignity as decency focuses on a specific implication of Kantian dignity, namely human rights and the corresponding responsibilities towards such rights.

In this regard, we may interpret the human rights explained in international instruments as an endeavour to depict the minimum requirements for a decent life for human beings. As the human rights documents are based on a moral meaning of Kantian dignity (i.e. seeing human beings as the possessors of valuable status), what we now introduce as the moral meaning of dignity as decency would be within a moral framework. In fact, the moralised meaning of dignity as decency is derived from (or subsidiary to) the meaning of dignity as value (i.e.

Kantian dignity).

To introduce the concept of dignity as decency, it is suitable to see how this notion deals with the main characteristics of Kantian dignity:

- *Human valuable status:* what makes human beings entitled to have a decent life is their valuable status: they are entitled beings because they possess valuable status. For their valuable status, human beings deserve to live in a decent condition. In this regard, the concept of dignity as decency is a *derivative* sense of Kantian dignity.
 People consider human beings' value and check if their condition is compatible with their value i.e. if it is decent for them. Accordingly, when people cannot enjoy their entitlements (derived from the Kantian sense of dignity), they may say their dignity (as decency) is violated, ignored, or damaged. Therefore, considering the valuable status of human beings is a key notion in understanding and discussing the decent condition of human beings.
- *Equality:* If dignity as decency is considered as a notion which is derived from the egalitarian dignity of Kant, it can convey a sense of equality. As was mentioned above: the decent condition of human beings is defined based on a belief in the valuable status of human beings. Since all human beings are equal in their value in Kantian dignity, what is decent for *human* beings is equal among them.

This can be considered as the departure point for dignity as decency in the moral sense as compared with its non-moral meaning. Without moralising dignity as decency it does not necessarily imply equality, as what is decent for an individual as a 'member of a society' can be defined by different levels in a social hierarchy. But, when we bring it into a moral system which is based on the equality in human value, then it is about what is decent for *all human beings*.

• *Respect (providing for rights and treating people as ends):* owing to the valuable status of human beings (i.e. Kantian dignity), dignity-bearers have a right to be provided their entitlements. This right is the core meaning in dignity as decency, too. Hence, if a patient, for instance, is treated in a public corridor, then what is decent for her has not been provided, and consequently she may claim that her dignity has been violated.

Respect, as 'treating people as ends in themselves' can indirectly make sense with respect to dignity as decency as well. This command (i.e. seeing people as ends) suggests that merely providing for the entitlements of dignity-bearers is not sufficient for respecting them. It is also important that such provisions are not offered exclusively for the purpose of utilising human beings. For example, the hospital

environment may be designed suitably in many respects, yet not necessarily in order to respect the dignity of the patients within it. It might instead be designed with the aim of increasing the revenue of the hospital by seeing patients as customers and sources of income.

The moral sense of dignity as decency can also support this idea of respect as it is derived from Kantian dignity: the idea of decency is based on human value which demands treating people as ends. In general, a decent condition for human beings is not merely the condition in which all of the basic rights of human beings have been responded to properly: it is also essential that human beings be included in the ends of those provisions and conducts. (This point can also be explained by stating that one of the conditions of a decent life is to be treated not merely as a means, but also as an end.)

- *Being intrinsic:* the valuable status of human beings is an intrinsic characteristic of human beings. Since with dignity as decency we are talking about the conditions and quality of life of human beings, it is related to something inherent in human beings. Nevertheless, it should be noted that the entitlements of human beings are inherent rights, whether they are provided for or not. For example, education is an inherent right of human beings, but some people may not have access to its decent provision.
- *Inalienability:* in this characteristic, the decency sense of dignity is not similar to the Kantian one, because individuals may lose their decent conditions. Being in an indecent condition, or being treated in an indecent way, is interpreted as violating (or losing, damaging, etc.) dignity; terms which cannot be used for an inalienable characteristic. Actually, the main claim in this section is that we have two meanings of dignity; Kantian dignity, which is inalienable and based on the inherent valuable status of human beings, and dignity as decency, which is violable and based on what is decent for an individual (i.e. what she is entitled to).

All in all, in moral discourse we can utilise two distinct but profoundly connected accounts of dignity. The first is Kantian dignity in which concerns are centred on the inherent and *inalienable* (inviolable) valuable status of human beings. The second concept is dignity as decency which (specifically) emphasises the entitlements of human beings (derived from Kantian dignity) which reflects the decent conditions for an individual. Hence, dignity as decency is a matter of the quality of life; something which can be gained (benefited from) or lost (or violated). Both meanings of dignity are credible: the Kantian dignity is theoretical and reflects the intellectual foundation of human rights and entitlements. Dignity as decency is more derivative and practical (as it is talking about human rights and entitlements). Consequently, it would be acceptable to utilise both senses of dignity in a moral discussion.

However, it is vital to figure out which meaning of dignity is concerned in each case, so as to avoid a misunderstanding of the arguments.

2.5.7. The Meaning of Dignity for Nussbaum

Nussbaum does not signal the recognition of these distinct meanings of dignity. However, she does apparently employ both meanings of dignity as decency and valuable status. While in some cases she talks about an inalienable meaning of dignity which refers to the notion of value and worthiness, in other cases the concept of dignity she uses is not compatible with the sense of value, nor is it about inalienability, but rather it is nearer to the sense I have called dignity as decency. As Nussbaum does not address these different meanings of dignity, reading her works without considering this differentiation may cause confusion. Nevertheless, considering the above explanations of the two different meanings of dignity I believe we can better understand her capability theory.

In several places Nussbaum uses dignity with a meaning which is close to the Kantian conception, namely value and worthiness. For example, Nussbaum states that the function of the concept of dignity in her theory is the same as is used in human rights documents. This is while many, such as Killmister and Schroeder, believe that it is Kantian dignity which has the most influence on the human rights instruments. Elsewhere, she links dignity to the inviolability of persons, and states that these are the core ideas of the Capabilities Approach (Nussbaum, 2006: 80). As mentioned before, where we are talking about the inviolability of dignity it is a sign of the Kantian meaning of dignity.

The following quotation from *Frontiers of Justice* can be considered as another example of using the concept of dignity in its Kantian sense, in which Nussbaum tries to illustrate the distinction between Kantian and Aristotelian dignity. This is a valuable example, in which we can see that Nussbaum uses the Kantian *meaning* of dignity and yet refuses to accept the Kantian *theory (source)* of dignity. (In this paragraph the concept of dignity is clearly used as a synonym of 'value'):

In chapter 3 much was made of the fact that the capabilities approach uses a political concept of the person that is different from that used in Kantian contractarian approaches. This Aristotelian conception situates human morality and rationality firmly within human animality, and insists that human animality itself has dignity. There is dignity in human neediness, in the human temporal history of birth, growth, and decline, and in relations of interdependency and asymmetrical dependency, as

well as in (relatively) independent activity [...] (Nussbaum 2006: 356).

Nonetheless, in the majority of her work, the concept of dignity Nussbaum uses is close to the 'decency' meaning of dignity. In many places she talks about the violation of human dignity (e.g. see Nussbaum 2006: 274, 277, 280, 348). Moreover, Nussbaum talks about the notion of dignity with phrases such as "life worthy of human dignity", "a life with human dignity", "a life compatible with human dignity", and the like. The notion of dignity in these cases is in the service of describing a 'decent' quality of life that she expects for all human beings. Subsequently, Nussbaum takes advantage of the term 'decent' in order to restate her idea about a life with dignity (e.g. see Nussbaum 2006: 156-7, 166, 179, 185, 186):

But we must begin by evaluating the innate power of human beings, asking which ones are the good ones, and the ones that are central to the notion of a decently flourishing human life, a life with human dignity (Nussbaum 2006: 366).

[...] a central part of our own good, each and every one of us – insofar as we agree that we want to live on decent and respectful terms with others – is to produce, and live in, a world that is morally decent, a world in which all human beings have what they need to live a life worthy of human dignity (Nussbaum 2009: 274).

Thus, the concept of human dignity and a dignified life is so close to the concept of a decent life that in her book asking 'what is the life worthy of human dignity?' is the same as asking 'what is decent for human beings?'

Furthermore, we should also remember that the central concern of dignity as decency is the 'entitlements' of human beings. Dignity as decency attempts to describe what entitlements should be provided for human beings so that they have a decent condition in their life; to live a life compatible with human dignity. As will be explained, the central element in Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach also has to do with determining the key entitlements of dignity-bearers. Hence, it would be natural that she is attracted to the decency concept of dignity.

It is essential to notice that the moralised concept of dignity as decency (which is used by Nussbaum) is not detached from Kantian dignity as value. Therefore, we can still find strong links between the meaning of dignity as decency used by Nussbaum, and the Kantian meaning of dignity as valuable status. However, the main characteristic of dignity as decency is that it is not inalienable: we can talk about losing a dignified condition for human beings, i.e. entering into a condition which is not decent for human beings. People might be in a situation in which they can benefit from their entitlements or, in contrast, their dignity might not be respected decently and as such they might not be able to benefit from their entitlements.

2.6. Nussbaum's Theory of Dignity

In the previous section I explained that the notion of dignity has two morally valid meanings in the works of Nussbaum, namely dignity as value and dignity as decency. Dignity as value reflects the general sense of human dignity which is inalienable whereas dignity as decency refers to the decency of the condition that a human being is in. In this part, I am going to elaborate on Nussbaum's *theory* of dignity in order to identify what it is in virtue of that one has dignity, in her view. As was mentioned earlier, Kant maintains that human beings are valuable for their capacity for rational agency. I also addressed some of the criticisms against Kantian dignity. Nussbaum is among those who disagree with Kant's only-rationalitycriterion.

In this part, I will unpack Nussbaum's theory of human dignity. To this end, I will begin by explaining Nussbaum's objections against Kant's theory of human dignity. Subsequently, I will elucidate Nussbaum's own theory of dignity, according to which human beings are valuable not only for their capacity for rationality, but also for the capacities belonging to their sociability and animal aspects. Hence such theory, in contrast with a Kantian one, is able to cover all human beings as dignity-bearers. There are many criticisms of different aspects of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. However, here the specific issue is Nussbaum's theory of dignity and this has been criticised in particular by Rutger Claassen. I will address his objections and I will illustrate that his doubts against Nussbaum's theory can be removed by investigating (and carefully articulating) Nussbaum's arguments. All in all, I think Nussbaum's theory of dignity is sufficiently reasonable and justifiable for the purpose of thesis, i.e. for the purpose of identifying ethical principles for hospital designers.

2.6.1. No to the Rationality-Only Position

Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach begins from the notion of a life that is worthy of the dignity of human beings (Nussbaum 2006: 180). In this regard, she attempts to explain the theory of dignity which can support her Capabilities Approach. However, as will be shown in the next chapter, she does not unpack her thoughts about dignity in one place, and as such they are scattered throughout her arguments concerning social justice, animal rights, and so on. Therefore, in order to explain Nussbaum's account of dignity, we need to investigate her works and gather the related arguments into a coherent whole in order to be able to address the vague aspects of her position.

Nussbaum has described her account of dignity as both neo-Aristotelian (Nussbaum 2008: 359; Nussbaum 2006: 217) and Aristotelian-Marxian (Nussbaum 2006: 278). In order to defend and develop her understanding of dignity she starts with a comparison between her notion of dignity and the kind of dignity to be found in various rationalistic theories: in the *Frontiers of Justice* she criticises the rationalistic Kantian account of Rawls on personhood, whereas in the *Human Dignity and Political Entitlements* she criticises the Stoic roots of the rationality-only conception of human dignity of which Kant is the most influential modern exponent.

Nussbaum has two sorts of objections against the rationality-only position of Kant. In the first sort, she directly criticises the idea that human rational agency is the only valuable source of human dignity. The other kind of objection does not *directly* criticise the rationality-only idea but rather shows the failure of the *consequences* of Kantian dignity, such as its failure to categorise all members of human beings as dignity-bearers. While I defend the latter sort of objection, I will explain that the former kind of criticism is not forceful. This is because, in my opinion, we do not have any method of securely assessing the suggested valuable matter on the basis of which it is claimed that we have our dignity: how can one show that, for instance, rationality (or the soul, or some capability, or the image of God) is not *the* incomparable and unconditional valuable thing in human beings which endows them a valuable status – namely dignity? What we can do, however, is to assess the consequences of a theory of dignity to see if it is compatible with already accepted elements of human dignity.

For example, we do not have any method of assessing Kantian theory so as to determine with certainty whether it is *really* (only) rationality in human beings which causes them to be dignity-bearers. Therefore, we cannot directly assess the rationality-only criterion. However, since it is widely accepted that *all* human beings have dignity, we can accordingly refute Kant's theory of dignity for its failure to cover all human beings – i.e. for not including marginal cases.

Having given the above explanations, I would like to critique Nussbaum's direct attacks against Kant's rationalistic theory. She militates against 'the Kantian split between personhood and animality' by giving four reasons (Nussbaum 2006: 132-134). Firstly, the Kantian theory of dignity denies "the fact that our dignity just is the dignity of a certain sort of animal. It is the animal sort of dignity, and that very sort of dignity could not be possessed by a being who was not mortal and vulnerable" (Nussbaum 2006: 132). In other words, Nussbaum claims that any entity which possess dignity has its *own type* of dignity; and, furthermore, that the characteristics of human dignity cannot be separated from their natural features. Therefore, such a theory of human dignity cannot be detached from the real nature of human beings. In

the same way that the 'beauty of a cherry tree in bloom' cannot be possessed by a 'diamond', for Nussbaum, the dignity of Angels (i.e. Kant's other rational beings) is not of the same kind as human dignity (Nussbaum 2006 :132).

However, I think, Nussbaum's reasoning can be refuted by Kant's advocates. Of course, the beauty of diamond and the beauty of a cherry tree is not the same; however, what is attractive in these two different things is their 'beauty' – the beauty of the cherry tree in bloom and the beauty of the diamond. Similarly, the proponents of Kant can say that although we admit that the rationality in humans and Angels is different, what gives 'value' to both of them is their 'rationality'. The natural aspects of human beings determine their specific kind of rationality (and accordingly their kind of dignity), but we cannot accordingly infer that their natural aspects are valuable, too.

The general point that Nussbaum apparently endeavours to make is that the beauty of a diamond is the beauty of something which is unchanging whereas the beauty of a 'cherry tree in bloom' has different stages; from when the tree starts its growth to the time that it is in bloom, and probably when it declines. Therefore, the nature of these two kinds of beauty is different. However, again, while a Kantian can openly accept that the beauty of these two are different in nature, the Kantian can still claim that it does not matter which period of life the tree is in, the main point still concerns its 'beauty'. The only difference is that the beauty of a diamond is inviolable and the beauty of a cherry tree in vulnerable and changeful.

I do not think that Nussbaum articulated her example adequately enough to effectively criticise Kantian dignity. The real difference between the Kantian theory of dignity and Nussbaum's is not to be found in different *types* of dignity; rather, it has to do with the *sources* of dignity. As will be explained below, unlike Kant, Nussbaum sees the value of human beings not only in their capacity for rationality, but also in the animal aspects of their lives which deeply depend on the world; this is the core difference between Nussbaum's and Kant's dignity.

According to Nussbaum, the vulnerable, transient, and natural aspects of human beings are themselves both valuable and sources of dignity. In this regard, Nussbaum's point could have been conveyed more accurately if she had said that it is not only that the cherry tree is beautiful when it is in bloom, but also in all periods of its life – from the beginning to the end; and not only is its bloom beautiful, but also its leaves, its branches, and even its roots. The actual contrast in this way would not be between two *kinds* of beauty; it would have to do with the *sources* of the things which make the tree beautiful. This example would have been more compatible with Nussbaum's multi-source conception of dignity.

What would be the answer of Kantian advocates if Nussbaum had argued in such a way? In

my view, nothing. This is because, although there are many theories of aesthetics, there is no generally accepted criterion by which we can establish conclusively what is beautiful and what is not. Therefore, one person may say that the cherry tree is beautiful only when it is in bloom, and another may say that they like all periods of the tree's life. In the same way, it is hard to directly refute the claim that it is only rationality which is valuable; nor can it be rejected if another says that all human capabilities are valuable. The only way we can refute such theories, in my opinion, is to consider the consequences of each theory and see if they are reasonable.

As to the second problem of splitting rationality and animality, Nussbaum claims that "the split wrongly denies that animality can itself have a dignity. Thus it leads us to slight aspects of our own lives that have worth, and to distort our relation to the other animals" (Nussbaum 2006: 132). I admit that the animal aspects of human beings can be considered as sources of dignity, however in this specific argument we should consider two essential points. Firstly, Nussbaum has to distinguish between the issues related to the *meaning* of dignity, and those which are pertinent to the *theory* of dignity. It seems that Nussbaum is not adequately precise in this respect in the above argument.

In these sentences, the concept of dignity is apparently used as merely a synonym for the term 'value' ("it leads us to slight aspects of our own lives that have worth"). Nussbaum's point is that the animality of human beings is also 'valuable' and, for this purpose, she attributes dignity to the animality of human beings. However, it should be noted that - for Kant - dignity, as explained previously³⁶, is not simply a synonym for value and worthiness. In Kant's view, those things which have price have value too.

Therefore, to reply to Nussbaum's point, a Kantian scholar may refer to her quotation and agree that animality has value and price, but point out that this does not mean that we must believe in the dignity (as an inherent and incomparable value) of animality: not every valuable thing has dignity. (We should note that Nussbaum can also claim that the value of animality is beyond price because the 'animal sort of dignity' is a sort of dignity; and that Kantian advocates cannot refute this. Again, this is because we do not have a criterion by which we can straightforwardly demonstrate the real source of dignity. Therefore, neither Kantians nor Nussbaum can directly refute the suggestion of the other side.) Furthermore, to avoid distorting 'our relation to the other animals', some scholars have attempted to explain our duty towards non-rational nature within a Kantian framework (see for example O'Neill 1998), which means that Kantian theory does not necessarily lead us to distort our *relation* to other animals.

³⁶ See section 2.3.1.

Nussbaum's third issue with Kant's rationalistic approach concerns the risk of ignoring the needy nature of personality. Kant presents human personality as if it were self-sufficient rather than deeply needy and dependent. "In so thinking we greatly distort the nature of our own morality and rationality, which are themselves thoroughly material and animal; we learn to ignore the fact that disease, old age, and accidents can impede the moral and rational functions, just as much as the other animal functions" (Nussbaum 2006: 132). The moral agency of human beings, Nussbaum believes, is deeply connected to their animal functions, and if we solely emphasise rationality then we may forget that the functioning of rationality in many respects depends on the functioning of animality (i.e. non-rationality).

I admit the profound connection between the function of rationality and the animal aspects of human beings. I will also express my agreement with Nussbaum's arguments in which she values a set of capabilities (instead of merely rationality) as sources of dignity. However, the above point by Nussbaum is not sufficient to attribute dignity to the non-rational aspects of human beings. An advocate of a rationalistic Kantian theory can reply that the connection between the function of rationality and of the capacities of human beings does not necessarily imply that we should consider those non-rational aspects of humans as the sources of *dignity*. We should not forget that the question of the theory of dignity is just that: for what reason does one have dignity (or, in Kantian terms, incomparable and unconditional worth)? We may find that many aspects of human beings have a valuable function but this does not mean that those valuable aspects have dignity – i.e. have incomparable and unconditional worth.

Moreover, we can interpret the relation between the rational aspects of humans and their animal aspects from within the Kantian perspective, by analogy to the relation between soup and its container (e.g. a bowl). When hungry what is of value is the soup and not its container, even though one could never have soup unless one has something to make the soup in (i.e. the container). Without the animal aspects of human beings, similarly, there would be no rationality for human beings. However, when we want to find *the thing* that is valuable in human beings, for Kant, it is human rationality.

Nussbaum's final point is that Kantian rationality has an 'atemporal' feature, "which does not grow, mature, and decline, but rather like something that is utterly removed, in its dignity, from these natural events". If we think in this way, she holds, then we may forget that in some periods of our life cycle we are extremely dependent creatures, "in which our functioning is very similar to that experienced by people with mental or physical disabilities throughout their lives" (Nussbaum 2006:132-133). This, in Nussbaum's opinion, is the other problem of splitting the rational and animal aspects of human beings in Kant's theory of dignity.

However, what Nussbaum takes this argument to expose as a problem for Kantian dignity from another point of view can be interpreted as a strength of the theory. As explained above, according to a common interpretation of the Kantian perspective, so long as a person has a potential for rationality then she has dignity. Therefore, so longs as a person is a human being (i.e. infant, young child, mature, or old), she has dignity and deserves to be respected for her dignity (unless she belongs to a group of people who lose their potential – and this is the real problem of Kantian dignity). Hence, if Kant could suggest a formulation which defines dignity for human beings that is independent of the stage of their lives, it could be considered a positive aspect of his theory, rather than being a problem.

In summary, Nussbaum's four reasons for viewing Kant's ignoring of human animality as problematic can all be replied to by Kantian scholars. As explained above, this is mainly because the correct source of dignity cannot be definitively settled owing to the fact that we cannot directly prove or establish that X is the source of dignity. However, Nussbaum also questions the *consequences* of Kant's rationalistic dignity; a criticism which I think is more reasonable than the previous one. Nussbaum challenges Kantian dignity for not covering the dignity of marginal people (Nussbaum 2006: 98). She also believes that animals are valuable and have their own type of dignity; she disagrees with the Stoics who think that it is fine to use them merely as means (Nussbaum 2008: 354). Now, it is time to elaborate Nussbaum's theory of human dignity.

2.6.2. Sources of Dignity in Nussbaum's View

What I showed in the above arguments was that Nussbaum's reasoning is not sufficient to *demonstrate* that non-rational aspects have dignity. However, there is a bigger picture behind her discussion which concerns how confining dignity to rationality in the Kantian way leaves whole areas of our moral life unexplained (or unjustified), if not ignored. In contrast to a rationalist who tries to prove everything, Nussbaum seeks a picture in which understanding things in a certain way can be seen to be more plausible, more true to our experience, more helpful, than in another.

In such a different picture of the sources of dignity of human beings, Nussbaum believes human beings are valuable not only because of their capacity for being autonomous, but also because of their other capabilities for "various forms of activity and striving" (Nussbaum 2008: 358). Nussbaum takes this idea from the Aristotelian notion of "political animals", which considers the sociability of human beings as the other source of human dignity. On this

view, human dignity "rather than beings opposed to [...] animal nature, inheres in it" (Nussbaum 2006: 87).

This idea of human dignity is completed with "some help from the young Karl Marx" (Nussbaum 2008: 357), in which Marx's conception of "rich human need" (Nussbaum 2006: 132) suggests that "we are needy temporal animal beings who begin as babies, and end, often, in other forms of dependency." (Nussbaum 2006: 160). In this way, Nussbaum couples the animal and rational aspect of human beings as a unified matter in virtue of which we have dignity. From such a perspective all aspects of animality are valuable, one of which is rationality. For Nussbaum, however, sociability has the same value as rationality in human beings. In this regard, 'bodily need' is one aspect of dignity rather than being something in contrast with dignity (Nussbaum 2006: 159 - 160).

In this regard, Nussbaum maintains that human beings have some central capabilities³⁷, each of which is an end and should be respected in order that such a life be commensurate with dignity. As each of these capabilities are an essential aspect of human animality if someone has any one of them then they are a possessor of dignity:

[I]f a creature has *either* the capacity for pleasure and pain or the capacity for movement from place to place *or* the capacity for emotion and affiliation *or* the capacity for reasoning, and so forth (we might add play, tool use, and others), then the creature has moral standing (Nussbaum 2006: 362, emphasis in original).

In this framework, Nussbaum has depicted a theory of dignity which not only views full rational agents as having dignity, but also views marginal people and animals as dignity-bearers: mentally and physically disabled people have dignity since they have the potential of at least one of those capabilities, even if they do not have the capability of rational agency. Young children also possess dignity as they have the potential for striving not only for rationality, but also for their other capabilities (Nussbaum 2008: 363)³⁸.

³⁷ Nussbaum has suggested a list of central capabilities which I will elaborate on in section 3.1.3.2.

³⁸ There are some inconsistencies in Nussbaum's arguments, in this regard. For example, she states that "we would not accord equal human dignity to a person in a persistent vegetative state, or an anencephalic child, since it would appear that there is no striving there, no reaching out for functioning" (Nussbaum 2008: 363). However, this is not in line with her other arguments about the dignity of individuals who have either of those capabilities (this, for me, can involve the capability of life). For instance, she points out that "any child born into a species has the dignity relevant to that species, whether or not it seems to have the "basic capabilities" relevant to that species" (Nussbaum 2006: 347).

All in all, Nussbaum's theory of dignity, unlike the Kantian one, has the advantage that it can recognise all members of the human species as dignity-bearing beings. This is an important aspect of Nussbaum's idea about human dignity and is considerable in the context of hospital environments, particularly when designers plan for mental hospitals. However, it is not the only reason for selecting the Capabilities Approach for this thesis. What is substantial is not just that it avoids the problem of marginal cases; but that in highlighting a range of capabilities, it highlights a range of ways in which we are vulnerable as embodied animals – a range of vulnerabilities that should be borne in mind by hospital designers.

I think what we have seen so far is an account that looks at first glance to be a defensible account of dignity (at least for the purposes of this thesis). However, before adopting her approach, we should first consider some relevant objections to her account of dignity. Scrutinising her theory may bring up some questions. This is, admittedly, because she does not sufficiently develop the different aspects and implications of her conception of dignity. Therefore, I think, Nussbaum needs to render a more comprehensive picture of her account of dignity.

2.6.3. Claassen's Objections

2.6.3.1. The Function of Dignity in Nussbaum's Theory

The Capabilities Approach has been discussed from different angles. However, Rutger Claassen in particular has objected to Nussbaum's theory of human dignity, and I will now discuss his arguments. As the first concern, Claassen wonders "what theoretical work the concept [of dignity] is actually doing" in her theory (Claassen 2014: 245). This argument reminds us of Macklin's objection³⁹. One of the general objections against the notion of human dignity in bioethics was that it adds nothing to biomedical arguments. The general objection against dignity, however, focused on the vagueness of the notion of dignity. I tried to reflect the major reply to this objection, arguing that the concept of dignity has some meanings other than the abstract Kantian dignity. However, I admitted that the concept has some level of ambiguity, emphasising that we should see the concept of dignity as a general idea or a doctrine that can underscore and lead us towards a recognition of the important aspects of

For the purposes of this thesis, I will go with the second direction in which all members of human beings are considered as dignity-bearers.

³⁹ See section 2.4.1.

human life.

Claassen's objection, however, specifically concentrates on the role of dignity in Nussbaum's theory, arguing that it does not actually help to identify the relevant capabilities. To unpack this criticism, Claassen claims that Nussbaum has not used the concept of dignity in providing the list of basic capabilities⁴⁰. Accordingly, he imagines two plausible functions for dignity:

So either Nussbaum thinks with the benefit of hindsight that dignity as an invisible hand had been implicitly guiding her selection process all along (this seems unlikely), or that the work the concept is doing lies not in the selection of basic capabilities, but rather in motivating why these capabilities deserve respect at all. This last option seems more plausible. [... Therefore] the main function of dignity for Nussbaum is that it gives us a reason to respect the capabilities of humans and animals (Claassen 2014: 245).

Subsequently, Claassen poses a question: how could dignity motivate us towards an attitude of respect, in this sense? Nussbaum's answer to this question, as Claassen claims, is that it is because there is something 'wonderful' and 'awe-inspiring' in humans and animals. Claassen objects to this idea on the grounds that there are many wonderful things, such as his iPad, which are not deserving of respect. As Nussbaum herself does not comprehensively deal with the different aspects and implications of her conception of dignity, it is hard to assess such criticisms. Therefore, further clarification is needed from Nussbaum. However, it seems it is still possible to address Claassen's concern by depicting a different understanding of Nussbaum's theory of dignity.

To deal with Claassen's concern we should remember that there are two valid senses of dignity in Nussbaum's work – namely; dignity as value and dignity as decency. As was explained earlier⁴¹, Nussbaum has used conceptions of dignity with these two meanings. However, since she herself does not consider (or might not notice) such a difference in these meanings of dignity, when her arguments flip between these two meanings some critics, such as Claassen, are moved to raise questions. As Claassen argues, it is important to figure out how the idea of

⁴⁰ After determining capabilities as the sources of human dignity, Nussbaum has emphasised that not all human capabilities are valuable. She states that there are certain key capabilities which are essential for the minimally dignified life. In this regard, Nussbaum suggests a list of ten basic capabilities as the central capabilities which one should be able to practice, develop, and secure in order to have a life with human dignity. I will develop this idea in the next chapter (see section 3.1.). Claassen's claim, however, is that the concept of dignity has no role in determining Nussbaum's list of central capabilities.

⁴¹ See section 2.5.7.

human dignity works in Nussbaum's theory. Nussbaum explains that her Capabilities Approach begins with an *intuitive* idea of human dignity. However, we should notice that Nussbaum utilises both meanings of dignity – i.e. dignity as value and dignity as decency – as such a basic idea:

The basic intuitive idea of my version of the capabilities approach is that we begin with a conception of the dignity of the human beings, and of a life that is worthy of that dignity [...] (Nussbaum 2006: 74).

If I want to interpret this in the context of the double-meaning concept of dignity, then I would say that the Capabilities Approach is based on the notions of human 'value' and the 'decent' life which such value deserves. As such, the Capabilities Approach considers both the value of human dignity *and* a decent condition for human beings. Thus, we need to clarify in which uses of the concept of dignity she aims for 'value', and where she is instead concerned with 'decency'.

Nussbaum's theory of dignity includes two steps. In the first one she lays the foundation of her theory of dignity, in which dignity is about value and worthiness. In this step, as quoted above, Nussbaum attempts to convey the sense in which human beings have value (i.e. dignity) because of their capacities for striving activities. This is the basic and the central idea of her Capabilities Approach. In this step, the concept of dignity is utilised as 'value' and 'worthiness'. However, Nussbaum does not stop with this step and tries to advance her arguments about capabilities.

In the second step Nussbaum endeavours to be more specific in identifying the capabilities in virtue of which human beings have dignity. This is because, in Nussbaum's view, not all capabilities are valuable, and therefore some capabilities cannot be sources of human value:

The capacity for cruelty, for example, exerts no claim on others that it be developed because, when we consider that capacity, we do not conclude that it is necessary for living a life that is worthy of the dignity that human beings possess (Nussbaum 2008: 357).

Accordingly, she needs to discover what capabilities should be supported in order to have a decent life (or at least a minimally decent one). This is the second step in Nussbaum's theory, in which dignity as decency can help us to understand her view. As can be seen in Nussbaum's work, in this step she makes wide references to the notion of a 'decent and dignified life'. Having made this clarification, we can now return to Claassen's concern: what is the function of these conceptions of dignity in identifying the relevant capabilities?

As has been said, this sort of concern about the role of dignity in Nussbaum's theory would best be addressed by Nussbaum herself. However, to the extent that I understand her theory, it seems that the concept of dignity works as a criterion for determining the basic capabilities of human life:

I argue that the best approach to this idea of a basic social minimum is provided by an approach that focuses on *human capabilities*, that is, what people are actually able to do and to be, in a way informed by an intuitive idea of a life that is worthy of the dignity of the human being. I identify a list of *central human capabilities*, arguing that all of them are implicit in the idea of a life worthy of human dignity (Nussbaum 2006: 70).

Therefore, from this perspective, by imagining a decent life for a human being, we can discover the basic capabilities which are necessary for such a life. In other words, the conception of 'a decent life for a human being' can *direct* (and not merely motivate, as Claassen supposes) thinkers to find the central capabilities. However, the notion of a 'decent life' is itself vague, and some may ask: how can such a vague idea lead us to find the basic capabilities? While Nussbaum admits that the concept of dignity is vague, she is still optimistic about the ability of the notion of dignity in handling this mission – i.e. in finding basic capabilities – by being careful to talk about only a non-metaphysical dignity.

Nussbaum believes that we can reach what John Rawls calls an 'overlapping consensus' (Rawls 2005: 150) on the basic capabilities: the overlapping consensus can be reached if we "make adjustments in the way in which we talk about human capacities and their realization that [...] can be accepted by many different religions and secular conceptions" (Nussbaum 2008: 361). For this purpose, we need to articulate the concept of dignity "in a way that shows the ethical core of that idea but that does not insist on linking it to involved metaphysical or psychological doctrines concerning which the major religions and secular conceptions differ" (Nussbaum 2008: 361).

This is the approach which was already successfully undertaken by the framers of the Universal Declaration of Human Rights:

The framers of the UN's *Universal Declaration of Human Rights* were conscious of their profound religious and philosophical differences. As Jacques Maritain writes, however, they could agree on the idea that the human being is an end and not merely a means, and their account of human rights embodied a practical political agreement deriving from this shared intuitive idea, which different religions would then interpret further in different ways (some in terms of the idea of the soul, and others eschewing

that concept, for example). Like Maritain, [...] I think we ought to seek political principles that have a moral content but that avoid contentious metaphysical notions [...] (Nussbaum 2008: 360 - 361).

All in all, by having a non-metaphysical concept of human dignity, Nussbaum believes, we can find the basic capabilities, the ability of flourishing which indicates a decent (dignified) life. However, Nussbaum needs to clarify what aspect of dignity should be non-metaphysical. I assume that she is talking about the implications of the concept of dignity, rather than its theory. I assume this because it is difficult to determine the sources of human dignity without a religious or a metaphysical doctrine. Nussbaum's own theory – i.e. humans have dignity in virtue of their capabilities – has its own Aristotelian-Marxian doctrine, which might itself be opposed by those for whom human begins are valuable not for their materialistic aspects, but for their soul, spiritual dimensions, or their image of God. Therefore, in my opinion, it is hard to claim that one can have a non-metaphysical *theory* of human beings.

However, even though people's ideas about the *sources* of human dignity may vary, I think they can still agree with the *implications* of this conception. This means that despite someone believing that a human being is valuable, for example, in virtue of her soul (or her rationality, or her capabilities, or the like), they can agree with advocates of other theories of human dignity on the point that we should respect human beings; that we should see them as ends and not merely as means; that we have a duty towards them and that they have certain entitlements. Hence, if it were agreed that all human beings are worthy and equal, and while they have certain entitlements they should always be treated as ends, then we would have a non-metaphysical concept of human dignity.

Such a conception, then, can intuitively lead us to discover the key capabilities which are minimally needed for a decent life. This is the function of the concept of human dignity in Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach, in my view. However, as was mentioned earlier, Nussbaum herself accepts that such a concept of dignity is vague and cannot straightforwardly show the basic capabilities by itself; "it must be done by discussing the relationship for the putative entitlement to the other existing entitlements, in a long and detailed process" (Nussbaum 2011: 32).

"[The evaluation of capacities] is slippery and delicate, because we are moving back and forth between thinking of capacities and thinking of a flourishing life, and there is need both for sensitive imagination and for lots of cross-checking in the theory, as when we arrive at some political principles based upon our intuitive idea and then see how they look." (Nussbaum 2008: 357 - 358). Overall, I think, the point that Nussbaum is trying to convey about the function of dignity in her theory is that although the concept of dignity is vague, it can lead our thoughts in such a direction so as to encourage us to discuss our capabilities and the flourishing that can lead to a decent life. In my view, as I mentioned before in addressing Macklin's objection, we should see the notion of dignity as a doctrine or an idea, which functions as an indicator as to the key conditions of human life in which one has a life compatible with one's value. But as it is not exactly clear which capabilities are necessary for a decent life, we need to discuss the issue and work together so as to reach an overlapping consensus. Reaching this universal agreement is possible, in Nussbaum's view, as we have already had such an experience with human rights. Consequently, Nussbaum's big picture concerning her theory of human dignity is in many respects different from what Claassen depicts it as.

2.6.3.2. Is It a Circular Argument?

Claassen has also identified another difficulty with Nussbaum's theory of dignity, and although it concerns the way she used her Capabilities Approach with respect to animal rights, the basis of Claassen's objection is related to Nussbaum's theory of dignity. Nussbaum claims that if a being has any central capabilities then it has a moral standing – i.e. it has its own type of dignity (Nussbaum 2006: 362). With regard to such a broad notion of dignity Claassen is concerned about the extension of dignity to animals: "it would seem to set no limit at all to the extension of dignity. Plants also function in certain ways, and maybe ecosystems do so as well – plants can flourish or perish, ecosystems can be stable or degrade" (Claassen 2014: 346)⁴².

To avoid becoming trapped in such concerns Nussbaum adapts a Utilitarian suggestion, in which the category of entitled animals is limited to only sentient ones. While Claassen accepts that this strategy can distinguish creatures with dignity from other natural phenomena, this solution is not available in Nussbaum's own theory and thus it makes her theory circular. This is because Nussbaum has suggested a list of ten capabilities as central for human life and of course, since this list has an animal basis, unsurprisingly it includes animals as well. However, even though plants and ecosystems have their own type of functioning, they seem to be *arbitrarily* excluded with no explicit reason:

Her argument is circular: first she defines a list of capabilities shared by humans and animals, and then she concludes that humans and animals (but not plants and

⁴² Indeed, some theorists have tried to extend the Capabilities Approach to provide a basis for a theory of ecological justice (e.g. Schlosberg 2007).

ecosystems) fit the bill (Claassen 2014: 247).

To address this objection, we should consider again the two separate, but not distinct, steps in Nussbaum's account of dignity. The first step concerned Nussbaum's general idea on the sources of *human* dignity. In this regard, she suggested that human beings are valuable for both their animal and rational aspects. Therefore, the first step is about finding a virtue in human beings for which they deserve to be attributed dignity. To rephrase the point more simply, it is an answer to the following question: we know that human beings are valuable (i.e. are dignity-possessors), but why?

In this light, it is natural to see that Nussbaum, in the second step, introduces the basic capabilities according to what is central for *human* flourishing. The theory is then essentially about human dignity, but also has enough room to include the dignity of animals as a result of their shared capabilities with humans. In fact, Nussbaum, as previously stated, *expanded* her theory to include nonhuman animal dignity. Consequently, because Nussbaum's theory of dignity is purposefully articulated in order to find the reason for *human* dignity (and not plants' or ecosystems') it *should* be fit for humans (and also animals as far as there are similarities in their capabilities). Hence, it is not a circular argument.

Nevertheless, I agree with the point that it is a weakness of Nussbaum's theory that it cannot exclude plants and ecosystems systematically from the list of dignity-bearers, forcing her to borrow the Utilitarian idea of sentient animals. In contrast with Kantian dignity, which was too limited to include marginal cases, Nussbaum's dignity is too wide to exclude the nondignity-bearers by itself. However, I see no problem in adopting the sentience idea to modify the deficits of the Aristotelian-Marxian theory of dignity. In particular, this deficit does not have a negative effect in the field of hospital design, as Nussbaum's theory is fully reasonable for the human realm. All in all, although Nussbaum does not comprehensively explain the different aspects of her theory of dignity, it seems it is possible to provide replies to Claassen's objections in accordance with Nussbaum's arguments.

In summary, according to Nussbaum's theory of human dignity, human beings have value in virtue of their capacities to flourish and engage in certain activities. Although not all human capabilities are valuable some of them are identified as central, which means that they are fundamental for a life worthy of human dignity. An intuitive and non-metaphysical conception of human dignity (both as value and decency), can help us to achieve an overlapping consensus about such central capabilities.

2.7. Summary

Patients have certain rights when they need to be cured in hospitals. There is also no doubt that the hospital environment can *facilitate*, or impede, our response to such rights. Accordingly, designers have a responsibility to plan hospitals in such a way as to help ensure that patients' rights can be suitably addressed. Reflecting on the relevant literature and documents, I showed that two core notions are used for illustrating the ethical concerns of the hospital environment, namely patients' rights and human dignity.

Accordingly, designers should be expected to provide environments that are responsive to the dignity and rights of patients. However, the main question has to do with how designers can provide such an environment. Many different ways can be suggested. My proposal is to find some specific principles suitable to the context of the hospital environment and its design, with which designers can identify how they can meet their ethical duties. For this purpose we need a philosophical theory which can, on the one hand, properly connect these two central concepts of dignity and rights, and on the other hand, help us to identify the ethical principles relevant for hospital designers. My hypothesis is that Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach is the appropriate theory for this goal.

Nussbaum bases her theory on the notion of human dignity and, in this regard, I began to elaborate how this concept should be understood in the context of the theory. However, since Nussbaum did not discuss all aspects of dignity in one place, I established my arguments based on the Kantian account of dignity as an influential concept of modern dignity. It was discussed three main areas in the discourse of dignity. The meaning of dignity is the first, which from Kant's perspective is about the inherent, inalienable, unconditional, and incomparable value of human dignity.

The second main area of dignity is its implications. I counted four principal implications of Kantian dignity, namely the notion of respect for human dignity, equality, and human responsibilities and entitlements. The most controversial aspect of Kantian dignity, however, concerns the theory of dignity. For Kant, only those who have the capacity for rationality and autonomy of will possess dignity. Such a theory has been objected to for excluding marginal cases from being dignity-bearers. In contrast, Nussbaum's theory of human dignity covers all human beings, as she puts value on a range of human capacities.

According to this theory all human beings are dignity-possessors including marginal cases. This is an important aspect of Nussbaum's theory which is particularly essential in hospital design. The most important characteristic of her theory, though, is her underscoring of a range of human capabilities as valuable aspects of human beings, which highlights the vulnerability of humans and the importance of their dependence on the external world. This is exactly what a moral designer needs to consider in order to provide an ethical environment in hospitals. Nussbaum has another difference in her account of dignity, which is her use of a further meaning of dignity.

While Nussbaum utilises the Kantian concept of dignity as value in some cases, she also refers to dignity in another sense which I call dignity as decency. This notion concerns the minimum quality of life that can be considered 'decent' for human beings. This violable sense of dignity is widely referenced in Nussbaum's work, even though she did not explicitly distinguish between these two distinct, but connected, meanings of dignity.

I also discussed some general objections against the concept of human dignity, particularly in the field of bioethics. In this regard, I classified the main objections into three issues. Firstly, was the notion that the concept of respect for dignity is equal to respect for autonomy. This claim was rejected for various reasons, the most important of which was that marginal people have dignity, even though they are sometimes not autonomous. Therefore, respect for dignity is not equal to respect for autonomy.

The second main objection was that dignity is a vague concept and adds nothing. The third objection was that dignity sometimes seems to be an inalienable notion and at other times seems violable. While I admit that the concept of dignity is vague, I explained that it is similar to other core ethical notions. It is not a weakness of dignity, it is vague because of its richness, and we should consider this notion as a general idea or doctrine which leads us to take into account important features of human life. It was also mentioned that the concept of dignity has some meanings other than the inalienable conception of Kantian dignity which are violable, such as the concept I suggested (i.e. dignity as decency).

Overall, in this chapter, I have tried to establish the main theoretical aspects of human dignity owing to its being the basic concept in the field of ethical hospital environments. In the next chapter I will consider the more practical aspects of Nussbaum's conception of dignity, namely the implications of human dignity, and I will show how Nussbaum links this notion to the idea of human entitlements. Finally, having explained the practical ideas of the Capabilities Approach, I will try to bring the notions of human dignity and entitlement into the context of the hospital environment.

Chapter 3

3. Entitlements in the Hospital Environment

3.1. Nussbaum's Implications of Dignity

3.1.1. A Review of the Arguments

In the previous chapter, I explained that there are two notions which play a central role in determining the ethical concerns related to hospital environments – namely the dignity and rights of patients. Correspondingly, it is expected that designers undertake certain ethical responsibilities towards patients. In other words, hospital designers are not only responsible for providing a suitable place for the treatment process; they also have to consider the non-medical requirements of patients in hospitals and identify how they can prepare the hospital environment for such needs.

Although the two concepts of 'human dignity' and 'patients' rights' are widely referred to in in the relevant documents (in order to underscore patients' expectations of the hospital environment), we need to introduce a system in which these concepts can lead designers to identify their ethical responsibilities. Therefore, we need to determine an appropriate conception of human dignity and elucidate the way in which it can be linked to the notion of patients' rights so that it illustrates the main ethical expectations of the hospital environment.

The hypothesis of this thesis is that designers can reach a more practical and clear understanding of human dignity and patients' rights, in the context of the hospital environment, if they adopt the key elements of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. This is because the core of this theory concerns understanding the basic entitlements of humans as the minimum condition of a life worthy of human dignity. In the previous chapter, I elaborated upon the theoretical aspects of Nussbaum's notion of dignity – i.e. the meaning, the implications and the theory of dignity. Subsequently, I explained what features of Kantian dignity are changed (or developed) in Nussbaum's notion of dignity, with particular concern for the 'meaning' and the 'theory' of dignity.

It was argued that there are two meanings of dignity used by Nussbaum: one is the general Kantian sense which functions as a synonym of 'value' and 'worthiness'; and the other refers to the notion of a 'decent life'. This latter meaning of dignity is instrumental in linking the

general abstract meaning of dignity as 'value' to practical concerns, i.e. the quality of life. Nussbaum's theory of human dignity, however, portrays a different idea from that of Kant. Nussbaum believes that human beings are valuable not only for their rationality – as Kant states – but also for a range of capacities involved in the various dimensions of their flourishing as a kind of embodied animal. What is essential in Nussbaum's notion of dignity are human capabilities to flourish and strive in various activities.

In comparison with Kant's theory of human dignity, Nussbaum's approach has several important advantages which are instrumental for designers in identifying their ethical responsibilities. As mentioned before, Kantian dignity puts value solely on rationality. It would seem to be hard for a designer to be led by such an abstract notion: people in hospital are seeking support for their physical or mental impairments and it is not clear that focusing on their rationality is the best way to help designers identify all the requirements of these patients.

In contrast, from Nussbaum's Aristotelian-Marxian point of view, what is wonderful in humans is their capacity to flourish and their needy nature - which is both vulnerable and profoundly dependant on the external world. This conception, in contrast to the previous one, can inspire designers when planning for people who might be extremely dependant on the support of others to reach the minimum capability level necessary for a life worthy of human dignity. This idea, accordingly, suggests to designers that they provide a fully supportive environment for the capabilities of human beings. However, this is not the only advantage of the Capabilities Approach in the context of hospital design.

The dignity of non-fully rational agents in the Kantian perspective is questionable. Although, as discussed before, there are many interpretations of Kantian dignity that have sought to recognise the dignity of marginal cases there is no satisfactory interpretation of Kantian dignity according to which the severely mentally ill are identified as dignity-bearers. On the other hand, the Capabilities Approach, which employs an inclusive concept of dignity, has as one of its main concerns the recognition of disabled people as dignity possessors. Obviously, this aspect of Nussbaum's theory can profoundly impact on the quality of the design of mental hospitals.

What is mentioned above mainly reflects the *theoretical* advantages of the Capabilities Approach, i.e. the positive aspects of Nussbaum's account of dignity in terms of 'meaning' and 'theory'. However, the prominent features of the Capabilities Approach appear more vividly in the practical aspects of the Capabilities Approach, namely in those issues which are pertinent to the 'implications' of Nussbaum's dignity. Accordingly, there are some other

advantages to adopting the Capabilities Approach for the issue of hospital design which will be mentioned when discussing the implications of Nussbaum's notion of dignity. In this chapter, I will discuss the implications of Nussbaum's dignity as the practical aspect of this notion. Subsequently, I will illustrate how Nussbaum's thoughts can help us define the main ethical entitlements of people in hospitals.

In section 2.3.2., I explained that the Kantian account of human dignity has certain implications (elements) – e.g. respect for dignity, human rights (entitlements) and responsibilities, and equality – which are principal in bringing this notion into practical contexts, such as hospital design. However, I have not yet elaborated upon the implications of Nussbaum's notion of dignity. While the discussion in the previous chapter was focused on the theoretical aspects of human dignity in the Capabilities Approach, I would now like to address the implications of the Capabilities Approach in the context of the hospital environment. In this way, I hope to develop a more precise understanding of the ethical requirements of people in hospitals.

For this purpose, I will base my arguments for the four central implications of Nussbaum's dignity on the same Kantian implications of human dignity. Concerning the notion of 'respect', I will explain that according to the Capabilities Approach respect for human dignity is not merely seeing others as ends; it also implies that we all have a duty to support the capabilities of each other. In terms of human 'entitlements', I will elaborate on Nussbaum's suggested list of ten central human capabilities. She believes that to have a life worthy of human dignity one should be able to practice one's central capabilities, at least up to a minimum level (which she calls the *threshold* of capabilities). I will also critique some relevant aspects of her list of capabilities, even though I will show that those deficiencies are not important in the context of the hospital environment.

In terms of human responsibilities, I will illustrate the reasons for thinking that designers have an ethical responsibility to provide for the capabilities of hospital users. Subsequently, the role of institutions in addressing the rights of citizens will be discussed. And finally, in terms of equality, I will argue that we need to support the capabilities of *all* hospital users, rather than merely the patients. Furthermore, equality can function as a criterion by which we can identify the thresholds of capabilities within a society. Firstly, in the forthcoming sections, I will investigate how the elements of dignity, as explained in the Kantian section⁴³, should be considered in Nussbaum's account of dignity. We will begin with the conception of 'respect

⁴³ See section 2.3.2.

for human dignity'.

3.1.2. Respect: Supporting Capabilities

In the previous chapter it was explained that, for Kant, the proper action towards the dignity of human beings is called 'respect'. Respect for human dignity in Kant's perspective, however, has a crucial and famous characteristic: to respect human beings is to treat them not merely as means, but at the same time as ends. Nussbaum essentially adopts this conception, emphasising that the concept of respect and seeing persons as ends are profoundly linked:

Indeed, one good general way of thinking about the intuitive idea of dignity is that it is the idea of being an end rather than merely a means. [...] This idea is closely linked to the idea of respect as the proper attitude toward dignity; indeed, rather than thinking of the two concepts as totally independent, so that we would first offer an independent account of dignity and then argue that dignity deserves respect (as independently defined), I believe that we should think of the two notions as closely related, forming a concept-family to be jointly elucidated. Central to both concepts is the idea of being an end and not merely a means. (Nussbaum 2008: 353-354)

However, this way of thinking about the notion of dignity in the context of the Capabilities Approach brings certain consequences. As was mentioned earlier, Nussbaum believes that the sources of human dignity are human capacities for flourishing and striving in various activities. Accordingly, to respect human beings we have to see human flourishing and capabilities as worthy of respect (Nussbaum 2008: 358). In other words, human beings are entitled to flourish in their capabilities, and acting for this purpose is (at least a part of) what it is to respect human dignity.

In the previous chapter, it was also explained that respect can be interpreted as the responsibility of human beings toward the dignity-bearer. In this light, and in accordance with Nussbaum's view, to respect the dignity of an individual we have a responsibility to support and provide for that individual's capabilities. This means that it is wrong to "think that respect requires only a reverential attitude. It requires more: it requires creating the conditions in which capabilities can develop and unfold themselves" (Nussbaum 2008: 359). Therefore, according to Nussbaum, in order to respect human dignity not only should we refrain from seeing dignity-bearers merely as means, but we should also support the development and exercise of their unfulfilled (or incomplete) capabilities, or at least provide the opportunity for such exercise (Nussbaum 2008: 358).

Accordingly, a failure of respect can emerge either when a dignity-bearer is instrumentalised, or when he is deprived of the opportunity to exercise his central capabilities. Nussbaum, in 'Human Dignity and Political Entitlements', renders two examples of the violation of dignity⁴⁴, each of which represents one of the aforementioned forms of failing to respect human dignity (Nussbaum 2008: 358-359). From Nussbaum's point of view, an unfairly imprisoned person is harmed "because [this] deprives the person of the opportunity to exercise his or her good capacities". Nussbaum mentions rape as an example of using a human being merely as a tool.

All in all, the Capabilities Approach suggests that to respect the dignity of human beings, not only should we avoid using human beings merely as means, but we should also endeavour to provide a suitable condition and opportunities by which they can exercise their capabilities, and thereby flourish. In this regard, our duty towards the dignity of human beings (i.e. our duty to respect dignity) is to provide for the capabilities of human beings. Thus, in order to know how to respect the dignity of others we need to determine the relevant human entitlements and responsibilities within this framework.

3.1.3. Human Entitlements

3.1.3.1. Starting from Entitlements

In Chapter two, I explained that the concept of human dignity has two important implications: duty (responsibilities), and rights (entitlements). In my view, human dignity is partly shaped by these two notions, and I previously suggested that the meaning of Kantian dignity be considered as 'valuable status' rather than 'value' or 'worthiness'. This is because 'valuable status' indicates both 'responsibilities' and 'entitlements', whereas 'value' and 'worthiness' merely indicate entitlements⁴⁵.

In the context of human dignity, 'responsibility' and 'entitlement' have the same importance. However, in practice, we may take different approaches: we may start by considering the responsibilities of moral agents and then try to detect the corresponding entitlements; or we may begin by trying to identify the entitlements of dignity-bearers and then, subsequently, attempt to discover the agents who can address those entitlements. Taking the latter strategy,

⁴⁴ As was explained earlier: given that dignity as value is inviolable, what is called a 'violation of human dignity' can be interpreted as a failure to respect human dignity.

⁴⁵ See section 2.3.2.3.

Nussbaum argues that this method should have priority over the duty-based approach (Nussbaum 2006: 275-278).

Nussbaum provides some reasons to justify beginning with entitlements. For example, Nussbaum refutes any 'purely duty-based' approach, claiming that "duties [...] are never generated in a vacuum: the idea of needs, and of entitlements based upon needs, always enters in to inform us why the duty is a duty, and why it matters" (Nussbaum 2006: 276). Despite the reasons Nussbaum gives to support her rights-first method, I think that this method has another benefit for Nussbaum in that it allows her dealing with entitlements in the context of animal rights. Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach would be able to develop its arguments related to animal rights and dignity mainly because it puts the emphasis on entitlements, rather than responsibilities. If the Capabilities Approach had based its theory on the duties of dignity-bearers, it would be difficult to derive animal entitlements from the notion of animal dignity.

However, there is another advantage in starting with entitlements which I think is particularly important and noteworthy for the purpose of this thesis. Nussbaum points out the fact that there is a "multiplicity of institutional and individual actors with which [... the correlative duties towards human entitlements] must deal" (Nussbaum 2006: 278). By having the list of the basic entitlements of human beings it is easier to discover which actor has which responsibility. This is another positive aspect of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach when addressing patients' rights in terms of the hospital environment.

This is because there are many parties (including individuals and institutions) who have a role in shaping the environment of a hospital: individuals such as engineers, architects, and interior designers who build and design the general environment of a hospital; hospital staff who may decorate the environment; hospital managers who may set rules for using or blocking certain spaces in hospitals; hospital commissioners who determine which facilities and places are needed in their hospitals; institutions such as the national healthcare organisation (e.g. the NHS in the UK) which sets rules and regulations for the construction and design of hospitals; Parliament which determines the amount of budget which should be spent on the construction and design of hospitals, and so on.

All of the above parties have a direct or indirect effect on shaping the environment of a hospital. It would be difficult to begin this task by separately considering the responsibilities of each of these actors towards patients. In contrast, if we start with the entitlements of patients in hospitals, it will be much easier to identify how these parties should contribute to the provision of decent hospital environments. For example, when we determine that in a Children's Hospital a mother is entitled to both stay with her child and have her privacy

respected, it is easier to then find the corresponding responsibilities of the pertinent parties than it would have been to have begun from the opposite direction.

The architect would know that she should provide sufficient space for both the child and her mother; the mechanical engineer would know the number of people per room to provide with fresh air and heat, etc.; the interior designer would know that there will be a stressed mother and a sick child in that room and that, therefore, while the environment of the hospital should use positive distractions for the mother to reduce her stress, it should also be calm and sufficiently child-friendly; all of these details would determine for the commissioner just how much money was needed for this entitlement in a certain hospital, and Parliament would then be able to sum the total amount of money needed for this specific entitlement. Thus, the rights-first strategy of the Capabilities Approach is a considerable motivating reason for employing this theory in discussing the ways in which the hospital environment can provide for patients' entitlements. All in all, Nussbaum's focus is on beginning with human entitlements. In the following, I will illustrate how she advances this strategy in her theory.

3.1.3.2. Ten Basic Entitlements

Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach is basically a theory of justice (Nussbaum 2006: 290). A just society should be able to provide for, at least, the minimum level of human basic entitlements. Moreover, Nussbaum states her agreement with Hugo Grotius in that dignity and sociability are the starting principles (Nussbaum 2006: 36-38). Having these premises, a focus on human rights and entitlements based on a notion of human dignity is to be expected. In this regard, human entitlements play a central role in Nussbaum's theory.

As was mentioned in section 2.6.2., according to Nussbaum's notion of dignity, human beings are valuable for their capabilities. However, this does not mean that all capabilities are sources of human dignity; some capabilities are 'good' and others are 'bad'⁴⁶, and amongst the good capabilities some are 'important' and some are (relatively) 'trivial'. Nussbaum suggests that we need to identify the important capabilities:

There must be a prior evaluation, deciding which [capabilities] are good, and, among the good, which are most central, most clearly involved in defining the minimum conditions for a life with human dignity (Nussbaum 2006: 166).

⁴⁶ I will be returning to this issue below.

As mentioned before, to respect the dignity of human beings means to support and provide for the capabilities of human beings so that they can exercise (or at least have the opportunity to protect, develop, or exercise) their capabilities. This means that the central capabilities themselves are the source of the moral claim:

The "basic capabilities" of human beings are sources of moral claims wherever we find them: they exert a moral claim that they should be developed and given a life that is flourishing rather than stunted (Nussbaum 2006: 278).

In other words, by defining the basic capabilities we can determine the main human entitlements. In this framework, Nussbaum believes that human beings have some central capabilities which everybody should be able to enjoy to at least a minimum level (or as Nussbaum calls it: the *threshold* level). She suggests ten central capabilities, the threshold levels of which must be met in order for people to live in a way worthy of human dignity. Her basic suggested capabilities are:

1. *Life*. Being able to live to the end of a human life of normal length; not dying prematurely, or before one's life is so reduced as to be not worth living.

2. *Bodily Health*. Being able to have good health, including reproductive health; to be adequately nourished; to have adequate shelter.

3. *Bodily Integrity*. Being able to move freely from place to place; to be secure against violent assault, including sexual assault and domestic violence; having opportunities for sexual satisfaction and for choice in matters of reproduction.

4. *Senses, Imagination, and Thought.* Being able to use the senses, to imagine, think, and reason - and to do these things in a "truly human" way, a way informed and cultivated by an adequate education, including, but by no means limited to, literacy and basic mathematical and scientific training. Being able to use imagination and thought in connection with experiencing and producing works and events of one's own choice, religious, literary, musical, and so forth. Being able to use one's mind in ways protected by guarantees of freedom of expression with respect to both political and artistic speech, and freedom of religious exercise. Being able to have pleasurable experiences and to avoid non-beneficial pain.

5. *Emotions*. Being able to have attachments to things and people outside ourselves; to love those who love and care for us, to grieve at their absence; in general, to love, to grieve, to experience longing, gratitude, and justified anger. Not having one's

emotional development blighted by fear and anxiety. (Supporting this capability means supporting forms of human association that can be shown to be crucial in their development.)

6. *Practical Reason*. Being able to form a conception of the good and to engage in critical reflection about the planning of one's life. (This entails protection for the liberty of conscience and religious observance.)

7. Affiliation.

A. Being able to live with and toward others, to recognize and show concern for other human beings, to engage in various forms of social interaction; to be able to imagine the situation of another. (Protecting this capability means protecting institutions that constitute and nourish such forms of affiliation, and also protecting the freedom of assembly and political speech.)

B. Having the social bases of self-respect and non-humiliation; being able to be treated as a dignified being whose worth is equal to that of others. This entails provisions of non-discrimination on the basis of race, sex, sexual orientation, ethnicity, caste, religion, national origin.

8. *Other Species*. Being able to live with concern for and in relation to animals, plants, and the world of nature.

9. Play. Being able to laugh, to play, to enjoy recreational activities.

10. Control over One's Environment.

A. Political. Being able to participate effectively in political choices that govern one's life; having the right of political participation, protections of free speech and association.

B. Material. Being able to hold property (both land and movable goods), and having property rights on an equal basis with others; having the right to seek employment on an equal basis with others; having the freedom from unwarranted search and seizure. In work, being able to work as a human being, exercising practical reason and entering into meaningful relationships of mutual recognition with other workers (Nussbaum 2006: 76 - 78).

This is the list of basic capabilities which people need to be able to develop and exercise in

order to flourish. The idea of capabilities has a profound relation to the concept of human rights as this issue (i.e. human rights) is discussed internationally. While the idea of human rights is understood in various ways, Nussbaum believes that "the best way of thinking about what it is to secure [fundamental rights] to people is to think in terms of capabilities" (Nussbaum 2003: 37). Thus, the capabilities which are listed by Nussbaum can be seen as the basis of human entitlements. It means, "for each important entitlement, there is some appropriate level beneath which it seems right to say that the relevant entitlement has not been secured" (Nussbaum 2009: 335). In this regards, Nussbaum suggests the notion of *threshold* as the minimum level of each capability which a person should be able to practice in order to have life with human dignity.

Therefore, the main concern of the Capabilities Approach is to ensure that everybody has an *adequate* opportunity to practice, develop, or have secured the central capabilities, at least, up to the threshold level of each capabilities. For the conditions above the thresholds, however, Capabilities Approach as a theory of justice does not have an answer and in this regard, it is incomplete (Nussbaum 2006: 292)⁴⁷.

3.1.3.3. The Pluralism of Nussbaum's List

Nussbaum sees her Capabilities Approach as a species of the human rights approach (Nussbaum 2006: 284), and as such she hopes that there is a reasonable chance of reaching an 'overlapping consensus' concerning the general list of capabilities in the same way that nations reached a consensus on the general outlines of human rights (Nussbaum 2008: 360-361). In this regard, an attempt is made to determine the list in a *general* way "in order to leave room for the activities of specifying and deliberating by citizens and their legislatures and courts in each nation" (Nussbaum 2006: 296).

In other words, the list should provide general goals so that it "can be further specified by the society in question as it works on the account of fundamental entitlements it wishes to endorse" (Nussbaum 2006: 75). In my view, it is not only societies that can further specify the list for

⁴⁷ It might be said that given that justice is a matter of securing entitlements (to threshold capability levels) then going over them is not a requirement of *justice*. However, I think Nussbaum is right in thinking about justice for the condition of being above the thresholds, if we consider that the realm of justice is not only in securing minimum entitlements, but also in *justly* distributing resources. (If a nation can afford not only for the basic entitlements of human beings, but also more than that, then the nation should *justly* distribute those resources).

their account of entitlements, some practical fields which are directly related to human capabilities, such as hospital design, can also take advantage of this generality.

For example, if we want to use this approach in the field of hospital design, the specification of those capabilities and their implications in this context can be different to (or be more detailed than) Nussbaum's. For instance, as will be suggested in section 3.3.2., providing 'private areas' for patients in hospital is one of the essential ethical requirements. Therefore, if we want to bring the list of Nussbaum into the field of hospital design, it can be adapted by adding this item into the definition of the tenth capability (i.e. control over one's environment) in order to have a more tailored list for the purpose of hospital design. This characteristic of Nussbaum's list of capabilities – that it can be specified with respect to different contexts – aids in the application of this list to the field of hospital environments⁴⁸.

There are some factors in providing the list of capabilities which makes it a pluralistic list (Nussbaum 2006: 296-297), to ensure that the list of capabilities is sufficiently near to the 'overlapping consensus'. Firstly, the aforementioned ten central capabilities are not the final list for Nussbaum; the list is "open–ended and has undergone modification over time" (Nussbaum 2006: 76). The important ideas in this approach are that people should be able to enjoy their basic capabilities, at least to the threshold level, and that such basic capabilities ought to be listed and defined in such a way so as to support a dignified life for people in different situations. Therefore, for instance, this thesis can benefit from Nussbaum's approach by providing some specifications for her suggested capabilities, as mentioned above.

Nussbaum tries to take a non-metaphysical approach in her provision of the list of capabilities. In my view, as argued earlier, a non-metaphysical approach is more plausible if it is considered in terms of human rights, rather than in terms of the sources of human dignity (i.e. capabilities). Given that I have already explained this aspect of Nussbaum's theory⁴⁹, I am not going to discuss it again here. The other factor to consider is that the focus of this approach is on capabilities rather than on functioning. In other words, in order to respect someone's dignity others should enable that person to exercise or develop their capabilities; but the decision of whether or not to practice that capability is a matter for the dignity possessor. Nussbaum gives the right to vote as an example:

[A] just society offers people the opportunity to vote, but it does not require them to vote. (Voting is not acceptable to some religions, for example the Old Order Amish.

⁴⁸ See section 3.5.

⁴⁹ See section 3.1.3.5.

We respect them by working for capability, not functioning.) (Nussbaum 2008: 368).

Therefore, what is essential in the Capabilities Approach is to provide *opportunities* for agents; it is up to the agent if they wish to take advantage of the opportunities provided. This is the liberal version of the Capabilities Approach that Nussbaum favours when expanding on her theory. This direction is deeply compatible with the nature of the hospital as a facility. The responsibility of designers is to provide an environment in which people are able to enjoy their capabilities, whether or not their want to use that opportunity.

For example, the capability of Affiliation suggests that people should be able to live with and toward others. The Capabilities Approach, accordingly, would recommend to a hospital designer that she prepare patients' rooms with the ability to accommodate their family in order to respect their dignity. However, providing such amenities does not imply that patients should be forced to have visits from their relatives. In fact, the design of the hospital should be sufficiently *flexible* for the relevant human capabilities and should provide a suitable environment for people to practice (or develop, or have protected) any of their capabilities. The emphasis on capabilities rather than functioning can thus be considered another benefit of the Capabilities Approach for hospital design.

Nussbaum hopes that kinds of these characteristics (i.e. being general, being open-ended, being non-metaphysical and having a focus on capabilities rather than functioning) will increase the chance of reaching an overlapping consensus concerning the list of basic entitlements. However, there are some subtle ways in which improvements can be made – in particular Nussbaum's description of the list of capabilities can be adjusted so that the theory works better in general. Let's start with this latter point: namely, the liberal interpretation of the Capabilities Approach.

3.1.3.4. Preventing Bad Capabilities

To explain this point, we need to once again review the basis of the Capabilities Approach. It was argued that human beings have some bad capabilities and some good capabilities, and that some of those good capabilities are important. Nussbaum's list reflects the important capabilities which should be supported so that one can have a dignified life. However, we should not forget that there are also some bad capabilities (such as the capability of cruelty) which should not only not be supported, but should also be 'inhibited' (Nussbaum 2006: 166).

Human dignity, in this regard, has a dual function which is discussed in some of the literature

as 'liberal' and 'conservative' dignity⁵⁰. To explain further: sometimes the concept of human dignity is understood in a *liberal* way as conveying a sense of 'empowerment' in which support is provided for the capacity of choice (i.e. the choice to enjoy an opportunity to exercise some capability or not). When somebody talks about respecting a person's dignity in this liberal sense, he aims to highlight that person's right to choose freely in practicing any of their capabilities. Hence, liberal dignity is a providing and supportive concept. There are many examples of this sense of dignity particularly in international human rights instruments. For instance, in article 22 of The Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UN 1948) we read:

Everyone, as a member of society, has the right to social security and is entitled to realization, through national effort and international co–operation and in accordance with the organization and resources of each State, of the economic, social and cultural rights indispensable for his dignity and the free development of his personality.

Here, the writers of this Declaration use dignity in a supportive sense to ground a range of human rights (namely; economic, social and cultural rights). This is an example of the liberal sense of dignity which underscore the rights of dignity possessors to have opportunities and to freely decide to practice their capabilities. However, the concept of dignity does not always serve human beings by supporting them in line with the liberal conception; it sometimes causes restriction and 'constrains' people - particularly by putting limitations on the right of free individual choice. The concept of dignity in this sense is used to underscore cases in which respecting people would entail limiting their individual choices. To respect dignity in this *conservative* sense others (or even oneself) should be restricted from doing something freely.

Obviously, restrictions imposed on human freedom in this way are based on the importance of allowing for the flourishing of the basic capabilities of others. For example, dignity can be employed to restrict one from practicing cruelty in order to support the capabilities of others (e.g. the capability of bodily health, bodily integrity, affiliation) which otherwise might be harmed. However, the point of distinguishing liberal from conservative understandings of dignity is to show that in each case the aim of using these concepts can be different:

As empowerment [in the liberal function], human dignity is equated with the capacity to choose, giving rise to a human rights regime that promotes individual autonomy. As constraint [in the conservative function], human dignity limits the free choice of individuals to actions that are compatible with respect for the human dignity of others

⁵⁰ For further discussion see Beyleveld & Brownsword (2001); and also Brownsword (2014). The terms used in this section are inspired by these references.

and of oneself (Chan 2015 :277).

One of the famous examples of the conservative sense of dignity is the case of 'dwarf-throwing' that caused controversy in France in 1995 (cf. Beyleveld, Brownsword 2001: 26)⁵¹. The Conseil d'État ordered the police to prohibit any form of display that is against human dignity. Following this, the police banned the attraction of 'dwarf-throwing' in local bars. Although some of the people of short stature claimed that they freely chose to participate in these events and that they would be made unemployed by the banning of 'dwarf-throwing', the Conseil maintained that these activities were instances of considering human beings as mere objects and, therefore, should be prohibited even if the dignity bearers (i.e. people of short stature) freely chose to engage in it. In this case, employing a conservative conception of dignity led the Conseil to restrict rather than protect the free choices of people of short stature (and of others in favour of continuing the practice).

The liberal sense of dignity is usually involved in cases with an individualistic orientation, in which the idea of dignity is supposed to empower the individuals' rights, as in the Universal Declaration of Human Rights. The concept of human dignity in its conservative sense, in contrast, can be found mostly in cases when the state or some other body intends to prohibit certain actions which are against human dignity, such as restrictions defined in bioethical documents for medical teams and researchers in order to protect people from any failure to respect dignity.

For example, UNESCO forbids the reproductive cloning of human beings in article 11 of the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights (UNESCO, 1997). In this example, as well as in many similar cases, the concept of dignity is used to highlight a kind of restriction over persons. In brief, dignity sometimes has a liberal sense which supports the development and exercise of opportunities and freedom. It can also have a conservative sense, in which freedom can be restricted in order to respect and protect dignity.

Returning to Nussbaum's position concerning bad capabilities, as mentioned above, she states that bad capabilities should be inhibited. Inhabiting a capability, however, is not merely not supporting that capability, it also concerns deterring human beings from exercising those capabilities. This is compatible with the conservative sense of human dignity. Therefore, despite a generally liberal approach, Nussbaum also points to conservative considerations. However, what is not clear in Nussbaum's approach is the way in which she applies these conservative aspects of her theory.

⁵¹ For more examples of conservative dignity see Brownsword (2014: 12).

I can imagine two ways in which Nussbaum could deal with bad capabilities. One way of considering bad capabilities would be to provide a list of important bad capabilities (in parallel with the list of important good capabilities). Moral agents would then have two kinds of duty: to support the list of good capabilities and to deter the exercising of bad capabilities. This gives the idea of two kinds of respect: positive and negative.

To respect the dignity of people (rights-bearers), sometimes something should be done for them. For instance, to give patients the opportunity to be with their family a designer may provide single-bed rooms with the provision of accommodation for patients' relatives. In this form of respect, then, the designer has helped to enable something for the patients (i.e. being with their family), which I call *positive respect*. In contrast, there is another form of respect concerning the rights people have to be protected from something happening to them, which I will call *negative respect*⁵². For example, a designer who provides for a private room for patients in order to protect them from public-viewing has respected their dignity in this negative sense.

Nussbaum, however, has not provided two lists of capabilities, even though she discusses the importance of considering both 'affirmative tasks' as well as 'negative rights' in the public sphere (Nussbaum 2006: 291). In some cases, Nussbaum makes points at odds with her liberal approach. The capability of cruelty is an example which was mentioned already. Nussbaum also prohibits public humiliation (Nussbaum 2008: 370). Other prohibited acts can be suggested in this way so that a list of bad capabilities can be compiled.

However, Nussbaum seems to take the other strategy: she incorporates the ways in which a capability might be harmed within the definition of that capability and suggests that we prevent the dignity-bearer from suffering such harms. For example, in the definition of the capability of 'bodily integrity', as shown above, she calls for securing people "against violent assault, including sexual assault and domestic violence". By adding protective measures, Nussbaum tries to save the dignity-bearer from the harm of bad capabilities practised by others. Instead of having a list of bad capabilities she chooses to point out the ways in which a capability might be harmed. There is an important difference between these two strategies.

In the former strategy, moral agents act directly towards the capability possessor in order to deter her from experiencing that capability (such as the capability of cruelty). However, by putting protective measures in the list of human entitlements, the focus shifts from the capability-possessor to the dignity possessor. In other words, the practicing of bad capabilities

⁵² Compare the distinction between positive and negative rights.

per se is not prevented, unless it harms the rights-bearer. Given that a rights-bearer is free to enjoy her entitlements, this implies that if she does not want to enjoy any of her entitlements (e.g. she does not want to be secured from assault), an agent may be permitted to practice bad capabilities against the rights-bearer (i.e. to assault the rights-bearer). Nussbaum, for instance, sees no reason to prevent private humiliating relationships (Nussbaum 2008: 370).

This strategy of Nussbaum's is truly in line with her liberal thoughts. However, when considering conflicts between human dignity and human freedom, we might expect to see Nussbaum on the dignity side given that she selected dignity as the basic notion of her theory. But it seems, at least from a non-liberal point of view, that in this way she sacrifices her opinions about human dignity and the decent life in order to save her liberal ideas: 'being humiliated' is one of the oft-remarked examples of the conditions which are against the dignity of human beings.

These are grounds for me to be wary of accepting her theory as a general theory of justice (i.e. these deficiencies would need to be addressed first). Nonetheless, it is worth noting that this problem does not undermine the privilege of this theory in the field of hospital design. This is because the hospital environment is not an active agent that can directly commit bad capabilities. The hospital environment is a facility which is essentially in the service of capabilities: facilities give the *opportunity* to act for certain purposes, rather than impelling such enactment. It will be up to the users of hospitals to take advantage of those facilities or, alternatively, to refrain from using them. Therefore, the second strategy taken by Nussbaum, in which protective measures are inserted into the list of basic entitlements, is compatible with the context of the hospital environment and its design.

3.1.3.5. Capabilities Intertwined with Dignity

In addition to the way in which Nussbaum considers bad capabilities in her theory, there are also some difficulties in her linking of the notions of dignity, capabilities, and entitlements. As was mentioned earlier, the list of capabilities is inspired by the idea of human dignity and a dignified life. In this light, Nussbaum believes that the basic capabilities of human beings are intertwined with the dignity of human beings (Nussbaum 2006: 162). However, when Nussbaum starts to address the capabilities in more detail, some difficulties appear.

As explained above, Nussbaum insists that we focus on capabilities rather than functioning, in order to have a more general approach that can be accepted by people from different doctrines and religions. She mentions the capability of voting or the capability of religious practice, in

this regard. Some people are religious and some are not, but an atheist can accept the inclusion of religious practice in the list of entitlements as this does not entail that citizens are obliged to pray (i.e. it is not about functioning). Similarly, a "member of the Old Order Amish will not vote or participate in politics, but he or she can accept the *right* to vote as a fundamental entitlement of all citizens" (Nussbaum 2008: 361, emphasis in original).

However, if we put 'voting' in the list of capabilities then this seems to imply that providing for such an opportunity is part of what it is to respect the dignity of a person. To reply, Nussbaum points out that the followers of the Capabilities Approach should think in a pluralistic way, in which one respects the choice of others even if one believes that choice to be wrong (e.g. for the Old Order Amish it is wrong to vote, similarly for an atheist it is wrong to worship God) (Nussbaum 2006: 182-183). I do not find this answer satisfactory. A pluralist atheist, for instance, may respect the choice of a religious person, but this does not necessarily mean that such a choice is viewed as "intertwined" with human dignity. There is difference between accepting the list as the main entitlements of human beings and accepting the list as indicators of human values. It is valuable to respect the choice of others even if it is not in line with one's own beliefs; but it cannot be expected that the reason for such a choice will also be accepted as something valuable.

I think this difficulty disappears when we move from considering Nussbaum's list as a list of 'capabilities' to considering it as a list of 'entitlements'. As a list of entitlements, we can incorporate elements that are related to the freedom of human beings, and we can hope to reach an overlapping consensus. For example, even those who do not consider voting as something valuable can agree to have the right to vote in the list as an entitlement. Accepting such a right does not mean that they value voting, but rather means they value the *right* to vote.

However, if we consider the list as a list of capabilities and incorporate voting (or worshiping, etc.) into the list as part of the central human capabilities, this would imply that everybody should accept voting as something valuable, given that Nussbaum has already said that capabilities are intertwined with dignity. In general, someone who accepts the right to vote (i.e. when considering the list as a list of entitlements), may not accept it as a valuable thing (i.e. when considering the list as a list of capabilities). Therefore, while there is good reason to hope for an overlapping consensus when considering the list as a list of entitlements are included that one group of people value and others do not (e.g. voting).

However, as Nussbaum mentioned, this is *her* list of capabilities and it is subject to change. Hence, one way to address this difficulty is to improve upon the list in a more general way so as to avoid these kinds of problems. Also, the aforementioned difficulty will be alleviated when the list of capabilities is brought into a specific society or field, in which there is less disagreement about such issues. As was mentioned above, Nussbaum designs her list in a general way in order to include the doctrines of a wide range of societies with different perspectives. She explains that this list can be further specified when it is introduced into a specific society by considering such a society's own particular values and beliefs. With more specification, and by incorporating the domestic values and beliefs into the definitions of the capabilities, fewer problems will occur (our assessments concerning a 'decent life' - i.e. dignity as decency, and not as value - is, at least partly, dependent on a specific social context).

This problem can be further weakened if we see the suggested list as a list of entitlements, rather than capabilities. As argued above, the aforementioned challenge is highlighted when we want to link the content of the list to what people take to be of value. But, in the context of human *rights* people with different perspectives can adopt the same basic entitlements. Therefore, one way of modifying the content of the list is to focus on the language of human rights rather than human capabilities. This can occur if we consider, for example, the headings of each capability in the list (e.g. affiliation, bodily integrity, etc.) as the list of capabilities (which are intertwined with human dignity and, owing to their generality, can aid in reaching an overlapping consensus on them); and consider the description of each capability as the list of entitlements (e.g. protecting the freedom of assembly and political speech, to have adequate shelter, etc.)⁵³.

All in all, Nussbaum's list of entitlements provides a suitable platform to apply ethical considerations in terms of the hospital environment. The main concern of this list is human capabilities; the conditions in which human beings are entitled to flourish. This notion is particularly important in hospitals. People in hospitals cannot exercise their capabilities in many respects: patients face physical and mental disabilities and pressure, medical staff have demanding and stressful jobs; relatives experience stressful concern for their hospitalised family members; and so on. Almost every person in a given hospital faces conditions that to some degree hamper them in the pursuit of their interests and activities.

In the Capabilities Approach, we hate such conditions, believe that we all have a correlative responsibility to support for the capabilities of human beings in order to empower them to live

⁵³ In this thesis, I will consider the list of capabilities in this sense; that is to see the descriptions of each capability as the list of human entitlements. In this way, the descriptions of what I will render as a compatible list of capabilities in hospital environment should be considered as the list of entitlements of people from the hospital environment.

more normally, to live a life worthy of human dignity. The fundamental theme of the Capabilities Approach, in which human beings are seen as *vulnerable* and deeply dependent on the external world, is tailor-made for what I suppose to be the responsibility of hospital designers. Now, after defining the main entitlements of human beings, it is appropriate to talk about Nussbaum's views on duty-bearers.

3.1.4. Responsibilities

3.1.4.1. Vulnerable People in Hospitals

The vulnerability of human beings is essential and valued in the Capabilities Approach. This character of the Capabilities Approach is particularly inspiring in the area of hospital design. To explain more: as I have mentioned⁵⁴, people not only have a duty to respect the dignity of others, but they also have a duty to respect the dignity of themselves. To interpret this in terms of Nussbaum's approach: people have an ethical duty to provide for their own capabilities, and to protect themselves from those conditions which are below the thresholds of living with dignity. For example, if a dignity possessor is sick and wants to protect his bodily health capability, he has a responsibility to visit a doctor. Similarly, we have an ethical duty to provide for all of our capabilities when we want to exercise, develop or protect them. This is normally how we act.

To greater and lesser extents, people respect their own dignity and they usually attempt to protect it from being mistreated by others (i.e. from going below the thresholds). People respect and protect their own dignity, although they may not generally do this under the description of 'respecting their own dignity' - much less 'following the specifics of Nussbaum's capability theory'. In common life, we actively protect ourselves from situations in which we feel degraded or humiliated, for example, by keeping ourselves away from situations in which others may fail to respect our dignity. It may be true that the first person to respect one's dignity is oneself. However, if one wants to respect one's situation.

For instance, people usually seek shelter in a private area when they need privacy. This is an ability that a patient after a surgery may lack because he still cannot move, or may even be

⁵⁴ See section 2.3.2.2.

unconscious. If he was able to move or understand his situation, he would probably strive to go to a private room when he finds himself in an inappropriate condition and environment (e.g. without decent clothes or being in a mixed–sex bay). Since he does not have the ability to protect himself from degradation, he is vulnerable and needs others to make up for his disability by placing him in a private or segregated room.

Consequently, the dignity-possessor's attempts to respect and protect his own dignity play a major role in his life, *provided that* he is capable of such actions. In many cases, if one respects oneself, nothing would remain for others to do. For example, a person who can go to the hospital when he is sick is already able to respect himself in these terms, and other people do not need to bring him to the hospital. However, if the dignity-possessor is not able to respect his own dignity, this responsibility would shift to others. In these cases, such as when a sick person needs others to carry him to a hospital, other people have to make up for the dignity-possessor's disability and do more for him than in those cases in which the dignity-possessor is able to respect himself.

In many situations, hospital users cannot respect their own dignity properly and, therefore, this duty shifts to the other stakeholders in the hospital. Patients in hospitals are at the centre of this problem. Patients may endure enormous stress and pain; they may have anxiety about their future and their life; they may lose consciousness and become unaware of their surroundings; they may lose their normal abilities due to their illness; and there are many other situations and conditions for patients which may affect their ability to exercise or protect their capabilities on their own. Patients' relatives are also in special conditions in hospitals. They probably endure stress for their family member, particularly if their family member faces a serious problem. Their situation could be made worse if they are unable to see their family member or obtain updated information about them.

In such stressful conditions, families are perhaps unable to concentrate sufficiently on their own dignity and therefore might not respect their own dignity properly (e.g. by not resting sufficiently, not sleeping well, not eating enough and the like). Although the stressful condition of families and their concern for their hospitalised family-member may cause them to not respect their own dignity sufficiently, being in an unsuitably designed hospital can make this even worse. For example, if the hospital does not have enough amenities such as a buffet for eating, or even chairs for resting, relatives may prefer to stay near to their hospitalised family-member and endure the tiredness or hunger rather than going outside of the hospital premises to find something to eat, or somewhere to rest.

Insufficient consideration of one's own dignity can also be a problem for staff. Medical teams

are working in a stressful and sensitive job in which a small mistake may cost the life of their patient. Furthermore, they may witness the screams of patients in pain which need to be tolerated, the grief of families which need to be met with compassion and many other demanding conditions. Faced with such emotional environments, the respect they owe to their own dignity may lose its priority and the hospital staff's efforts may tend to be for others rather than themselves.

In short, there is a danger of patients and to some extent their relatives as well as hospital staff, losing sight of their own dignity. As I explained above, in such cases in which a person loses his ability or capability to respect his own dignity, additional ethical responsibilities would shift to others in order to provide for those capabilities. Returning to the point mentioned a couple of paragraphs ago, respecting the dignity of others in hospitals becomes a crucial matter because of the high level of risk for people who can be in situations in which they cannot respect their own dignity. Correspondingly, this would create further responsibilities for others, who can play a role in supporting people in hospitals. In this regard, a hospital designer, for instance, should not think that he has met his duty if he provides an environment in which medical teams can easily deliver their professional commitments. As people lose their ability to respect their own dignity, the hospital designer should provide a suitable environment in which other people can meet their extra responsibilities. Now, the question is: what can the hospital environment provide in this respect?

Human beings have an ethical responsibility to support each other in hospital. In order to meet such duties, we need sufficient materials, opportunities, and facilities. The role of the hospital environment appears in this step. The hospital is a facility to help medical staff treat patients. For this purpose, hospital constructors endeavour to prepare all the facilities needed for treating patients in hospitals. This is the usual approach of hospital designers in their job. However, the hospital environment should not only be in the service of the bodily health capability. The list of basic entitlements suggests that we think about a range of capabilities which should be supported, all of which have the same value and importance as the bodily health capability. For example, a hospitalised patient may not be able to adjust the heat of his room, in the same way that he could do when he was healthy in his own house; and, in this way, he may lose his sense of control over his surrounding environment (the tenth capability in Nussbaum's list). However, an appropriate hospital environment might provide a remote control by which the patient can set for a convenient degree of heat or cold from his bed. Therefore, a supportive hospital environment facilitates the practicing of *all* the central capabilities.

It should also be noted that respect for the dignity of patients can be direct or indirect. In order

to respect the dignity of a human being, in many cases, a moral agent may *directly* perform something towards the dignity-bearer. However, sometimes we should perform something towards another person (or other people), in order to provide an opportunity by which the person (or people) can respect the dignity-bearer (i.e. *indirect respect*). For example, when a designer provides a private room for patients, he respects the dignity of the patients *directly*; but when he designs a proper environment for treatment, he has respected the dignity of patients indirectly. This is because such an environment gives an opportunity to the medical team so that *they* can enhance the capabilities of the patient.

Therefore, in order to respect the dignity of a person whose capabilities are (in danger of) falling below the thresholds, it is not always necessary that we are able to provide for those capabilities directly ourselves. If we can provide for or encourage others who can support those capabilities, we are respecting the dignity of that person, too. Thus, the hospital environment can support the capabilities of patients either by providing a condition or opportunities which can make up for the disabilities of patients (e.g. the example of the remote control for the patient's room), or by providing a proper condition which makes supporting possible (e.g. designing a suitable room for a confidential conversation between a patient and her physician).

Therefore, a properly designed hospital environment not only eases the process of care, but also facilitates the condition in which a patient can practice his own interests and capabilities. For this purpose, two central factors are needed: first we need to determine the basic entitlements of people in hospitals. Determining such entitlements, it will become clear which capabilities need to be supported in order to enable people to have a life commensurate with human dignity. I will pursue this aim in this chapter. In addition, designers need to know in which ways people may be harmed in hospitals so that they can take the appropriate elements and forms of design in their planning by which the risk of harm is reduced. In the next chapter, I will suggest three ethical principles for hospital designers which can highlight the ways that the level of human capabilities may become lower than the thresholds; and accordingly, the designers will be able to identify how to provide for those risky areas.

3.1.4.2. Institutions

As I said in the Kantian section, any right arising from human dignity implicitly defines people's responsibilities towards those rights. Thus, the list of basic entitlements actually highlighted the corresponding *responsibilities* of people towards each other. In the Capabilities Approach, the responsibility we owe to other people (i.e. to respect others) is to support each

other to secure, at least, the minimum level of these entitlements. Since Nussbaum's language in the Capabilities Approach gives precision to and supplements to the language of human rights (Nussbaum 2006: 284), it is able to describe people's obligations with practical criteria. This ability is suitable for studies that wish to use the concept of dignity in a practical context, such as this research (in comparison with Kantian dignity which is based on the abstract idea of the autonomy of the will).

Since Nussbaum's basic theme in her Capabilities Approach is to address social justice, she tries to take a more practical position in order to clarify how the Capabilities Approach can handle different related issues. For example, she develops her ideas towards animal rights and the corresponding responsibilities. Likewise, she expands her theory on the issues related to global justice. In terms of a just society, she particularly focuses on the responsibilities of *institutions* to citizens in providing for their basic entitlements. This aspect of Nussbaum's argument is considerable for the purposes of this research and I will discuss it shortly.

As was mentioned above, according to Kantian dignity human beings have ethical responsibilities towards each other. Nussbaum has the same idea; she believes that we all have collective ethical responsibilities in providing and supporting for human capabilities (Nussbaum 2006: 280). This responsibility is to secure the ten basic human entitlements at least to the thresholds level. Hence, the main concern of Nussbaum is to identify how people can be rescued from being *beneath* the thresholds. In this regard, she sees the role of *institutions* as essential. Nussbaum states that one of the purposes of social cooperation is to guarantee the basic entitlements of human beings by establishing principles and institutions (Nussbaum 2006: 274). Although it is ultimately human beings who should deliver their duties towards people's rights, Nussbaum counts four reasons to consider the crucial role of institutions (Nussbaum 2006: 307-309).

The first one is the fact that some human entitlements cannot be addressed individually, and need an institutional structure for their security (e.g. systems of property rights, or criminal justice). The second reason concerns fairness: without institutions and systems, one may pay a lot to enhance the level of capabilities of others up to the thresholds, while the others may not meet their responsibilities. This is not fair and may end up impoverishing the moral agent. Moreover, institutions have the causal power to handle some problems which are less likely to be dealt with by individuals, such as global warming. And finally, if an individual extensively attempts to provide for others, she may lose the sense of her own life (e.g. her personal integrity, her agency, her friendship and family).

By having the list of entitlements, and depending on which issue needs addressing, the relevant

responsible parties and institutions will be clear (Nussbaum 2006: 311). Nussbaum's approach towards the importance of institutions in addressing the entitlements of human beings is vital in the context of ethical hospital environments. Inspired by this approach, and by having a specified list of people's entitlements in hospitals, we can identify the ethical obligations of stakeholders.

Thus, even though Nussbaum develops her theory in the context of social justice, the same approach can be taken in this field, namely ethical hospital environment. Moreover, providing an ethical medical environment can be seen as part of the requirements of a just society, in which the dignity of people is essential. Therefore, the findings of her theory cannot be seen as entirely detached from the ethical concerns of my research. However, we need to be more specific when bringing Nussbaum's thoughts into the context of the hospital environment.

As was mentioned earlier⁵⁵, there are many parties who have a role (directly or indirectly) in shaping the hospital environment. From (perhaps) parliament, which dictates the general amount of funding needed to construct, rebuild, or maintain the hospitals of a nation, to engineers and architects who construct hospitals, to hospital managers and others who use the hospital environment to deliver their service to people. In providing a suitable hospital for people which fully supports the entitlements of patients and others, we need to identify the responsible parties for each aspect of the hospital. Therefore, after we specify the entitlements of human beings in terms of the hospital environment, we need to identify the responsibilities of both institutions and individuals (particularly individuals working as 'professionals' - such as architects, engineers, interior designers and the like).

Obviously, the kind of responsibilities of each party will differ accordingly. For example, we expect the healthcare organisations of a country (e.g. the NHS) to define and control sets of regulations and standards which are needed in order to ensure a suitably designed hospital. Correspondingly, the responsibilities of architects, for instance, would be to design according to the general requirements of a hospital alongside the specific requirements of that hospital. In addition to the defined obligations by institutions, professionals also need to consider their own particular responsibilities related to their specific job. A hospital manager, for instance, may find some ethical requirements of people which had not been predicted in regulations, and thus, have not been provided for. Therefore, in addition to informing the relevant people of the need for a change in the hospital's standards, she may strive to arrange the available spaces in the hospital in such a way so as to minimise the potential harm of such an

⁵⁵ See section 3.1.3.1.

environmental deficiency.

For example, if there were no suggestion in the standards of hospital design to provide for the communication between a patient and her relatives, architects may fail (or forget) to consider such spaces in the hospital. Practically finding such deficiency, the hospital manager may ask an interior designer to see how they can re-design some areas of the hospital so as to provide for a suitable environment for communication.

All in all, according to Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach we have collective responsibilities to provide ethical hospital environments. In the context of hospital design, the responsible parties can (mainly) be found among the relevant institutions as well as professionals. In this light, I am going to consider how the concept of dignity is seen among those who have a role in shaping the hospital environment. I will then consider how a tailor-made list of the environmental entitlements of human beings can enhance our understanding of the corresponding responsibilities towards hospital users.

The list of the environmental entitlements of human beings in hospitals illustrates the corresponding responsibilities of hospital designers. Having such a list, hospital designers would be responsible for designing a hospital environment wherein the practice of human capabilities is facilitated. In the next chapter, I will focus specifically on the responsibilities of hospital designers. As a facility, the hospital environment can positively or negatively affect the ability of its users. In this regard, designers need some principles which highlight the main ways in which the capabilities of people may be harmed in hospitals. Such principles can be considered as the main ethical principles by which designers can provide for the capabilities of hospital users. However, before I start to explore the implications of the Capabilities Approach in hospitals, it is worth investigating how the other important implication of human dignity (i.e. equality) is considered in Nussbaum's theory.

3.1.5. Equality

3.1.5.1. Equal Dignity of Hospital Users

Similar to Kant, Nussbaum believes in *equal respect* for all citizens (Nussbaum 2006: 207): human beings are equal in their value and, therefore, should be equally respected. In the Capabilities Approach, this indicates that all human beings are *equally* entitled to enjoy a

condition in which their capabilities are empowered at least to the threshold level. In such entitlements, there is no difference between human beings. As far as a person cannot practice one of her basic capabilities, she is entitled to be sufficiently supported.

Bringing this point into the context of the hospital environment, a suitably designed hospital is one wherein those whose capability levels are beneath the thresholds are equally entitled to support. Obviously, patients are the main target of such an environment. This is because they are seemingly more vulnerable than others, and need the help of others to regain their normal conditions. However, the fact is that almost everybody in a hospital is at risk of losing their ability to secure, or their concentration on, their dignity and entitlements. Since all human beings are equal in their rights, the hospital environment should not solely enhance the capabilities of patients; it should also be supportive for all other human beings in hospitals who are (in danger of) falling below the thresholds in any of their capabilities.

Accordingly, a moral designer should take the capabilities of all hospital users into account, and try to discover how their capabilities may be harmed in the hospital environment. For example, a designer should notice that doctors and nurses have difficult and stressful jobs. Thus, they need a suitable area in which they can rest for a while so that they can be refreshed and ready to continue their work. Similarly, the mother of a sick child may desire to stay with her child in hospital. A hospital designer should then predict the need for an appropriate environment for mothers in children hospitals so that they can remain with their child.

All in all, what should matter for a designer is the need to enhance (or protect) the level of people's capabilities which may be (or become) beneath the thresholds. In this regard, *all of those who use the hospital environment* should be counted. Of course, patients in hospitals are expected to be more vulnerable than other parties and, accordingly, they need more consideration. However, this fact does not undermine the importance of supporting the other human beings in hospitals. Up until now, I have been talking about the dignity and rights of patients in hospitals. Having explained the equal importance of the dignity of all human beings, I will from now on concentrate on the capabilities of everybody in the hospital environment. Consequently, the ethical principles defined in the next chapter target the dignity of all hospital users.

3.1.5.2. Equality in Adequacy

As a theorist of social justice, what is essential for Nussbaum is not the bare concept of dignity, but rather *equal* dignity:

Equality of capability is an essential social goal where its absence would be connected with a deficit in dignity and self-respect. We have seen the idea of dignity is spelled out from the beginning in terms of equality: it is the *equal dignity* of human beings that demands recognition. Here the idea of equality is essential: we must add it to the bare idea of dignity in order to articulate the goal in an adequate way (Nussbaum 2006: 292, emphasis is in original).

However, Nussbaum faces a challenge that she tries to handle: on the one hand, as quoted above, her emphasis is on 'equal' dignity. She also insists that capabilities are intertwined with dignity. Accordingly, we can infer that the sense of equality should be applicable to all capabilities. On the other hand, however, it does not seem correct to claim that we have a responsibility to equally provide for all entitlements. Nussbaum divides capabilities into two categories. For some capabilities such as "political, religious, and civil liberties" equality is applicable: discrimination in these capabilities would be against a dignified life. But for some other capabilities (mostly those which are related to property and instrumental goods), it seems that human dignity only conveys a sense of "enough" rather than equality (e.g. providing a threshold of adequate housing or shelter, rather than equal housing)⁵⁶.

The problem that I find in Nussbaum's arguments is that it seems as though she thinks that in order to justify this sense of adequacy she has to deny the "intrinsic relationship" between some capabilities and dignity (Nussbaum 2006: 382); a claim which is contrary to her previous position – i.e. that capabilities are intertwined with dignity (Nussbaum 2006: 162). Nussbaum holds that the concept of dignity is important when the notion of equal respect⁵⁷ is relevant. In this regard, Nussbaum claims that the conception of equality is pertinent to cases related to non-humiliation and reciprocity (Nussbaum 2006: 382). In my view, this explanation not only fails to address the main question mentioned above (i.e. denying the intrinsic relationship between dignity and some capabilities yet emphasising that dignity is intertwined with capabilities), it is also not even correct.

For example, segregation is one of the essential patient's entitlements which is related to rights

⁵⁶ There are many arguments in the literature concerned with the concept of 'adequacy' and 'sufficiency' and the way they should be applied in the Capabilities Approach, which we do not have enough space in this thesis to explore. For more arguments see, for example, Nielsen & Axelsen (2017), Schuppert (2014), Ram-Tiktin (2011). In this section, I will only address Nussbaum's own arguments.

⁵⁷ The notion of respect for human beings Nussbaum uses in this case, however, does not have the same sense of Kantian dignity (as the responsibility of human beings towards others) in this case; it rather should be equated with the concept of honour: to honour human beings.

concerning non-humiliation. However, for this requirement, we seek an 'adequate' condition of segregation, rather than an 'equal' condition. Overall, I think, Nussbaum does not properly explain the relation between dignity, equality, and adequacy. Still, I think this challenge can be addressed within the framework of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach by considering some vital points.

It seems that Nussbaum needs to clarify the two distinct senses of dignity as value and dignity as decency⁵⁸. When we are generally talking about the value of human beings it is similar to the Kantian meaning of dignity. In this sense human beings are equally valuable; this is the sense of dignity which Nussbaum *begins* her theory with. In Nussbaum's account of dignity, as mentioned before, human beings have value (i.e. dignity) because of their capacities to flourish and engage in various activities. Accordingly, when Nussbaum is addressing the general conception of human flourishing she is mostly concerned with human value. The equality of human beings is applicable in this sense, as it similarly is for Kantian dignity.

However, when Nussbaum intends to highlight human entitlements and a decent life, she mostly refers to the conception of dignity as decency. This sense of dignity deals with the quality of life. Arguments about the application of equality and adequacy are mostly related to this area (i.e. dignity as decency). The concept of dignity as value considers the value and relations between human beings, in which the concept of equality indicates that all human beings have the same and equal value. The concept of dignity as decency mainly refers to the entitlements of each individual and, therefore, what matters are the adequate goods and opportunities of *an individual*.

The concept of equality in the notion of dignity as decency, thus, is not about the equal value of human beings (even though it is rooted in that sense). Equality in capabilities, in this sense, rather refers to those aspects of capabilities that are related to other people, such as equality in defining the thresholds of the capabilities. In this light, for dignity as decency we need both concepts of 'equality' and 'adequacy' for all capabilities.

On the one hand, there is no need to limit the concept of thresholds to only certain entitlements (e.g. housing and shelter). The whole idea of the Capabilities Approach is that there are certain central entitlements that everybody should be able to enjoy, at least up to a minimum level (i.e. thresholds of capabilities), in order to have a life with dignity. Therefore, since we determine such thresholds (i.e. minimum levels) for all capabilities, we have already accepted

⁵⁸ To read discussions of the distinction between dignity as value and decency, see section 2.5.5 and 2.5.7.

a sense of adequacy for all capabilities. In terms of freedom of speech, for example, which in Nussbaum's view should be classified in the group of equality-applicable capabilities, we still need to determine an adequate level of access to the media or other tools so as to ensure that everybody is heard, for instance.

On the other hand, however, the concept of equality should be applied to *all* capabilities. As was said above, we need to determine an adequate level for each capability. We should also bear in mind that the Capabilities Approach is mainly about providing opportunities and giving the chance to people to practice and flourish in their capabilities. Respecting equal dignity, then, requires that everybody should be able to enjoy a minimum level of those opportunities *equally*. This means that people have an equal right to be provided for and to be supported up to the 'adequate' (i.e. minimum) level of each capability. Respecting dignity on the basis of its being equal, hence, does not necessarily mean that equality for all capabilities should be the goal of a society; rather there should be equal provision for the 'adequate' level of opportunities for each capability.

Therefore, in my opinion, equality can function as a condition for determining the thresholds of capabilities: we can adjust the level of thresholds according to the idea of giving equal opportunities to all people. For example, Nussbaum, in the case of education, states that "precisely where the line should go as to the level of education that should be provided free of charge by the state may vary somewhat in accordance with the type of economy and employment in a state, although the level should not vary as much as levels do in reality" (Nussbaum 2006: 180). In this instance, Nussbaum predicts that the economy and the type of employment may determine where the thresholds should be. However, in my point of view, if it is the economy (or any other factors) which is to determine the minimum level then the role of 'equality' is to suggest that such a level should be considered in a way that can provide an *equal* opportunity for education for all members of that society. This is what I meant by *equality in adequacy* in the title of this section.

It should also be noted that Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach does not have any suggestion for the sense of equality above the thresholds of capabilities:

Up until now, however, the approach has insisted only on idea of adequacy or sufficiency, and has stated that the question of what to do with inequalities above this minimum threshold is a further question that the approach has not yet answered (Nussbaum 2006: 292).

It is also important to note that in the concept of 'equality in adequacy', the term of equality does not necessarily refer to a quantitative equality; it can also be considered as a qualitative

equality. What is emphasised in Nussbaum's theory is the need to identify a level of ability which represents a decent life for human beings (dignity as decency). However, saying that people are equally entitled to have a decent house, for example, does not necessarily mean that they should all have an equally sized house.

The spaces and facilities a disabled person needs in her house might be different from the needs of an athlete. Similarly, we should remember that when we are talking about the need for private areas in hospitals, in a general sense, this means that all people who stay in hospitals have a need for such spaces. But in specific cases, it is essential to consider that in NICU, for example, this private area should be defined as a space for a mother who sits next to the incubator of her child, which is very different from the privacy in a mental hospital, for example.

The above explanation illustrates the importance of the concept of 'thresholds' and 'adequacy' in the context of hospital environment and design. This is because a hospital is a facility and its main purpose is to provide adequate (and not necessarily equal) tools and appropriate conditions in which medical teams can treat their patients. As Ram-Tiktin states: "a just distribution of goods [e.g. medical care resources] is one that assures that everyone attains the sufficiency threshold of basic human functional capabilities, to the extent possible" (Ram-Tiktin 2011 :24). Therefore, what is essential in hospitals is to have appropriately designed environments which *adequately* facilitate the healthcare service. In the next chapter, I will explain how the concept of thresholds can help me to define the ethical principles for hospital design.

3.2. Why the Capabilities Approach?

Thus far, I have attempted to elaborate on the concept of human dignity and its implications through Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach; a theory that I think can lead us to identify an ethical approach to hospital design. Among my arguments concerning the Capabilities Approach in both the current and previous chapters, I mentioned the advantages of the Capabilities Approach for the purposes of this thesis. Here, I would like to render a summary of those advantages which caused me to select this theory as the leading idea in identifying the ethical method of hospital design.

3.2.1. The Value of Flourishing and the Vulnerability of Humans

The main reason for choosing the Capabilities Approach is related to the main theme of this theory. As mentioned before, Kantian dignity places value on rationality: the characteristic of human beings which cannot be affected by external causes. This idea cannot inspire hospital designers who are providing an environment for people with extreme vulnerability and dependency on others. In contrast, Nussbaum's Aristotelian-Marxian conception of dignity is in the same direction which a moral designer needs. Firstly, it emphasises that what is valuable in human beings are their capabilities to flourish. As a result, to respect the dignity of human beings we need to provide conditions in which they can pursue their interests and striving activities.

Secondly, it insists that human beings have an embodied nature and a range of stages in their life from weakness to strength, and then vice versa (i.e. beginning as a baby, then becoming an adult, and finally - if sufficiently lucky - becoming old). In some of these stages we are more vulnerable than in others; however, in all of these stages humans, as social beings, need others to shape their sense of life, a life which should be compatible with the dignity of human beings. People in hospitals, and particularly patients, are vulnerable and this means that their capabilities need to be developed or at least protected. This is exactly what hospital designers should consider in their designing and this is exactly what the Capabilities Approach asks one to do. What we expect from a moral designer is that they create a hospital environment in such a way so as to ensure that support for the capabilities of people is sufficiently facilitated. Hospitals as facilities can undoubtedly play a key role in providing for the support of people in hospitals. Consequently, the general theme of the Capabilities Approach is in the service of a moral design.

3.2.2. Dignity as Decency

In addition to the Kantian meaning of dignity as value, as mentioned before, the concept of human dignity for Nussbaum has another meaning. In this meaning, dignity highlights a sense of a 'decent life'. Although Nussbaum herself does not explain this meaning of dignity, she links the term of dignity to a minimum quality of a dignified life. This conception of dignity can help to bring an abstract Kantian sense of dignity as value to the more concrete notion of a 'decent life'. The concept of a decent life highlights the importance of the quality of human life, which is a more inspiring general idea for designers, rather than merely saying that human beings have valuable status. This idea is completed by Nussbaum in her providing a list of entitlements which can be considered as a description of a 'decent life'. Overall, utilising the concept of dignity with the conception of a 'decent life' makes her account of dignity more

motivating for designers than the abstract Kantian sense of dignity as value.

3.2.3. A Non-Metaphysical Sense of Dignity

I hope that what I will suggest as the ethical method of design will be acceptable for the majority of designers. I need to establish the foundation of this method on a notion which is accepted by people from various perspectives and backgrounds. The concept of human dignity is the basis of the Capabilities Approach. I think the concept of dignity has such a capacity. This can be seen in the broad references to human dignity in the international and regional declarations and conventions, as well as national legal systems. The International Declaration of Human Rights (UN 1948) as a milestone document is an example of the universal concern for dignity. The Preamble of the Declaration, for instance, emphasises inherent dignity as one of "the foundations of freedom, justice and peace in the world", and its article 1 states the belief that human beings are free and equal in dignity. While this Declaration acknowledges the importance of dignity, the fact that the Declaration is accepted by countries across the world with diverse cultures, religions and beliefs demonstrates that dignity is held to be a global and fundamental principle.

Human dignity plays a particularly essential role in bioethical international instruments. UNESCO is the vanguard in this regard. In its Bioethics Programme, UNESCO aimed to set ethical standards in bioethics. As a result of attempting to provide such standards, the Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights in 1997 (UNESCO, 1997), and subsequently, the International Declaration on Human Genetic Data in 2003 (UNESCO, 2003), and the Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights in 2005 (UNESCO, 2005) were adopted. In all these documents, the concept of dignity has a basic status⁵⁹. In all these documents the concept of dignity has a basic status⁵⁹. In all these documents, but it has also been reflected in some national legal

⁵⁹ Also see the role of human dignity in regional bioethical documents, such as Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine (Council of Europe, 1999), the Additional Protocol to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine on the Prohibition of Cloning Human Beings, (Council of Europe, 2001), the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine concerning Transplantation of Organs and Tissues of Human Origin (Council of Europe, 2006), the Additional Protocol to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine, concerning Biomedical Research, (Council of Europe, 2007), and Additional Protocol to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine, concerning Genetic Testing for Health Purposes (Council of Europe, 2008).

systems. For example, the Republic of South Africa in its constitution (South Africa, 1996) names dignity as the first value of the country. Article 10, in particular, explains the value of dignity in that country: "Everyone has inherent dignity and the right to have their dignity respected and protected"⁶⁰.

The concept of human dignity has the capacity to be seen as a global concern. This adds convincing support to my suggested ethical principles which are based on a concept of dignity as given by the Capabilities Approach. It might be argued that the reason for such global agreement on the concept of human dignity is because of its vagueness. While I accept that the concept of human dignity has a level of ambiguity, I tried to lessen this ambiguity by considering it within the framework of the Capabilities Approach. The meaning of dignity in this regard, as a 'decent life', although still somewhat vague gives a more concrete sense to this notion, as it is about an acceptable quality of life. This sense provides a more practical feature by connecting the notion to the list of the central entitlements of human beings. By employing the sense of dignity as found in the practical theory of the Capabilities Approach, I hope to reduce its vagueness for hospital designers. The non-metaphysical nature of Nussbaum's notion of dignity is essential in this regard.

Given that reaching an 'overall consensus' is essential for Nussbaum, she tries to give a nonmetaphysical understanding of the concept of dignity, so that people with different doctrines and religions can accept it. In a similar way, since my suggested ethical principles of hospital design are based on such a non-metaphysical sense of human dignity, I hope that the ethical principles will be acceptable for people with different culture, beliefs, and backgrounds.

3.2.4. The Problem of Marginal Cases

As was explained in section 2.6.1., one of the main concerns of Nussbaum is impairments and marginal cases; people who are not fully moral and rational agents and who are, therefore, not considered dignity-bearers in the Kantian account of dignity. The Capabilities Approach considers them valuable according to its general theory of human dignity. This point is important for hospital designers who have to provide a suitable environment in mental hospitals. (The condition of losing rationality, in some interpretations, can be applicable to those who temporarily lose their autonomy. In this sense, the problem of marginal cases would

⁶⁰ Also see the the constitution of Germany in which dignity has been named in the chapter of Basic Rights (Germany: article 1, 1).

be relevant for almost all cases of hospital design.)

3.2.5. Capabilities, rather than Functioning

What is important for Nussbaum is a focus on capabilities, rather than functioning. In other words, our responsibility is to provide sufficient opportunities and facilities for the dignitybearers so that they can practice their capabilities. However, it is for them to decide whether or not they wish to practice their capabilities. This approach has a deep compatibility with the nature of hospitals as facilities. Hospitals are basically facilities, which means they provide opportunities. As the whole idea of the Capabilities Approach is based on the assumption that we should provide for opportunities, it is exactly defined in the way that hospitals functions.

3.2.6. Institutional-Oriented Theory

Nussbaum insists on the role of institutions in advancing the ideas of the Capabilities Approach in a just society. In other words, she emphasises the responsibilities of people in the forms of institutions and legal systems. Although in this thesis I am looking for the ethical responsibilities of designers, I will offer a two-faceted method for hospital design: one part of it is related to designers, as I will address in the next chapter. However, the other part of this method of design concerns human entitlements in hospitals. I think the role of institutions regarding the entitlements of human beings in hospitals is central. This is due to the fact that in order to recognise the entitlements of people in hospitals it is necessary to consider the discussions and findings of many different disciplines (e.g. design and architecture, medicine, ethics, social science, etc.). In this regard, we need responsible institutions that can gather the information from all of these different disciplines and design a programme upon which the relevant arguments can proceed. I will explain more about the role of institutions in enhancing the ethical method of design in the present chapter⁶¹.

3.2.7. The List of Entitlements; A Practical Approach

Nussbaum's strategy of introducing a list of basic entitlements for human beings is another vital advantage of the Capabilities Approach. As was mentioned in section 3.1.3.2., after

⁶¹ See section 3.5.

linking the sources of human dignity to capabilities, Nussbaum advanced her arguments by rendering a list of ten basic entitlements. This list of capabilities gives a more concrete sense to both the notions of human dignity and rights, in which the central aspects of human life are specified. It is particularly important that Nussbaum clearly introduces ten capabilities and their definitions as the basic entitlements of human beings, as this provides a more understandable conception of patients' dignity and rights for designers. In other words, by having such a list of entitlements, designers will have a more transparent understanding of the concept of patients' rights as reflected in the relevant documents. This could depict more practical features of the concept of human dignity; a notion which seems abstract and difficult to link to the embodied aspects of human beings. Adopting Nussbaum's list, I will render a specified list of the environmental entitlements of people in hospitals in the present chapter⁶².

3.2.8. The List of Entitlements; Open-Ended

As mentioned before, Nussbaum proposes her list of capabilities as open-ended and subject to change:

The list of features we get if we reflect in this way is, and should be, open-ended. For we want to allow the possibility that we will learn from other societies to recognize things about ourselves that we had not seen before (Nussbaum 1993: S55).

The flexibility of the list presents an opportunity for us to bring the list into the context of hospital design. In this regard, I will suggest a list of central entitlements of people in hospitals, which will be a specified version of the Capabilities Approach tailored for the environmental purposes of hospitals. This advantage of Nussbaum's theory facilitates the identification of a suitable method of hospital design; a method which I will call the 'Dignity Approach'.

3.2.9. The List of Entitlements; Generality

As was mentioned earlier, Nussbaum has tried to design her list in a general way so that an 'overlapping consensus' is possible. The generality of the list of entitlements is essential for designers. Although designers provide hospitals which are platforms for medical services, the field of design itself is related to 'art'. As an artist, designers should be flexible in selecting the appropriate elements, technologies, methods and forms of design. If they are limited, by

⁶² See section 3.5.

being forced to use some certain elements or forms of design, they will lose their sense of flexibility and creativity. It may cause them to be unable to incorporate all of the requirements (including ethical entitlements) in their hospital design⁶³. The generality of Nussbaum's list of entitlements is important in this respect in that it directs designers to the main requirements of hospital users, but keeps them flexible in choosing the most appropriate elements of design to address those entitlements.

3.2.10. The List of Entitlements: No Trade-Off

Nussbaum believes that all human capabilities are worthy and need to be supported. This implies that we should not trade-off between human entitlements (Nussbaum 2006: 166). The list of human entitlements should be seen as a whole, and they should be coherently provided for. Therefore, if there is a conflict between the entitlements of human beings, this signifies that the list of entitlements and the defined threshold levels of basic entitlements are not set rightly, and hence, that they should be redesigned. Despite this suggestion, Nussbaum believes that if a situation arises in which it is not possible to support all capabilities, it would be purely a practical question what to do next; in terms of justice we can just say "justice has not been fully done here" (Nussbaum 2006: 175).

However, the fact is that in practical cases sometimes we need to decide between some entitlements. Nussbaum herself challenges this notion of a trade-off when she tries to address conflicts between the well-being of animals and the well-being of humans (Nussbaum 2006: 402). Particularly in the case of killing animals to provide human food, or in the case of using animals for research, she endeavours to give some practical solutions. For example, for the case of killing animals for meat, while she accepts that at the moment we cannot eliminate the need for meat, for the time being she suggests the good treatment of animals during their life, and a painless killing (Nussbaum 2006: 402). This indicates that Nussbaum herself has faced the challenge of conflict between entitlements, despite her general position of rejecting trade-offs. Perhaps it is unavoidable for Nussbaum to have to *decide* between entitlements in practical cases, because of her subjects of study – e.g. justice, animal rights, etc. However, in my view, designers *can* avoid making trade-offs.

It is worth noting that there is a considerable difference between the objects of Nussbaum's theory (i.e. humans and animals) and the objects of hospital designers (i.e. hospitals). Humans and animals are (generally speaking) unchangeable subjects. In contrast, designers *create* their

⁶³ I will talk about creativity and incorporation in the field of design in the next chapter, section 4.7.2.

own subject (i.e. hospitals). They can select between elements, materials, technologies, and forms of design in order to *incorporate* all ethical requirements, rather than deciding between them. Therefore, the cases in which designers cannot incorporate all requirements are rare⁶⁴. Hence, designers *can* avoid making trade-offs between entitlements. Thus, the position of Nussbaum in rejecting trade-offs can be considerably inspiring for designers as it highlights the importance of the fact that every single human entitlement matters. As designers can incorporate all requirements, they must do so; this conception is the essence of the notion of 'no trade-offs'. This is another vital feature of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach which encourages us to select her theory as the appropriate theory for considering the ethical concerns of hospital designers.

In summary, I listed the ten features of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach which, in my view, make this theory suitable for hospital designers. In addition to noting the compatibility of this theory with hospital design, I will identify the three ethical principles of hospital design based on some of the central notions of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. In fact, the method of design that I will explain in this thesis is established on the basis of Nussbaum's theory. It is worth mentioning again that this is my suggestion for an ethical approach in hospital designing. Others may suggest other strategies to deal with this issue, or find ethical principles for hospital designers by using other theories. Therefore, my claim is not that Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach is the *only* theory which is suitable for this purpose. However, given the advantages of this thesis identified above, and given that I will identify the ethical principles of design by using this theory, I think it is justifiable to choose this theory to direct the arguments of this thesis.

3.3. Ethical Hospitals in NHS Documents

Thus far, I have tried to develop the main ethical arguments in the context of the hospital environment, with a focus on the notion of human dignity, and the subsequent entitlements. I endeavoured to develop these notions by investigating and providing arguments about them as found in the Capabilities Approach. We now have a list of basic entitlements, suggested by Nussbaum, which can be considered as the benchmark of a dignified life. To bring this list into the context of the hospital environment, however, we need to see what ethical requirements are essential in the context of hospital environments and then reflect those requirements in Nussbaum's list of entitlements. In this way we can have a list of basic

⁶⁴ I will expand this argument in the next chapter, section 4.7.2.

entitlements which is specified for the hospital environment. Such a list of entitlements is one part of my dual-faceted design approach which will be completed with the three ethical principles in the next chapter.

As mentioned above, many disciplines and fields of study can offer suggestions to improve a specified list of the environmental entitlements of people in hospitals. However, since in this research I am focussing on the theoretical aspects of the ethical method of hospital design, I will only suggest an initial list of entitlements by considering two kinds of resources. This means that this initial list should be considered a starting idea that can be enhanced by incorporating the considerations and findings of other disciplines or documents. The first resource for modifying Nussbaum's list is the relevant documents of the healthcare services. This is because we can usually find some reflections of the practical experience of medical professionals in such documents. For this purpose, I will investigate the Health Building Notes (HBNs) published by the NHS (the UK's National Healthcare System).

As will be explored, the NHS gives considerable reflection to the non-medical requirements of people in hospitals, which makes it a suitable study case. It is worth emphasising that my study on HBNs is only a *sample* study, through which I hope to find some ideas concerning the practical findings in hospitals. I admit that some other references might be suggested with further ideas for modifying the specified list of entitlements, and these should be welcomed. As my aim is to give some general directions about the ways in which the list of entitlements can be specified for the context of the hospital environment, I think concentrating on the NHS's document is sufficient for this aim. This is because the NHS provides good reference to the non-medical requirements of people in the HBNs.

The next source of study in specifying the list of entitlements is the empirical findings reflected in scientific articles. Studies have shown that the environments of hospitals can affect the condition of people in hospitals. Therefore, we can consider the findings of those studies in the list of entitlements. For this purpose, I will consider a literature review in which those findings are explored. And finally, after considering the NHS documents and these scientific findings, I will offer an initial list of the environmental entitlements of people in hospitals. As mentioned earlier, this list can be improved upon by considering the findings and arguments of other disciplines, as well as by taking into account the concerns of other healthcare systems.

3.3.1. Dignity in the NHS Documents

In this section I am going to explore the documents of the healthcare system of the UK as a

sample investigation in order to see how the ethical requirements of people are reflected in such documents. In this case study, I will consider how the notion of dignity in these documents is linked to the suitable environment of hospitals. And then I will focus on the specific documents of the NHS (i.e. HBNs) in which there are some signals of the non-medical expectations of hospital environments. The National Health Service (NHS) in the UK started in 1948 after the Second World War due to the subsequent feeling of the need for a reconstruction of the country. Recognition of healthcare as a human right, rather than something which should be provided in the form of a charity system, was one of the leading reasons for the establishment of the NHS in the UK⁶⁵. The NHS was based on three central principles: universality (i.e. to provide a service with at least the minimum standards all over the nation), comprehensiveness (i.e. to support for all health services required), and free delivery based on the need of people rather than their ability to pay (Talbot–Smith, Pollock et al. 2006: 2).

It is also worth noting that the NHS is one of the best healthcare systems in the world. Davis and his colleagues in their report in 2014 assessed the performance of 11 wealthy countries including Australia, Canada, France, Germany, the Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, the United Kingdom, and the United States. In this survey, the UK's healthcare system was ranked top among these 11 nations. The criteria used in this ranking were quality of care (including effective care, safe care, coordinated care, patient–centred care), access (including cost–related problems and timeliness of care), efficiency, equity, healthy lives (Davis, Stremikis et al. 2014).

The NHS is also famous for its financial system. The NHS has a responsibility to provide free public healthcare service for the UK's citizens. Apart from some healthcare services such as pharmaceuticals, and dental and ophthalmic treatment, for which many people pay directly to the health providers, funding for the NHS is mostly provided for through general taxation (Marshall, Charlesworth et al. 2014: 12, NHS England 2014). As the basis of the Capabilities Approach is the notion of human dignity, it is worth exploring the general status of human dignity from the NHS perspective. The NHS Constitution for England is a suitable instance in which the principles and values of the NHS in England is established. It also defines the rights and responsibilities of patients, public and staff as well as the pledges which the NHS is committed to achieve (Department of Health 2015: 3 - 4)⁶⁶. The NHS Constitution was first

⁶⁵ For more information about the history of NHS and hospitals in the UK see *Rivett (1986), Webster (2002), Ranade (1997: 1 – 23).*

⁶⁶ The NHS has published a handbook of the Constitution in order to provide all of the information that people need about the NHS Constitution for England (Department of Health 2015: 2). Since this

published in 2009. Afterwards, it was revised four times with the last one released in 2015 (Department of Health 2015: 10 - 12). According to this Constitution, 'respect and dignity' is one of the focal values of the NHS:

Every individual who comes into contact with the NHS and organisations providing health services should always be treated with respect and dignity, regardless of whether they are a patient, carer or member of staff. This value seeks to ensure that organisations value and respect different needs, aspirations and priorities and take them into account when designing and delivering services. The NHS aims to foster a spirit of candour and a culture of humility, openness and honesty, where staff communicate clearly and openly with patients, relatives and carers (Department of Health 2015: 13).

The first point in this statement of values is that everybody who makes contact with the NHS should be treated with respect. The physical environment of hospitals is undoubtedly a crucial ground for such respectful connection. Therefore, the hospital environment should be considered as a contributor of this value. It also emphasises that the respect should take place during "designing and delivering services." Providing the physical environment of hospitals should be seen as an essential part of both designing and delivering the services of the NHS. Therefore, if the dignity of people should be respected even in the designing part of the service of the NHS, then ethical issues in hospital design and construction should be taken into account as a reflection of this value of the NHS with regards to the healthcare environment. The NHS also has another central value, 'Compassion', which is described as follows:

Compassionate care ties closely with respect and dignity in that individual patients, carers and relatives must be treated with sensitivity and kindness. The business of the NHS extends beyond providing clinical care and includes alleviating pain, distress and making people feel valued and that their concerns are important (Department of Health 2015).

According to this value, merely healing people is not the only concern of the NHS; it also worries about the quality of care and the conditions of the people who use its services. This value is applicable to the physical environment of hospitals. This is because friendly personal behaviour is not the only way people can feel the sense of kindness and care; the hospital environment has an essential role in conveying this sense to people as well. People should feel

handbook explains the Constitution in more detail, in this part I am going to refer to the handbook, rather than the main Constitution.

that the design of the hospital is delightful, and that its designers were sensitive about their concerns and entitlements. Moreover, the second sentence points to a crucial issue in stating that the NHS should not only provide for clinical care, but should also strive to reduce people's pain and distress. As will be mentioned below⁶⁷, a vast body of research emphasises that the design of a hospital can reduce the pain and suffering of the patients.

Thus, hospital design should be considered a tool with which the NHS can meet the standards of this value. Merely considering these two values of the NHS – namely 'dignity and respect' and 'compassion' – is sufficient to conclude that human dignity is one of the central concerns of the NHS. However, the meaning of dignity in this document does not seem to be adequately clear or instructive for designers. The NHS Constitution for England, on page 53, has established a right of being treated with dignity and respect, in which it endeavours to define dignity and respect:

The right to dignity includes a right not to be subjected to inhuman or degrading treatment. The right to respect includes the right to respect for private and family life.

This right has broad meaning, but for the NHS your care, where possible, should be provided in a way that enables you to be treated with dignity and respect (Department of Health 2015: 53).

The apparent sense of dignity defined in this quotation is less relevant to the hospital environment. It seems instead to be about the ways in which medical staff should behave towards their patients. The concept of respect, however, seems to require more in relation to environmental issues, i.e. to provide private areas for patients as well as suitable spaces for being with their families. However, these definitions are not compatible with the aforementioned philosophical accounts of dignity and respect (both accounts of dignity provided by Kant and Nussbaum). As I explained earlier, Nussbaum depicts a wide range of implications for the concept of dignity and respect (i.e. the list of basic entitlements). Moreover, the meaning of dignity as a decent life, and respect as providing for the entitlements of people in hospitals, has much more directive sense than what the NHS suggests. Therefore, it seems a Nussbaumian perspective on the notions of dignity and respect is more illustrative for designers when identifying their ethical responsibilities than what they may understand from such documents.

The constitution, however, determines a right which is more directly related to the environmental aspects of hospitals, which is the right "to be cared for in a clean, safe, secure

⁶⁷ See section 3.4.

and suitable environment" (Department of Health 2015: 40). This right is considered not only for patients, but also staff, visitors and other NHS service users:

The quality, design and general upkeep of healthcare premises has a material impact on the health and wellbeing of those using them. Those providing your care and treatment must take reasonable steps to ensure it is delivered in appropriate premises with adequate equipment (Department of Health 2015: 40).

Therefore, the "appropriate" environment is a concern for the NHS. However, it seems these environmental concerns of the NHS are reflected in an unclear and scattered manner in the constitution; they are not detailed in a way that a designer can transparently discover the relevant elements and forms of design. Nevertheless, this does underscore the importance of people's dignity and rights for this healthcare provider. To have more specific regulations for the condition of a healthcare building, however, the NHS has provided a set of guidelines on the design and planning of hospitals. By considering these guidelines we can find some points concerning the practical experiences of people and staff in hospitals which can be addressed and facilitated by environmental means.

3.3.2. The Health Building Notes (HBNs)

The Health Building Notes (HBNs) as "key documents" and "national best–practice guidance" are provided by the Department of Health to direct the design and planning of new healthcare buildings as well as developments of existing facilities. HBNs are provided on 17 major topics, all of them organised under the considerations of the main issues in design and buildings addressed in the Health Building Note 00–01 (Department of Health 2014). As the ethical requirements of people are mainly reflected in this document, I will concentrate on HBN 00–01 to discuss the practical concerns of hospital environments.

In the Policy and Regulatory part of this HBN, one of the main aims of HBNs is to "promote the design of healthcare facilities with regard to the safety, privacy and dignity of patients, staff and visitors" (Department of Health 2014: 6). However, it is important to see how the concept of dignity is considered in this document and how it guides regulations. In part three of this HBN, 'Building Design', there is the 'Privacy and Dignity' subsection which addresses some patients' concerns in hospitals. A few issues are noted in this subsection, such as the importance of same–sex accommodation in hospitals, taking account of patients' cultures and preferences and the like. Giving such practical instances, the HBN shows that it is able to deal with some ethical dilemmas related to the hospital environment.

The value of people who use hospitals is also considered in other subsections, even though it is not classified in terms of human dignity. The next subsection, entitled "Inclusivity", emphasises that "design should be responsive, taking account of what people need and want [...]" (Department of Health 2014: 23). In other pages, it claims that concentrating on the needs and activities of patients, staff and others in hospital design would be more beneficial than beginning with the function of rooms (Department of Health 2014: 27). Accordingly, the HBN expects the voice of the patients and the public to be heard from the very beginning of the process of planning (Department of Health 2014: 9).

As well as giving due note to the importance of responding to users' opinions when engaged in hospital design, this HBN also attempts to address some particular functions of the hospital environment that should be recognised by designers as well as hospital commissioners. For example, it depicts "reconciling the need for patient safety, effectiveness and efficiency and the need for creating a truly therapeutic environment" as the main problem which commissioners, regulators and providers of healthcare buildings have to deal with (Department of Health 2014: v). Therapeutic design, which is highlighted in the HBN, can actively contribute to the healing of patients in hospitals - which I believe is part of the ethical duties of designers towards patients:

Healthcare facilities should provide a therapeutic environment in which the overall design of the building contributes to the process of healing and reduces the risk of healthcare–associated infections rather than simply being a place where treatment takes place (Department of Health 2014: vi).

Accordingly, the Department of Health recommends the Evidence–Based Design approach as a method of healing design as well as a suitable way to save time and costs⁶⁸ (Department of Health 2014: 6).

Based on these expectations of the conditions of a hospital environment, many instances are explained by the HBN to ensure that the needs of people in hospital are addressed sufficiently. For example, the necessity of providing a private environment for patients and their family, the ability of people to have control over their environments, flexible design for persons with different perspectives, religions, race, gender, etc., providing suitable spaces for families to remain in hospital with their hospitalised family members, nature and art in hospitals, the

⁶⁸ I will explain the Evidence-Based Design (EBD) approach in hospitals in the next chapter, section 6.8. In short, in this approach, a hospital designer considers the literature in which the effect of the environmental elements of the hospital on people are investigated, and attempts to reflect those findings in her design.

condition of the toilets, and many other items are mentioned in order to illustrate the expectations of the NHS for their hospitals. These expectations are explained in detail so that designers clearly understand the main concerns of the NHS in each of these issues. For example, in terms of the condition of the toilets in hospitals, the HBN reflects patients' expectations:

Patients prefer toilets to be near and to be clear about their location with the actual door not in full view of many other people. They also would like toilets and bathrooms to have a degree of sound privacy and not to cause smells. Patients would like to be able to freshen up, be clean, shave and be presentable (Department of Health 2014: 34).

To conclude, the NHS is evidently concerned with the dignity of people. Accordingly, many parts of the HBN reflect the NHS's expectations concerning people's dignity and entitlements in hospital. Moreover, to avoid missing important ethical elements in hospital design, the NHS tries to specify its expectations by giving detailed explanations of each part. For example, looking at the part on Dignity and Privacy, the importance of accommodating patients in same–sex places as well as the necessity of considering the preservation of the privacy of patients, particularly at the point of transfer between different parts of the hospital, is emphasised. By explaining what people want from the physical environment, a hospital designer can focus on the issues which are important for their client (i.e. the NHS). This is one of the benefits of such healthcare systems documents in that, to some extent, the dignity of people in the hospital environment can be respected.

Not all healthcare systems have such documents with concerns about non-medical requirements in hospitals. However, the same approach can be seen in some other guidelines such as *The Guidelines for Design and Construction of Hospital and Healthcare Facilities* published by The American Institute of Architects Academy of Architecture for Health (AIA 2001). Although this guideline mainly deals with the technical aspects of hospital design, there are some references to human dignity and entitlements related to the hospital environment (e.g. stress, privacy, confidentiality, etc.).

Nonetheless, I believe that hospital designers have to take a more substantial, separate dignityfocussed approach in their hospital design, regardless of the way in which the concept of dignity is reflected in such regulations. As was explained earlier, the HBNs determine the elements of the design of an ethical hospital in detail (such as the condition of the toilets mentioned before). This can help designers to understand their clients' needs more clearly. However, this strategy can have negative results at the same time. This is because it can marginalise other potential ethical conditions which can appear in each individual case of design.

Respect for human dignity and entitlements in hospital design can be realised in numerous shapes and forms. A designer who commits to providing for the entitlements of people in hospitals may find several levels and elements of design suitable for this purpose. However, if a designer sees his ethical obligations only in terms of the NHS expectations addressed in the HBNs, this may cause him to ignore his other potential ethical responsibilities. This is because each hospital has its own individual and unique characteristics, which demand specific considerations of the relevant ethical conditions that may happen in that particular hospital.

While I admit that recommendations such as the HBNs' are principal in advising designers as to the main expectations of the hospital environment, this does not remove the importance of an ethical method of design by which designers can find their ethical responsibilities systematically. Recommendations such as the HBNs, then, can (or in fact should) be part of an ethical method of hospital designers. All in all, designers have a moral responsibility to respect the dignity of people in hospitals whether their clients ask for it or not. A more comprehensive dignity–based approach for designers would encourage them to think beyond the standards of the NHS, and provide for any elements which can enhance the ethical condition of people in hospitals, even if it is not required in those documents.

My suggestion, therefore, is not that the NHS should withdraw from providing such requirements and standards for hospitals. Rather, my proposal is that the NHS should determine such demands within the systematic framework of an ethical approach to hospital design. In this way, not only can the NHS ensure that it is reflecting concerns about the hospital environment, but a moral designer who takes an ethical approach in his career can also conform to those expectations relating to the method of design. For this purpose, I will suggest a list of the basic entitlements of people in hospitals. Such a list, which is inspired by Nussbaum's list, can on one hand be a basis for the NHS to recognise the important expectations of people. On the other hand, a hospital designer who takes my suggested dignity approach, can adopt that list and its recommendations for his ethical principles. Despite the above arguments about the NHS recommendations concerning the environment of hospitals, such recommendations can be considered when specifying and enhancing Nussbaum's list of entitlements for the context of the hospital environment. However, there is another resource for specifying the list of entitlements, namely scientific findings.

3.4. Scientific Findings

There is ample research and evidence which indicates the positive (or negative) impact of the hospital environment on people. This evidence motivates hospital designers to take an approach in which the findings of such research are considered in the process of design. I will analyse this approach in the next chapter⁶⁹. I think such research can be considered another resource for specifying the list of entitlements in the context of the hospital environment. In this section, I will mention a few such findings as examples and in the next section I will offer my initial list of entitlements in hospitals, as according to Nussbaum's list when specified by considering practical experience (as mentioned in the HBNs), and the findings of studies.

In 2004 a research team from Texas A&M University and the Georgia Institute of Technology reported a literature review of several thousand scientific articles which was about the effect of the hospital environment on clinical outcomes. They identified over 600 of those studies as the most rigorous studies. In that report, entitled '*The Role of the Physical Environment in the Hospital of the 21st Century: A Once–in–a–Lifetime Opportunity*', they categorised the results of those studies (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004). Based on that research, four years later in 2008 the literature review was updated and expanded into another report entitled '*A Review of the Research Literature on Evidence–Based Healthcare Design.*' The questions which were explored in this report were: "(1) [What] can rigorous research tell us about "good" and "bad" hospital design? (2) [Can] improved design make hospitals less risky and stressful and promote more healing for patients, their families, and staff? (3) [Is] there scientifically credible evidence that design affects clinical outcomes and staff effectiveness in delivering care?" (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008)

However, these three questions explored in the report by Ulrich and his colleagues are not all a hospital designer can consider. The central entitlements of human beings regarding their capabilities involve far wider issues than merely concerns about stress, risk, clinical outcomes, effectiveness and the like. Nonetheless, this report can represent a substantial part of the efforts a designer should make to support human capabilities. Therefore, the findings of such research can be utilised for specifying Nussbaum's general list in the context of hospital design.

This literature review explains what elements of hospital design can have an effect on the condition of people in hospital. My investigation of this literature review reveals that those elements can remove or mitigate eighteen kinds of harm⁷⁰, such as infection, falling on the

⁶⁹ See section 4.8.

⁷⁰ By saying harm, in this section, I mean to be deprived of reaching the thresholds of entitlements.

floor, stress, and the like. I am going to list some of the harms which the elements of design can affect, as sample explanations of the ways in which people might be deprived of their basic entitlements by the environmental means of hospitals. In this regard, I will look at some evidence which explains how those harms can impact human beings. I will then explain how such impact can be considered harmful according to the definition of the basic capabilities given by Nussbaum. This suggests how such harms can be inserted into the list of human entitlements in hospitals⁷¹:

• *Reducing Hospital–Acquired Infection*: Serious infection can be considered to be losing one's healthy condition, which means there has been a reduction in the bodily health capability. Therefore, when the infection is serious enough, being infected can be seen as being below the thresholds of this capability. Since serious infection can undermine the bodily health capability, when designers do nothing to prevent or mitigate the risk of this vulnerability, they fail in their duty to respect the dignity of patients. As will be mentioned later⁷², this is due to the fact that studies have shown that the design of a hospital can considerably reduce this risk.

• *Medical Errors*: the report recognises the cause of medical errors in hospitals as a combination of active failure and latent conditions: "Active failures are caused by the unsafe performance of caregivers or by the system through lapses, mistakes, and procedural violations. Latent conditions are established by designers, builders, and top level management and they make errors more likely" (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008: 78). The hospital environment can indirectly affect the number of medical errors⁷³. Medical errors can threaten certain capabilities such as bodily health, or even the capability of life. This threat should be lessened by designing a hospital in the appropriate way. Therefore, the risk of medical errors is one of the harms which can threaten the capability of bodily health.

Reduction in Patient Falls: Falling on the floor is one of the most frequently reported

⁷¹ To avoid prolonging the discussion of this section, I am not going to consider *all* of the possible effects of these harms (e.g. infection, medical errors, etc.); only *some* of those effects will be discussed to show that there is some evidence of them. Thus, the following explanations are not about *all* negative effects on human capabilities, and one may be able to count more diverse impacts for each of those harms.

⁷² See section 4.4.2.

⁷³ See section 4.4.2.

accidents in hospital. For example, in a period of 12 months over 200,000 falls were reported from inpatient settings in 472 NHS organisations, and in 26 cases it resulted in the death of patients (National Patient Safety Agency, 2007: 11). Whether the result of falling is fracture, cuts, bruises, or even death, it threatens to bring people below the capability thresholds of life or bodily health in hospitals. Therefore, as with the issues of serious infection and medical error, falling is an instance of the potential harm that a patient faces in hospital.

The same report by the National Patient Safety Agency provides a list of elements of design which can impact on this harm, such as flooring surface (including any unevenness, and how slippery it is when wet or dry), flooring density (including how soft or hard a surface is to land on), flooring pattern (as it can create the illusion of slopes or steps to impaired eyesight), lighting (including poor lighting, sudden changes from dim to bright lighting, and the position of light switches), the design of doors (and hand rails, toilets, and bathrooms), and so on and so forth. Even additional curtains or screens in toilets allow nurses to be near to the vulnerable patients so that they can protect patients without offending their privacy (National Patient Safety Agency, 2007: 45). Therefore, designers can play a significant role in protecting patients from falling on the floor; and this suggest that a safe hospital with a low risk of potential harms can be considered in the list of peoples' entitlements.

• *Reduction of Pain*: Some of the findings of scholars have already been mentioned in Nussbaum's list of capabilities. For example, "being able to avoid non–beneficial pain" is one part of Nussbaum's description of the capability of Senses, Imagination, and Thought. As I will mention⁷⁴, some design elements can mitigate such harm considerably. Therefore, some items of Nussbaum's proposed capabilities are already suitable for the hospital environment, and just need to be emphasised or altered.

• *Reduction in Stress*: Studies suggest various ways of reducing the level of stress experienced by people in hospitals. However, stress causes suffering to people in hospitals through various kinds of harm. For example, an increase in the risk of infection and clinical colds is one of the results of psychological stress for patients in hospital (Cohen, Tyrrell et al. 1991). In another study, for instance, it was shown that patients who experienced more stress in hospitals report more pain and lower physical status than those with less stress (Volicer 1978). The healing of wounds, another example of (overcoming) harm, can be delayed by

⁷⁴ See section 4.5.2.

stress (Kiecolt–Glaser, Marucha et al. 1995). Some sources of stress, such as noise, are part of the hospital environment. Consequently, attempts to reduce the environmental sources which cause (or increase) stress for people in hospitals can be counted as one of the designers' obligations. Thus, the reduction of stress can be reflected in the list of human entitlements in hospitals.

• *Reducing Depression*: Depression is a fundamental and common problem in hospitals (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008: 90). Depression has different symptoms, any of which can be considered as involving a loss in capabilities. For example, a lack of interest and a lack of pleasure are symptoms of depression (Sherdell, Waugh et al. 2012, Blanco, Barnett 2014). This can be seen as a lack of the capability of play as defined by Nussbaum: "Being able to laugh, to play, to enjoy recreational activities" (Nussbaum 2008: 77). Depression can also involve physical symptoms such as "feeling constantly tired, sleeping badly, having no appetite or sex drive, and complaining of various aches and pains" (NHS 2015).

These symptoms can be considered to be threatening a number of capabilities such as the bodily health capability, the bodily integrity capability, and the senses, imagination, and thought capability. In the severest of cases, depression can lead to suicidal feelings, and so threaten the capability of life. Therefore, in many respects, depression can be considered a condition that can bring people's capabilities below the threshold levels and, therefore, hospital designers have an ethical duty to design the hospital environment in such a way so as to facilitate supporting depressed people. Depression, as we have seen, can be considered important with respect to a number of capabilities but the capability of play seems to be the most relevant.

• *Reducing Length of Stay*: In accord with Nussbaum, we can also say that staying in hospital can involve a lack of the capability of bodily integrity (being able to move from place to place) as well as the capability of play and others. Therefore, aiming to reduce the length of time people have to stay in hospital is a duty of all involved. For example, as will be mentioned⁷⁵, bright rooms in hospitals can help to lessen the length of hospital stays. The restriction imposed by being within the hospital environment is an inevitable harm which should be reduced as much as possible. It is, therefore, implicitly relevant to some capabilities,

⁷⁵ See section 4.8.1.4.

particularly the capabilities of play and bodily integrity.

• *Reducing Spatial Disorientation*: A well-designed hospital has a clear wayfinding system in which people can reach their destinations easily. Wayfinding problems are described as "costly and stressful and have a particular impact on outpatients and visitors, who are often unfamiliar with the hospital and are otherwise stressed and disoriented" (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008: 92). The particular impacts of unsuitable wayfinding systems were not clarified by the authors of the report. Nevertheless, when we claim that the hospital environment should not cause stress for people, this can involve considering disorientation and inappropriate wayfinding systems.

As was mentioned, there are thousands of examples of research that studies the effect of different elements and characteristics of the hospital environment on people. The eight effects mentioned above are samples to show the importance of the quality of the hospital environment. In the next chapter, I will discuss such research in more detail, and I will explain how such evidence might lead designers to consider these issues in their design process. However, my main reason to recount some of these effects is to underscore the fact that the findings of such literature can be used for specifying the list of human entitlements in hospitals.

Many of the points studied in the literature can be considered entitlements of people in hospitals. Nevertheless, the problem is that these studies are scattered and have been arbitrarily chosen by the researchers. Having the list of basic entitlements can assist in organising these entitlements under some general headings (i.e. the titles of the capabilities listed by Nussbaum). Therefore, such a list has a dual benefit for researchers and designers. On the researcher side, the list of entitlements can guide them to recognise the less-studied entitlements of people and can therefore encourage them to work more on those areas, the result of which would be to have a better literature related to the hospital environment. On the designer side, the list of entitlements can assist them to easily identify the main considerations that they have to provide for. This means that instead of needing to investigate the available research in order to find the suitable work for their individual project, they can have a general list of entitlements that is already specified with an updated list of people's entitlements in hospitals.

3.5. The Specified List of Entitlements

Up until now, I have tried to provide some ethical arguments to act as a basis for people's entitlements in hospitals, by addressing the status of human dignity and its implications according to Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. One of the results of such moral arguments is the list of human entitlements that Nussbaum suggested as a minimal interpretation of a 'decent life'; a life which is compatible with human dignity. We also talked about the practical experience of the NHS as a sample of regulations in the context of hospital design. We then addressed some of the empirical findings discussed in various articles, highlighting the relation between the environment and people's well-being in hospitals. All things considered, I suggest the following specified list of entitlements for people in hospitals⁷⁶:

1.*Life*. Being able to live to the end of a human life of normal length; not dying prematurely, or before one's life is so reduced as to be not worth living.

2.Bodily Health. Being able to have good health, [and to have adequate access to an appropriate healthcare service (including a respectful medical environment) sufficiently facilitated to accept and to treat patients in order that they are cured as soon as possible with minimum risk of potential harms such as medical errors, infections, falling on the floor, etc.] [...]; to be adequately nourished; [...; to be suitably supported when one is in a vulnerable situation such as being sick.].

3.Bodily Integrity. Being able to move freely from place to place [attempts to support this capability can involve endeavours to lessen the length of stay in places which can involuntarily deter practicing this capability such as being in hospitals]; [...] [to be secure against violation of the right to privacy including unwanted public-viewing, disclosure of personal information (including medical information) without consent, being overheard by others; to be able to have a confidential discussion with medical professionals; having the opportunity to take shelter in a private and segregated area].

4. *Senses, Imagination, and Thought.* Being able to use the senses, to imagine, think, and reason-and to do these things in a "truly human" way, a way informed and cultivated by an adequate education, including, but by no means limited to, literacy and basic mathematical

⁷⁶ What I added to Nussbaum's definitions is shown with square brackets '[]' in a *bold italic* font, and what I erased is shown with *[...]*. To find Nussbaum's unchanged definitions of capabilities see section 3.1.3.2.

and scientific training. Being able to use imagination and thought in connection with experiencing and producing works and events of one's own choice, religious, literary, musical, and so forth. Being able to use one's mind in ways protected by guarantees of freedom of expression with respect to both political and artistic speech, and freedom of religious exercise *[including having access to an appropriate place in which to practice religious, cultural, or personal ceremonies and conduct]*. Being able to have pleasurable experiences and to avoid non–beneficial pain.

5. *Emotions*. Being able to have attachments to things and people outside ourselves *[including within environments designed to support this capability in particularly vulnerable situations such as being in a hospital]*; to love those who love and care for us, to grieve at their absence; in general, to love, to grieve, to experience longing, gratitude, and justified anger. Not having one's emotional development blighted by fear and anxiety. (Supporting this capability means supporting forms of human association that can be shown to be crucial in their development *[including having access to an environment in which one can get support from family and friends]*).

6. *Practical Reason*. Being able to form a conception of the good and to engage in critical reflection about the planning of one's life. (This entails protection for the liberty of conscience and religious observance⁷⁷.)

7. Affiliation.

A. Being able to live with and toward others *[including having access to a suitable environment to see people to whom one has an attachment (e.g. family and friends*⁷⁸)], to recognize and show concern for other human beings, to engage in various forms of social interaction; to be able to imagine the situation of another. (Protecting this capability means protecting institutions that constitute and nourish such forms of affiliation [...])

B. Having the social bases of self–respect and non–humiliation; being able to be treated as a dignified being whose worth is equal to that of others. This entails provisions of non–discrimination on the basis of race, sex, sexual orientation, ethnicity, caste, religion, national

⁷⁷ The instances of capabilities are not absolutely distinct and they may overlap in some cases. In this item, the religious considerations of this capabilities, to some extent, address the same issues as those involved in the fourth capability.

⁷⁸ This item more or less overlaps with the capability of emotions, too. However, what is the core in the capability of emotion is getting support from families and friends, while the main issue in this affiliation capability is being with relatives.

origin.

8. *Other Species*. Being able to live with concern for and in relation to animals, plants, and the world of nature *[including having environmental opportunities relevant to this capability*⁷⁹].

9. *Play.* Being able to laugh, to play, to enjoy recreational activities *[including access to an environment which facilitates this capability. Such an environment should be able to help relieving and not causing stress, anxiety, and depression].*

10. Control over One's Environment.

[...] [being able to prevent others from entering into the surrounding environment without consent when it is not necessary (e.g. emergency cases); having reasonable control over the condition of the surrounding environment such as its heat, brightness, air condition, etc.; being able to be in or to have access to a private area⁸⁰; being able to use a public environment (such as that in hospitals) with a clear plan and signs that assist in finding desired destinations; being able to work in an environment designed and laid out to minimise negative impacts such as fatigue, and avoidable injury and stress].

This is my suggested list of people's entitlements in hospitals. I provide this list as an important part of the ethical method of design– namely the dignity approach – which I will explain in the next chapter. In this method, we first need to determine the main ethical requirements of people in terms of the hospital environment. Having such a list of entitlements, we can then offer some ethical principles as directions for the ways in which hospital designers can provide for those entitlements. Therefore, in order to direct designers in their job, we first need to determine what is expected from the hospital environment.

This list of entitlements has ethical arguments as its basis (i.e. the arguments concerning the concepts of dignity and entitlements in the Capabilities Approach in the current and previous chapters), which was then enhanced by considering some references to practical experiences

⁷⁹ Some research shows animal–assisted therapy in hospital can have positive impacts on patients. For example, Püllen et al. (2013) believe that "animal assisted therapy improves mood, communication and activity in patients with cognitive impairment"; and that since they observed no negative effects, such "therapy can be safely established in a hospital".

⁸⁰ The main concern for privacy in this capability is about the ability of people, particularly patients, to have control over their surrounding environment, while the key issue in the capability of bodily integrity, in terms of privacy, refers to protecting people from violations against their privacy.

(e.g. the NHS documents), alongside some empirical findings in the literature. However, as with Nussbaum, I consider the above list of entitlements open-ended and subject to change. The issues, references, and arguments I addressed in this thesis constitute a small picture of what needs to be done in this new field (i.e. the field of ethical considerations in hospital design).

I only strived to depict the general idea and provide the main direction for this field by referring to some sample evidence and arguments. However, there are many other issues and disciplines which can contribute to developing this ethical method of design. Consider, for instance, the literature review of Ulrich et al. which I referred to. Two academic teams worked on various studies so that they could produce such a literature review. To improve the ethical method of design – which I will discuss in the next chapter – not only should we consider empirical findings, but we should also consider the thoughts and arguments in other disciplines, such as ethical arguments, discussions in social science and psychology, medicine and bioethics, and so on and so forth. Therefore, my aim in this thesis is only to underline the core features of this field (i.e. ethical approach in hospital design); this thesis is not the final word in this context - it is just the beginning. However, the list of entitlements that I have suggested can function as a foundation for future studies and debates in this field.

Overall, to develop and modify the suggested list of entitlements of people in hospitals there is a need to study and consider a vast amount of issues from different disciplines. This signifies the importance of Nussbaum's idea concerning the role of institutions in her Capabilities Approach⁸¹. Since any improvement of the list of entitlements needs interdisciplinary cooperation, it is necessary to determine which organisations can lead and manage such a collective attempt, in addition to preparing the subsidiary regulations and standards. This is because it is impractical to expect a designer to lead such a task on his own for every individual project.

In my view, there are three areas in which these institutions need to attempt to construct a robust account of people's entitlements in terms of the hospital environment. First, there is a need to keep the list of entitlements up to date, by constantly monitoring the latest findings of the relevant disciplines and modifying the list accordingly. In this regard, it seems that ethical arguments have an overriding role to play in shaping the essence of the list. As the list of entitlements is the basis for standards and regulations, modifying and enhancing the list of entitlements can have a vital effect on the regulations and standards of hospital design.

⁸¹ See section 3.1.4.2.

As Nussbaum points out, the list of capabilities should be applied as a whole, and no entitlement should be sacrificed for the sake of other entitlements. Therefore, the next responsibility of authorities is to determine the thresholds of each capability. In other words, a designer or a hospital provider should be informed to what extent she has to invest in and attempt for each entitlement. For example, to reduce the risk of medical errors, many elements might be involved in the design of hospitals. But what is the reasonable level of risk of such harm? Obviously, it would not be reasonable to spend a huge amount of money to decrease just a small percent of the risk. Therefore, it is necessary that authorities judge the reasonable level of risk that should be provided for. Such levels of thresholds can tell designers to what extent they have to consider protective elements in their design (to reduce the risk of medical errors, for instance).

The growing body of research related to the effect of the hospital environment on people signifies the third responsibility of the relevant organisation: to provide appropriate guidelines for the designer. There are many guidelines for hospital designers in different countries, such as the HBNs published by the NHS, or the *Guidelines for Design and Construction of Hospital and Healthcare Facilities* published by the AIA, which, despite their scattered signals about the ethical requirements of people in hospitals, are mainly about technical issues and limitations in hospitals. Having the list of entitlements, the relevant institutions can now begin to insert the ethical requirements of people into their guidelines in more detail and in the systematic way suggested in this thesis. For example, they can dedicate a section on the standards of each kind of hospital in their guidelines. In such a section, the ways each capability can be harmed in that specific kind of hospital can be identified. For example, there is a need to clarify the ways in which the capability of play in children's hospitals can be diminished, and how this capability can make sense in a hospice setting. The empirical findings, practical experience, and even patients' ideas and complaints can guide institutions to include more appropriate items in such guidelines.

An institution can also have a list of recommendations for the ways in which human capabilities can be practiced, developed, or secured in that sort of hospital. For this purpose, again, empirical findings can assist in giving a better insight to hospital designers (e.g. using positive distraction to lessen the stress of patients in hospitals). All in all, institutions can have a leading role in providing and enhancing the list of entitlements, as well as providing regulations, recommendations, and standards, so that hospital designers can identify the needs for which they are required to design. These all can, now, be formed by the main ideas of human dignity and entitlements in Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. Having discussed the list of entitlements of people in hospitals, it is now time to focus on the designers in order to

identify which principles they can use to address such entitlements. I will discuss the ethical principles for hospital design in the next chapter.

Chapter 4

4. The Ethical Principles

4.1. Life Worthy of Dignity in Hospitals

In chapter two, I explained that in the discourse concerning hospital environments, ethical concerns are usually stated in terms of patients' rights and dignity. I argued, however, that hospital designers might not be clear on how they ought to meet their ethical responsibilities (i.e. respecting the dignity of patients and providing for their entitlements through the hospital environment). We need to establish an ethical framework and guidelines by which hospital designers can identify the ethical responsibilities relevant to their jobs. For this sake, designers need clarification in terms of the senses and implications of the concepts of dignity and rights in the context of the hospital environment. They also need to know how the hospital environment can support people's entitlements in hospitals. For this purpose, I suggested that we ground these requirements in the Capabilities Approach which, as was argued in the previous chapter, is the most appropriate theory for the goal of this thesis. The theory defines and connects the concepts of human dignity and human entitlements in a way that can assist us in identifying the ethical principles of hospital design.

When analysing the concept of human dignity in the Capabilities Approach, I elaborated on the idea that this notion emphasises the inherent valuable status of human beings. The Capabilities Approach also suggests that this concept indicates a sense of a 'decent' condition for human life. In this light, and in order to respect the dignity of people in hospitals, not only should designers plan for the treatment process, but they should also provide for and protect people's entitlements to secure decent conditions in hospitals. What are those basic entitlements? In chapter three, I brought the Capabilities Approach into the context of the hospital environment in order to render a list specifying the basic environmental entitlements of people in hospitals. Thus far, I have presented an understanding of the concept of human dignity and its implications, and a list of the basic environmental entitlements of people in hospitals. We now need to narrow down the discussion to the issues related to designers in order to discover how hospital designers can design for such entitlements.

As was mentioned before, the central idea of the Capabilities Approach is human flourishing; the ways people can practice their capabilities. To flourish with respect to some (if not all) of our capabilities we take advantage from goods and services. For example, a car can help us to move from one place to another. However, there are many factors that can affect the functioning of a person's capabilities when using a facility. For example, if one has a car then one can move faster than an individual who possesses only a bicycle⁸². In a similar way, someone being treated in an ethically designed hospital has more chance to practice, develop, or secure her capabilities than someone who is being treated in a hospital whose design is appropriate only for the medical process. Accordingly, we need to consider how various elements of the hospital environment, as a facility, can enable people to reach, at the very least, their minimum entitlements.

In this regard, I will suggest three ethical principles for hospital design: design for vulnerability, design for healing, and design for reverence. These principles are defined on the basis of the Capabilities Approach. I will also try to give some examples of the ways in which these ethical principles can function. Furthermore, I will explain how these principles can be utilised in the context of hospitals, and I will consider whether or not apparent conflicts between the principles can be resolved by the designers. Finally, I will explain how these principles can enhance the current methods of hospital design. However, before presenting these arguments it is worth briefly reviewing the history of hospitals in order to understand why the ethical requirements of patients have not been properly considered until now.

4.2. A Brief History of Hospitals

The places which are known as hospitals have evolved over time⁸³. Perhaps, the starting point of such a history is in caves as the first places of human care. In the Neolithic era, what scholars, such as the architect Stephen Verderber, call 'sickhouses' were for healing the ill who were kept separated from the rest of community. In that time, the 'sickhouses' in Europe were organised on the basis of discrimination and segregation from the rest of society of the insane, ill, poor and disenfranchised people (Verderber 2010: 10). By the time of the civilisation of ancient Greece, however, the treatment of patients was considerably enhanced. In their tradition of healthcare, the environment had a significant role in causing sickness as

⁸² Factors such as this are called 'conversion factors' in the literature. See for example, Ingrid Robeyns (2003 & 2005).

⁸³ The aim of this section, is mainly to show some important steps which have shaped the environment of hospitals over time. For this purpose, I will briefly describe some functions and conditions of hospitals (mainly in Europe) in different eras. I am not going to compare the conditions of hospitals between different regions or countries, even though the given examples of hospitals will be from various nations.

well as in healing patients. Such a belief in the relation between the environment and human health can be seen in Hippocrates' writings. For instance, he says:

Whoever would study medicine aright must learn of the following subjects. First he must consider the effect of each of the seasons of the year and the difference between them. Secondly he must study the warm and the cold winds, [...]. Lastly, the effect of water on the health must not be forgotten (Lloyd 1983: 148)⁸⁴.

Asklepieion (Asclepius)⁸⁵ of Epidauros, built in Athens in the fifth century BC, exemplifies ancient Greek places for the care of patients, in which environmental elements were used in a sophisticated way. It had a double hall with natural ventilation and daylight. The building was near to the river and used fresh water from natural springs; waste from toilets was transferred off the site to another watercourse. Access to the natural environment also provided part of the method of treatment. To care for patients, therefore, caregivers tried to realise their desires in the form of environmental pursuits such horseback riding, regular bathing for a period of time, and even reading a book under the shade of a tree (Verderber 2010: 13).

Although the ancient Greeks were the first to start using rational medicine, Rome in the first century AD began to evolve medicine and treatment (Verderber 2010: 11). Such evolution was reflected in the medical environment as well. The invention of military hospitals and improvements in public health engineering can be considered as main examples of such developments (Loudon 1997: 39). *Valetudinariums* – military hospitals – were established along the border of the nation wherein soldiers were treated so that they could return to battle. Similar to Greek Asclepieions, Roman military hospitals were stoas. These buildings had latrines with a sewer system to get rid of waste from the hospitals. The buildings benefited from a number of design characteristics such as an open–air courtyard at the centre with a kitchen, as well as private rooms (Thompson, Goldin 1975: 4 - 6). However, over time, with the decreasing power of the Roman state, the Catholic Church became supreme in the delivery of healthcare with the focus on faith as a way of redemption and salvation. At this point, the natural environment loses its importance relative to that of religious belief (Verderber 2010: 17).

The purpose of places called 'hospitals' (*hospitale* in Latin) in the medieval era, specifically in Europe, was mainly to provide forms of *care* for those who needed it, rather than specifically medical *treatment* for those who are ill. Accordingly, the functions that hospitals had were related to the kind of service of care they gave to the people who needed such care. In this

⁸⁴ See also Lloyd (1983: 100, 126 – 127 & 246 – 248).

⁸⁵ In ancient Greece, Asclepius was identified as the god of medicine (Beech 2016).

regard, hospitals emerged with four primary functions, namely: leper houses, alms houses, hospices to provide 'hospitality' for wayfarers and pilgrims, and institutions for the care of the sick poor (Carlin 1989: 21)⁸⁶. The major type of these hospitals were alms houses, and interestingly, only a few hospitals rendered care for the sick poor (Carlin 1989: 23 - 24)⁸⁷. The provision of care services, however, even in these few hospitals "became an unwelcome and impossible burden" (Carlin 1989: 25). For instance, the hospital of St. Nicholas, Salisbury was founded in the thirteenth century to care for the poor sick and provide accommdation for travellers; however, by 1478, it became only an alms house (Knowles, Hadcock 1971: 389). It is also important to notice that what we call care service in these hospitals, was not professional care by physicians. What the poor sick could expect from such hospitals was only a bed for rest, warm and clean provisions plus sufficient diet (Carlin 1989: 31, Rubin 1989: 51).

In 1479 John Don, a mercer, made a bequest for a surgeon, Thomas Thorneton, to work for the next five years in a London hospital (Rawcliffe 1984: 8). The historian Martha Carlin states that this is the only evidence she could find for the "explicit provision of professional care for the sick poor" before the sixteenth century in England (1989: 30). The physical arrangement of medieval English hospitals in this period was different from the Roman one:

Most contained or comprised an enclosed precinct, the access to which was controlled by one or more gates. The infirmary was built as a long, rectangular hall, like the nave of a church, which it sometimes was called. Usually there was a chapel or chapels at the eastern end of the infirmary hall, so that the patients could witness the daily celebration of mass from their beds. [...] The accommodation for a hospital's staff, religious and lay, was separate from that of the other sick or other inmates. Almspeople, if resident, might share the infirmary or a common dormitory or dormitories, or might inhabit individual chambers; travellers seem usually to have been lodged with the sick in the infirmary (Carlin 1989: 28).

At the beginning of the second millennium, hospitals were mostly directed by the Catholic Church. The main function of the hospitals by 1348 (i.e. the era of the Black Death) was to provide accommodation, food and care for the poor through a number of (mostly) small charitable institutions (Henderson 1989: 69). From the second half of twelfth century to early thirteenth century, there was an increase in the number of established hospitals in the form of

⁸⁶ In some cases, hospitals provided moneylending services as well (Rubin 1989: 48).

⁸⁷ For more information about the nature and role of hospitals in England and Wales in this period see "Medieval religious houses: England and Wales" by Knowles & Hadcock (1971).

charitable institutions. This age witnessed a growth in the development of urban civilisation which included an increase in the number of charitable institutions such as hospitals. However, after the Black Death, donors focused on the development of *medical* hospitals. In addition, the increase in the wages of people after the Black Death helped to encourage an improvement in the facilities and the services in the hospitals. Hospitals in Florence were significant examples of such marvellous institutions with deliberate and dignified medical services. Luther, for instance, described a Florence hospital as a "regal building, with the finest food and drink, attentive service, very learned physicians and clean beds" (Friedenthal 1970:78).

After that time hospitals benefited from more professional doctors and surgeons. For example, it is documented that in the sixteenth century, the physicians of the San Giovanni hospital in Italy, had a practice of visiting their patients twice a day. There were also young surgeons, resident in the hospital, to control the progress of disease and report it to the chief physician (Cavallo 1989: 110 - 111). Gradually, hospitals found a new function – that of teaching – and in the eighteenth century gaining experience in hospitals became a mandatory precondition for medical students (Cavallo 1989: 111). The motivation for establishing hospitals should also be noticed. Before the late eighteenth century, the philanthropic stimulus of the layman was the main reason for establishing hospitals. In Britain, a new approach was taken when medical men started to run specialist hospitals. From the last third of the eighteenth century, medical men began founding their own outpatient dispensaries which gradually developed into specialist hospitals (Granshaw 1989: 201 – 202).

The First World War was to greatly boost the attraction of specialist hospitals. But well before then the advantages of such hospitals were seen not only in more specialisation in medical treatment, but also in the advancement of medical science through more textbooks, articles and new procedures (Granshaw 1989). The specialist hospitals, correspondingly, entailed new expectations in terms of their *design*. Analysing children's hospitals, for example, Carl Rauchfuss, a German–Russian paediatrician in 1877 said:

If one were simply to build children's hospitals along exactly the same construction and with the same furnishing, equipment and organization as the general hospitals, then it would not be worthwhile building them at all; it would then be advisable to recognise the appropriateness of expanding on the practice of many already established general hospitals of treating sick children in a children's ward. The requirements of a children's hospital are, however, more complicated than those of a general hospital, and these incorporated children's wards are compelled under the circumstances to do without (quoted by Seidler 1989: 189). Thus, running specialist hospitals not only affected the specialisation of medical treatments but also impacted on the design of hospitals. Subsequently, potential risks and threats for these hospitals started being detected. For example, infection was the main problem for sick children which led founders to separate out such institutions and create isolation houses as a new trend in building children's hospitals (Seidler 1989: 190).

Financial difficulties should be also considered as a factor that has affected design issues in the historical development of the hospital. As mentioned before, the main theme in the establishment of hospitals in the past was to support the poor. But in the course of the modernisation of hospitals in the twentieth century, the funds provided by charity were not sufficient any more. Therefore, hospital managers – particularly in those countries where medical service is not funded by the state, such as the US – tried to attract the middle–class into their hospitals so that they could make up the shortage in funding (Vogel 1989: 247).

In this context, then, it is expected that the patients' interests and satisfaction become more important than before. Therefore, regardless of the importance of what we might call the moral interests, needs or condition of patients, this parameter becomes crucial as a marketing characteristic in which patients are seen as the hospitals' customers. Accordingly, the satisfaction of patients through hospital design is now a substantial imperative, and hospital designers cannot simply create a hospital as a place wherein curing occurs. The satisfaction of patients delivered through the environment of hospitals should be taken into account as an essential parameter which can increase the overall satisfaction of people in the hospitals.

Thus the shape of medical environments, and particularly hospitals, is something inherited; a heritage that has developed over time. What I have sketched above is only a brief explanation of the history of hospitals, focusing particularly on European hospitals. Obviously, the history of medical buildings has many other stories to tell, especially if we consider other regions and nations. However, I have tried to show the way in which the evolution of medical services formed our medical environments; from stoas in ancient Greece, and cruciform structures in the medieval age, to what we know today as the hospital. Our current expectations of hospitals are affected by such historical developments - although other parameters also have a role in determining these expectations. One such parameter is our modern understanding of dignity and entitlements; an understanding that should have a greater and more precise role.

Although the current approach to the design of hospitals is something that has developed over time, there is a need for rethinking both this approach and its associated trends. In the traditional approach to hospital design the focus was only on "functional efficiency, cost, and providing effective platforms for medical treatments and technology" (Ulrich 2000). A modification of this approach has recently begun: patients are now being put at the centre of

considerations in hospital planning. Such a patient–centred approach, which is called Evidence–Based Design (EBD), uses the findings of studies concerned with the positive impact of environmental elements on people in hospitals⁸⁸.

However, EBD is not yet known of globally. Therefore, the effects of the hospital environment on patients are not properly considered in many cases of design. Moreover, owing to its strategy, EBD by itself cannot guarantee an inclusive ethical environment. In section 4.8., I will analyse EBD and explain why this approach to hospital design cannot comprehensively respond to the rights of people in hospitals and how, therefore, the design of many hospitals does not sufficiently address the non-medical demands of people (e.g. the ethical needs of patients, visitors and staff). As a result, people are still experiencing many difficulties while they stay in hospitals.

4.3. Stop Worsening, Start Enhancing

As we have seen⁸⁹, one of the central concepts in the Capabilities Approach is the notion of 'thresholds': the levels which determine whether or not a person needs help to live a life worthy of human dignity. Thus, to meet the responsibility towards the dignity of people, what is essential is to focus on the condition of people who are either below, or in danger of falling below, these thresholds, because *this is the condition in which others have a duty to support the dignity possessors*. Analysing such conditions plays a key role in finding the ethical principles for hospital designers. In terms of hospitals, we should consider the capabilities of those who can fall under the thresholds and how they can do so. The capabilities of different parties in hospitals can fall below the thresholds, but patients are always at the centre of this peril. For example, the bodily health capability of patients is more or less impaired and, because of that, they go to the hospital so that they can be treated (i.e. so that their bodily health capability can be improved up to the thresholds).

Similarly, some of the capabilities of the family and relatives of patients are also threatened (e.g. capabilities of bodily health, emotions and affiliation) when they are suffering, for instance, from stress or anxiety. The stressful and demanding jobs of medical teams can also cause several problems, such as fatigue and injury, that can be considered a reduction in capabilities. All in all, most people in hospitals are at risk of a reduction in the level of their capabilities. Since the result of such a reduction is in many cases to go below the thresholds,

⁸⁸ For more discussion of EBD see section 4.8.

⁸⁹ See chapter three, section 3.1.3.2.

designers have an ethical responsibility to ensure that the hospital environment can facilitate protecting people from such harm (if it is avoidable) whilst also sufficiently supporting any harmed capabilities. Being below the threshold of those capabilities whose level can be *changed by the environment of the hospital* will be called *'harm'* in this thesis. Therefore, the ethical principles should address the harmed people and the condition in which people may be harmed.

The capabilities of people in hospitals might be (or become) below the thresholds for different reasons. However, since our focus in this thesis is on the environmental impact of hospitals on people, when discussing 'harm' in this chapter we are only concerned with those kinds of harms that the hospital environment can affect. Hence, the harms mentioned in this thesis do not include those kinds of harms which people may suffer in hospitals by other means such as staffing shortages and the like, *unless* the environmental condition can reduce or increase the risk of those harms⁹⁰.

Having this clarification, we can hold that there will be no (environmental) harm if the hospital designer has fully met her ethical responsibilities. This is because, on this account, morally designed hospitals have an environment in which harm is removed or mitigated as much as possible by the designer(s). In other words, hospital designers are not responsible for any and all kinds of harm (in a general sense) in such hospitals, because they can do nothing more than what is required of them in the original design of the hospital. For example, a patient who has broken her leg and is hospitalised in a morally ideal hospital might still endure pain for a while. We will not consider such kinds of harm (e.g. the pain of the broken leg) as the designer of the hospital has done all that she could in order to reduce the pain of patients, through the use of the tool of the hospital environment. Accordingly, the ethical principle should be able to *direct* designers to build hospitals wherein either there is zero (environmental) harm or the harms are reduced as much as possible.

This goal can be achieved if hospital designers focus on two main missions. Firstly, to prevent a person's condition from deteriorating and, secondly, to attempt to make it better. In other words, a designer needs to be aware of how the environment of the hospital can prevent people from a further decrease in their capability levels. Furthermore, in his designing he should aim to help restore the already reduced capabilities and so help the individual to enjoy their basic

⁹⁰ Medical errors, for example, are mainly caused by human error or equipment faults. However, the hospital environment can also affect these kinds of harms (i.e. can positively or negatively affect the risk of these errors). Therefore, even though these kinds of harms are not directly caused by the environment of hospitals, they are relevant to my arguments given that the design of the hospital can affect them.

entitlements by removing or decreasing the effects of inevitable harms. In short, the ethical principles should *stop worsening and start enhancing people's capabilities*. In this light, I am going to suggest the following three ethical principles for hospital design: design for vulnerability, design for healing and design for reverence.

4.4. Principle 1: Design for Vulnerability

4.4.1. Vulnerable People

When people are in crisis they are at their most vulnerable. It is essential that they receive the care and support they need as quickly as possible, in a place they can feel safe, and that they are supported by people who understand their needs (Care Quality Commission, 2014: 2).

In chapter three, I explained the importance of respecting one's own dignity⁹¹. I mentioned that in normal circumstances human beings strive to develop their capabilities and provide for them, perhaps in many cases beyond the thresholds. Therefore, while a person is in a normal situation, particularly while he is healthy, he would usually enjoy his own capabilities to the extent that he is able to. However, when people find themselves in crisis, such as may be produced by serious illness or accident, they become vulnerable. This is because they may lose their concentration and/or ability to focus on their capabilities, and consequently, they cannot provide for their capabilities by themselves unless others support them to make up for their disability.

Thus, they are vulnerable in this situation owing to the fact that their dignified life is contingent upon the support of others, and there is a risk that others will fail to duly provide for them. In fact, they may easily suffer profound insults to their dignity, if not lose their life, if others neglect their vulnerable situations and their need for help. This is what the Capabilities Approach emphasises. Seeing the dignity of human beings as bound up with their vulnerable embodied animality and need for support from their society, in fact, is one of the characteristics of the Capabilities Approach which makes it different from the Kantian approach:

[...] we [who support the Capabilities Approach] build in an acknowledgement that we are needy temporal animal beings who begin as babies and end, often, in other

⁹¹ See section 3.1.4.1.

forms of dependency. We draw attention to these areas of vulnerability, insisting that rationality and sociability are themselves temporal, having growth, maturity, and (if time permits) decline (Nussbaum 2006: 159).

Undoubtedly, the condition of people in hospitals, particularly for patients, is one of the important instances of being in a vulnerable situation. People in hospital are vulnerable to many harms which threaten them. A patient who is in danger of being a victim of medical errors, falling on the floor, being infected by polluted surroundings, and many other potential harms, can suffer serious assaults on her dignity far more easily if other parties in the hospital neglect her vulnerability. Other people (e.g. relatives and staff) are also more or less at risk of suffering potential harms. All in all, the condition of people in the hospital environment makes them vulnerable to various forms of harm.

This is one of the reasons that we can see the concept of *vulnerability* considered in the context of healthcare service, as one of the features of humanity which leads to an ethical responsibility to protect people (Kottow 2004: 282). The notion of vulnerability has an essential status in the field of bioethics. As mentioned in chapter two, this concept, has even been suggested as one of the main ethical concepts in bioethics (Rendtorff 2002). In the Barcelona Declaration (November 1998), which was "a philosophical and political agreement between experts in bioethics and biolaw from many different [European] countries", the concept of vulnerability is articulated as follows:

Vulnerability expresses two basic ideas. (a) It expresses the finitude and fragility of life which, in those capable of autonomy, grounds the possibility and necessity for all morality. (b) Vulnerability is the object of a moral principle requiring care for the vulnerable. The vulnerable are those whose autonomy or dignity or integrity are capable of being threatened. As such all beings who have dignity are protected by this principle. But the principle also specifically requires not merely non interference with the autonomy, dignity or integrity of beings, but also that they receive assistance to enable them to realise their potential. From this premiss it follows that there are positive rights to integrity and autonomy which grounds the ideas of solidarity, non-discrimination and community (Rendtorff 2002: 243).

However, Cunha & Garrafa think that bioethical approaches towards vulnerability are not the same across different regions:

As we have noted, in bioethics originating from the United States, vulnerability is usually correlated with incapacity to provide consent or to exercise autonomy, whereas in European bioethics the focus is mostly on the condition of intrinsic frailty of all living beings. From the Latin American perspective, the discussion is characterized by a political focus aimed at identifying the ways in which vulnerabilities are produced and exploited, along with vulnerable individuals themselves (2016: 204).

However, such different approaches towards the notion of vulnerability have not undermined the importance attached to it in medical contexts by universal documents, such as the Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights:

In applying and advancing scientific knowledge, medical practice and associated technologies, human vulnerability should be taken into account. Individuals and groups of special vulnerability should be protected and the personal integrity of such individuals respected (UNESCO, 2005: Article 8).

Thus, considerations of vulnerability are held to play a key role in shaping the quality of medical services. Accordingly, hospital designers, who are a provider of medical environments, cannot oversimplify this notion in their work. But, how should it be defined in a way that is consistent with the context of hospital design? According to the Oxford English dictionary the meaning of the notion of 'vulnerability' is being "exposed to the *possibility* of being attacked or harmed, either physically or emotionally" (Stevenson 2010, emphasised by me). In other words, a vulnerable person is in danger of being harmed, even if he has not yet been harmed. Hence, it would be true to say that vulnerability warns us about the *potential harms* which threaten vulnerable individuals.

What is meant by the concept of 'potential harm'? Potential harms are those kinds of harm that *might* occur such as falling on the floor, medical errors, and the like. Studies show that a well-designed hospital can decrease the risk of such harms⁹². Thus, the concept of 'potential harm' conveys the sense in which although harm may not yet have happened, people in the hospital environment are still at risk. This is similar to the sense in which we have understood the notion of 'vulnerability'. Therefore, if one says that a designer ought to consider the vulnerability of people in hospital design, this is similar to saying that the designer is called on to act against potential harms. Therefore, I suggest '*design for vulnerability' as one of the ethical principles of hospital design*.

As mentioned above, the concept of vulnerability is defined differently. However, it is important to notice that what we are defining as the principle of design for vulnerability should be considered in the context of the discussion given thus far in this thesis - i.e. we are

⁹² See section 3.4. and 4.4.2.

concerned with vulnerability in the hospital environment. This principle refers to harms in terms of the hospital environment: the potential harms which can be removed or alleviated by hospital design. For instance, using appropriate material can ensure that the floor is less slippery and, accordingly, the risk of falling on the floor will be decreased. These are the sorts of recommendations that the principle of design for vulnerability will suggest to designers.

I have used the notion of 'vulnerability' in order to identify a principle that can help to bridge the ethical concerns of hospital design and bioethics, but it should be noted that the essence and the implications of vulnerability can be different in biomedical contexts. For example, the European notion of vulnerability, as quoted above, implicitly refers to all kinds of harm a patient may suffer during the process of care. In contrast to this, the principle of design for vulnerability only aims at potential harms which might occur; and not those harms which we expect to see in hospitals, e.g. pain, stress, and the like⁹³. It is also worth emphasising that the principle of design for vulnerability considers everybody who uses the hospital environment, whether as a patient, a relative, a member of staff, or a visitor.

Hence, the principle of design for vulnerability asks designers to consider all potential harms which people may suffer, and to endeavour to find suitable elements of design that can prevent such harm (or at least make their occurrence less likely). The concept of vulnerability, given the above explanation, can remind a designer of the fact that the capabilities of people in hospitals are in danger and lead her to use elements of design that can minimise further harms (further harms in the sense that such harms are not inevitable and, therefore, if they do occur then some *further* harms have been imposed on people, which indicates a worse situation for them). This principle represents the ethical mission of 'stopping capabilities from worsening'. Hence, design for vulnerability is a principle that protects people from being in a worse situation in hospitals⁹⁴.

4.4.2. Vulnerability in Hospitals

There is an important issue which should be considered before I continue the arguments of this section. There are many studies in which it is shown that the hospital environment can positively/negatively affect the process of care and the condition of people in hospitals.

⁹³ In the following sections, I will suggest two other principles of hospital design which deal with the other sorts of harm.

 $^{^{94}}$ The other part of a designers' mission – i.e. the enhancement of capabilities – will be addressed by two other principles which I will discuss in the following sections.

However, there is no systematic argument or method that fully considers the ways designers can address their ethical responsibilities towards patients and others in hospitals. In this respect, this research is the beginning of this discussion in this field. What we have at the moment is an ample amount of research in which the effects of different elements of hospital design on people is discussed; but there are no ethical arguments to help us advance the implications of these principles in practice, such as what we have in bioethics. Medical ethics has a long history and the ethical dilemmas related to this field (e.g. abortion, euthanasia, decision and consent, and so on) have been discussed in detail and considered in the light of various philosophical theories and approaches. However, a similar background of argument is missing in the field of hospital environments.

As we have seen, the history of the hospital shows that in the beginning such places were considered only as places in which poor patients were hospitalised, and only gradually did they become places in which treatment occurred. But, apparently, there was no serious concern for the condition of people in hospitals, until recently. These days, the 'satisfaction' of patients is considered, and designers attempt to build a pleasant environment. However, as was mentioned⁹⁵, the appeal to satisfaction and its implications basically starts with a concern for the hospital budget, rather than patients' entitlements. Therefore, instead of having arguments discussing the ethical responsibilities of hospital designers, we have discussions concerning how the elements of the hospital environment can satisfy patients or enhance medical outcomes. Therefore, there are no considerable ethical arguments in the field of hospital design with which I can examine the abilities of my suggested principles.

However, having established the ethical principles for hospital design, I believe that this field (i.e. ethical arguments concerning the hospital environment) can proceed, as it now has a theoretical platform – i.e. what I am trying to establish in this thesis. I hope that future researchers work on this field even further, and discuss the implications of the ethical principles of hospital designers in different cases of design. It is possible that they might suggest better principles for hospital design than mine. However, at least for now, these principles can help us to begin to have an ethical discussion in this field. Nevertheless, although we are empty-handed in terms of ethical arguments, we have plenty of studies about the effects of different elements of the hospital environment on people. Therefore, what I can do for the time being is show how these ethical principles can lead designers to think about those sorts of harms in hospitals. I will also argue that if designers do not consider my

⁹⁵ See section 4.2.

suggested principles in their references to those studies, the risk of failing to address the ethical requirements of people in hospitals will increase⁹⁶.

In this section I would like to deal with the first task of showing how the principle of design for vulnerability underscores the vital potential harms in hospitals; harms that can be removed or alleviated by the design of the environment. Vulnerability can be seen among different groups of people in hospitals (e.g. patients, relatives, and staff) and in various forms (e.g. bodily, mental, and even ethical⁹⁷). Patients in particular are vulnerable in many respects, of course. There are many threats in hospitals which can harm patients, some of which can even end in the death of patients. Dying because of medical errors, which in many cases are preventable, can be considered as losing the capability of life:

Two large studies, one conducted in Colorado and Utah and the other in New York, found that adverse events occurred in 2.9 and 3.7 percent of hospitalizations, respectively. In Colorado and Utah hospitals, 6.6 percent of adverse events led to death, as compared with 13.6 percent in New York hospitals. In both of these studies, over half of these adverse events resulted from medical errors and could have been prevented. When extrapolated to the over 33.6 million admissions to U.S. hospitals in 1997, the results of the study in Colorado and Utah imply that at least 44,000 Americans die each year as a result of medical errors. The results of the New York Study suggest the number may be as high as 98,000 (Kohn, Corrigan et al. 2000).

In another study, the rate of death from medical errors is estimated more than 250,000 a year in the US hospitals, which means "medical errors is the third most common cause of death in the US" (Makary, Daniel 2016). The Institute of Medicine has stated that the health care service in the USA "harms patients too frequently and routinely fails to deliver its potential benefits" (Institute of Medicine (U.S.), 2001: 1). In this regard, patients in hospitals are vulnerable to loss of the capability of life due to medical errors. This is because Nussbaum has defined the capability of life as:

Life. Being able to live to the end of a human life of normal length; not dying prematurely, or before one's life is so reduced as to be not worth living (Nussbaum 2006: 76).

⁹⁶ See section 4.8.2.

⁹⁷ In chapter three, section 3.1.4.1., I explained that some people may lose their ability to respect their own dignity. Human beings may find themselves unable to provide for their own capabilities, and thus, they are ethically vulnerable.

Besides losing the capability of life, some other capabilities may be harmed as well. The capability of bodily health can go under the thresholds if medical errors causes a serious bodily problem, or exacerbate the patient's disease. However, the victim of medical errors are not only patients necessarily. It can be imagined that in an event of medical error the morally sensitive physician may feel guilty for not sufficiently caring about his patient – i.e. harming the capability of affiliation and emotion. But the most important point for designers is that the environment of hospitals can indirectly reduce the risk of medical errors in many ways. For example, transferring patients between rooms can increase the risk of medical errors. In this regard, research by Hendrich and her colleagues, shows that by providing acuity–adaptable rooms the rate of medical errors will be reduced considerably (2004).

Infection is another essential example of potential harms in hospitals to which people are vulnerable. According to one study of healthcare–associated infection in 183 hospitals in the USA the number of patients who were affected was 452 in 2014 (4% of all patients) (Magill, Edwards et al. 2014). This rate compared with 9% of patients who were infected during their stay in UK hospitals in 2000; that is, at least 100,000 infections a year which cost one billion pounds a year for the NHS (Kelsey 2000). However, it is important to notice that 10% to 70% of infection rates can be prevented (Harbarth, Sax et al. 2003). Therefore, infection should be considered as a potential harm.

Infection can be considered as impairing the capability of bodily health; in some cases, as reported above, it ends in death which is loss of the life capability. Therefore, everybody should strive to decrease the risk of infection among patients in hospitals and this can be interpreted as a form of respect for human dignity. Nevertheless, it should be noticed that the problem of infection is not an inevitable situation which every patient will suffer from; it is a potential risk for vulnerable patients in hospitals. Thus the principle of design for vulnerability can lead designers to protect patients from infections by emphasising (at least) patients' capabilities of life and bodily health in hospitals.

Interestingly, studies have shown some environmental elements of hospital design can protect people from infections. HEPA filters, for instance, can considerably reduce the risk of air infections in the hospitals (Passweg, Rowlings et al. 1998, Sherertz, Belani et al. 1987). Direct contact with other people in hospitals is also a principal pathway for the transmission of infections to patients (Bauer, Ofner et al. 1990). Larson (1988) has counted 423 articles between 1879 and 1986 which all confirm that hand–washing can reduce the risk of infection in hospitals. Therefore, suitable positioning and sufficient number of hand–washing sinks in hospitals can have an effect on the reduction of the rate of contact infection. This is an obvious

example which shows how the principle of design for vulnerability can, in practice, direct designers in protecting patients from a loss of capability.

Nonetheless, it should be noticed that infection does not only threaten patients; hospital staff are also at a high level of risk of being infected (Jiang, Huang et al. 2003, Kromhout, Hoek et al. 2000, Kumari, Haji et al. 1998, Smedbold, Ahlen et al. 2002). Thus, the principle of design for vulnerability will also draw the attention of designers to this potential harm to staff. And again, they can address this requirement as well, because the environment of hospitals can also prevent staff from such harm; for instance, by providing suitable ventilation in hospitals (Menzies, Fanning et al. 2000). Hospital staff are also vulnerable to being injured during their work, as another example of potential harm. Accordingly, design for vulnerability invites designers to consider the best plan which can reduce the risk of staff injuries. For instance, a study has shown that the ergonomic redesign of a hospital (which involved modifying the toilets and shower rooms), resulted in the medical staff experiencing less back strain in comparison with the condition of the hospital before redesigning (Garg, Owen 1992).

Patients' relatives are also vulnerable in hospitals, and hence, design for vulnerability can protect relatives as well. For instance, parents of sick children may suffer from severe stress and anxiety for their child. Although some of the causes of stress may be considered as inevitable, some other environmental causes of stress may be counted as a potential harm, such as unpleasant odours and air pollution (Hasan Tehrani, Haghighi et al. 2012). These can be removed or alleviated by a well–designed hospital (e.g. by proper ventilation). Another example of potential harm to families in hospitals is a confusing design of wards and corridors which can cause disorientation and waste of time. Difficulty in finding different parts of a hospital can exacerbate the stress of family when they wish to visit their relative promptly.

I have just mentioned some well-known instances of potential harms the risk of which a suitably designed hospital can reduce. However, this does not mean that the principle of design for vulnerability should only deal with instances that have been the subject of studies thus far. We need further research to investigate how the other basic entitlements of people, as suggested in the previous chapter, can be threatened by the environmental elements of hospitals. Subsequently, we will need to discover in which ways designers can remove (or decrease the risk of) those harms. For example, we know that medical errors can deprive patients from their basic entitlements and, as was mentioned, it is more or less clear for designers how they can reduce the risk of those harms. We need to do the same in terms of other unknown potential harms, in order to discover how designers can protect people's entitlements. This is how the ethical principles can be used to enhance the ethical conditions of people in hospitals.

This also means that hospital designers should be guided by these principles in order to identify the conditions of people and the elements of design which can cause or reduce harm. Therefore, these ethical principles should be considered in each case of design, and should be followed by designers regarding any ethically relevant condition (regardless of whether or not that condition and its relation to the quality of care has been investigated). Thus, for instance, if the designer of the hospital mentioned in the first chapter⁹⁸ had been told that one of his ethical principles is to design for vulnerability then he might have provided a private corridor so as to protect the patient from public–viewing. Of course, this does not mean that designers should overlook the findings of studies; what I am emphasising here is the importance of not ignoring the ethical requirements of people in hospitals when there is no available research about them.

In short, all groups of people in hospitals are at risk of suffering from potential harm. Hospital designers, then, have an ethical responsibility to consider people's vulnerability because several studies have shown that the environment of hospitals can prevent people from such harm. That is the reason that the principle of design for vulnerability, which addresses potential sources of harm in hospitals, should be seen as a main ethical principle for hospital designers. This principle encourages moral designers to keep asking themselves how the environment of the hospital can prevent such avoidable harm, and guides them to use relevant elements in their design to protect people from potential harm. Designers should think about vulnerable situations and conditions of human life in hospitals and try to prevent any further reduction in the capabilities of people. Design for vulnerability is a principle which protects people from the worse situation in hospitals. The given instances above clarify how the principle of design for vulnerability can lead designers to meet their ethical duties by using the proper elements of design in terms of vulnerability.

4.5. Principle 2: Design for Healing

4.5.1. The Healing Environment

The main function of hospitals is healthcare service. Therefore, the purpose of going to a hospital is usually centred on the concept of *healing*; whether it is a patient who wants to be healed, medical teams who want to heal patients, or relatives who wish that the patient be

⁹⁸ In which I witnessed an embarrassed patient being carried through a public corridor while covered insufficiently with only a gown (see section 1.1.).

healed. Accordingly, it is expected that the ingredients of hospital environments serve the delivery of healthcare and the healing of patients. As mentioned already⁹⁹, the main theme of traditional approaches to providing a medical environment was to build a place in which medical service is possible. Hence, the environment of hospitals was provided as a place that facilitates the treatment of patients. In many places this approach has not yet changed. Because of this, "people expect treatment for physical or mental illness in hospitals, but rarely anticipate spiritual, emotional, or social healing" (Gesler 2003: 83). However, studies have shown that the hospital environment can contribute to the process of caring for patients and the well–being of people in hospitals. This has caused a newer approach in hospital designing which tries to consider the environmental elements of hospitals as part of the treatment of patients. Nevertheless, the effect of hospital design on patients can also be enhanced in a well–designed hospital¹⁰⁰.

Therefore, there is a considerable emphasis on providing a 'healing design' which sees the function of the hospital environment beyond being merely a place for treatment. In this light, it is not surprising to see that there are a number of research findings written up with headings about healing design, such as 'healing environment', 'design for healing', and so forth. However, considering these studies reveals that there is no unity in the understanding of the concept of healing design. Some authors describe the healing environment with notions close to the sense of a therapeutic environment¹⁰¹, but some others equate the features of a healing environment with medical outcomes or the concerns of EBD¹⁰². If we see the healing environment merely as a matter of being a therapeutic environment, then we would focus on the treatment of patients in hospitals. However, if we understand the function of the healing environment in its broader aspect then it can include a sense of well-being for everybody who uses the environment - including patients, staff and relatives. From this perspective, the environment of the hospital can facilitate the removal (or at least the mitigating) of a harm for which people go to hospital, whether it is pertinent to bodily health capability, capability of emotion, affiliation or any other capabilities. Since facilitating the removal of harms is expected from hospital designers, this sense of design for healing should therefore be a part of

⁹⁹ See section 4.2.

¹⁰⁰ Find some impacts of hospital environment on people in sections 3.4. and 4.8.1.

¹⁰¹ See, for example, Raz Gross et al. (1998), and Rachel Long (2001).

¹⁰² See, for instance, Huisman et al. (2012), C. Robert Horsburgh (1995), Nina Ergin (2015), and Jaynelle F. Stichler (2008). To know more about EBD, see section 4.8.

the ethical mission of hospital designers. Hence, we should be able to find a definition of the concept of healing compatible with what is discussed in the Capabilities Approach.

The ethical principle of design for vulnerability, which targets the potential harms of people in hospitals, was discussed above¹⁰³. However, there is another sort of harm which can be expected to *definitely* occur in hospitals - particularly if the entitlements of people are not considered (e.g. pain, stress, fatigue). Designers, in addition to deterring potential harms, have a responsibility to provide an environment that can facilitate the enhancement of harmed capabilities. This is the second part of the main mission of hospital designers (i.e. stop worsening and start enhancing) mentioned earlier. By completing these two parts of their mission, designers can ensure that they have met their ethical responsibilities.

Some of these expected harms are an inevitable part of the reason people go to hospitals. People go to hospitals for different purposes; patients go to hospitals to be treated; families go to hospitals to be with their relatives and support them; staff go to hospitals to work. The level of the capabilities of people in hospitals may decrease because of activities and conditions which are inherently related to their purpose in being there. For example, the bodily health capability of patients has fallen (i.e. is harmed) because of their disease or accident. They may also keep suffering from the harm when they are in hospital (i.e. whilst they are not completely cured). Even a patient who experiences pain after her surgery is suffering from harm that is related to a part of the process of her treatment (i.e. surgery). All these instances, alongside many others, are examples of a sort of expected harm that is inevitably related to the purpose of going to hospital.

Medical staff who, for instance, experience stress in their job are also suffering from such purpose–related harm. This is because their purpose for being in the hospital is their work or career; and such stress is a result of that work or their pursuit of that career. Likewise, relatives in hospitals may suffer from purpose–related harm. Their purpose or reason for being in the hospital might be to support their friends or family during treatment. This purpose can involve them experiencing stress and anxiety about the condition or future of their ill friend or relative, for example. These are a few instances that show how people may find their capabilities impaired or undermined for reasons related essentially to their purposes for being in hospitals.

As explained previously, the purpose for which people go to a hospital more or less centres on the notion of healing. Furthermore, as previously mentioned, this concept in its broader meaning can convey a sense of striving against not only harm to bodily health capabilities, but also harms of other capabilities such as emotion, affiliation, play and the like. Therefore, we

¹⁰³ See section 4.4.

can say that the concept of healing in hospitals can inspire a sense of acting against the harms which are related to the purposes people go to the hospital. I would like to take advantage of this sense of healing in my thesis, and suggest *the principle of 'design for healing' as the second main ethical principle of hospital design*, by which hospital designers are directed to consider the purpose-related harms.

The ethical principle of design for healing encourages hospital designers to improve the environment of the hospital so as to protect or enhance the capabilities of people who have suffered from purpose–related harms. The main theme of this principle, thus, is related to the function of the hospital (i.e. healthcare service). The principle of design for healing, therefore, mostly invites designers to consider the environmental elements which can support the healthcare service. Such elements can support the healthcare service in different ways. In one way, hospital designers should attempt to facilitate the process of care for medical staff. They need to identify how the hospital environment can give practitioners the opportunity to effectively treat patients, and then provide for that opportunity. A suitably designed theatre with sufficient support for equipment can ease operations for surgeons, a proper layout of an ICU with a sufficient view to all beds can give more control to the nursing station.

Appropriate design to enhance the quality of care and ease the medical service for staff in the light of the principle of design for healing, can be considered as a matter of acting against purpose–related harms for at least two groups of people in hospitals. The first is the medical staff who have to serve the patients. If the hospital environment is designed in a way that medical teams find working there easy, fast, and safe, they will experience less purpose–related harm, such as fatigue, stress, and so on. For example, if nurses in an ICU can see easily all their patients from their station, they probably have more time to rest there, in comparison with nurses who work in a badly designed ICU that requires them to frequently move around that unit to ensure everything goes well.

Undoubtedly, the main people who benefit from a high quality of care are patients; if the design of hospitals can affect the quality of care, the purpose–related harm of patients (i.e. their disease and its symptoms), will be removed more effectively. If we see such facilitating of the environment of hospitals from the viewpoint of its benefits for patients, this kind of design would be action against purpose–related harms of patients in an indirect form of respect; the hospital designer provides a suitable environment for medical teams, in order to respect the dignity of patients so that they can meet their thresholds of their entitlements. All in all, the principle of design for healing can guide designers to eliminate (or alleviate) such purpose–related harms by encouraging them to provide as much as possible a convenient

environment for treatment of patients in which medical service is easy, well-equipped, fast, and safe.

In addition to providing a handy environment for healthcare service, as studies have demonstrated, designers should notice that the environment of hospitals itself can actively contribute to the process and quality of care. For example, it can cause a reduction in the level of stress, help for faster recovery, lessening of pain and so forth¹⁰⁴. Hence, by considering such ethical elements in their design, planners can directly respect the dignity of patients by contributing towards an improvement in the level of patients' capabilities. Therefore, the ethical principle of design for healing invites designers to consider these therapeutic aspects of environmental elements and incorporate them in their planning. In short, the principle of design for healing leads designers to act against purpose–related harms firstly by providing an appropriate environment for the process of care, and secondly, by incorporating the elements of design which can positively affect the condition of people in hospitals.

It should be noticed that the concept of healing in this principle is linked to the purpose – related harms of the all people in hospitals, and it should not be mixed up with its common sense meaning (i.e. curing patients). Therefore, when a designer wants to apply the principle of design for healing in order to enhance the capabilities of staff or relatives, this would not be necessarily and primarily about the healing of patients, even though patients may benefit from such design as well. For example, the purpose of staff who go to hospitals, may be their work. Hence, some specific kinds of harms such as fatigue, work–related stress and the like are the purpose–related harms of staff; and accordingly the designer has to find out which elements of design can reduce the level of staff fatigue, for instance. Thus, the principle of design for healing, in terms of respecting the dignity of staff and relatives, is not about finding ways to heal patients per se, it is about a better environment for staff or relatives.

Another point that I have to emphasise is that even though the main function of hospitals is focused on the concept of healing (in common sense terms), a designer should remember that some hospitals have other functions as well (e.g. university hospitals). In the cases of university hospitals, therefore, the purposes of academic staff and students who go to the hospitals is not limited merely to the healing of patients, it also involves educational purposes. Accordingly, designing to address the purpose–related harms of these groups of hospital users, may demand some different facilities and elements of design.

¹⁰⁴ In section 4.8.1. some of these examples will be elaborated further.

4.5.2. Healing by Design

As with the previous section, I would now like to show how considering the principle of design for healing in a dignity approach can lead designers to identify their ethical obligations. For example, the pain of surgery can be seen as an instance of purpose–related harm, because surgery is a part of the process of care in some cases of treatment. The fourth central capability described by Nussbaum is the capability of senses, imagination and thoughts which insists on "being able to have pleasurable experiences and to avoid non–beneficial pain" (Nussbaum 2006: 76).

According to this definition of the capability, non-beneficial pain is something that undermines it and should be avoided. Although the surgery itself is supposed to be beneficial, the pain of surgery per se is an unpleasant source of harm which should be avoided (i.e. removed or at least mitigated). Therefore, undergoing pain after surgery is an instance of impairing the capability of sense, imagination and thought. Moreover, severe pain can threaten the other capabilities of patients as well. In the previous chapter¹⁰⁵, I explained how developing and exercising one's capabilities is crucial to respecting one's dignity by providing for the thresholds of one's own capabilities by oneself, provided that one can sufficiently concentrate on this duty and is able to act on it. The severe pain of patients can be seen as a threat to both of these two conditions (i.e. ability and concentration). For example, such a patient is probably not able to focus on his capabilities of play, control over his environment, and so on.

Therefore, the pain after surgery can be considered as a harm to a number of capabilities which is a case for the principle of design for healing. This means this principle leads moral designers to see how they can help to protect or heal any threatened capabilities by helping to reduce the level of the pain or making its period shorter. Such moral designers, then, cannot ethically ignore those studies which show that the environment of a hospital can alleviate surgical pain. Walch, et al., for example, demonstrate that the patients who undergo elective spinal surgery and are hospitalised in a bright room, required 22% less opioid–equivalent analgesic medications than those who are in dim rooms (2005). Another study has proved that patients who are accommodated in the sunny rooms stay 15% less time in hospital than others who stay in dull rooms (Beauchemin, Hays 1996).

Likewise, moral designers can consider other indirect ways of enhancing the harmed capabilities of people. For example, the environment of hospitals can positively impact the effectiveness of staff work, which would lead to better quality of care. Appropriate quality of care is that which effectively strives to enhance the patients' capabilities. Thus, by enhancing

¹⁰⁵ See section 3.1.4.1.

staff effectiveness, those capabilities of patients which can be protected and healed by hospital staff, would be indirectly enhanced. The principle of design for healing, therefore, encourages improvement in the quality of care. It highlights, for example, the study which showed that acoustic ceilings can reduce the pressure of work on staff (Blomkvist, Eriksen et al. 2005). Thus if a hospital designer designs for healing, the environment of the hospital will not only facilitate the treatment of patients for medical staff, but also the environment itself will help in the healing process by restoring or recovering damaged capabilities. Consequently, this principle supports designers to plan for the best possible place for healthcare service. In addition, this principle invites moral designers to see if there is any element that can contribute in the process of care, and incorporate it into the design of the hospital.

Again, although at first glance the concept of healing directs attention to the treatment of patients, the principle of design for healing, as explained in this thesis, concerns other people in the hospitals as well; whether this is families who suffer from anxiety and stress, for example, or staff whose work is stressful and exhausting. The principle of design for healing asks the designer to consider the condition of families in the hospitals and to ease their difficult situation. A moral designer, by this principle, would also pay more attention to the stress, fatigue and many other sources of harm which staff might experience during their work in the hospital. She would then attempt to find elements which can address these sources of harm in her planning.

4.6. Principle 3: Design for Reverence

4.6.1. Beyond Medical Care

Thus far, I have suggested two ethical principles: design for vulnerability and design for healing. The theme of both of these principles concerns seeing individuals in their particular medical-related context and then designing accordingly. There is no doubt that considering people in the context of their vulnerable situation in hospitals, as well as in their need for being healed in such medical environments, is an important ethical obligation of hospital designers. However, it is also necessary that designers do not merely provide for the health–related requirements of people in hospital, but that they also value their human status per se and consider the other entitlements of people that can be affected by being in the hospital; the environmental limitations which deprive people of their non–medical needs.

Patients in hospitals know that they are inevitably going to be limited by being in that environment: they will be at least relatively isolated from society while they are in the hospital; they cannot go outside and freely play or choose their activities; they cannot express their religious and cultural interests as freely as they did in their normal life. In many respects, the environment of hospitals can deprive people of their entitlements even when this is not a matter of their medical condition, but simply of being in such an environment. Therefore, there are other forms of harms which are caused by merely *being* in the hospital environment. I shall call these *environmental harms*, which can be removed or mitigated by a well–designed hospital. This indicates that hospital designers have an ethical responsibility to plan against such harms.

As instances of this sort of harm are not related to medical issues, less attention has been paid to them; perhaps this is because it is accepted that when one goes to a hospital one should expect to endure certain harms owing to the nature of being in a hospital. In this light, I think hospital designers need a principle to draw their attention to the fact that people in hospitals, despite medical concerns, have some general requirements and feelings as human beings. We require a notion to highlight the importance of this human aspect of people, in order to guard against merely focusing on medical-related aspects. It is essential to underscore the necessity of deeply respecting the valuable status of human beings. I suggest the concept of *reverence* to highlight the importance of this concern, as the Oxford Dictionary defines this notion as "a feeling of great respect or admiration for [somebody/something]" (Hornby, Turnbull et al. 2010: 1311).

I am going select the term 'reverence' to represent this ethical obligation of hospital designers, because this term can inspire designers to recognise that their responsibilities are continuous with very general human values and the notion of a 'decent life' (i.e. irrespective of the particular situation of a certain medical context). In this regard, I suggest *the principle of 'design for reverence' as the third ethical principle of hospital design*, the aim of which is to encourage designers to plan against environmental harms. The principle of design for reverence asks designers to identify the ways in which being in the hospital environment can reduce the level of capabilities of people, and then to attempt to remove or decrease the effects of those threats by using appropriate elements of design.

I would like to clarify that by saying 'environmental harms' I do not mean that such harms are caused *by* the hospital environment. In fact, all of the harms mentioned so far (i.e. potential harms, purpose–related harms, and environmental harms), can be caused by the hospital environment. For example, falling on the floor is a potential harm which can happen because of slippery floors. 'Environmental harms' in fact refers to those harms which are caused by

being in the environment of hospitals; by *being* in the environment of hospital, for example, a patient cannot be with his family in the normal way.

4.6.2. A Humane Environment

As with my explanation of the two previous ethical principles of hospital design, I am now going to show how the principle of design for reverence can guide designers to identify their ethical responsibilities, by giving some examples. As the first example, the principle of design for reverence can guide designers to think about the needs of people to communicate and be with their families. In her seventh central capability of human beings (i.e. the capability of affiliation), Nussbaum emphasises the importance of "being able to live with and toward others, [and] to recognize and show concern for other human beings" (Nussbaum 2006: 77).

Accordingly, being with others and having the chance to properly communicate with relatives and family, is one of the central capabilities which people are entitled to enjoy. To deprive them unnecessarily of this entitlement is to fail to respect their dignity adequately. However, the environmental limitations of a hospital inevitably deprive people, particularly patients, of such entitlements. To act against this harm, the principle of design for reverence suggests designers try to make up for these kinds of harm to patients. This is because the elements of design of a hospital *can* support social communication for patients (Melin, Götestam 1981). A badly designed hospital, in contrast, can have a negative effect on social support. Openplan rooms, for instance, are shown by a study to deter proper communication between patients and their relatives (Sällström, Sandman et al. 1987).

The environmental condition in hospitals can also reduce the level of some other human capabilities, such as the capability of senses, imagination, and thought. According to the Nussbaum's definition of this capability, people are entitled to freely exercise their religion (Nussbaum 2006: 76). However, patients inevitably will lose the ability to enjoy this capability in hospitals, if those hospitals are not suitably prepared for such entitlement. Design for reverence, however, requires designers to revere this right and provide for the religious interests of people in hospitals. Offering a suitable prayer room wherein people can pursue their own religious practices is an elementary example which should be considered. However, focusing more deeply on the nature of religious ceremonies and rituals reveals other subtleties in engaging with religious interests in hospitals. This demonstrates the need to know more about different rituals and practices in various religions so that designers can provide an appropriate environment for the exercise of religion.

Religious considerations in hospital design would be more complex when the different users of a hospital follow various different religions. However, in some cases hospital designers can still allow for different religious expectations. Catherine Robinson, for instance, describes how a hospital was designed in a way which was suitable for the different religious beliefs of members of the Indian Army of the Raj; namely, Sikh, Hindu and Muslim. In this project, hospital designers could not only provide for worship, but also they could deal with other interests and cultural requirements associated with these religions such as providing for funeral rituals, the culture of castes¹⁰⁶, religious diets and so forth (Robinson 1996).

There are many other human requirements in hospitals which are highlighted by the principle of design for reverence, some which are emphasised in the pre-existing literature and documents, such as respect for privacy, segregation, and even the cleanliness of the hospital environment. In general, the principle of design for reverence asks designers to think about the environmental harms that the hospital can impose on people.

To summarise, in the previous chapter I tried to address the entitlements of people in hospitals by bringing the Capabilities Approach into the context of the hospital environment. In this chapter, I endeavoured to consider the implications of this theory in a narrower discussion – namely by identifying ethical principles of hospital design addressed to the designers. I concentrated on the notion of the 'threshold' in this theory: a level of capabilities which everybody is entitled to practice and in the absence of which life would not be compatible with the dignity of human beings. I defined the condition of being beneath this threshold as 'harm' and, in accordance with the Capabilities Approach, I stated that the ethical responsibility of hospital designers is to provide a hospital environment that can facilitate the removal or alleviation of such harms. I defined this task as a two-step mission: stop worsening and start enhancing.

In this regard, I introduced three ethical principles: to stop worsening the condition of people in hospitals, I suggested the principle of 'design for vulnerability' targeting the potential harms

¹⁰⁶ It is important to notice that the ethical principles of hospital design defined in this thesis, are based on an egalitarian sense of human dignity in which the status of all human beings have the same value. Therefore, moral hospital designers should ensure that the provisions they design for people do not ignore the equality of human beings. In this light, if providing for the culture of castes, as in this example is against such equality, the designer should morally refuse to plan for such provision, even if it is a part of a religion, culture, and so on. My aim in citing this case is only to show how the environment of hospitals can be flexible in providing for different requirements including religious and cultural interests. Of course, such provision, as I mentioned, should be in accordance with the implications of human dignity.

in hospitals. For the second step of the mission of designers – i.e. to start enhancing people's capabilities – I suggested two ethical principles. Firstly, the principle of 'design for healing' which aims to remove purpose-related harms. Secondly, the principle of 'design for reverence' which addresses the harms which are related to the restrictions imposed by being in the hospital environment.

I also strived to show that these ethical principles can handle the findings of certain studies. However, as was discussed earlier, ethical arguments in the field of the hospital environment are rare, and we do not yet have substantial discussions on the relevant ethical dilemmas so that I can examine the abilities of these principles. This is the reason why I tried to establish an intellectual structure for this field (ethical considerations in hospital design): to create a suitable platform for future discussions. This is also why my thesis concentrates on philosophical issues, rather than presenting a merely practical approach. However, having such a platform, I hope that more detailed and specific arguments will be discussed by scholars from different related disciplines.

Thus, my arguments are focused on the theoretical aspects of the hospital environment. As such, I need to elaborate certain aspects of these principles (as much as the limitations of this research allow me) so that it becomes clear how they should be utilised. In this regard, I think the following elaboration is instrumental to creating a better understanding concerning the function of the ethical principles of hospital design.

4.7. Elaboration of the Dignity Approach

4.7.1. Subjects and Instances of the Principles

Above, I tried to explain the rationale behind my suggested ethical principles. However, I need to address some further issues raised by my suggestions. The first issue concerns the subject of these principles. Following the idea of the Capabilities Approach, the suggested three ethical principles are based on the concept of human dignity. Respect for human dignity is a duty of all towards others. In terms of hospitals, the dignity of anybody who uses the hospital environment should be respected (or, in Nussbaum's approach, they are entitled to be supported in their capabilities); this means designers should note that the subject of these principles is not only limited to the patients and 'medical' staff. In this light, it should also be remembered that the staff of hospitals are not limited to those who have a direct role in the process of the medical treatment of patients (e.g. physicians, nurses, and the like). There are

also other employees in hospitals such as administrative staff, cleaners, maintenance teams, and so on, whose dignity should be respected as well. Accordingly, when a hospital designer wants to use the ethical principles to respect the dignity of the hospital staff, he has to provide a supportive environment for all of these groups, whether they are medical staff or not.

It is also essential to bear in mind that hospitals may have functions other than treatment¹⁰⁷. Many hospitals, for example, provide a place for academic research, examination and education. Hence, the dignity of the people who use the hospital environment for these purposes is also important, and therefore a designer has to consider their entitlements too. This difference particularly applies in the case of purpose–related harms, because the purpose of these people is other than care. A designer who abides by the principle of design for healing, then, should expand this moral principle to all of these functions, and see if she can have an effect on purpose–related harms in these functions. Unfortunately, there is not yet a sufficient study of the impact of the hospital environment on those who use it for non–medical purposes. Therefore, further research is needed to identify the harms which people in hospitals may suffer who use its environment for purposes other than healthcare service, so that designers can find appropriate elements of design to combat such harms.

It is also vital to mention that the three ethical principles are not absolutely distinct in practice. The ethical principles suggested are based on a classification of the kinds of harms met in hospitals. I attempted to clearly distinguish those classes of harms from each other. However, in practice, instances of harms in hospitals can fall under more than one ethical principle. For example, if we consider insufficient sleep as a harm that can occur in the hospital environment, this can be dealt with by two ethical principles. On the one hand, a lack of adequate sleep can be caused by environmental harms in hospitals such as loud noises. In this regard, this harm should be prevented under the principle of design for reverence. On the other hand, however, this harm can be addressed by the principle of design for healing, if the reason for the lack of sufficient sleep is the pain a patient is in.

If a harm concerns more than one principle, it should not always be seen as a single problem. This is because several sources can cause such harm in hospitals and, consequently, designers need to tackle all of those sources. For instance, in the case of a lack of sufficient sleep, hospital designers need to eliminate the environmental sources of noise as well as try to facilitate the ways in which the effect of pain can be decreased. If a designer considers only one of those sources in his planning then the patient may be harmed by the other sources, which would result in the continuation of the harm. Therefore, even though the application of these

¹⁰⁷ See section 4.5.1.

principles can in practice be for a single case, hospital designers have to take the different sources of harm into consideration and act against all of them; this is what the three ethical principles invite hospital designers to do.

4.7.2. Conflicts Between Ethical Principles

One of the central issues related to ethical principles in the context of bioethics concerns the conflict between ethical principles. The same question may be asked about the ethical principles of hospital design. For example, if a designer can provide an ICU in a way in which nurses can see all of their patients from their station, this might be good in terms of the reduction of staff fatigue, and enhancing the quality of care. However, it might simultaneously compromise the privacy of patients and their visitors. Similarly, a porter may prefer to work in a ward with wide corridors, but such corridors may intimidate the patient. Therefore, the question concerns how a designer should deal with such conflicts in the requirements of hospital users. As these ethical principles of hospital design are defined on the basis of the Capabilities Approach, I will consider how these problems are addressed by Nussbaum.

After explaining Nussbaum's point of view, I will point out some issues related to the concept of ethical responsibilities in the context of the hospital environment. Firstly, I will try to clarify that the ethical considerations and principles suggested in this thesis should be seen in the 'context of design': the result of which could be different from other fields of study in some respects. I will explain that the ethical principles in hospital design have a 'directive' function, which means we have to expect principles to lead designers to discover the main ethical requirements, rather than specifically determining the ethical obligations. I will also elaborate on the point that in the context of design and art we are talking about the 'incorporation' of hospital designers is to resolve the conflicts of requirements, and to try to include all of the ethical requirements in the form of the hospital environment.

Before addressing the relevant arguments of Nussbaum's theory, it is worth remembering a (somewhat obvious) point. What might be suggested as the cases of conflict in ethical issues in hospital design are, in fact, the conflict between the basic entitlements of human beings in hospitals. For instance, in the above examples, the conflict in the case of the ICU is between the right to privacy and the harm of fatigue. Likewise, in the case of wide corridors it is between the patients' intimidation and the porter's fatigue. Hence, we need to see how designers ought to deal with conflicts between basic entitlements of human beings in hospitals. Now, let us consider Nussbaum's ideas in this respect.

There are some important points of Nussbaum's thoughts which should be considered in this regard. As was mentioned¹⁰⁸, all (central) human capabilities are the sources of human dignity. In this regard, every basic entitlement of human beings matters and should not be sacrificed for the sake of other entitlements; or, in Nussbaum's term, a 'trade-off' between capabilities should be rejected (Nussbaum 2006: 85). How then should we avoid making trade-offs in the conflicts between capabilities? Nussbaum's answer is that we need to look across the capabilities to ensure that the set of capabilities is coherent and can be delivered as a whole (Nussbaum 2006: 175-176).

This means that if we cannot support all of the basic capabilities of people thoroughly, then this signifies that the list of capabilities has not been designed correctly. Thus, Nussbaum's answer in these cases is to reset the basic entitlements in the right way, such that we have a list of capabilities all of whose items can be supported without the need to ignore some basic capabilities. If, despite resetting the list, we cannot provide for the minimum entitlements of human beings, then in such a society people are living in an undignified condition. Furthermore, as all human beings have equal value, if we sacrifice the entitlements of one for the sake of others then regardless of which side is sacrificed we will have an undignified condition for at least the victim of such sacrifice.

This is the case in the hospital environment: according to the Capabilities Approach, a moral designer has to provide a hospital in which people have a decent condition. If she cannot prepare such a facility, regardless of which party is the victim of such an indecent environment, she is failing in the aim of her ethical approach (e.g. whether the porter should experience a difficult condition of work, or a patient should be deprived of a peaceful environment, the result is that the environment of that hospital is not a decent one). Therefore, with regard to cases of conflict, the theoretical answer of this thesis is that we need to redesign the basic entitlements of human beings in hospitals in such a way as to ensure that designers can support all of those entitlements without conflict¹⁰⁹.

If any conflict remains then the situation is undignified and the designer has failed to meet her ethical responsibility¹¹⁰. This is the answer that can be given to questions concerning ethical conflict, without considering its meaning in the context of hospital design. However, looking

¹⁰⁸ See section 3.2.10.

¹⁰⁹ Also, see section 4.9.

¹¹⁰ Compare this statement with Nussbaum's position: "In desperate circumstances, it may not be possible for a nation to secure [all capabilities ...] up to the threshold level, but then it becomes a purely practical question what to do next, not a question of justice. The question of justice is already answered: justice has not been fully done here" (Nussbaum 2006: 175).

at the ethical responsibilities of hospital designers, it seems that the notion of conflict between ethical issues is unimportant for a moral designer: such a designer will incorporate all of the ethical concerns. I am going to unpack some more aspects of hospital design in order to explore what the conflict between entitlements could mean in the context of design. This can also help in better understanding the function of ethical principles in this context.

Beauchamp and his colleague (as well as many other bioethicists) base their discussions on bioethics on some main ethical principles, namely respect for autonomy, beneficence, non-maleficence, and justice. They describe the function of these principles in medical ethics as "an analytical framework intended to express general norms of the common morality that are a suitable starting point for biomedical ethics. These principles should function as general guidelines for the formulation of the more specific rules" (Beauchamp, Childress 2009: 12). Subsequently, they tried to address the ethical discussions about bioethical issues by considering their suggested ethical principles. For example, they address some ethical dilemmas such as informed consent, disclosure, voluntariness, and the like, under the issues related to the principle of autonomy.

The general theme of the ethical principles of hospital design is similar; that is, to set some ethical principles which "function as an analytical framework" and "guidelines", and they are a "suitable starting point" for the field of the ethical environment of hospitals. These similarities, alongside the fact that hospitals are one of the main mediums in which the bioethical dilemmas take place, can cause us to inaccurately view the ethical principles of hospital design in the same manner as bioethical principles. Despite the similarity of the subjects of these two fields of studies, it should be noted that they are related to two different spheres. The language, methods, and the context of designing and architecting is different from the context of medicine and bioethics. Therefore, the principles of hospital designs should be read with the language of design and art.

One of the main characteristics of the artist is their *creativity*. A designer, as an artist, should be able to flourish in her capability of creativity. To design means to consider a list of requirements and, accordingly, to create an environment in which all of those considerations are addressed. Designers use different elements and technologies to meet such a mission in their job. They should not be excessively restricted by determining the details of design. They should be allowed to think about the requirements and see which elements and what shape of hospital can address the required items. The more a designer is restricted, the more they lose their sense of creativity. In this regard, the ethical principles of hospital design should be able to *direct* designers to the main areas of requirements, instead of determining the features of design. Hence, ethical principles have to have a level of *generality*, but leave the details to the

designers so that they can fit the requirements to the hospital environment. This is what I have strived to do in this thesis.

As was mentioned earlier¹¹¹, the main ethical expectations from the hospital environment are expressed with the two concepts of people's dignity and their entitlements. However, as I argued, the notions of human dignity and rights are vague for designers and it is difficult for them to bring these concepts into the field of design. The difficulty is due to the fact that they are not usually trained for philosophical arguments. Therefore, it is necessary to interpret such notions using suitable concepts in the correct context and to clarify what designers should do in this respect. I have tried to elaborate a sense of human dignity and entitlements which is compatible with the context of hospital design (i.e. by using the Capabilities Approach). I have then endeavoured to bring those philosophical notions into the context of hospital design by interpreting them with more sensible conceptions for designers in the format of three ethical principles.

As a practitioner in this field, I believe that these three ethical principles are sufficiently directive and inspiring for designers and can guide them down the ethical road of their job. However, again, such guiding principles should have a level of generality and avoid determining every single issue in a way that causes, in designers' words, "a stifling effect on design" (Hignett, Lu 2009: 615). Therefore, instead of determining certain elements of design for every ethical case, we need some general ethical principles with a directive function which can guide designers to find the best elements of design on their own. For example, designers should not be commissioned to design a wide corridor to ease the work of a porter, which itself can cause a conflict with the interests of patients (i.e. by causing a feeling of intimidation for the patients). Rather, designers should be asked to provide an environment in which porters can work easily and patients can feel peaceful and relaxed. At this point, designers should be left to find a solution for these two requirements on their own.

Given the above explanation, if a designer simply plans a wide corridor which is suitable for the porter but is inappropriate for patients or, alternatively, designs a narrow corridor to satisfy the patients by undermining the rights of the porters, then she has failed to meet her ethical responsibility. She meets her ethical duties if, as Nussbaum points out, she sees the list of capabilities as a whole, and designs in such a way so as to ensure that both requirements are

¹¹¹ See section 2.1.

addressed. In general, the ethical principles of design should have a directive function which needs to be sufficiently general and sensible for designers¹¹².

There is another aspect in the nature of design which I think is essential to consider. As was stated, a hospital is a facility that is created by designers. Therefore, it is the designers who shape their subject (i.e. the hospital environment) in a way that they desire. The environment (i.e. the subject of design) is, thus, a changeable item. What a hospital designer does in her planning is, in fact, to consider a list of requirements (e.g. what is required by medical treatment, or hospital commissioners, aesthetic issues) and limitations (e.g. technical limitations, budget, available space), and then attempt to create the hospital environment with suitable elements and technology in a way that can address those considerations. Hence, a designer has to try to *incorporate* such considerations into the space of hospitals. In contrast to the human body which has a relatively fixed nature, designers can shape their subject (i.e. the hospital) and use different materials and technologies to make it in the way that they want – i.e. in a way that can address the requirements. This means that if designers see an element of design that is contrary to the capabilities of a group of hospital users, they *can* change it by using an alternative element with no harm to others. Therefore, the main concern of a hospital

¹¹² Looking at the ethical codes of designers confirms the existence of this sense of generality and a directive approach in defining the ethical responsibilities of designers. See for example, 2012 Code of Ethics & Professional Conduct by American Institute of Architects (AIA 2012), The Architects Code: Standards of Professional Conduct and Practice by Architects Registration Board (ARB 2010), Code of Professional Conduct by Royal Institute of British Architects (RIBA 2005), and Code of Ethics for Engineers by National Society of Professional Engineers (NSPE 2007). In exploring these codes of conduct, we can see that the ethical concerns in the professional relationship between designers, their colleagues, and their customers are discussed far more than their ethical responsibilities towards the building users. This is the case even though it is expected that designers should primarily serve the public interests even if this conflicts with the interests of their clients (Marcuse 1976: 270).

Here it is suitable to mention one of the problem facing such codes of conduct provided by renowned institutions. As Sadri says: "Today's codes of professional ethics focus on personal responsibilities of professionals rather than cover all the mechanisms involved in the emergence of the profession, and ethical problems in these mechanisms" (Sadri 2012: 88). In this respect, as I investigated in the above four samples of codes of conduct, I realised that notions such as providing for human dignity and rights, for instance, are not considered or reflected on in these references, except in a few cases. This signifies the importance of ethical principles for hospital designers: they do not currently have any substantial professional material by which they can discover their ethical responsibilities toward people in hospitals.

designer is to incorporate *all* of the requirements of people in her design by choosing the suitable elements and technologies which cause no conflict between entitlements.

The aforementioned Indian hospital is a practical example of this claim. As was mentioned¹¹³, the hospital users were from different religious backgrounds. Their religious requirements in some cases were apparently in opposition to others (e.g. their diets). However, the designers of that hospital could fully incorporate these religious concerns within the space of the hospital. Therefore, what is important in the design of a building is how successful its designers were at incorporating different requirements into the environment of that building (e.g. when we say a hospital is well-designed this means that the environment of the hospital is beautiful, suitably easy to use, sufficiently equipped for any needs of its users, etc.).

Overall, since designers 'create' their subject (e.g. hospitals) they have a chance to 'incorporate' the requirements and limitations in the form of a building. The ethical failure of a hospital designer, hence, does not occur when she 'decides' wrongly between two ethical requirements; rather, the failure happens when she fails to 'incorporate' the ethical requirements into her design. In other words, a designer has ethically failed in her job if she sacrifices the entitlements of some hospital users in order to respond to some other entitlements. This is the reason for my insisting on the generality of ethical principles: if we over-specify the requirements of people in hospitals (e.g. specifically ask the designer to provide wide corridors to ease the job of porters), we limit the designer's ability to manoeuvre the elements of the design to address the entitlements of others.

My concern in this thesis, then, is to figure out how ethical requirements should be *added* to the other requirements in hospital design (e.g. medical requirements, technical restrictions, etc.). I am aware that non-medical requirements have, to a certain extent, already been considered in the design of hospitals, particularly since the satisfaction of patients became a key concern in healthcare services¹¹⁴. However, the problem that I have found is that such ethical considerations are arbitrarily chosen and there is no systematic structure with which designers can ensure that they are considering *all* of their ethical requirements in their process. The ethical principles of hospital design, in this light, are defined in order to highlight the main areas that designers should consider in order to discover the key ethical requirements in hospital design. After identifying these ethical requirements, they then need to design their hospital in a way that addresses all of those requirements. I believe that 'art' is powerful and

¹¹³ See section 4.6.2.

¹¹⁴ See section 4.8.2.3. for a discussion concerning the Evidence-Based Design approach in hospital buildings.

instead of leaving designers in situations of 'deciding' between requirements, through innovative ideas and technologies it empowers them to incorporate all of the requirements together into the hospital environment. In general, as hospital designers are the creators of the hospital environment, instead of thinking about which requirements should be sacrificed for the sake of others, they need to concentrate on alternative ways, methods, elements of design, or new technologies in order to find out how they can incorporate apparently conflicting ethical requirements.

What can appear to us as a conflict of ethical entitlements in the context of hospital design can be divided into three kinds. I am going to mention a practical example for each kind of conflict to show that ethical conflicts can be removed by deliberation in the design of the hospital. The first kind is pertinent to those instances in which the entitlements of one person may appear to conflict with the entitlements of other people. The example of the Indian hospital illustrates that a carefully designed hospital *can* address the different (and even in some cases opposing) interests of hospital users. The second sort of conflict is the kind in which providing for some of one's own entitlements demands a condition which harms one's other entitlements.

For instance, the beds of patients in emergency departments are usually separated by curtains (instead of solid walls), so that physicians can get access to patients quickly in emergency cases. However, such separations cannot provide sufficient privacy for patients, particularly when they are talking with their doctors. In this case, the capability of life and bodily health of a patient seems to conflict with their right to privacy. How can a designer deal with this conflict? This can be done in many ways. The Modular Bed Pod, invented by Nightingale Associates / Bilings Jackson Design, can be suggested as a suitable solution to this problem. While this Bed Pod benefits from using curtains as separators (which is appropriate for the emergency departments), it has an acoustic system by which the volume of the conversations between patients and doctors can be reduced to avoid being overheard. This is an example which shows that the conflicts between one's entitlements can be removed by means of the hospital environment.

The aforementioned Modular Bed Pod is a part of broader project which is called *design for patient dignity*. This project was launched in 2009 by the "Design Council, [...] Department of Health, and healthcare specialists from the Royal College of Art Helen Hamlyn Centre to develop new designs showing how different privacy and dignity issues could be solved" (Design Council n.d.). They suggested some innovative elements of design that can address the entitlements of patients, particularly concerning patients' privacy and segregation. One of their ideas is related to segregation: a requirement when being hospitalised in a same-sex ward. This project aims to solve the problem of wards that have already been designed with a mixed-

sex situation in mind. The problem is that there is not enough money or space to change the current wards. This is the third kind of conflict that I can imagine occurring, where an entitlement of a person (or group of people) is in conflict with resources (e.g. lack of budget, space, etc.). To resolve this problem, they simply designed Retractable Screens with a light material that can be easily installed and uninstalled by which they can segregate the ward, or provide private space around a bed. These are a few examples to show how designers can be flexible in solving the conflicts between ethical requirements in hospitals.

Although designers are planning for hospitals which are places for medical activities, the processes of design and construction are from other disciplines – e.g. design, engineering, architecture. Therefore, the suggested ethical principles for hospital design should be considered within such a perspective (which might be different from other disciplines). In this regard, I explained that the ethical principles for designers should have a level of generality, which should offer an interpretation of moral concepts such as dignity and rights in a way that is sensible for designers. Such principles then empower designers to discover the ethical requirements of hospitals.

At this point their ethical responsibilities, according to the Capabilities Approach, are to provide a hospital environment in such a way as to ensure that people can enjoy their basic entitlements. I also hold that the art of design is sufficiently flexible so as to allow designers to avoid making trade-off between entitlements; whether it is a conflict between some entitlements of a person with her other entitlements, the entitlements of a person with the entitlements of others, or the entitlements of a person with the resources. The ethical responsibility of the hospital designer is to include all of the ethical requirements of people, rather than deciding between them. Thus, if a designer sacrifices the entitlements of one for the sake of others, she has failed to meet her ethical duty.

4.8. Evidence–Based Design (EBD)

In the previous chapter, I suggested a list of capabilities which I think is compatible with the requirements of people in hospitals. This list is specified partly according to the findings of scientists, in which the impact of the environmental elements of hospitals on patients and others are investigated. It suggests the main entitlements of people in hospitals. The next step in this thesis was to propose three ethical principles for hospital designers by which they can identify the ways in which those entitlements might be threatened, and accordingly focus on the elements which can remove harm to people in hospitals. I think that with this package (i.e. the compatible list of central entitlements of people in hospitals, alongside the ethical

principles of hospital design) we have established an analytical structure by which designers can ensure that they are addressing the ethical requirements of hospital users.

As this approach is based on the theory of the Capabilities Approach, which itself is based on the concept of human dignity, I suggest naming this ethical method of hospital design the *dignity approach*. The central concern in the dignity approach is to encourage the design of hospitals environments that respect the dignity of people and provide support for a decent experience of life during their stay in hospitals. Now it is time to see how the dignity approach can improve the current method of hospital design. As was mentioned earlier, the ethical requirements of people have already been considered in the process of design. In this regard, I am going to explain Evidence-Based Design as a method in which the effects of the hospital environment are considered in the process of design. Then, I will show that this approach has some ethical risks (or gaps) which cannot guarantee an ethical environment in the context of the hospital environment. Subsequently, I will argue that my suggested dignity approach with its intellectual structure offers a way that avoids the ethical risks in EBD and thereby enhances the current method in hospital design. For this purpose, I need to briefly introduce and analyse EBD.

As a subset of, or parallel to, the patient–centred approach in medical care, there is an approach to hospital design which is called Evidence–Based Design (EBD) (Becker 2009: 25, Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 26). Its aim is to create hospitals based on research which considers the effect of the physical environment on people. The more precise definition of evidence–based design could be:

Evidence–based design is a process for the conscientious, explicit, and judicious use of current best evidence from research and practice in making critical decisions, together with an informed client, about the decision of each individual and unique project (Hamilton, Watkins 2009: 9).

Indeed, there is a growing body of studies in this field which shows a deep link between the environment of hospitals and patients, staff, and organisational outcomes (Harris 2008: 3). Generally, this approach is capable of improving the quality of patients' experience and health outcome in hospitals, while it can bring the benefit of saving both cost and time (Phiri 2014: 3). A research team from Texas A&M University and Georgia Tech could identify more than 600 rigorous studies among several thousand research projects in 2004 (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 2 - 3). This study was updated and expanded four years later with reviews of more new research in this field (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008). Such a considerable number of research projects indicates a deep relationship between hospital design, on one hand, and outcome and cost, on the other hand (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 26).

Whereas a few decades ago we knew a little about the relation between physical environment and physical or mental condition of people in hospitals (Sommer, Dewar 1963: 339)¹¹⁵, these and similar studies show that well–designed hospitals that improve privacy, reduce noises, with better ventilation and many other factors, can positively impact patients, families and staff. Considering such elements in the design of hospitals suggested by EBD can improve effectiveness, reduce stress, increase patient safety, and bring many other improvements in the condition of people in hospitals (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004).

Thus, EBD addresses many ethical and clinical impacts of the hospital environment. In this regard, if EBD is comprehensively successful in covering all ethical demands of people, there will be no reason for a further, separate dignity–based approach in hospital design. In contrast, if EBD falls short of all moral demands of people in hospitals, then it will signify that a more inclusive approach is needed. Such an inclusive approach should be able to deal with the ethical concerns in hospitals as well as the interests of EBD. In this light, an overview of the issues which EBD has mainly emphasised would be beneficial for at least two reasons.

First, considering the areas of focus in EBD could help us to know more about this approach; and consequently, this makes it easier to analyse the ethical aspects of EBD. In this way, we can find out if EBD is properly able to cover all ethical needs of people. Moreover, exploring the EBD can assist us in having a useful perspective of the capabilities of the hospital environment. If we want the design of hospitals to respect the dignity of people, it is important to make ourselves familiar with the abilities of hospital design in respecting people. For this purpose, I am going to outline some aspects of the main effects of hospital environment mentioned by EBD.

4.8.1. Some EBD Concerns

4.8.1.1. Privacy and Confidentiality

Privacy is one of the primary concerns of patients in all hospitals¹¹⁶, particularly where it is not available (Sadler, Berry et al. 2011: 13). Nowadays, privacy has become an assumed

¹¹⁵ Complaining in 1963 about the lack of studies about the effect of the hospital environment on people, Sommer and Dewar said "More is known about the spatial needs of animals in zoo and circuses than about spatial needs of people."

¹¹⁶ See, for example, Leavey et al. (2006).

condition of the care process for people (Moore, Chaudhary 2013: 1), and in some cases it is considered as one of the measures for physical environment assessment (Glind, Roode et al. 2007: 155). Privacy in hospitals is classified in different forms. For example, Allen (1997: 33) has categorised four forms of privacy: physical privacy; informational privacy; decisional privacy; proprietary privacy. However, Lin et al. have considered it in three types that is 'privacy of the patient's body, space and condition' (Lin, Watson et al. 2013: 174). In spite of various possible classifications of privacy, there is no doubt that the physical environment and design of hospitals can protect (or endanger) the privacy of patients.

The challenges raised by patients' privacy can involve different aspects. For instance, in some countries, such as Nepal, medical consultations can be taken in one room with several doctors while medical students are probably there and able to listen to the conversations (Moore, Chaudhary 2013: 1). Even in one department, conditions of privacy may be different. For example, in one case study, it is shown that the privacy in those spaces in a hospital emergency department which are situated nearer to staff work places can be endangered (Mlinek, Pierce 1997). The arrangement of bays in NHS hospital wards, can threaten the privacy of patients in many ways such as allowing the overhearing of conversations between medical teams and patients, lack of sufficient personal information privacy, and the like (Woogara 2005). Sometimes a lack of privacy in the physical environment would impose extra difficulties for nurses. For example, in a study in Taiwan in which the physical environment is not properly configured for patients' information confidential (Lin, Watson et al. 2013: 174).

Many studies have also shown that privacy and confidentiality of patients are frequently ignored in emergency departments (ED) (Mlinek, Pierce 1997). In EDs patients' privacy is at stake for different reasons involving physical design. EDs mostly have rooms which are separated by curtains which may cause a perceived lack of space privacy (Lin, Lee et al. 2013: 6). However, review of EDs' design can lead to protection of patients from overhearing and being seen by others. This redesigning could involve providing inner or private space and also rooms with solid walls for examinations (Lin, Lee et al. 2013: 5 - 7).

Respect for patient's privacy is also important for confidentiality in hospitals. The insistence on confidentiality in medicine is rooted in ancient times. The Hippocratic Oath is an example: "Whatever, in connection with my professional practice or not, in connection with it, I see or hear, in the life of men, which ought not to be spoken of abroad, I will not divulge, as reckoning that all such should be kept secret" (Hippocrates 400 B.C.). Although sensitivity about medical information may vary for different ages and genders, many patients would forgo telling their medical problems to health carers if they are unsure about confidentiality (Moore, Chaudhary 2013: 2 & 3).

All in all, privacy and confidentiality are important ethical needs of patients in hospitals. Such moral requirements demand an earnest endeavour to recognise the effective elements of the design in protecting privacy in hospitals. To solve the problem of privacy, many suggestions can be rendered. Having single–bed rooms is one of the most common and is recommended for the majority of the departments in the hospitals. It has many obvious advantages in terms of respecting patients' privacy (Persson, Anderberg et al. 2015, Berry 2013, Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 26 - 7). The privacy enabled by single–bed rooms is also preferred by nurses, in a case study, in regard of the suitability for examination of patients by healthcare personnel along with some other advantages (Chaudhury, Mahmood et al. 2006). Suitable use of acoustic materials can also be considered as another means to protect privacy (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008: 136), although it has some other benefits such as lessening the adverse physiological effects of noise (Hagerman, Rasmanis et al. 2005) as well as creating a quieter environment in hospital (Philbin, Gray 2002).

The above examples along with many other studies caused EBD to consider privacy and confidentiality as one of the main ethical concerns. Considering these studies, which illustrate the effect of environmental privacy on the condition of people in hospitals, the EBD approach recommends that designers seek effective methods to protect the privacy of patients. Respect for privacy and confidentiality, on the other hand, are ethical rights of people in hospitals. Therefore, a moral designer shares this concern with the EBD approach. In this respect, then, the EBD approach and dignity approach are in the same boat.

4.8.1.2. Stress and Anxiety

"To be happy is to be unstressed"; however, people experience different types of stress in each hospital (Buckle 2015: 210). The stress and anxiety in hospitals does not only belong to the patients and visitors; the medical team and staff are dealing with high levels of stress as well. The hospital environment can be highly stressful for medical teams and particularly for nurses (Gowell, Boverie 1992). This problem becomes acute when the stress of nurses adversely affects a number of factors such as the quality of care and absenteeism (Alsaraireh, Quinn Griffin et al. 2014). Therefore, all people are at risk of stress in the hospital environment. The physical environment itself can exacerbate the stress of people in hospitals. For example, the noise in the hospital is a source of stress (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 5).

However, research demonstrates that the design of hospitals is a factor in patients' stress reduction (Ulrich 2000: 1 & 8). There are a number of ways in which hospital design can lead to reduction of the level of stress. Providing views of nature and positive distractions; creating hospital gardens; making the environment pleasant–feeling, comfortable, aesthetically pleasing and informative (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 21, 22, 25, 26 & 27); supportive design for staff, such as providing adjustable workstations and comfortable break areas (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 26 – 7, Ulrich 2000: 1 & 6); designing in respect for privacy, socially supportive areas (Ulrich 2000: 5) and clear wayfinding (Cahnman 2014) are some of the examples of the positive effect of the environment on people by well–designed hospitals. Therefore, design for reduction in stress and anxiety is the one of the central concerns in the EBD.

4.8.1.3. Social Support and Communication

The need for social support and appropriate communication with staff tends to be the single most crucial factor for overall satisfaction with care in all categories (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 24). For instance, social support by close relatives of terminally ill patients can increase the sense of life fulfilment and overall life satisfaction of dying patients (Dobríková, Pčolková et al. 2015). Even outside the hospitals, social support has a significant role in the prescribed treatment regimen of a patient (Pinto, Schub 2016). Social support is also an essential contributor to the well–being of patients with some particular illness, such as diabetes(Aylaz, Karadağ et al. 2015), HIV patients (Lifson, Workneh et al. 2015), depressed cancer patients (Oh, Ell 2015), and discharged patients from intensive care units (ICU) (Tilburgs, Nijkamp et al. 2015).

Even though hospital design itself cannot create a communication, it can play a crucial role as a part of an 'organization's ecological system' (Becker 2009: 26). In other words, hospital design can facilitate or pave the way to good communication in hospitals. Such a supportive hospital environment results in better recovery outcomes, in addition to satisfaction of both staff and patients (Becker 2009: 26, Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 23 & 24, Ulrich 2000: 5 & 6). Although a few years ago there was little research regarding the role of hospital design in communication (Kelly 2003: 2286), EBD suggest some suitable elements in hospital design to provide a socialised environment, such as well–designed waiting areas, proper access to food, telephone and restrooms, appropriate accommodation for the night, and social and relaxing environments, like gardens with sufficient sitting and meeting areas for patients and their relatives (Ulrich 2000: 6). Moreover, providing single–bed rooms can give a suitable opportunity to family and friends to have appropriate communication with their loved–ones

(Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 23, 26 & 27). Although, single–bed rooms may act negatively for socialising the young inpatients, if it does not suitably provide accommodation for parents (Morgan 2010).

4.8.1.4. Quality of Care and Outcomes

Quality of care and better outcomes are significant targets for EBD advocates. A large body of research illustrates how well-designed hospitals can positively influence the quality of care. Better quality of care is not always seen as a counterpart of other ethical concerns (e.g. privacy, stress, etc.), but it is considered as a concern under the heading of which all these items are gathered. For instance, a research team identified some areas of outcomes on which physical environment can impact, which involve reduction of staff stress and fatigue; increase in effectiveness of care delivering, improvement of patient safety, reduction of patient stress levels; improvement of clinical outcomes; and finally improvement of overall healthcare quality (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 3). Even lack of natural light from windows can be harmful to patients in critical care (Ulrich 2000: 3). Bright light, in contrast, can have an effect on 'depression', 'sleep', 'length of stay' and many other parameters (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 20).

Given the above explanations, some considerations such as good communication, which can reduce the anxiety of patients and families, would result in positive outcomes and patient satisfaction (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 24). Another example is the single–bed room, which was reported above to be one of the highly recommended methods for providing an appropriate setting for proper communication between the patient and staff or her family. Moreover, in addition to the effect of well–enabled communication on the quality of care, single–bed rooms are also able to "lower hospital–induced nosocomial infections, reduce room transfers and associated medical errors, greatly lessen noise, improve patient confidentiality and privacy" and can thereby "increase patients' overall satisfaction with health care" (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 26), all of which can be considered as an increase in the quality of care.

As it can be seen many parameters are studied which can have different effects on the quality of care such as reduced stress and anxiety for patients and family (visitors); improved sleep; reduced pain; lower infection occurrence; improved patient satisfaction; benefits for staff (reduced stress, improved job satisfaction, possibility of reduced turnover, greater attraction of qualified employees); cost savings by improving medical outcomes (such as reduced infection occurrence; reduced intake of costly strong analgesics; and some patients might be moved sooner from intensive or acute care to less costly care units) (Ulrich 2000: 8, Glind, Roode et al. 2007: 155).

4.8.2. Ethical Failures of the EBD Approach

Thousands of research projects have investigated the effects of the physical environment in hospitals on people. A wide range of issues have recognised the impact of the hospital's environment. What are mentioned above (e.g. stress and anxiety, social support, quality of care and better outcome), are some major items which have frequently been considered in these studies. Having a substantial body of research in these fields, EBD pays considerable attention to the capabilities of design in order to serve people in healthcare buildings. The brief explanation above was an attempt to show some aspects of the power of the art of design to address various needs of people in hospitals. Relying on such vital documents which illustrate the scope of capabilities of design to respect the dignity of people, EBD appears to be a consistent method of design to address the interests of patients. Now the question is whether or not such a patient–centred approach can successfully respond to the *ethical* needs of patients (and other users of the hospital environment).

At first glance, it seems the answer is affirmative because there is much research in which morally relevant aspects of hospital design are investigated. However, the studies which are the basis of EBD are questionable with regard to the ethical entitlements of patients. There is no doubt that providing for privacy, reducing of stress, and the like concern the entitlements of people in hospitals. However, we ought to know on what basis these entitlements are chosen to be considered in hospitals. It seems the answer for EBD is: these are scientific findings. EBD uses scientific findings to seek the relation between the physical environment and people. But the following ought to be clear: on the basis of what idea are these entitlements grounded?

Although different research projects may use different concepts to convey the object of their research, the core concerns of EBD can be generally classified under the following headings: *medical outcomes* (i.e. how the hospital environment can affect the process of care and improve the health condition of people in hospitals such as by decreasing medical error, pain of patients and so on), *financial issues* (i.e. how the hospital environment can minimise the cost of treatment), and *satisfaction* (the effect of the environment on the satisfaction of people in hospitals). In the following, however, I will show that this is not a suitable basis for designers to pursue their ethical duties.

4.8.2.1. Medical Outcomes

A considerable portion of the body of research in this field investigates the relation between the physical environment and clinical outcomes. For example, in a 2008 literature review Ulrich et al. define two criteria to separate the credible evidence from the rest. One of them is the quality of the research and the second is the ability of the research to show "the influence of environmental characteristics on patient, family and staff outcome". Subsequently, they divide outcomes into three general types: patient safety issues (e.g. infection, medical errors and falls); other patient outcomes (e.g. pain, sleep and stress); and staff outcomes (e.g. injury, stress, work effectiveness and satisfaction) (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008: 102 - 3). Setting such criteria for their literature review signifies that the majority of the evidence which is credible for the EBD approach, in the view of this research team, is that which supports any improvement in medical outcomes.

Briefly, EBD has a vested interest in those studies which portray any changes in hospital design which affects the clinical outcomes of patients. Consequently, the reason that advocates of EBD may be attracted to a plan for the reduction of stress, for instance, is its clinical effects, such as the improvement of the immune system of patients (Malkin 2008: xii) or the blood pressure and heart activity (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 21). Even when opponents of EBD talk about the ethical environment of hospitals, it can be seen that their statements have a medical flavour:

Institutions should give top priority to patient–centred health care, and build an ethical environment to improve quality of care (Lin, Lee et al. 2013: 7).

Obviously, it is hard to say that it is impossible to find any evidence of concern for the needs of patients, irrespective of medical outcomes. It is beyond the scope of this thesis to examine all evidence involved in the EBD approach. However, what I am saying is that the overwhelming focus of EBD is centred on medical outcomes and financial issues. Therefore, EBD's evidence usually refers to these two parameters. My claim is not that such studies are not reliable. My point is that the ethical requirements of people in hospitals are not limited to these issues, and they include a wider range of entitlements, and therefore, as I am going to explain, relying only on these findings may distract designers from the other important entitlements. Before I explain the reason for this claim, I have to admit that this strategy of EBD to rely on research into medical outcomes is understandable for two reasons. The first is the fact that the chief concern in the hospital is the care process. Accordingly, it is natural to see the same interest as the core of the EBD approach. Moreover, medical outcomes are more measurable than ethical outcomes. Therefore, it is to be expected that evidence regarding the ethical needs of patients in EBD will be a reflection of evidence regarding medical outcomes.

However, such a focus on medical outcomes implies that if researchers cannot find any relationship between responding to the ethical requirements of patients and clinical improvements for patients, it cannot be expected that EBD considers these ethical requirements. Whereas, hospital designers have a responsibility to facilitate for the ethical requirements of patients – even if there were no research to show it has any positive effect on the healing of patients. In fact, the problem with the EBD approach (or, in other words, designing based only on the fields it studies) is its relation to clinical evidence when the ethical needs of patients can be beyond the scope of health outcomes.

For example, Ulrich and his colleagues (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2008), who use health outcome criteria to validate research for EBD, failed to address the importance of a number of capabilities which I have suggested as the central entitlements of people in hospitals. If designers focus on the medical outcome and its necessities, what would be the status of the requirements of the capabilities of play, practical reason, sense, imagination, and thought? How would the environment support patients to enjoy their right to laugh, to play, to be able to live with animals and plants, or to follow their cultural, personal, or religious interests? There is nothing substantial about the importance of facilitating for such entitlements in hospitals among the recommendations Ulrich and his colleagues make on the basis of their literature review. This might be because they were unable to find any rigorous work which assesses, for example, the effect of religious practice on the health condition of patients. However, the point is that even if no research could find any relationship between these entitlements and medical outcomes, it is still the right of people to have an opportunity to pursue all their basic entitlements; and designers have an ethical responsibility to facilitate them in hospitals. The same problem (or worse) can be seen in the other chief concern of EBD - its consideration of financial benefits.

4.8.2.2. Financial Concerns

Similar to the concerns about the medical outcomes, it is important for EBD to know how the design of hospitals can reduce the cost of healthcare services. Sadler et al. for example, believe "[c]hanges in the physical facility provide real opportunities for improving patient and worker safety and quality while reducing operating costs" (2011: 13). This concern is because besides the price escalation of building a hospital, the cost of medical procedures themselves is a principal concern (Malkin 2008: xiii). Therefore, another main part of the evidence considered in the EBD approach is those kinds of studies which can specify any reduction in the cost of the care process.

Moreover, it is also crucial for hospital designers to know if the patient-centred approach in EBD would impose extra cost for healthcare budgets. To respond to such concerns, some research states changes in hospital design in order to improve medical outcomes, such as reduced infection occurrence, reduced intake of costly strong analgesics, and the movement of some patients sooner from intensive or acute care to less expensive care units, can help to save the cost of care in hospital (Ulrich 2000: 8). For EBD "most supportive characteristics or strategies probably cost no more than poorly designed or unsupportive facilities and many cost less" (Ulrich 2000: 8).

It is justifiable for designers to see how they can reduce the price of healthcare. However, similarly to the design for outcomes, ethical issues covered by EBD under the guise of financial concerns cannot guarantee support for patient's moral requirements. The ethical needs of people in hospitals are essential because patients are human beings. The dignity of patients should be respected even if that respect does not increase either the quality of care or help to save costs. I mentioned above that in some studies, authors try to prove that design for better medical outcomes does not impose a considerable extra cost to the hospital providers. However, I believe that the ethical rights of people in hospitals should be responded to even if it needs an extra budget. For the same reason that many states provide standards of the rights of people in their nations and dedicate considerable funds to support human rights (e.g. education), the minimum rights of patients regarding the hospital environment should be specified. All hospital providers and designers, then, should be obliged to provide for such minimum rights of people even if there is a cost for hospital providers.

Therefore, EBD cannot claim that it completely considers the ethical needs of patients. This is because the entitlements they focus on in their planning are not coming from a systematic structure which can guarantee that all ethical requirements are addressed. This approach, rather, is based on scientific findings. In other words, EBD considers those entitlements for which there are considerable studies affirming its positive effect. But, it would be probably silent for the other entitlements. In contrast, my suggested dignity approach starts from the basic entitlements of people in hospitals. I first determined a list of the central entitlements of human beings in hospitals¹¹⁷. Identifying the key human entitlements, I introduced three ethical principles to show how those entitlements might be harmed in hospitals. With such a

¹¹⁷ See section 3.5.

systematic structure, hospital designers would know how they have to plan, as they would know to what entitlements their hospital should be responsive¹¹⁸.

However, EBD proponents may still believe that this strategy of hospital design is sufficient for the moral demands of patients. This is because of EBD's concerns about the satisfaction of hospital users. Researchers have explored the satisfaction of patients during their stay in hospitals, as well as the satisfaction of family and staff. Obviously, without a proper answer to the ethical needs of people in hospital, they would not be satisfied, at least not fully satisfied. Therefore, it might be thought, by considering the satisfaction of patients, family and staff in hospital design, the ethical needs of patients would be answered automatically. It does not matter if evidence used by EBD considers the ethical needs of patients; since the satisfaction of patients is an important element, EBD can cover the ethical needs of patients under that heading. This answer needs more scrutiny.

4.8.2.3. Patient Satisfaction

Nowadays, it is expected that the environment of hospitals can improve many previously unexpected factors such as medical quality, reduction in the evitable costs, minimizing the length of stay, patients' satisfaction (or 'feel–good') and so on (von Eiff 2012: 48). This implies that hospital environments can play a considerable role in improving the satisfaction of people in hospital. Enhancing the patients' and staff's satisfaction would result in better outcomes (Ulrich 2000: 8) and can make the job easier (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 5). Satisfaction of patients can be gained in different ways, such as the feeling of being satisfied with the quality of care provided. For example, it is reported that creating gardens and nature in hospitals would result in patient and family satisfaction with the quality of care given there (Leavey, Papageorgiou et al. 2006: 89). In other research the provision of single bedrooms is suggested as a way of improving of satisfaction with health care (Ulrich, Zimring et al. 2004: 26 - 7).

In one case study, researchers tried to redesign the environment and medical processes in an emergency department with the aim of improvement of patient satisfaction and privacy. Their

¹¹⁸ As was mentioned, the two principles of 'design for vulnerability' and 'design for healing' are mostly about medical outcomes. However, it seems EBD has missed the harms one may experience in hospitals for merely being in the hospital environment (i.e. those which are addressed by the principle of 'design for reverence'). Although this concern, as I am about to explain it, might be, to a certain extent, removed by EBD's insistence on 'patient satisfaction'. However, as I will explain, the notion of satisfaction cannot guarantee all of the ethical entitlements of people in hospitals.

study shows their attempts were successful and that redesigning the physical environment (such as providing private observation areas for patients) improved the satisfaction of patients (Lin, Lee et al. 2013: 7). They also show that patients who stay in the hallway for their treatment were more dissatisfied in comparison with those who were treated in wards (Lin, Lee et al. 2013: 7). Designing for various conditions can impact satisfaction in hospitals. Good communication and more comfortable, aesthetically pleasing, and informative environments can be counted as instances of such conditions. Leavey et al. believe safety, privacy and dignity are important factors to determine patient's satisfaction in wards (2006: 89)¹¹⁹. All in all, studies have confirmed that the environment of hospital can undoubtedly improve the satisfaction of people.

In previous passages, I mentioned that research regarded by the EBD is predominantly concerned about the effect of the physical environment on either quality of care or cost. Whether the concerns about satisfaction are rooted in the improvement of the quality of care or reduction of the cost, people would not be satisfied if their moral needs were not responded to appropriately. This might seem to tell against the dignity approach in hospital design, because satisfying patients would already involve respecting their dignity. Thus it might be argued that the satisfaction approach in the EBD is sufficiently inclusive of ethical demands and there is no need for a separate dignity approach. Therefore, two notions in the context of hospital designing can be considered both of which might be thought to enable designers to fully appreciate people's rights: dignity and satisfaction. Now we should see which one of these two notions can respond to the ethical needs of patients most thoroughly and appropriately.

To answer this question, firstly it should be mentioned that it is not true that every attempt to satisfy people would be necessarily a moral action. People may be satisfied by many things which are not necessarily ethical. For instance, some people may like to eavesdrop over the conversations between physicians and their neighbouring patients, but hospital designers should not provide for such immoral interests of these people just to satisfy them¹²⁰. Therefore, over–emphasising the importance of patients' satisfaction could misguide the designers in this regard. The significance of satisfaction of people in the hospital design should be defined in an ethical framework. Hence, it might or should be supposed that the satisfaction mentioned

¹¹⁹ Dignity in this sense seems to be a subset of or a means to satisfy patients. In the next few passages I will challenge this claim.

¹²⁰ Compare this point with the Nussbaum's believe about 'bad' capabilities which should be prohibited, explained in section 3.1.3.4.

by the EBD is the 'moral satisfaction' which is not correspondent with unethical demands of patients.

However, I still believe that moral satisfaction cannot be a reliable alternative to the dignity approach. Even after limiting satisfactions to morally permissible satisfaction, it is still possible to imagine many practical situations in which acting according to ethical duty would not necessarily be accompanied by experienced satisfaction. A terminal patient in a coma who cannot consciously understand what is going on around her and does not have any relative who can accompany her during his stay in hospital, can be an example of this case. She is alone and finally will die soon, but still there are many ethical duties toward her which should be fulfilled. For instance, she has the right that her medical information be kept confidential and that she be protected from public viewing. A due and appropriate response towards her ethical rights is a duty for others, even if he cannot understand and consequently be satisfied with these ethical arrangements¹²¹. Nobody can ignore her ethical rights just because those ethical affairs cannot *satisfy* the patient. Thus, satisfaction of people in hospital is not a comprehensive criterion for assessing the ethical environment in hospitals.

In addition, the satisfaction approach even can be misleading for designers. The reasons for taking the satisfaction of people in hospitals to be important can be different, but, the financial concern undoubtedly is a primary one. Rivalries between healthcare providers compel them to convert their healthcare system from a professional–centred attitude to the patient (or costumer)–centred approach. Such a change in the method of healthcare service highlights the importance of the patients' satisfaction (Vuori 1991). In the 'hospital industry', as Raju et al. say, many healthcare providers are taking concrete strategies to apply principles of marketing. In such an industry, in their point of view, hospitals should be effective in four areas: gathering and using information; improving customer satisfaction and reducing complaints; researching and responding to customer needs; and responding to competitors' actions. They also emphasise that 'customers' of hospitals include not only patients but also physicians, insurance companies and other groups (Raju, Lonial et al. 1995). In such competitive healthcare marketing tools to monitor the satisfaction of patients are in great demand (Ware, Hays 1988).

Thus one of the main contexts within which the satisfaction of patients is defined is the financial concerns of hospital administrators. This concern even caused the establishment of Press Ganey in 1985, and after that many other companies, to give survey and advice service about the satisfaction of patients to healthcare organisations (Siegrist Jr. 2013). Thus,

¹²¹ Consider the responses to Macklin, who believes that respect for dignity is the same of respect for autonomy, explained in section 2.4.1.1.

satisfaction of patients in hospital does not necessarily have ethical concerns. In a financially– oriented consideration of satisfaction, the interests of people matter to the extent that meeting them obtains a better financial performance. This means that providing for the moral needs of persons which does not reflect anything in terms of the cost saving, may lose its priority. Even, in this point of view, the priorities may change. See the statement below:

Recent consumer research has shown that those born after the baby boomers are much more computer savvy and self-research their potential healthcare providers, relying more heavily on the patient experience reported by others. Millennials (those born after 1982) are far less likely to choose their care site by physician recommendation and are more likely to respond to branding and amenities provided. So far, healthcare organizations have predominantly focused on appealing to older generations who are by far the largest consumers of health services, especially in acute care settings. But as younger generations begin to take on caregiver roles for parents and grandparents, they'll likely demand more service, communication, and a satisfying physical environment (Cahnman 2014: 2).

Considering the above statement, if the satisfaction of customers is the aim (as it is in a financially–oriented satisfaction point of view), designing for satisfaction would suggest hospital providers designing for young caregivers rather than old patients, which is far from the main aim of building a hospital as a place to cure patients. It may cause hospital designers to sacrifice the ethical needs of the patients (who are in the more vulnerable situation) to obtain the satisfaction of younger caregivers. For instance, this approach may suggest dedicating funds to provide a Wi–Fi and computer services for the young caregivers rather than providing a supportive social area for the old patients (providing that the funds are enough only for one of these two amenities). In general, design for satisfaction not only cannot completely respond to the ethical needs of people in hospitals, but also it can cause, in some cases, the ethical needs of people to lose out to the financial concerns of healthcare providers. Therefore, designers should be cautious in the context of satisfaction as used in the EBD. They should figure out the meaning of satisfaction used in a given piece of evidence and make sure it is not contrary to the ethical rights of patients.

4.9. The Dignity Approach

In this chapter, I suggested three principles – design for vulnerability, design for healing, and design for reverence – as the ethical principles of hospital design. These principles, alongside the compatible list of entitlements within the context of hospital design suggested in the

previous chapter, constitute a method in hospital design which I call the Dignity Approach. I also analysed the current approach in hospital design – i.e. EBD – in which designers use empirical scientific findings pertinent to the effect of the hospital environment on people in their design of hospitals. Although in this approach the ethical requirements of patients are considered, I attempted to show that this approach cannot guarantee an ethical environment in hospitals. It is now appropriate to explain the advantage of the dignity approach over EBD. In fact, I need to explain how the dignity approach can fill the ethical gaps in EBD. In this regard, let us review the definition of EBD mentioned above:

Evidence–based design is a process for the conscientious, explicit, and judicious use of current best evidence from research and practice in making critical decisions, together with an informed client, about the decision of each individual and unique project (Hamilton, Watkins 2009: 9).

In the process of design, a designer should make decisions concerning environmental elements which can address the requirements of the hospital commissioner. As each project is 'individual and unique', the designer and her commissioner should consider the characteristics of their own project and discover in which ways they can deal with such requirements. In this framework, EBD suggests designers use 'current best evidence from research and practice' in the process of design. Citing some references, for instance, a designer may suggest a plan of design to a commissioner in which the rooms will be brighter and thereby cause a less stressful atmosphere in that hospital. In the same way, a designer may be able to find some other evidence showing how the hospital environment can impact on the condition of people in the hospital. For example, the designer may consider some literature reviews in which a list of rigorous studies in this field are listed, such as the Ulrich et al. piece I previously discussed. In this way, she may set a list of human requirements which can be addressed by a well-designed hospital. What kind of evidence is this? Looking at the literature reviews in this field, it is clear that the evidence is usually empirical scientific findings in which a causal relation between an element of design and a group of people in a hospital environment are investigated.

EBD is praiseworthy in running an approach in which the ethical requirements of people are weighted. Patients' privacy, their satisfaction, segregation, communications, and the like are important entitlements which are dealt with by EBD. My concern, however, is with the inclusiveness of this approach. As I argued in the previous section, designers cannot ensure that a designer can address *all* of the central entitlements of people in hospitals if they rely only on the EBD method. This is because, there is a considerable risk that one or more aspects of human entitlements are missing from the research. Thus, even though the entitlements that EBD deals with are admirable, they are not suitable as a starting point.

Although we cannot ignore the empirical findings we need a systematic basis which highlights the basic entitlements of people in hospitals independently, so that we can seek the best empirical findings which can address those pre-defined entitlements. The advantage of this strategy is that designers know what facilities they should provide, even if there is no scientific evidence connecting such facilities with patient satisfaction or medical outcomes. For example, a hospital designer may dedicate a space for a buffet in the hospital so that a family can eat properly while they are visiting - even if there is no evidence which shows such amenities can improve medical outcomes, financial benefits, or the satisfaction of patients. Overall, EBD has an ethical gap due to its failure to address all of the relevant moral concerns in hospital design.

Such an ethical gap cannot be removed by including 'ethical arguments' as part of the 'evidence' of EBD. This is because EBD's *problem of uncertainty* in covering all of the main ethical entitlements will remain: we would need the same systematic basis upon which designers can follow the relevant ethical arguments. In addition to this problem, using 'ethical arguments' in the process of design might be difficult in practice for designers. We should remember that the evidence cited by designers in EBD is usually easy to understand for them. They are expressing which characteristic of the hospital environment is good for what (e.g. bright rooms are good for lessening patients' stress). It is possible that this sensible and practical content is what has attracted designers to consider this evidence in their planning. However, the ethical arguments are not that easy to grasp for designers who are not usually trained for such arguments. Furthermore, there are not many ethical arguments in the context of hospital design and environment - whereas there are considerable scientific findings. For instance, EBD says single bedrooms are good for privacy, which can transparently direct designers in their project, but the ethical arguments do not usually address a specific element or character of design¹²².

As I mentioned earlier, many different ways might be suggested to deal with this issue. This is because this field is almost untouched and there is no substantial argument on these issues. However, my idea is that the problem of uncertainty can be removed if we establish a clear

¹²² I might be criticised for an inconsistency in my argument: whilst, here, I am objecting to the generality of ethical arguments, I previously (in defining the ethical principles) insisted that the ethical principles of hospital design should have a level of generality. It should be noted that what I mentioned as generality in ethical principles was about the importance of flexibility for designers in selecting the elements of design. Here, however, I think the ethical arguments should not be general for designers in a way that they cannot be linked to the practical issues of design.

understanding about human dignity and rights, and then try to find a systematic basis for ethical requirements in hospitals. Again, scholars may suggest different theories in this light, but my suggestion is Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach. According to her theory, the concept of dignity can be explained in terms of having a decent life, which is compatible with what we are looking for in hospitals for people. It was also explained that human beings are worthy of respect for their (central) capabilities. Such capabilities, in contrast to Kantian dignity, emphasise human vulnerability and indicate that people are dependent on the external world and need to be supported. Having this theoretical framework, I suggested the dignity approach which has two complementary aspects, both of which are based on the ideas of the Capabilities Approach; a hospital design method which not only considers the empirical scientific findings and ethical arguments, but also removes the problem of uncertainty found in EBD.

Firstly, I defined a list of basic entitlements according to Nussbaum's list of capabilities. This list, however, was tailored for the ethical concerns in hospital design. This is an important difference between the dignity approach and the EBD approach. EBD looks at the research in order to discover what is suitable for patients, a strategy which cannot ensure that all of the main ethical requirements of people in hospitals are addressed, because it depends which requirements of patients have been studied. The dignity approach, first of all, defines a list of entitlements of people in hospitals according to an ethical theory (i.e. the Capabilities Approach). This can cause designers to consider all of the entitlements of people; even those which are not studied yet, or for which the designers could not find any rigorous and relevant studies. Furthermore, the dignity approach sees hospitals as facilities; the means with which to facilitate the respecting of the dignity of hospital users - which should be well-equipped and designed in order to fulfil this function. Therefore, even though a designer may not find evidence which can prove a direct impact of the hospital environment on people, having the list of entitlements she can think about the ways in which the hospital environment can facilitate supporting the entitlements of patients by hospital staff.

Such a list of basic entitlements opens a wider window than that provided by EBD – aiding designers to support people's capabilities in hospitals. Moreover, as the basis of the list of entitlements is defined somewhere outside EBD's references, it can remove the uncertainty problem in hospital design. In general, whilst EBD waits for researchers to introduce new aspects of the hospital environment that can impact on people, the dignity approach has a list of entitlements in hand. The dignity approach is not limited to taking advantage of empirical findings¹²³, but also considers the ways in which it can facilitate all of the entitlements of

¹²³ I will explain how the dignity approach uses scientific findings in its process in the next few paragraphs.

people by the means of the hospital environment. These issues are related to the first part of the dignity approach. After defining the basic entitlements of human beings, it is time to determine how a designer can support the entitlements of people by the means of the hospital environment.

This second aspect of the dignity approach was completed by suggesting the three ethical principles. As the foundation of the dignity approach is the Capabilities Approach, I used the conceptions of this theory in this second stage; particularly the idea of the 'threshold' as the minimum level of basic entitlements which everybody should be able to enjoy in order to have a 'decent life' – i.e. a life worthy of human dignity. I called the condition of being beneath these thresholds 'harm'. The three ethical principles of hospital design –design for vulnerability, design for healing, and design for reverence – show the main three pathways in which people might be deprived of their minimum entitlements; the pathways can be blocked (or discouraged) by the elements and characteristics of design. In fact, in the dignity approach, I have separated what was already mixed in EBD. EBD determines what element of design is appropriate for what good (or what entitlement). The dignity approach, however, separates the two: it first defines the good in hospitals (i.e. people's entitlements), and then detects what element of design can address those entitlements.

What is the status of scientific findings in the dignity approach? Scientific findings can play roles in both aspects of the dignity approach. I was inspired by the empirical findings in designing the list of entitlements compatible with the requirements of people in hospitals, as I explained in the previous chapter. In the same way, it can be used for updating the list of entitlements. As Nussbaum stated, the list of capabilities is open-ended and is subject to change. We need to review the list of people's entitlements in hospitals constantly, to ensure it is up to date. Research and practice may be utilised in such updating. If empirical findings signify any important aspect of human entitlements in hospitals which is missing from the list, it should be welcomed and added to the list¹²⁴. However, this opportunity does not exist only for empirical findings.

Ethicists can help more significantly than scientists in enhancing the list of entitlements. More than empirical findings, ethical arguments can underscore the aspects of human life and entitlements which need to be supported; aspects which are not currently mentioned in the list

¹²⁴ It seems, in this stage of the dignity approach, it is the list of entitlements which can help scholars in their research, rather than vice versa. Having the list of basic entitlements, scientists can now recognise the main requirements of people in hospitals that need to be addressed. This can help them to identify the topics that they should focus on; namely, the capabilities of human beings which we know less about (with regards to how they can be affected by the environment of hospitals).

of capabilities. Overall, if a scholar from any discipline (including ethics and science) suggests any entitlement which is not addressed in the list of capabilities, it should be considered in the review of the list. To compare it with EBD, an EBD designer uses the latest findings in her research; but the dignity approach updates the list of entitlements of people in hospitals and renders such a list to designers to be used.

Therefore, enhancing the list of the entitlements of people in hospitals is a collective responsibility for all. This notion highlights one of the main ideas of Nussbaum with respect to the implications of her notion of dignity: the role of 'institutions' in collective responsibilities. I agree with this idea of hers: in certain cases, we need institutions to undertake and lead collective responsibilities. In this case I believe that, instead of designers, it is the responsibility of the pertinent institution (e.g. healthcare organisations such as the NHS) to provide and define such a list of entitlements. In this regard, they need to gather scholars from the relevant fields of study and reflect their points of view in such a list of entitlements, by considering the latest scientific findings, ethical arguments, practical experiences, and even people's complaints about the environment of hospitals. They also need to constantly monitor the latest debates and findings when upgrading the list. Such a list of entitlements could be considered a legal regulation, which would not only oblige designers to consider it in their job, but also discourage hospital commissioners from forcing designers to ignore ethical considerations in their planning.

The main function of empirical findings, however, emerged in the second part of the dignity approach, where the three ethical principles identified the ways people may be harmed by the hospital environment. Such findings can show the impact of elements and characteristics of design on people. For example, when a designer considers the fifth capability in the modified list (i.e. emotions) which insists that people have an entitlement to be relieved from stress, she might be interested in the evidence which indicates that unpleasant odours and air pollution can be sources of stress in children hospitals¹²⁵. In fact, using the "current best evidence of research and practice" makes much sense in this stage of the dignity approach. This implies that a designer should be aware of the effect of elements and characteristics of design on people, and decide to select the best one by which she can remove the ethical harms. As far as a designer is well-informed about the studied effect of hospital elements on people, the latest relevant technologies, new ideas in hospital designing, and newly produced environmental materials, she can be successful in designing a hospital with minimised harm.

¹²⁵ See section 4.4.2.

This explanation indicates that the major ethical responsibility in the second stage of hospital design is on designers (and not on institutions). It is a hospital designer who should decide between the elements, materials, and forms of design in a way that can remove environmental ethical harms, and this means she is the one responsible for any failure in addressing peoples' entitlements related to the context of design. This is the reason that I believe that the ethical principles of hospital design should be general, so that the designer can be flexible in selecting the most appropriate material or form of design for the detected harm.

However, in this part of the dignity approach, institutions can help designers by properly educating and also constantly keeping them informed of the latest advances and news in this field. All things considered, the dignity approach does not ignore the positive aspects of EBD. The dignity approach, in fact, is an evolved version of EBD in which the ethical failure of EBD is removed in a systematic way; a way in which the empirical findings have the same role in enhancing the quality of design, but the ethical arguments can also assist in improving the sense of a 'decent life' in hospitals; a systematic approach in which an attempt is made to remove uncertainties by providing a list of entitlements which can show the main concerns in hospitals.

The dignity approach is at the beginning stage of its life. As I mentioned earlier, I have not seen a considerable theory (or group of arguments) which addresses the ethical responsibilities of hospital designers. Because of the limitations of this thesis, my focus was mostly on the theoretical basis of the dignity approach. However, many aspects of this approach still remain undiscussed, particularly the practical ones. I hope the suggestions of this thesis can pave the way for more arguments and debates about the ethical responsibilities of hospital designers, the result of which would be ethically suitable hospital environments: places where the rights and dignity of vulnerable people are sufficiently protected.

Chapter 5

5. Conclusion

5.1. Summary

In this final chapter I will summarise the overall argument of this thesis and then discuss the possible directions for future research that it suggests. I will finish by briefly explaining some of the particular considerations that I have provided in this thesis. The main concern of this research has been to find the ethical duty of hospital designers towards patients' rights. When one talks about the rights of patients, attention is usually centred on the duties of the medical team. However, from this perspective, responding to the rights of patients would be limited to the ability of the medical team; 'ought implies can'. This means that medical teams can respond to patients' rights only to the extent that they are sufficiently empowered to do so. A suitably designed hospital environment can play a key role in this regard. This is due to the fact that the design of hospitals is not only essential for enabling the process of care, but can also provide opportunities to hospital staff to deal with a wider range of patients' rights, without which many of the patients' rights would not be met. Consequently, medical teams are not the only group who have a responsibility to provide for the rights of patients in hospitals. No less than the practitioners in hospitals, designers, who create the environment, have their own duty towards patients' rights.

Therefore, we need an ethical approach which can show designers the requirements of people in hospitals, as well as the ways in which they can provide an environment that can sufficiently facilitate the supporting of those entitlements. In this regard, I suggested the Capabilities Approach as the leading theory, whose ideas concerning human dignity and entitlements can guide us in finding an appropriate method of design. As the concept of human dignity is the basis of Nussbaum's Capabilities Approach, I tried to develop her thoughts on human dignity and entitlements. In this regard, I discussed the arguments about human dignity in the light of a consideration of Kantian dignity, as a very influential account of dignity in the modern era. I structured the discussion of human dignity around three main areas – namely the meaning, the implications and the theory of dignity.

I explained that, for Kant, the concept of dignity meant human value and worthiness, and that this sense has some characteristics such as being inalienable, incomparable, unconditional, and inherent. It seems that this meaning of human dignity is dominant in the philosophical perception of the meaning of human dignity. However, as I explained, the concept of dignity has some other meanings in common language. I mentioned the suggestion of Schroeder who

defines three non-Kantian meanings of dignity – namely aristocratic dignity, comportment dignity, and meritorious dignity. Although Killmister tried to unify the four senses of human dignity, in section 2.5.1., I criticised her suggestions. Nonetheless, I suggested that we consider the non-Kantian meanings of human dignity as one single conception in which dignity reflects the condition of a 'decent life'. I labelled this dignity as 'decency'. In section 2.5.7., I attempted to show that Nussbaum has utilised both meanings of dignity (i.e. dignity as value and decency) in her works, even though she does not explicitly express such a difference in the meanings of dignity.

The fact that the concept of dignity has meanings other than that of 'value' was instrumental in replying to some of the objections against basing an ethical approach on human dignity. In section 2.4.1., I addressed three main objections against human dignity, particularly in the context of bioethics. One of these objections concerned a duality in the meaning of dignity: in some references in bioethics dignity has an inviolable sense (similar to the Kantian sense), and in some others dignity seems to be violable. The fact that the concept of human dignity does not have a single inalienable meaning can be considered a reply to this objection. The other objection concerned the vagueness of the concept of human dignity. While I admitted this fact, I explained that by considering dignity through the Capabilities Approach we can find a more concrete sense that can be linked to human entitlements. In this way, the problem of vagueness will not be serious in the context of hospital design.

The last important objection against dignity was related to the Kantian theory of human dignity. Kant believed that human beings are valuable for their capacity of autonomy of will. Macklin, accordingly, states that the concept of respect for dignity in bioethical documents means nothing other than respect for autonomy. In section 2.4.1.1., I tried to reply to this objection. Despite the general objection to Macklin's equating dignity and autonomy, it seems that Kant's theory of dignity is one of the most controversial aspect of his ethical thought. This is due to the fact that in his theory people with severe mental illnesses are excluded from the list of dignity-bearers. Despite the attempt of some scholars to modify the rationality-only criterion of Kant, it seems that the ideas of others, such as Nussbaum, are more acceptable due to their focus on multiple capabilities as the sources of human dignity.

It was explained that in Nussbaum's Aristotelian-Marxian conception of dignity, human beings are valuable in virtue of all of their central capabilities. In this light, she attempted to define the main capabilities of human beings, and argued that as people have moral standing in virtue of those central capabilities they are entitled to be supported so that they can develop, practice, or secure those capabilities. Therefore, provisions for those main capabilities can be considered the main entitlements of human beings. Human entitlements are one of the implications of human dignity discussed in the section on Kantian dignity. Dignity also has other implications, such as human responsibilities, human equality, and respect for dignity. For their dignity, in Kant's view, everybody has certain entitlements. However, entitlements imply certain responsibilities: in Nussbaum's framework, they imply an obligation to support those capabilities. Therefore, hospital designers have ethical responsibilities to create hospital environments that are sufficiently supportive of the capabilities of hospital users.

Thus, the list of capabilities provided by Nussbaum can be utilised to determine what people need in hospitals. In this regard, I modified Nussbaum's list for the context of the hospital environment. For this purpose, I used the findings of two sources: the practical experience which can be mostly found in the documents of healthcare organisations (e.g. the NHS) and the scientific findings in which the impact of the hospital environment on patients are investigated. Considering these sources, in section 3.5., I suggested a specified list of people's entitlements in hospitals (i.e. a list of capabilities which determines the entitlements of people for being supported). This was the first part of a two-faceted design method addressing people's entitlements in hospitals. The next part, most pertinent to designers, identified the ethical principles for hospital design.

In chapter four I explained that the ethical missions of hospital designers are: firstly, to prevent the condition of people from worsening; and secondly, to enhance their impaired capabilities. The ethical principles to be applied in hospital design are a further specification of these ethical missions. In this respect, in the same chapter (i.e. chapter four) I suggested and discussed three ethical principles as the basis of hospital design which are interpretations of respecting human dignity in this context. For guidance in the first mission (i.e. stop worsening), I proposed the ethical principle of design for vulnerability. The fact that people in hospital are in danger from potential harms illustrates that people are extremely vulnerable in hospitals and designers have a duty to think about the ways in which their work can help protect people from being in even worse situations (e.g. through infection, medical errors, etc.).

Alongside that, hospital designers have a responsibility to consider the ways in which their work can improve the situation of people so that they can meet the thresholds of their capabilities. This is their mission of enhancing the situation of people in hospitals. I presented two ethical principles in response to this mission; namely, that of design for healing and design for reverence. The focus of the principle of design for healing is on those harms which are directly related to the purposes that people have for going to hospital (e.g. for patients it is to be cured, for physicians it is to treat patients, and so on). The principle of design for healing asks designers to contribute to the process of care delivery as well as consider how their design can help others in recovering from their purpose–related harms.

The principle of design for reverence concerns the need to protect and improve the capabilities that tend to be impaired or harmed by the environmental restrictions of hospitals. Being in the environment of a hospital, it is to be expected that people will undergo many hardships and restrictions. Attempting to remove (or at least mitigate) the harms which are not directly related to the function of hospitals (i.e. not directly the result of the delivery of healthcare service), is one of the results of considering people in hospitals as human beings. To respect such valuable beings, hospital designers should also provide for the non–medical needs of people. This is the main theme of the principle of design for reverence which aims to enhance the situation of people to a higher level (at least to the entitlement thresholds of the relevant capabilities). Taken together these three ethical principles, which are based on the concept of human dignity, can depict how designers can identify and meet their ethical duties towards people in hospitals. These three ethical principles of hospital design constitute the second part of the dignity approach.

In my view, the dignity approach can direct designers to identify the ethical responsibilities of their role. I mentioned in the first chapter that in my personal experience I explained the concept of human dignity to my architect colleague in order to draw her attention to an ethical failure of design. I believe that if I were to suggest these three ethical principles to her, instead of human dignity, she could more clearly understand what she needs to do. Particularly, if I also provided her with the list of basic entitlements in hospitals. To support this belief, I tried to show the strengths of the dignity approach by considering the ethical failure of the current method in hospital design. As we have seen, many studies have shown that the hospital environment can considerably affect patients, staff, and visitors. Based on such studies, the Evidence–Based Design (EBD) approach is defined as an approach in which designers attempt to use the elements of design which can positively affect the quality of care in hospitals; an approach in which patients are at the centre of their considerations.

In chapter four I argued that despite the positive move in responding to the needs of patients in this approach, it cannot be considered a holistic approach that captures and makes plain all of the ethical duties of hospital designers. What EBD does is to adopt the style and elements of design which research has shown to have a helpful impact on the healthcare delivered to patients. However, the emphasis on the quality of care and cost–saving in this approach, makes it more likely that many of the wider ethical needs of patients will be downplayed, overlooked or ignored. Furthermore, even though the satisfaction of patients in hospitals is an important concern of EBD, there is no guarantee that planning for patients' satisfaction about their surrounding environment ensures that all of the ethical duties of designers will be met. Perhaps the failure of the EBD in properly providing for the patients' rights arises from the lack of a systematic method for placing the relevant research in a clear and comprehensive ethical context. The scattered research referred to by EBD needs to be laid on an analytical basis that can lead hospital designers to a comprehensive ethical understanding; an approach that is concerned with all of the rights of people using hospitals, and that strives to facilitate the design of hospital environments responsive to such rights. Such an approach can correct the ethical failures of EBD and guide both designers and researchers to find the best ethical service that can be provided by the hospital environment. This structured ethical framework can also enhance the official hospitals. Therefore, I see the dignity approach as an evolved version of EBD, which not only improves upon EBD's ethical shortcomings, but also provides a systematic foundation upon which scientific findings can be considered in the context of hospital design.

All in all, the dignity approach suggested in this research can guide researchers and designers to respond to the rights of people in hospitals *comprehensively* by establishing an analytic framework for the ethical design of hospitals. The three ethical principles of hospital design, namely design for vulnerability, design for healing, and design for reverence, alongside the specified list of entitlements, illustrate the zones that a moral designer has to focus on when guided by the dignity approach.

5.2. The Need for Further Studies

In the previous chapters, I mentioned that this research should be considered a starting point in the field of the ethical design of hospitals. (Not a starting point in the sense that Beachamp and Childress defined their principles of biomedical ethics, as their principles were a starting point from which to argue and deal with the previously recognised ethical dilemmas in medicine; but rather a starting point from which to develop a new field of study in the context of hospital design). In this regard, in this thesis I have focussed my main considerations on the theoretical arguments; which means that many practical aspects of this topic remain to be explored. Thus, there is a need to work hard on the lesser-known aspects of this field of study. During the foregoing discussion, I have tried to mention other relevant aspects which can (and should) be studied in order to produce a strong body of evidence of the dignity approach in practice.

Here, I would like to briefly review them. As the dignity approach is double-faceted, I will divide the suggested areas of future study into these two parts. As was elaborated in chapter

three, the first part of the dignity approach is to determine the main ethical requirements of people in hospitals. I rendered an initial list of people's entitlements in hospitals by modifying Nussbaum's list and considering some practical experiences and empirical findings. This list of entitlements is general in the sense that it is designed in such a way so as to be applicable to all kinds of healthcare environments. Concerning the list, I can suggest two sorts of studies. Firstly, we need to work on the suggested list by considering a broader range of arguments and findings in different disciplines in order to (perhaps) improve the list of entitlements in this general form. Such investigations should be done constantly so as to ensure that the general list of entitlements is up to date.

The second sort of study is related to the ways in which this list should be read for each specific kind of hospital and medical service. In the same way that Nussbaum defines a general list of capabilities and suggests that her list can be modified for different societies according to their perceptions of the main capabilities of human beings, I think the general list of people's entitlements in hospitals can be modified for each kind of hospital. In this regard, there is a need to determine the meaning of each capability in any specific kind of hospital and medical service. For instance, what are the requirements of privacy in different parts of general hospitals, children hospitals, women's hospitals, and the like? This demands a two-step action: first, to determine a specific list of entitlements of people for all kinds of medical environments in hospitals; and second, to provide some explanations for each of these cases in order to depict clear expectations that a designer can understand. All of these aspects need to be studied in the future.

The second part of the dignity approach also demands further studies, which I categorise into two main groups. Firstly, the ways in which people might be harmed in hospitals should be made transparent for designers. The practical experience of staff, people's complaints about the hospital environment, psychological studies, and many other resources can help to provide a better understanding of the ways people are (or might be) harmed in hospitals. The other group of studies concerns new technologies, elements, materials, and forms of design which can help designers to remove the harms people may suffer in hospitals. Investigating all of these areas can enhance the dignity approach and thereby encourage designers to successfully incorporate such ethical considerations into their planning.

5.3. The Last Word

Before ending this thesis, I think it suitable to remind ourselves of certain considerations and limitations in this research. The first point is that the subject of this thesis is a matter for various

different disciplines such as philosophy, design and architecture, and medicine. Accordingly, to enhance this approach in the future, it is necessary that experts from all related branches discuss the implications of this approach in their field of study. Undoubtedly, considering the dignity approach from different points of view can help to improve this approach. Given that my aim was to establish an analytical basis for the dignity approach, inevitably the arguments of this thesis have a mainly philosophical flavour. Although I have tried to address the relevant documents and discussions from other disciplines where necessary, since this thesis concerns the intellectual foundations of the dignity approach, I have seen this subject mostly from a philosophical standpoint. Obviously, as mentioned above, the idea of this thesis can be developed from other perspectives as well.

The other point that we should remind ourselves of is related to the context of hospital design. As was mentioned above, the main theme of the arguments of this thesis is related to the philosophical sphere. I also endeavoured to form links between the discussions of this thesis and the fields of bioethics and medicine. However, it should not be forgotten that the arguments and principles of this thesis are provided in order to be considered by *designers*. Designers are from a branch of art, with their own perspectives and backgrounds. Therefore, all the arguments of this thesis should be seen from the viewpoint of a designer as an artist. For example, the ethical principles for hospital design are not intended to strictly determine certain formulations for all designers to consider important concerns in their planning, whilst allowing them a certain level of flexibility when considering different alternatives in their search for the optimum shape and function of an environment for its intended requirement. The other relevant conceptions in this thesis (e.g. the ethical responsibilities – or duties – of hospital designers) should be seen with the same framework in mind.

The final point, which I have already elucidated and will therefore not explain again here, is the fact that this thesis should not be taken as the final statement or conclusion of the dignity approach, but as the beginning of this method of hospital design. What I have attempted to do in this thesis is to illustrate the current lack of a comprehensive ethical approach in hospital design, and then to suggest an ethical approach (i.e. the dignity approach) that might remedy this lack. Therefore, further detailed research into hospital design in the light of this approach still remains to be discussed. This research is an attempt to show the need for, and define the basis of, the dignity approach and its associated ethical principles of hospital design, with the aim of providing guidance for the design of hospital environments that are fully in the service of the ethical needs of all of the relevant people.

Bibliography

AIA (THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS), 2001. The Guidelines for Design and Construction of Hospital and Healthcare Facilities. Dallas: Facility Guidelines Institute;

AIA (THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF ARCHITECTS), 2012. 2012 Code of Ethics & Professional Conducts.

ALLEN, A.L., 1997. Genetic Privacy: Emerging Concepts and Values. In: M.A. ROTHSTEIN, ed, *Genetic Secrets: Protecting Privacy and Confidentiality in the Genetic Era*. New Haven; Yale University Press, pp. 31–59.

ALSARAIREH, F., QUINN GRIFFIN, M.T., ZIEHM, S.R. and FITZPATRICK, J.J., 2014. Job Satisfaction and Turnover Intention among Jordanian Nurses in Psychiatric Units. *International Journal of Mental Health Nursing*, **23**(5), pp. 460–467.

ANDORNO, R., 2013. The Dual Role of Human Dignity in Bioethics. *Medical, Health Care and Philosophy*, **16**(4), pp. 967–973.

ARB (ARCHITECTS REGISTRATION BOARD), 2010. The Architects Code: Standards of Professional Conduct and Practice.

AYLAZ, R., KARADAĞ, E., IŞIK, K. and YILDIRIM, M., 2015. Relationship between Social Support and Fatigue in Patients with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in the East of Turkey. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, **12**(4), pp. 367–376.

BAUER, T.M., OFNER, E., JUST, H.M., DASCHNER, F.D. and JUST, H., 1990. An Epidemiological Study Assessing the Relative Importance of Airborne and Direct Contact Transmission of Microorganisms in a Medical Intensive Care Unit. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, **15**(4), pp. 301–309.

BEAUCHAMP, T.L. and CHILDRESS, J.F., 1979. *Principles of Biomedical Ethics*. 1st edn. New York, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

BEAUCHAMP, T.L. and CHILDRESS, J.F., 2009. *Principles of biomedical ethics*. 6th edn. New York: Oxford University Press.

BEAUCHEMIN, K.M. and HAYS, P., 1996. Sunny Hospital Rooms Expedite Recovery from Severe and Refractory Depressions. *Journal of affective disorders*, **40**(1–2), pp. 49–51.

BECKER, F., 2009. At One with Your Surroundings? *Nursing management*, **40**(8), pp. 24–27.

BEECH, L.W., 2016. Asclepius (deity). Salem Press Encyclopedia.

BERRY, C., 2013. The Patient's Perspective: We All Want Private Hospital Rooms. *BMJ* (*Clinical research ed.*), **347**, pp. f5828–f5828.

BEYLEVELD, D. and BROWNSWORD, R., 2001. *Human Dignity in Bioethics and Biolaw*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

BLANCO, J.A. and BARNETT, L.A., 2014. The Effects of Depression on Leisure: Varying Relationships between Enjoyment, Sociability, Participation, and Desired Outcomes in College Students. *Leisure Sciences*, **36**(5), pp. 458–478.

BLOMKVIST, V., ERIKSEN, C.A., THEORELL, T., ULRICH, R. and RASMANIS, G., 2005. Acoustics and Psychosocial Environment in Intensive Coronary Care. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, **62**(3), pp. 1–8.

BROWNSWORD, R., 2014. Human Dignity from a Legal Perspective. In: M. DÜWELL, J. BRAARVIG, R. BROWNSWORD and D. MIETH, eds, *The Cambridge Handbook of Human Dignity: Interdisciplinary Perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2014, pp. 1–22.

BUCKLE, J., 2015. Aromatherapy for Stress in Patients and Hospital Staff. *Alternative and Complementary Therapies*, **21**(5), pp. 210–213.

CAHNMAN, S.F., 2014–last update, Designing for the Patient Experience. Available: http://www.healthcaredesignmagazine.com/article/designing-patient-experience [12/15, 2015].

CAPRON, A., 2003. Indignities, Respect for Persons, and the Vagueness of Human Dignity (Rapid Response to Ruth Macklin. Dignity is a Useless Concept. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, **327**(7429), pp. 1419–1420).

CARE QUALITY COMMISSION, 2014. A Safer Place to Be: Findings from our Survey of Health–Based Places of Safety for People Detained under Section 136 of the Mental Health Act. Care Quality Commission.

CARLIN, M., 1989. Medieval English Hospitals. In: L. GRANSHAW and R. PORTER, eds, *The Hospital in History*. London: Routledge, 1989, pp. 21–39.

CAVALLO, S., 1989. Charity, Power, and Patronage in Eighteenth–Century Italian Hospitals: the Case of Turin. In: L. GRANSHAW and R. PORTER, eds, *The Hospital in History*. London: Routledge, pp. 93–122.

CHAN, D.K. 2015. 'The Concept of Human Dignity in the Ethics of Genetic Research'. *Bioethics* 29(4): 274–282

CHAUDHURY, H., MAHMOOD, A. and VALENTE, M., 2006. Nurses' Perception of Single–Occupancy versus Multioccupancy Rooms in Acute Care Environments: an Exploratory Comparative Assessment. *Applied Nursing Research*, **19**(3), pp. 118–125.

CHIGWENEMBE, L., 2011. *Dignity in Maternal Health Service Delivery (M.Phil Thesis)*, University of Oslo.

CLAASSEN, R., 2014. Human Dignity in the Capability Approach. In: M. DÜWELL, J. BRAARVIG, R. BROWNSWORD and D. MIETH, eds, *The Cambridge Handbook of Human Dignity : Interdisciplinary Perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 240–249.

COHEN, S., TYRRELL, D.A. and SMITH, A.P., 1991. Psychological Stress and Susceptibility to the Common Cold. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, **325**(9), pp. 606–612.

CONLEY, J., 2013. Dignity in the Dock. America – New York, 208(18), p. 19.

COUNCIL OF EUROPE, 1999. Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine: Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine. COUNCIL OF EUROPE, 2001. Additional Protocol to the Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Dignity of the Human Being with regard to the Application of Biology and Medicine, on the Prohibition of Cloning Human Beings.

COUNCIL OF EUROPE, 2006. Additional Protocol to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine concerning Transplantation of Organs and Tissues of Human Origin.

COUNCIL OF EUROPE, 2007. Additional Protocol to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine concerning Biomedical Research.

COUNCIL OF EUROPE, 2008. Additional Protocol to the Convention on Human Rights and Biomedicine concerning Genetic Testing for Health Purposes.

CUNHA, T. and GARRAFA, V., 2016. Vulnerability: A Key Principle for Global Bioethics? *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics*, **25**(2), pp. 197–208.

DAN–COHEN, M., 2012. Introduction: Dignity and Its (Dis)content. In: *Dignity, Rank, and Rights*. New York: Oxford University Press, pp. 3–10.

DAVIS, K., STREMIKIS, K., SQUIRES, D. and SCHOEN, C., 2014. *Mirror, Mirror on the Wall: How the Performance of the U.S. Health Care System Compares Internationally.* The Commonwealth Fund.

DE MELO-MARTÍN, I., 2003. Human dignity in international policy documents: a useful criterion for public policy?. *Bioethics*, **25**(1), pp. 37–45.

DEAN, R. 2006. The Value of Humanity in Kant's Moral Theory. Oxford University Press

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, 2010a–last update, Essence of Care 2010 (Benchmarks for respect and dignity). Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21670 2/dh_119966.pdf [12/09, 2015].

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, 2010b–last update, Essence of Care 2010 (How to Use Essence of Care 2010). Available: https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/21669 0/dh 119970.pdf [12/09, 2015]. DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, 2014. *Health Building Note 00–01 (General design guidance for healthcare buildings)*.

DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH, 2015. Handbook to the NHS Constitution.

DESIGN COUNCIL, n.d., *Design for Patient Dignity*, seen 13/9/2017 at: http://www.designcouncil.org.uk/resources/case-study/design-patient-dignity

DOBRÍKOVÁ, P., PČOLKOVÁ, D., ALTURABI, L.K. and WEST JR, D.J., 2015. The Effect of Social Support and Meaning of Life on the Quality–of–Life Care for Terminally III Patients. *American Journal of Hospice & Palliative Medicine*, **32**(7), pp. 767–771.

DVOSKIN, J.A., RADOMSKI, S.J., BENNETT, C., OLIN, J.A., HAWKINS, R.L., DOTSON, L.A. and DREWNICKY, I.N., 2002. Architectural Design of a Secure Forensic State Psychiatric Hospital. *Behavioral Sciences & the Law*, **20**(5), pp. 481–493.

Dwyer, J.G., 2010. *Moral status and human life: The case for children's superiority*. Cambridge University Press

EGE (EUROPEAN GROUP ON ETHICS IN SCIENCE AND NEW TECHNOLOGIES), 30/July/1999, 1999–last update, Ethical Issues of Healthcare in the Information Society. Opinion of the European Group on Ethics in Science and New Technologies. Available: http://aei.pitt.edu/43228/1/A7167.pdf [09/11, 2016].

ERGIN, N., 2015. Healing by Design? An Experiential Approach to Early Modern Ottoman Hospital Architecture. *Turkish Historical Review*, **6**(1), pp. 1–37.

FREEMAN, S., 2007. Rawls. New York, Oxon: Routledge;

FRIEDENTHAL, R., 1970. Luther. London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson.

GARG, A. and OWEN, B., 1992. Reducing Back Stress to Nursing Personnel: an Ergonomic Intervention in a Nursing Home. *Ergonomics*, **35**(11), pp. 1353–1375.

GERMANY, 1949. Basic Law for the Federal Republic of Germany.

GESLER, W.M., 2003. Healing Places. Lanham, MD; Rowman & Littlefield.

GLIND, V.D.I., ROODE, D.S. and GOOSSENSEN, A., 2007. Do Datients in Hospitals Benefit from Single Rooms? A Literature Review. *Health Policy*, **84**(2–3), pp. 153–161.

GOWELL, Y.M. and BOVERIE, P.E., 1992. Stress and Satisfaction as a Result of Shift and Number of Hours Worked. *Nursing Administration Quarterly*, **16**(4), pp. 14–19.

GRANSHAW, L., 1989. 'Fame and Fortune by Means of Bricks and Mortar': the Medical Profession and Specialist Hospitals in Britain. In: L. GRANSHAW and R. PORTER, eds, *The Hospital in History*. London; Routledge, 1989, pp. 199–220.

GROSS, R., SASSON, Y., ZARHY, M. and ZOHAR, J., 1998. Healing Environment in Psychiatric Hospital Design. *General Hospital Psychiatry*, **20**(2), pp. 108–114.

HAGERMAN, I., RASMANIS, G., BLOMKVIST, V., ULRICH, R., ANNE ERIKSEN, C. and THEORELL, T., 2005. Influence of Intensive Coronary Care Acoustics on the Quality of Care and Physiological State of Patients. *International Journal of Cardiology*, **98**, pp. 267–270.

HAMILTON, D.K. and WATKINS, D.H., 2009. *Evidence–Based Design for Multiple Building Types*. Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley.

HARBARTH, S., SAX, H. and GASTMEIER, P., 2003. The Preventable Proportion of Nosocomial Infections: an Overview of Published Reports. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, **54**(4), pp. 258–266.

HARRIS, D.D., 2008. *A Practitioner's Guide to Evidence–Based Design*. Concord, Calif.: Center for Health Design.

HASAN TEHRANI, T., HAGHIGHI, M. and BAZMAMOUN, H., 2012. Effects of Stress on Mothers of Hospitalized Children in a Hospital in Iran. *Iranian Journal of Child Neurology*, **6**(4), pp. 39–45.

HAUGEN, H.M., 2010. Inclusive and Relevant Language: the Use of the Concepts of Autonomy, Dignity and Vulnerability in Different Contexts. *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy*, **13**(3), pp. 203–213.

HENDERSON, A., VAN EPS, M.A., PEARSON, K., JAMES, C., HENDERSON, P. and OSBORNE, Y., 2009. Maintenance of Patients' Dignity during Hospitalization: Comparison of Staff–Patient Observations and Patient Feedback through Interviews. *International Journal of Nursing practice*, **15**(4), pp. 227–230.

HENDERSON, J., 1989. The Hospital of Late–Medieval and Renaissance Florence: a Preliminary Survey. In: L. GRANSHAW and R. PORTER, eds, *The Hospital in History*. London: Routledge, pp. 63–92.

HENDRICH, A.L., FAY, J. and SORRELLS, A.K., 2004. Effects of Acuity–Adaptable Rooms on Flow of Patients and Delivery of Care. *American Journal of Critical Care*, **13**(1), pp. 35–45.

HIGNETT, S. and LU, J., 2009. An Investigation of the Use of Health Building Notes by UK Healthcare Building Designers. *Applied Ergonomics*, **40**, pp. 608–616.

HILL, T. 1980. 'Humanity as an End in Itself'. Ethics 91(1): 84-99

HILL, T.E., 1991. Autonomy and Self-Respect. Cambridge: Cambridge University Pres

HILL, T.E., 2014. Kantian Perspectives on the Rational Basis of Human Dignity. In: M. DÜWELL, J. BRAARVIG, R. BROWNSWORD and D. MIETH, eds, *The Cambridge Handbook of Human Dignity: Interdisciplinary Perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 215–221.

HIPPOCRATES, 400 B.C. *The Oath (translated by Francis Adams)*. http://classics.mit.edu/Hippocrates/hippooath.html.

HORNBY, A.S., TURNBULL, J., LEA, D., PARKINSON, D., FRANCIS, B., STROBECK WEBB, S., BULL, V. and ASHBY, M., 2010. *Oxford Advanced Learner's Dictionary of Current English.* 8th edn. Oxford: Oxford: Oxford University Press / edited by A.S. Hornby et al.

HORSBURGH, C.R., J., 1995. Healing by Design. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, **333**(11), pp. 735–740.

HUISMAN, E.R.C.M., MORALES, E., VAN HOOF, J. and KORT, H.S.M., 2012. Healing Environment: A Review of the Impact of Physical Environmental Factors on Users. *Building and Environment*, **58**, pp. 70–80.

INSTITUTE OF MEDICINE (U.S.), 2001. Crossing the Quality Chasm. [electronic book] : a New Health System for the 21st Century. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.

JIANG, S., HUANG, L., CHEN, X., WANG, J., WU, W., YIN, S., CHEN, W., ZHAN, J., YAN, L., MA, L., LI, J. and HUANG, Z., 2003. Ventilation of Wards and Nosocomial

Outbreak of Severe Acute Respiratory Syndrome among Healthcare Workers. *Chinese Medical Journal*, **116**(9), pp. 1293–1297.

KANT, I., 1996. The Metaphysics of Morals. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press

KANT, I., 2002. *Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals*. New Haven: Yale University Press;

KANT, I., 2012. *Groundwork of the Metaphysics of Morals*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press; Revised edition.

KELLY, S.E., 2003. Bioethics and Rural Health: Theorizing Place, Space, and Subjects. *Social Science & Medicine*, **56**, pp. 2277–2288.

KELSEY, M.C., 2000. The Management and Control of Hospital–Acquired Infection in Acute NHS Trusts in England: a Report by the Comptroller and Auditor General--the who, how and what. *The Journal of Hospital Infection*, **44**(3), pp. 157–159.

KERSTEIN, S.J., 2014. Kantian Dignity: a Critique. In: M. DÜWELL, J. BRAARVIG, R. BROWNSWORD, D. MIETH and D. MIETH, eds, *The Cambridge Handbook of Human Dignity: Interdisciplinary Perspectives*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, pp. 222–229.

KIECOLT–GLASER, J.K., MARUCHA, P.T., MALARKEY, W.B., MERCADO, A.M. and GLASER, R., 1995. Slowing of Wound Healing by Psychological Stress. *Lancet*, **346 North American Edition** (8984), pp. 1194–1196.

KILLMISTER, S., 2010. Dignity: Not Such a Useless Concept. *Journal of Medical Ethics*, **36**(3), pp. 160–164.

KNOWLES, D. and HADCOCK, R.N., 1971. *Medieval Religious Houses, England and Wales*. Harlow: Longmans.

KOHN, L.T., CORRIGAN, J. and DONALDSON, M.S., 2000. *To Err is Human: Building a Safer Health System*. Washington, D.C.: National Academy Press.

KOTTOW, M.H., 2004. Vulnerability: What Kind of Principle is it? *Medicine, Health Care, and Philosophy*, **7**(3), pp. 281–287.

KROMHOUT, H., HOEK, F., UITTERHOEVE, R., HUIJBERS, R., OVERMARS, R.F., ANZION, R. and VERMEULEN, R., 2000. Postulating a Dermal Pathway for Exposure to Anti–Neoplastic Drugs among Hospital Workers. Applying a Conceptual Model to the Results of Three Workplace Surveys. *Annals of Occupational Hygiene*, **44**(7), pp. 551–560.

KUMARI, D.N.P., HAJI, T.C., KEER, V., HAWKEY, P.M., DUNCANSON, V. and FLOWER, E., 1998. Ventilation Grilles as a Potential Source of Methicillin–Resistant Staphylococcus Aureus Causing an Outbreak in an Orthopaedic Ward at a District General Hospital. *Journal of Hospital Infection*, **39**(2), pp. 127–133.

LARSON, E., 1988. A Causal Link between Handwashing and Risk of Infection? Examination of the Evidence. *Infection Control and Hospital Epidemiology*, **9**(1), pp. 28–36.

LEAVEY, G., PAPAGEORGIOU, A. and PAPADOPOULOS, C., 2006. Patient and Staff Perspectives on Single–Sex Accommodation. *Journal of Health Management*, **8**(1), pp. 79– 90.

LEE, P., Autumn 2001. Personhood, Dignity, Suicide, And Euthanasia. *The National Catholic Bioethics Quarterly*, **1**(3), quoted from: http://debatepedia.idebate.org/en/index.php/Argument:_Euthanasia_is_contrary_to_the_dign ity and preciousness of life[3/7/2017]

LIFSON, A.R., WORKNEH, S., HAILEMICHAEL, A., DEMISSIE, W., SLATER, L. and SHENIE, T., 2015. Perceived Social Support among HIV Patients Newly Enrolled in Care in Rural Ethiopia. *AIDS Care*, **27**(11), pp. 1382–1386.

LIN, Y., LEE, W., KUO, L., CHENG, Y., LIN, C., LIN, H., CHEN, C. and LIN, T., 2013. Building an Ethical Environment Improves Patient Privacy and Satisfaction in the Crowded Emergency Department: A quasi–experimental study. *BMC Medical Ethics*, **14**(1), pp. 1–8.

LIN, Y.P., WATSON, R. and TSAI, Y.F., 2013. Dignity in Care in the Clinical Setting: a Narrative Review. *Nursing ethics*, **20**(2), pp. 168–177.

LLOYD, G.E.R., 1983. Hippocratic Writings. Harmondsworth: Penguin.

LOGAN, K., 2012. Toilet Privacy in Hospital. Nursing times, 108(5), pp. 12-13.

LONG, R., 2001. Healing by Design. Eight Key Considerations for Building Therapeutic Environments. *Health Facilities Management*, **14**(11), pp. 20–22.

LOUDON, I., 1997. Western Medicine: An Illustrated History. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

MACKLIN, R., 2003. Dignity is a Useless Concept: It Means No More than Respect for Persons or Their Autonomy. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, **327**(7429), pp. 1419–1420.

MAGILL, S.S., EDWARDS, J.R., BAMBERG, W., BELDAVS, Z.G., DUMYATI, G., KAINER, M.A., LYNFIELD, R., MALONEY, M., MCALLISTER–HOLLOD, L., NADLE, J., RAY, S.M., THOMPSON, D.L., WILSON, L.E. and FRIDKIN, S.K., 2014. Multistate Point–Prevalence Survey of Health Care–Associated Infections. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, **370**(13), pp. 1198–1208.

MAKARY, M.A. and DANIEL, M., 2016. Medical Error–the Third Leading Cause of Death in the US. *BMJ (Online)*, **353**.

MALKIN, J., 2008. *A Visual Reference for Evidence–Based Design*. Concord, CA: Center for Health Design, 2008.

MARCUSE, P., 1976. Professional Ethics and Beyond: Values in Planning. *Journal of the American Planning Association*, **42**(3), pp. 264–274.

MARSHALL, L., CHARLESWORTH, A. and HURST, J., 2014. *The NHS Payment System: Evolving Policy and Emerging Evidence*. Nuffield Trust.

MELIN, L. and GÖTESTAM, K.G., 1981. The Effects of Rearranging Ward Routines on Communication and Eating Behaviors of Psychogeriatric Patients. *Journal of Applied Behavior Analysis*, **14**(1), pp. 47–51.

MENZIES, D., FANNING, A., YUAN, L. and FITZGERALD, M., 2000. Hospital Ventilation and Risk for Tuberculous Infection in Canadian Health Care Workers. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, **133**(10), pp. 779–789.

MLINEK, E.J. and PIERCE, J., 1997. Confidentiality and Privacy Breaches in a University Hospital Emergency Department. *Academic Emergency Medicine: Official Journal of the Society for Academic Emergency Medicine*, **4**(12), pp. 1142–1146.

MOORE, M. and CHAUDHARY, R., 2013. Patients' Attitudes towards Privacy in a Nepalese Public Hospital: A Cross–Sectional Survey. *BMC Research Notes*, **6**(1), pp. 1–5.

MORGAN, H., 2010. Single and Shared Accommodation for Young Patients in Hospital. *Pediatric Nursing*, **22**(8), pp. 20–24.

NATIONAL PATIENT SAFETY AGENCY, 2007. *Slips, Trips and Falls in Hospital.* 0483. NHS.

NEAL, M., 2014. Respect for Human Dignity as 'Substantive Basic Norm'. *International Journal of Low in Context*, **10**(1), pp. 26–46.

NEUHÄUSER, C. and STOECKER, R., 2014. Human Dignity as Universal Nobility. In: M. DÜWELL, J. BRAARVIG, R. BROWNSWORD and D. MIETH, eds, *The Cambridge Handbook of Human Dignity*. Cambridge University Press, pp. 298–309.

NHS,2015–lastupdate,Clinicaldepression.Available:http://www.nhs.uk/Conditions/Depression/Pages/Introduction.aspx [12/22, 2015].

NHS ENGLAND, 2014–last update, Understanding the New NHS. Available: http://www.nhs.uk/NHSEngland/thenhs/about/Documents/simple-nhs-guide.pdf [1/31, 2016].

NHS SCOTLAND, 2012–last update, The Charter of Patient Rights and Responsibilities. Available: http://www.gov.scot/resource/0039/00390989.pdf [12/10, 2015].

NHS WALES, 15/4/2013, 2013–last update, Achieving Excellence Design Evaluation Toolkit (AEDET). Available: http://www.wales.nhs.uk/sites3/Documents/254/AEDET_Evolution_promotional_bo oklet.pdf [12/07, 2015].

NIELSEN, L. and AXELSEN, D.V. 2017. 'Capabilitarian Sufficiency: Capabilities and Social Justice'. *Journal of Human Development and Capabilities* 18(1): 46-59

NSPE (NATIONAL SOCIETY OF PROFESSIONAL ENGINEERS), 2007. Code of Ethics for Engineers.

NUSSBAUM, M.C., 1993. Social Justice and Universalism: In Defense of an Aristotelian Account of Human Functioning. *Modern Philology*, pp. S46–S73.

NUSSBAUM, M., 2003. Capabilities as Fundamental Entitlements: Sen and Social Justice. *Feminist Economics*, **9**(2), pp. 33–59.

NUSSBAUM, M.C., 2006. Frontiers of Justice: Disability, Nationality, Species Membership. Cambridge, MA: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press.

NUSSBAUM, M., 2008. Human Dignity and Political Entitlements. In: *Human Dignity and Bioethics: Essays Commissioned by the President's Council on Bioethics*. Washington, D.C.: The President's Council on Bioethics, pp. 351–380.

NUSSBAUM, M.C., 2009. The Capabilities of People with Cognitive Disabilities. *Metaphilosophy*, **40**(3–4), pp. 331–351.

NUSSBAUM, M., 2011. *Creating Capabilities: The Human Development Approach*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press

NUSSBAUM, M.C., 2013. *Creating Capabilities: The Human Development Approach*. Cambridge, Massachusetts: The Belknap Press of Harvard University Press; First Harvard University Press paperback edition.

O'NEILL, O. 1998. 'Kant on Duties Regarding Nonrational Nature II'. *Kant on Duties Regarding Nonrational Nature II* Supp(72): 211-228

OH, H. and ELL, K., 2015. Social Support, a Mediator in Collaborative Depression Care for Cancer Patients. *Research on Social Work Practice*, **25**(2), pp. 229–239.

PASSWEG, J.R., ROWLINGS, P.A., ATKINSON, K.A., BARRETT, A.J., GALE, R.P., GRATWOHL, A., JACOBSEN, N., KLEIN, J.P., LJUNGMAN, P., RUSSELL, J.A., SCHAEFER, U.W., SOBOCINSKI, K.A., VOSSEN, J.M., ZHANG, M., and HOROWITZ, N.M., 1998. Influence of Protective Isolation on Outcome of Allogeneic Bone Marrow Transplantation for Leukemia. *Bone marrow Transplantation*, **21**(12), pp. 1231–1238.

PERSSON, E., ANDERBERG, P. and KRISTENSSON EKWALL, A., 2015. A room of One's Own–Being Cared for in a Hospital with a Single–Bed Room Design. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, **29**(2), pp. 340–346.

PINKER, S., 5/8/2008. The Stupidity of Dignity. The New Republic, 238(9), pp. 28-31.

PHILBIN, M.K. and GRAY, L., 2002. Changing Levels of Quiet in an Intensive Care Nursery. *Journal of Perinatology*, **22**(6), pp. 455–460.

PHIRI, M., 2014. Design Tools for Evidence-Based Healthcare Design. Routledge.

PINTO, S. and SCHUB, T., 2016. Patient Adherence to Medical Treatment: the Effect of Social Support. Glendale, CA: In: CINAHL Nursing Guide.

PÜLLEN, R., COY, M., HUNGER, B., KOETTER, G., RICHTER, A. and SPATE, M., 2013. Animal–Assisted therapy for Demented Patients in Acute Care Hospitals. *Zeitschrift fur Gerontologie und Geriatrie*, **46**(3), pp. 233–236.

RAJU, P.S., LONIAL, S.C. and GUPTA, Y.P., 1995. Market Orientation and Performance in the Hospital Industry. *Journal of Health Care Marketing*, **15**(4), pp. 34–41.

RANADE, W., 1997. *A Future for the NHS? : Health Care for the Millennium*. London; New York; 2nd ed.

RAM-TIKTIN, E. 2011. 'A Decent Minimum for Everyone as a Sufficiency of Basic Human Functional Capabilities'. *The American Journal of Bioethics* 11(7): 24-25

RAWCLIFFE, C., 1984. The Hospitals of Later Medieval London. *Medical history*, **28**(1), pp. 1–21.

RAWLS, J., 2005. *Political liberalism*. New York: Columbia University Press (online resource);

RAWLS, J., 2009. *A Theory of Justice*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press (Revised Edition);

REGAN, T., 2004. The Case for Animal Rights. Berkeley: University of California Press;

RENDTORFF, J., 2002. Basic Ethical Principles in European Bioethics and Biolaw: Autonomy, Dignity, Integrity and Vulnerability – Towards a Foundation of Bioethics and Biolaw. *Medicine, Health Care & Philosophy*, **5**(3), pp. 235–244.

RIBA (ROYAL INSTITUTE OF BRITISH ARCHITECTS), 2005. Code of Professional Conduct.

RIVETT, G., 1986. *The Development of the London Hospital System, 1823–1982.* London: King Edward's Hospital Fund for London, 1986.

ROBEYNS, I., 2003. Sen's Capability Approach and Gender Inequality: Selecting Relevant Capabilities. *Feminist Economics*, **9**(2-3), pp. 61–92.

ROBEYNS, I., 2005. The Capability Approach: A theoretical survey. *Journal of Human Development*, **6**(1), pp. 93–117.

ROBINSON, C., 1996. Neither East nor West: Some Aspects of Religion and Ritual in the Indian Army of the Raj. *Religion*, **26**(1), pp. 37–47.

ROSEN, M., 2012. *Dignity: its History and Meaning*. Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard University Press.

RUBIN, M., 1989. Development and Change in English Hospitals. In: L. GRANSHAW and R. PORTER, eds, *The Hospital in History*. London: Routledge, pp. 41–59.

SADLER, B.L., BERRY, L.L., GUENTHER, R., HAMILTON, D.K., HESSLER, F.A., MERRITT, C. and PARKER, D., 2011. Fable Hospital 2.0: The Business Case for Building Better Health Care Facilities. *Hastings Center Report*, **41**(1), pp. 13–23.

SADRI, H., 2012. Professional Ethics in Architecture and Responsibilities of Architects towards Humanity. *Turkish Journal of Business Ethics*, **5**(9), pp. 86–96.

SÄLLSTRÖM, C., SANDMAN, P.O. and NORBERG, A., 1987. Relatives' Experience of the Terminal Care of Long–Term Geriatric Patients in Open–Plan Rooms. *Scandinavian Journal of Caring Sciences*, **1**(3–4), pp. 133–140.

SCHLOSBERG, D., 2007. *Defining Environmental Justice: Theories, Movements, and Nature*. Oxford University Press.

SCHROEDER, D., April 2008. Dignity: Two Riddles and Four Concepts. *Cambridge Quarterly of Healthcare Ethics*, **17**(2), pp. 230–238.

SCHUPPERT. F. 2014. Capabilities, Freedom and Sufficiency. In: *Freedom, Recognition and Non-Domination. Studies in Global Justice*. Dordrecht: Springer, vol 12. pp 87-116

SEIDLER, E., 1989. An Historical Survey of Children's Hospitals. In: L. GRANSHAW and R. PORTER, eds, *The Hospital in History*. London: Routledge, pp. 181–197.

SENSEN, O., 2009. Kant's Conception of Human Dignity. *Kant–Studien*, **100**(3), pp. 309–331.

SHEPHERD, E., 2012. Dignity is a Vital Part of Treating Bowel Problems. *Nursing Times*, **108**(5), pp. 11–11.

SHERDELL, L., WAUGH, C.E. and GOTLIB, I.H., 2012. Anticipatory Pleasure Predicts Motivation for Reward in Major Depression. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, **121**(1), pp. 51–60.

SHERERTZ, R.J., BELANI, A., KRAMER, B.S., ELFENBEIN, G.J., WEINER, R.S., SULLIVAN, M.L., THOMAS, R.G. and SAMSA, G.P., 1987. Impact of Air Filtration on Nosocomial Aspergillus Infections. Unique Risk of Bone Marrow Transplant Recipients. *The American Journal of Medicine*, **83**(4), pp. 709–718.

SIEGRIST JR., R.B., 2013. Patient Satisfaction: History, Myths, and Misperceptions. *The Virtual Mentor: VM*, **15**(11), pp. 982–987.

SMEDBOLD, H.T., AHLEN, C., UNIMED, S., NILSEN, A.M., NORBÄCK, D. and HILT, B., 2002. Relationships between Indoor Environments and Nasal Inflammation in Nursing Personnel. *Archives of Environmental Health*, **57**(2), pp. 155–161.

SMITH, J., 1984. Hospital Building in the NHS. Things that Go Wrong. *British Medical Journal (Clinical Research ed.)*, **289**(6458), pp. 1599–1602.

SOMMER, R. and DEWAR, R., 1963. The Physical Environment of the Ward. In: E. FREIDSON, ed, *The Hospital in Modern Society*. New York: Free Press, pp. 319–342.

SOULEN, R.K. and WOODHEAD, L., 2006. *God and Human Dignity*. Grand Rapids, Mich.; Eerdmans.

SOUTH AFRICA, 1996. The Constitution of the Republic of South Africa.

SPIEGELBERG, H., 1970. Human Dignity: A Challenge to Contemporary Philosophy. In: R. GOTESKY and E. LASZLO, eds, *Human Dignity: This Century and the Next: an Interdisciplinary Inquiry into Human Rights, Technology, War and the Ideal Society.* New York: Gordon & Breach, pp. 39–64.

STEVENSON, A., 2010. *Oxford dictionary of English. [electronic book]*. New York, NY: Oxford University Press; 3rd ed. / edited by Angus Stevenson.

STICHLER, J.F., 2008. Healing by design. *Journal of Nursing Administration*, **38**(12), pp. 505–509.

SULMASY, D.P., 2007. Human Dignity and Human Worth. In: J.E. MALPAS and N. LICKISS, eds, *Perspectives on Human Dignity: A Conversation*. Dordrecht: Springer, pp. 9–18.

TADD, W., HILLMAN, A., CALNAN, M., CALNAN, S., READ, S. and BAYER, A., 2012. From Right Place–Wrong Person, to Right Place–Right Person: Dignified Care for Older People. *Journal of Health Services Research & Policy*, **17**, pp. 30–36.

TALBOT–SMITH, A., POLLOCK, A., LEYS, C. and MCNALLY, N., 2006. *The New NHS: a Guide*. London: Routledge.

TANNER, J. 2009. 'The Epistemic Irresponsibility of the Subjects-of-a-Life Account'.
Between the Species: An Electronic Journal for the Study of Philosophy & Animals 13(9): 1-31

TAYLOR, S., 2003. Reductio ad Absurdum (Rapid Response to Ruth Macklin. Dignity is a Useless Concept. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, **327**(7429), pp. 1419–1420).

THE CATHOLIC CHURCH, 2004–last update, Compendium of the Social Doctrine of the church. Available:

http://www.vatican.va/roman_curia/pontifical_councils/justpeace/documents/rc_pc_j ustpeace doc 20060526 compendio-dott-soc en.html [10/1, 2013].

THE WORLD FEDERATION OF RIGHT TO DIE SOCIETIES, 2017-last update, Manifesto. Available:

http://www.worldrtd.net/sites/default/files/pagefile/Manifesto_0.pdf [30/11, 2017].

THOMPSON, J.D. and GOLDIN, G., 1975. *The Hospital: a Social and Architectural History*. New Haven: Yale University Press.

TILBURGS, B., NIJKAMP, M.D., BAKKER, E.C. and VAN, D.H., 2015. The Influence of Social Support on Patients' Quality of Life after an Intensive Care Unit Discharge: A Cross–Sectional Survey. *Intensive & Critical Care Nursing*, **31**, pp. 336–342.

TWAIN, M., 2001. The Prince and the Pauper. Scituate, Mass.: Digital Scanning.

ULRICH, R.S., 2000. Evidence Based Environmental Design for Improving Medical Outcomes, *Proceedings of the Healing by Design: Building for Health Care in the 21st Century Conference, Montreal, Quebec, Canada* 2000.

ULRICH, R., ZIMRING, C., QUAN, X., JOSEPH, A. and CHOUDHARY, R., 2004. *The Role of the Physical Environment in the Hospital of the 21st Century: A Once–in–a–Lifetime Opportunity*. The Centre for Health Design.

ULRICH, R.S., ZIMRING, C., ZHU, X.M., DUBOSE, J., SEO, H.B., CHOI, Y.S., QUAN, X.B. and JOSEPH, A., 2008. A Review of the Research Literature on Evidence–Based Healthcare Design. *Herd–Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, **1**(3), pp. 61–125.

UN, U.N., 1948. The Universal Declaration of Human Rights.

UNESCO, 1997. Universal Declaration on the Human Genome and Human Rights.

UNESCO, 2003. International Declaration on Human Genetic Data.

UNESCO, 2005. Universal Declaration on Bioethics and Human Rights.

VALENTINE, N., DARBY, C. and BONSEL, G.J., 2008. Which Aspects of Non–Clinical Quality of Care are Most Important? Results from WHO's General Population Surveys of "Health Systems Responsiveness" in 41 Countries. *Social Science & Medicine*, **66**(9), pp. 1939–1950.

VERDERBER, S., 2010. Innovations in Hospital Architecture. New York: Routledge.

VOGEL, M.J., 1989. Managing Medicine: Creating a Profession of Hospital Administration in the United States. In: L. GRANSHAW and R. PORTER, eds, *The Hospital in History*. London: Routledge, pp. 243–260.

VON EIFF, W., 2012. Best Practice Management: in Search of Hospital Excellence. *International Journal of Healthcare Management*, **5**(1), pp. 48–60.

VUORI, H., 1991. Patient satisfaction--does it Matter? *Quality Assurance in Health Care*, **3**(3), pp. 183–189.

WALCH, J.M., RABIN, B.S., DAY, R., WILLIAMS, J.N., CHOI, K. and KANG, J.D., 2005. The Effect of Sunlight on Postoperative Analgesic Medication Use: a Prospective Study of Patients Undergoing Spinal Surgery. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, **67**(1), pp. 156–163.

WALDRON, J., 2012. Dignity, Rank, and Rights. New York: Oxford University Press.

WARE, J.E. and HAYS, R.D., 1988. Methods for Measuring Patient Satisfaction with Specific Medical Encounters. *Medical Care*, **26**(4), pp. 393–402.

WARREN, M. A., 2000. *Moral Status: Obligations to Persons and Other Living Things.* Oxford Scholarship Online (online publication in October 2011);

WEBSTER, C., 2002. *The National Health Service: a Political History*. Oxford: Oxford University Press; New ed., 2nd.

WHO, (W.H.O., 2015–last update, Patient's Rights [Homepage of World Health Organisation], [Online]. Available: http://www.who.int/genomics/public/patientrights/en/ [12/07, 2015].

WISSENBURG, M. 2011. 'The lion and the lamb: Ecological implications of Martha Nussbaum's animal ethics'. *Environmental Politics* 20(30): 391-409

WOOD, A., 2008. Kantian Ethics. New York: Cambridge University Press;

WOOGARA, J., 2005. Patients' Rights to Privacy and Dignity in the NHS. *Nursing Standard*, **19**(18), pp. 33–37.